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Corporate Profile

United Therapeutics Corporation is a
biotec/mology company focused on the

At United Therapeutics, we derive
tremendous inspiration and
satisfaction from our work.
Quality of life for our patients is
our utmost therapeutic goal.
Currently, our revenue-generating
products are all in the field of
cardiovascular medicine. While
building United Therapeurics’
business value in the cardiovascu-
lar field, we are also laying
important foundations for fucure
franchises in the treatment of
infectious diseases and cancer.

Remodulin, a pré:tacyclin analog
Qur lead product and primary
revenue earner is Remodulin, a
stable synthetic analog of
prostacyclin, a molecule produced
by the body that has powerful
effects on blood-vessel health and
function. Remodulin is currently
approved for subcutaneous and
intravenous delivery. We have

also successfully completed our
registration trial of an inhaled
version of treprostinil, the active
ingredient in Remodulin, and we
are in the process of completing
trials of a tablet version of
treprostinil.

Our goal is to constantly improve
upon and find new ways to
administer treprostinil, providing
patients and physicians with more
and better therapeutic options.
We have focused primarily on
developing Remodulin for
treating pulmonary arrerial
hypertension, a life-threatening
disease that affects the blood
vessels in the lungs.

Pulmonary arterial hypertension
is associated with reduced
production of prostacyclin in
the pulmonary blood vessels and
is characterized by degradation

of the blood vessel wall lining,
aggregation of platelets and
disruption of smooth muscle cell
function. These conditions cause
blockages and affect the ability of
blood vessels to dilate as blood
flows through the lungs. The
resulting elevated pulmonary
blood pressure strains the right
side of the hearc as it tries to
pump blood to the lungs. We are
also in the early stages of studying
our formulations of treprostinil in
other diseases, such as peripheral
vascular disease, pulmonary fibro-
sis, and organ transplantation.

Iminosugars, glycobiology

antiviral agents

Sugars are fundamental to human
biochemistry: glucose is our
energy molecule, ribose holds our
DNA together, and other sugars
are cructal building blocks in our
cellular membranes, enzymes, and




2007 Product Pipeline

Subcutaneous Remodulin® for PAH

Intravenous Remodulin for PAH ... L o,

CardicPAL® SAVI and
Decipher™ Cardiac Event Monitors

Inhaled Treprostinil for PAH

Oral Treprostinil for PAH .....ooooooooovocoereceececee e

Intravenous Remodulin

for Improved Transplant Qutcome...........
Beraprost-MR for PAH. ...

3F8 MAD for Neuroblastoma......cuoe Lo e e
Oral Treprostinil for PYD...............ecrdocrienis s ssssssoseesseorsreedecessaes

CardicPAL SAYI Wireless
Cardiac Event Monitors.......

Miglustat for Hepatitis C......cooenrnsssmnnns feessscresssssesie s
Inhaled Treprostinil for IPE.......co e o

Inhaled Treprostinil

with AERx Essence® for PAH........ooooccoooni e

8HY MAb for Metastatic Brain Cancer..

Glycobiology Antiviral Agents.................

PAH = pulmonary arterial hypertension
PVD = peripheral vascular disease
IPF = idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

.........................

Phase Il Phaye Ul Commercial

#® = Cardiovasculor
O = Infectious Diseases
® = Cancer

organelles. United Therapeutics
has the exclusive rights to a class
of therapeutic iminosugars
discovered by the field’s founder,
Professor Raymond Dwek of the
University of Oxford. These small
molecule synthetic sugars target
hepatitis C, HIV AIDS, and other
infectious diseases with a novel
mechanism of action: they are
able to enter through cellular
membranes and alter the assembly
of viruses preventing them from
replicating in host cells. While this
work remains at an early stage, it
holds immense promise. The
diseases targeted by our
glycobiology agents afflict over a
billion people worldwide.

Monoclonal Antibodies,

cancer therapies

We are developing two
monoclonal ancibodies which we
licensed from Memorial Sloan-

Kerttering Cancer Center for the
treatment of neuroblastoma and
metastatic brain cancer. Mainly
affecting children, neuroblastoma
is a rare cancer of the sympathetic
nervous system. It is the most
common extracranial solid cancer
in children and the most common
cancer in infants. One antibody,
3F8, is a murine monoclonal
antibody chat has specificity for
GD2 (disialoganglioside), an
antigen that is abundantly
expressed on the surface of
neurcblastoma cancer cells. As
such, GD2 is an ideal rarger for
antibody directed immunotherapy.
The 3F8 antibody has been used

to treat over 400 patients to date.

The other murine monoclonal
antibody, 8H9, is highly reacrive
in a range of human solid tumors,
including brain tumors. We are

initially developing 8H9 for the

Mary Rodd Furbee

wiww mfurbee.com

treatment of merastatic brain
cancer, which develops in the
brain from the spread of cancers
from other tissues in the body.
Merastatic brain cancers are ten
times more common than cancers
thar originate in the brain, and
prognosis is very poor. In the
United Stares, more than 100,000
cases of merastatic brain cancer
are diagnosed each year.

Cover Ars:
“Leaf”
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(in milﬁobnjjap $210.9

$159.6

$115.9

$73.6 '
$53.3 .
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Shareholder Letter

United Therapeutics has continued o make grear progress in its climb up biotechnology’s mountain of
success. We are now U.S. biotechnology's revenue growth leader with six consecutive years of greater than
30% gains. We are also ranked fourth overall in terms of market capitalization per employee, and seventh
overall in terms of revenue per employee. These are astounding achievements for a company founded just over
ten years ago.

2007 also marked another year of significant accomplishments in advancing our pipeline of new therapeutics.
We announced positive results for our TRIUMPH clinical trial, a pivotal trial of inhaled treprostinil in
pulmonary hypertension parients optimized on oral therapies. We also reached the halfway mark for
enrollment of our oral treprostinil trials for pulmonary hypertension, called FREEDOM-C and FREEDOM-
M. It is rare for a biotechnology company o advance its pipeline so much in a single year.

We are thrilled ro continue building a culture of excellence, teamwork and camaraderie within the Unither
Family of Companies. It is our culture of “doing the right thing” that is the key ingredient to our success. As
we continue to grow in 2008, we commirt ourselves to maintaining our company culture for the benefic of our
patients, physicians and many others who have a viral stake in our success,

Neidine foahddott




United Therapeutics Senior Management

We have great respect for medical science and medical education. It is only through the brilliant and creative
efforts of scientists and clinicians that our work is possible. This is why, with permission from the Philadelphia
Museum of Art, we were inspired by Thomas Eakins’ painting, The Agnew Clinic (1889), to portray our own
scientists and management team in this year’s annual report. Thomas Eakins (1844—1916) was a painter,
photographer, sculptor, and fine arts educator. He was one of the greatest American painters of his time, an
innovative teacher, and an uncompromising realist,

Eakins was commissioned by the University of Pennsylvania Medical Class of 1889 to paint a portrait of Dr.
David Hayes Agnew to commemorate his exemplary career as a physician and teacher at The University of
Pennsylvania. Dr. Agnew was acclaimed as “the most experienced surgeon, the clearest writer and teacher, the
most venerated and beloved man”, a tribute thar Eakins carved on the finished work’s frame. Auchor of the
three-volume Treatise on the Principles and Practice of Surgery, Dr. Agnew became an expert in gunshot wounds
during the Civil War. When President Garfield was shot by an assassin in 1881, Dr. Agnew acted as the chief
surgeon. Students revered him.

What was originally proposed as a three-quarters portrait of the retiring professor quickly became an
enormous 6 x 11 ft. painting — the largest of Eakins’ career — depicting an operating cheater with Dr. Agnew
assuming the role of both surgeon and educator. To research the painting, Eakins regularly visited the medical
school to watch Dr. Agnew in action, completing the painting in three months. At the presentation of the
painting, Dr. Agnew was overwhelmed by his students” applause and admiration. 7he Agnew Clinic was firse
widely seen at the World’s Columbian Exhibirion in Chicago in 1893. It is considered to be one of the two
most important American paintings on the subject of medicine.

We take the “United” in our name very seriously. Although located in eight offices in five states and three
countries, our 310 employees are united in pursuing our corporate strategic objectives to achieve our mission
for all of our stakeholders, and to do so with the highest level of ethical conduct. Many individuals accupy
key senior and executive management roles at United Therapeutics, and many more employees provide
crucial support in a wide variety of positions. The managers included on these pages represent a critical
cross-section of those responsible for making the clinical, financial, commercial, strategic and legal decisions
for our business.

i

Lhiladefphiz Musesm af Art: Courtcsy of the University of Penngyloania Are Collection, Philadelphia, Penngplvania
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Senior Management Legend

Martine Rochblatt, PhD
Chairman & Chief Fxecutive Officer
Roger Jeffs, PhD

President & Chief Operating Officer
John Ferrari

Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer
Paul Mahen

Executive Vice President,

Strategic Planning & General Counsel
Eugene Sullivan, MD FCCP
Chief Medical Officer

Melissa Silverman

Assistant Vice President of Finance
Andrew Fisher

Senior Vice President, Investor Relations
& Deputy General Counsel

James Levin, DVM

Senior Vice President,

Biologics Production,

United Therapeutics Corporation;
Chief Manufacturing Officer,

Lung Rx, Inc.

Alyssa Friedrich

Vice President, Human Resources

& Community Relations

David Zaccardelli, PharmD

Senior Vice President,
Pharmaceutical Development

Shola Oyewole

Chief Information Officer

Raju Penmasta, PhD

Vice President, Research & Development
David Walsh, PhD

Executive Vice President, Operations
Dean Bunce

Senior Vice President,

Regulatory Affairs

Robert Grover, MBBS FRCA
Eurapean Medical Director

& Chief Safety Officer,

United Therapeutics Europe, Ltd.
Alex Sapir

Vice President, Marketing & Sales
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Daniel Balda, MD

President & Chief Operating Officer,
Medicomp, Inc.

Larry Somerville

Senior Vice President,

Sales & Marketing, Lung Rx, Inc.
Jay Watson, PharmD

Assistant Vice President,
Commercial Development

Ken Phares, PhD

Senior Director,

Pharmaceutical Development
Theodore Staub

Head of Research & Development,
Lung Rx, Inc.

David Mottola, PhD

Vice President, Product Development
Liang Guo, PhD

Senior Vice President, Production
Anthony Adson Jr.

Director, Quality Control

Sam Mancuso

Director, Quality Assurance

Karl Gotzkowsky, PharmD
Director, Product Development
Joy Cieszynski

Director, Clinical Operations
Avi Halpert

Construction & Facility Manager
Yu-Lun Lin

Director, Business Development
& Commercial Informatics
Michael Wade, PhD

Vice President,

Product Develppment

Carl Arneson

Director, Biostatistics

& Data Management

Ravi Mehra, PhD, CQA

Senior Director,

Quality Assurance/Quality Control

United
Therapeutics
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“We are firmly committed to developing the
best medicines possible from the intellectual
property we have, by conducting the most
insightful clinical trials.”

REMODULIN’

(treprostinil sodium) Injection
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Remodulin

Advancing New Routes of Delivery Through Innovative Approaches

We focus much of our research and development activity on expanding the ways in which our lead
product, Remedulin, may be delivered to patients. By offering a variety of routes of administration
for Remodulin, physicians may select the optimal therapy for each pulmonary arterial hypertension
(PAH) patient’s needs. In addition, we believe that other routes of administration may make
Remodulin an appropriate therapy to treat a number of other diseases. We are firmly committed

to developing the best medicines possible from the intellectual property we have, by conducting the
most insightful clinical trials.

Subcutaneous Remodulin

Remodulin first gained commercial approval in the United States in May 2002 as a subcutaneous
therapy for patients with PAH. A therapy is administered subcutaneously when it is delivered through
the skin.

As a subcutaneous therapy, Remodulin is indicated to improve symproms associated with exercise in
PAH patients with New York Heart Assoctation (NYHA) Class 11, III or IV symptoms. Subcutancous
Remodulin is continuously delivered through a mobile, pager-sized pump that is refilled every 72
hours. No ice packs are required since Remodulin is stable at room temperature. Subcutaneous
delivery avoids the systemic infection risk associated with an indwelling intravenous catheter.

Unfortunately, pain and reaction at the infusion site is a common occurrence that may limit the
ability of some patients to remain on subcutaneous therapy. Our research into pain management
remains ongoing. We subsequently completed a controlled study demonstrating that PAH patients
previously managed with an approved intravenous therapy called Flolan™ could be transitioned to
subcuraneous Remodulin.

Intravenous Remodulin

In November 2004, the FDA expanded our approval to permit intravenous delivery of Remodulin to
those PAH patients who are not able to tolerate subcutancous delivery. A therapy is administered
intravenously when it is delivered directly into a patient’s veins.

Clinical data presented at major scientific meetings demonstrated that intravenous Remodulin could
provide long-term benefits to PAH patients who were new to prostacyclin therapy, and that patients
could be transitioned from Flolan without detriment. Additionally, studies demonstrated that rapid
transition from Flolan to intravenous Remodulin was possible, without the need to carefully ticrate
the two drugs independently. Finally, a 12-week multicenter, randomized double-blind, placebo
controlled trial of the safety and efficacy of intravenous Remodulin — the first-ever placebo
controlled study of intravenous therapy in PAH patients — showed that intravenous Remodulin
provided a clinically and statistically significant improvement when used as front-line therapy.

We have also continued to advance miniaturization of the pump platform that is used for intravenous
delivery of Remodulin. Now, patients are able to use pager-sized pumps for intravenous as well as
subcutaneous delivery of Remodulin, an important advance in the treatment of PAH.
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Inhaled Treprostinil

Inhaled treprostinil is a new form of treprostinil in development that can be delivered by inhalation
directly to the lungs with potentially less risk of systemic side effects. Inhaled treprostinil is an
investigational drug, meaning that it is in clinical studies and has not yet been approved for
commercial use. We released the results of our clinical trial program for inhaled treprostinil, called
TRIUMPH (TReprostinil Sodium Inhalation Used in the Management of Pulmonary Arterial
Hypertension), in November 2007. A key goal of the TRIUMPH program was to develop a portable
therapy to deliver a new form of treprostinil that could be inhaled for about one minute just four
times per day. Such a therapy might be used to treat PAH patients earlier in the course of their
disease. Initially, the TRIUMPH program is focused on using an ultra-sonic nebulizer to deliver
inhaled treprostinil to patients in four daily doses. We have a subsequent goal to administer inhaled
treprostinil with a handheld, pocket-sized metered dose inhaler.

The TRIUMPH program was led by two well-known physicians and their respective centers of
excellence: Professor Werner Seeger from the University of Giessen, Germany, and Dr. Lewis Rubin
from the University of California, San Diiego. Between these two centers, more than 200 parients
with various forms of PAH completed the TRIUMPH study. On November 1, 2007, we announced
that the TRIUMPH study robustly met its primary endpoint, an increase in exercise capacity meas-
ured by a six-minute walk test, and that inhaled treprostinil was generally well-tolerated by patients in
the trial. We are now focusing our energies on completing the necessary regulatory filings so that
patients may have access to inhaled treprostinil as a prescribed route of delivery.

Oral Treprostinil

The next, and perhaps final search for the most convenient and effective formulation of treprostinil

is our investigational sustained-release oral treprostinil program. We have developed a new tablet
formulation of treprostinil that provides sustained release of the drug over approximately 10-12 hours
following a single dose, suggesting that twice-a-day dosing may be viable.

With the formulation work complete, we are currently enrolling two multi-national placebo
controlled clinical trials of oral treprostinil in patients with PAH. One trial, FREEDOM-C, is a
16-week study of up to 300 patients currently on background therapy of approved oral therapies for
PAH. The second trial, FREEDOM-M, is a 12-week study of up to 150 patients who are not on any
background therapy. These trials are being conducted in approximately 50 centets throughout

the world.

Treprostinil Development Timeline

A

¥ A

5/02 7/03 11/04 /05
FDA Approval FDA Accepts IND FDA Approval TRIUMPH Oral Treprostinil Unblinding of
of Subcutaneous for Intravenous of Intravenous Inhaled Treprostinil Trial FREEDOM Trial TRIUMPH Inhaled
Remodulin Remodulin Remodulin Enrcllment Begins Enroliment Begins Treprostinil Trial
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Revenue Growth

Results {in millions) $159.G

$115.9

$73.6

At United Therapeutics, health is our business. $53.3

And in order o help our patients improve their
health, we must ourselves be healthy. We believe
that the way to achieve and remain in great cor-
potate health is to do our best to achieve our

2004

2007

strategic corporate objectives. That is what we $74.0
did in 2007 with heaithy financial results. There Net Income $65.0
is strength in these numbers. (Losses)
: (in millions)

Revenue and Net Income
United Therapeutics' revenue grew 32% to
$210.9 million in 2007 and achieved $19.9
million in net income. $19.9

$15.5
Cash and Investments .
United Therapeutics had unrestricted cash, cash $10.0 R 2006
equivalents and marketable investments total-
ing $299.3 million as of December 31, 2007.

Cash and Investments o Mk
{in millions)
About the Artist
$191.1

The artworks reproduced through-
out this annual report are abstract $139.1
paintings and digital arc selected $117.3

from the Artery Project by Mary
Rodd Furbee. The artist died from
pulmonary hypertension in 2004.

For more information about Mary
Rodd Furbee and her artwork,

please visit: www.mfurbee.com

Comparison of the Five Year Cumulative Total Return
Stock Price Performance

. . $700
The following graph and table set forth United
Therapeutics’ total cumulative stockholder return 5600 )
over the pas! five years as compared to the $500
cumulative returns of the NASDAQ US Stock /
Market Index and the NASDAQ Pharmaceutical $400 — \./
Stocks Index. Total stockholder return assumes $300
$100.00 invested at the beginning of the period in 4200
United Theropeutics common stock, the stocks M
represented in the NASDAQ US Stock Market $100
Index and the stocks represented in the NASDAQ 5-
- - Li L) T 1 T
Pharmaceutical Stocks Index, respectively. Dac. 31, Dee. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
i . . 12131102 1273303 12731104 1231105 1281106 12nto7 M United Therapeutics Corporation
United Therapeutics Corporation $100.00 $137.43 $270.36 $413.89 532557 £584.73 k Lot tnd
NASDAQ US Stock Market index $10000  $14952  $162.72  $16618 518257  $197.98 O Nasdag US Stock Morket Index

NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stocks Index $100.00  $146.59 $156.13 $171.93 516829 517697 A Nosdog Pharmaceutical Stocks Index




Medicomp, Inc.
7845 Eflis Road
Melbouene, Florida 32904
Tel. (321) 676-0010

Fax. (321) 676-2282

www.medicompinc.com

Corporate Information
OPERATING SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT Hon. Louis W. Sullivan, M.D.
Martine Rothblat, Ph.D., J.D., M.B.A. Founding President and President Emericus
Chairman and Chicf Executive Officer Morehouse School of Medicine
Fornier Secretary of United States
Dieparrment of Health and Human Services
{2 MEDICOMP
Advarcing dogromc condelogy since 1981

Professor Sir Magdi H. Yacoub, ER.S.

Professor of Cardiothoracic Surgery
Lung Rx, Inc.

Roger Jeffs, Ph.D.
President and Chief Operating Officer
John Ferrari
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer National Heart and Lung lnsticute
[mperial College London
Paul A. Mahon, [.D.
Executive Vice President, INVESTOR RELATIONS
Andrew Fisher, ].D. 1104 Spring Street

Senior Vice President. Silver Spring, MD 20910

[nvestor Relutions & Phone: (2403 821-17599

Deputy General Counsct Fax; {301} 608-1139

www.lungrx.com

Zalun

Strategic Planning and General Counsel

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
United Therapeutics Europe, Led.

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
26 Frederick Sanger Road

Christopher Causey, M.B.A.
Principal, Causey Consortium
Professor Raymond A. Dwek, ER.S.
Professor of Glycobiology 480 Washington Boulevard
Director of the Glycobialogy Institute Jersey City, New jersey 07310
University of Oxford (800) 522-6645
President, [astitute of Biology From outside the U.5. and Canada:
(201) 680-6578 Guilford, Surrey GU2 7YD
R. Paul Gray TDD: (800) 231-5469 United Kingdom
Managing Partner, Core Concepts, LLC heep:/fwww.baymellon.comishareswoerf/isd Tel. +44.1483.207780
Fax. +44.1483.207781
Roger Jcffs, Ph.D.- ATTORNEYS .
el Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP fiﬁ_unlted .
Ray Kurzweil 1050 Connecticut Avenue N.W &< Therapeutics
Founder, Chairman, and Washingtor, D.C. 20036 conroRaTION T EuRenE
Chief Execurive Qfficer Tel: (202} 955-8500 Unither Biothéque Ine.
Medical Learning Company, nc. & Fax: (202) 467-0539 101, rue Du Moulin bureau 202-B
Kurzweil Technologies, Inc. Magog, Quebee J1X 4Al
AUDITORS Canada
Christopher Patusky, ]. D, M.G.A. Ernsc & Young LLD Tel. (819) 843 9138
Direcior, Office of Real Estate, 8484 Westpark Drive Fax. (B19) 843 4287
Maryland Department of Transportation McLean, Virginia 22§02 -
whad Bep a el (703) 947-1000 §%U.““h.°'
Martine Rothblact, Ph.D>, ].D., M.B.A Fax. (703} 747-0100 = Blothheque
Hon. Louis W. Sullivan, M.D. CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS Unither Visology, LLC
Founding President and President Emeritus 1110 Spring Street 1110 Spring Sereet
Morehouse School of Medicine Silver Spring, Maryland 20910 Silver Spring, Maryland 20910
Former Secretary of United States Tel. (301) 6G08-9292 Tel. {301) 608-9292
Department of Health and Human Services Fax. (301) 608-9291 Fax. (301) 608-929%
* United Therapeutics' Management RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT . . Unither
One Park Drive { Z:Virology
SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY BOARD PO. Box 14186 W mewniinercem
Sit John Vane, D.S¢., ER.S. (1927-2004) Research Tangle Park, Unither Neurosciences, Inc
1982 Nobel Lauseate in North Carolina 27709 82 Pearl Street
Physiology or Medicine Tek. (919) 485-8350 Burlingron, VT 05402
Fax. {219) 485-8352 Tel. (802) 651-0147
Professor Baruch S. Blumberg, Ph.D. Fax. (802) 651-1057
~ Chairman of the Scientific Advisory Board LEGAL AND GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS 25 Unith
1976 Nobel Laureare in - 1735 Connecticut Avenue, N, W. ééﬂn er i
Physiology or Medicine Washingion, D.C. 20009 = SNeurosciences
Fox Chase Distinguished Scientist, Tek. {202) 483-7000 mowmounrheooEem
Fox Chase Cancer Center Fax. {202) 483-4005 COMMON STOCK
Listed on Nasdaq National
Professor Raymond A. Dwek, ERS. Market symbol “UTHR”
Professor of Glyrobiology
Director of the Glycobiology Institute ANNUAL MEETING
University of Oxford Aptil 29, 2008
INTERNET ACCESS
www.unither.com
GRAPHIC DESIGN
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President. Insticute of Biolegy

Professor Victor J. Dzau, M.D.
President and Chief Execurive Officer,
Duke Universicy Medical Center
& Health System

Urban Ramstedt, Ph.D.
Senior Director, Immunobiology

Elusys Therapeutics, Inc.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

We are a biotechnology company focused on the development and commercialization of unique
products to address the unmet medical needs of patients with chronic and life-threatening
cardiovascular and infectious diseases and cancer.

Our key therapeutic platforms are:

* Prostacyclin Analogs, which are stable synthetic forms of prostacyclin, an important molecule
produced by the body that has powerful effects on blood vessel health and function. Our lead
prostacyclin analog is Remodulin®, a treprostinil-based compound for the treatment of
cardiovascular disease. Remodulin (treprostinil sodium) Injection, has been approved by the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension
(PAH) in paticnts with New York Heart Association (NYHA) Class II-1V (moderate to severe)
symptoms to diminish symptoms associated with exercise, and in other countries for similar use,
and in most of Europe for the treatment of NYHA Class III patients with idiopathic or familial
PAH. Our inhaled and oral formulations of treprostinil are in the later stages of development.
We are also developing Beraprost-MR, another prostacyclin analog, for the treatment of
cardiovascular disease; :

* Glycobiology Antiviral Agents, which are a class of small molecules that have shown promise
against a broad range of viruses, such as hepatitis C; and

* Monoclonal Antibodies, which are antibodies that activate patients’ immune systems to treat
cancer. This platform includes the 3F8 and 8H9 murine antibodies, which are being developed
for the treatment of ncuroblastoma and metastatic brain cancer, respectively.

We devote most of our resources to developing products within these three therapeutic platforms.
We also devote resources to the commercialization and further development- of telemedicine products
and services, principally for the detection of cardiac arrhythmias.

We generate revenues from sales of Remodulin, telemedicine products and services and, until
September 2007, from the sale of arginine products. We field a sales and marketing organization that
supports the commercial availability of Remodulin in the United States, Canada, Europe and other
countries, aided by specialty pharmaceutical distributors.

United Therapeutics was incorporated i in Delaware in June 1996, Our principal executive OfflCCS
are located at 1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910, ‘




United Therapeutics’ Products

Our Products

Our product. portfolio includes the following as of December 31, 2007:

Product

Remodulin

Remodulin

¥

CardioPAL® 5AVI and
Decipher Cardiac Monitors

Inhaled Treprostinil
Oral Treprostinil
Remodulin
Beraprost—MR

3F8 MAb
Oral Treprostinil

CardioPAL.-SAVI Wireless
Cardiac Event Monitors

Miglustat
Inhaled Treprostinil

Inhaled Treprostinil with
AERx Essence®

8H9 MAb
Glycobiology Antiviral Agents

Mode of
Delivery Indication/Market Current Status . Our Territery
Continuous  Pulmonary arterial Commercial in the U.S,, . Worldwide
subcutaneous hypertension most of the European Union,
- : : Canada, Israel, Australia, -
. ‘ -Mcxico‘, Argentina and Peru*
Continuous Pulmonary arterial Commercial in the U.S,, Worldwide
intravenous-  hyperténsion Canada, Israel, Mexico,
Argentina and Peru. J
European reviews are
ongoing .
Telemedicine  Cardiac arrhythmias Commercial Worldwide
and ischemic heart \
disease
Inhaled Pulmonary arterial Phase II1 . Worldwide
hypertension
Oral ' Pulmdnary arterial Phase I11 Worldwide
hypertension 4
Intravenous  Improved transplant Phase IIT ' Worldwide
outcome ' ' :
Oral Pulmonary arterial Phase IT ' North A:ﬁerica/Europc
hypertension o .
Intravenous - Neurcblastoma Phase IT Worldwide
Oral Peripheral vascular Phase 11 Worldwide
disease .
Telemedicine  Cardiac arrhythmias '..Phase IT. - “Worldwide
and ischemic heart
disease )
Oral Hepatitis C Phase I Worldwide
Inhaled Idiopathic pulmonary  Phase I a2 Worldwide
fibrosis
Inhaled Pulmonary arterial Phase I Worldwide
hypertension
Intravenous  Metastatic brain cancer Phase [ Worldwide
Oral Hepatitis C and other  Pre-Clinical Worldwide

infectious diseases

. We have obtained approval in 23 member countries of the European Union (Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark,
Estonia, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Italy, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Portugal, Cyprus, Finland, Hungary, Latvia,
Lithuania, Norway, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Serbia), and have received formal approval letters and pricing approvals

in most of them.




Products to Treat Cardiovascular Disease

Remodulin

Qur lead product for treating PAH is Remodulin (treprostinil sodium) Injection, the main
ingredient of which is treprostinil sodium, a prostacyclin analog. We sell Remodulin to our distributors
in the United States at a discount from an average wholesale price recommended by us, and to our
international distributors at a transfer price set by us. We earned approximately $200.9 million,
$152.5 million and $109.2 million of revenues, representing 95%, 96% and 94% of our total revenues
from sales of Remodulin in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We obtained worldwide rights for all
indications to Remodulin from GlaxoSmithKline PLC (formerly Glaxo Wellcome, Inc.) in January 1997
and from Pfizer, Inc. (formerly Pharmacia & Upjohn Company) in December 1996. In May 2002,
Remodulin was approved by the FDA as a continuous subcutaneous (under the skin) infusion for the
treatment of PAH in patients with NYHA Class II-IV (moderate to severe) symptoms. In November
2004, our FDA approval was expanded to permit continuous intravenous (through a vein or artery)
infusion in patients who cannot tolerate subcutaneous infusion. In March 2006, our FDA approval was
further expanded to allow patients to transition to Remodulin from Flolan® (epoprostenol), the first
FDA-approved prostacyclin for PAH. Remodulin is also approved as a continuous subcutaneous
infusion treatment for various forms of PAH in 33 countries throughout the world, and as a continuous
intravenous infusion treatment for various forms of PAH in Canada, Israel, Mexico, Peru and
Argentina. Applications for approval for both snbcutaneous and intravenous Remodulin infusion are
under review in many other countries. In addition, we are continuing to work on expanding
commercialization to new territories such as Japan and South Korea. “

PAH is a life-threatening vascular disease that affects the blood vessels in the lungs, known as the
pulmonary blood vessels, which increases blood pressure in the artery between the heart and the lungs
known as the pulmonary artery. PAH is characterized by the degradation of the blood vessel wall lining,
the aggregation of platelets and the disruption of smooth muscle cell function. These condmons cause
blockages and affect the ability of the blood vessels to difate and then constrict as blood flows to the
lungs. The resulting elevated pulmonary blood pressure increases strain on the right side of the heart as
it tries to pump blood to the lungs. It is estimated that PAH affects between 100,000 and 200,000
individuals worldwide. In recent years, as awareness of PAH has grown, we have seen an increase in the
number of people diagnosed with the disease. However, because of the rareness of PAH and the
complexities of diagnosing it, only a small fraction of these people are being treated. Many :
organizations are conducting research to develop easier, less invasive methods to diagnose PAH. If this
research is successful, more patients could be diagnosed at an earlier stage. :

The complexity of diagnosing PAH is due in part to the current uncertaintics surrounding the
etiology and pathophysiology of the condition. Currently, treatment of PAH focuses on three distinct
molecular pathways that have been implicated in the disease process. These are the endothelin
pathway, the nitric oxide pathway, and the prostacyclin pathway. Patients with PAH have been shown to
have elevated levels of endothelin, a naturally occurting substance in the body that causes constriction
of the pulmonary blood vessels. Therefore, one established therapeutic approach has’been to block the
action of endothelin with drugs that are known as endothelin receptor antagonists. Patients with PAH
have also been shown to have reduced levels of the enzyme responsible for producing nitric oxide
(NO), a naturally occurring substance in the body that has the effect of relaxing pulmonary blood
vessels. NO produces this effect by increasing intracellular levels of an intermediary known as cGMP in
cells. Therefore, another established therapeutic approach has been to inhibit the degradation of cGMF,
using drugs that are termed phosphodiesterase 5 (PDES5) inhibitors. Finally, patients with PAH have
been shown to have reduced levels of prostacyclin, a naturally occurring substance that has the effect of
relaxing the pulmonary blood vessels, preventing platelet aggregation, and inhibiting the proliferation of
smooth muscle cells in pulmonary vessels. Therefore, drugs that mimic the action of prostacyclin, -
termed prostacyclin analogs, are also established PAH treatments. Because any or all of these three




pathways may be operative in a patient, these three classes of drugs are used alone or in combination
to treat patients with PAH,

A long-term outcome study published in the FEuropean Respiratory Journal (vol. 28, Number 6;
December 2006) demonstrated improved survival with Remodulin therapy when compared to predicted
survival (NIH registry formula) over a four-year period. One-, two-, three- and four-year survival was
87%, 78%, 71%, and 68%, respectively, for all 860 patients (including 130 patients who received
combination therapy) and 88%, 79%, 73%, and 70%, respectively, for patients receiving only
treprostinil monotherapy (730 patients). In patients with idiopathic PAH for whom baseline
hemodynamics were available (332 pat:ents) survival was 91%, 82%, 76%, and 72% at years 1-4,
respectively. This compares to respective predicted survival estlmates of 69%, 56%, 46%, and 38% over
the four-year period based on the NIH registry formula.

Flolan, the first FDA-approved synthetic prostacyclin for PAH, is delivered continuously by an
external pump through a surgically implanted intravenous catheter. Flolan is approved for the
treatment of patients with certain subsets of late-stage PAH. We believe Remodulin provides patients
with a less invasive alternative to Flolan. In contrast to Flolan, Remodulin is stable at room
temperature and lasts significantly longer inside the human body. These attributes allow for safer and
more convenient delivery of Remodulin to patients. Unlike Flolan, Remodulin can be delivered by
subcutaneous infusion with a pager-sized microinfuston device. Subcutaneous delivery of Remodulin
also eliminates the risk of central venous catheter infection and related hospitalization associated with
an IV infusion. Remodulin’s extended presence in the body may also reduce the risk of rebound PAH,
and possibly death, if treatment is abruptly interrupted. The stability of Remodulin also allows it to be
packaged as an aqueous solution, eliminating the need for patients to mix the drug one or more times
each day, as is required with Flolan. Treprostinil, the active ingredient of Remodulin, is highly soluble
in an aqueous solution and therefore Remodulin can be manufactured at highly concentrated solutions.
This allows therapeutic concentrations of Remodulin to be delivered at low flow rates via miniaturized
infusion pumps for both subcutancous and intravenous infusion. Lastly, Remodulin does not require the
patient to continuously keep the drug cool even during infusion. This eliminates the need for cooling
packs or refrigeration to keep it stable, as is required with Flolan due to Flolan’s chemical instability at
room temperature.

There are noteworthy adverse events associated w1th Remodulin infusion. When infused
subcutaneously, Remodulin causes infusion site pain and reaction in most patients to varying degrees.
Patients who cannot toleraie subcutaneous Remodulin may instead use it intravenously.-Intravenous
Remodulin is delivered continuously by an external pump through a surgically implanted central venous
catheter, similar to Flolan. When delivered intravenously, Remodulin bears the risk of a bloodstream
infection known as sepsis, as does Flolan, but it does not require cooling packs or refrigeration and can
be continuously infused for up to 48 hours before refilling the infusion pump, unlike Flolan which must
be mixed and refilled every 24 hours.

FDA Review of Subcutaneous Remodulin

In March 2000, we Completcd an international, randomlzcd placebo-controlled, double-blind study
of subcutaneous Remodulin involving a total of 470 patients with PAH. Half of the patients received’
Remodulin subcutancously for-12 weeks, while the other half received a placebo The study data
showed that patients who received Remodulin had significant improvement in important clinical
endpoints, including a composite index that measured exercise capacity and shortness of breath,
cardiopulmonary hemodynamics and in the signs and symptoms of the disease. Based on the favorable
results of this study, we filed a New Drug Application with the FDA in late 2000. In May 2002, the
FDA approved Remodulin, under Subpart H regulations, as a continuous subcutaneous infusion for the
treatment of PAH in patients with NYHA class II-1V symptoms (with class IV representing the most




severely ill patients) to diminish symptoms associated with exercise. Remodulin may be prescribed for
all types of PAH and is the only PAH treatment approved for NYHA class II, III and IV patients. .

FDA Review of Intravenous Remodulin

In July 2003, the FDA accepted our Investigational New Drug Application for the development of
Remodulin by intravenous delivery for the treatment of PAH. A bioequivalence study in volunteers was
performed in late 2003, which established that intravenous and subcutaneous Remodulin are
bioequivalent (meaning that both routes of infusion result in comparable levels of Remodulin in the
blood). In addition, animal toxicology studies were completed and indicated that there were no
additional safety concerns associated with chronic intravenous infusion.

On January 30, 2004, a supplemental New Drug Application was filed with the FDA to request
approval for intravenous use of Remodulin for PAH. On November 24, 2004, based on data
establishing intravenous Remodulin’s bioequivalence with the previously approved subcutaneous
administration of Remodulin, the FDA approved the intravenous use of Remodulin for those not able
to tolerate subcutaneous infusion.

Results in a prospective open-label study reported in January 2007 demonstrate that rapid
transition from intravenous Flolan to intravenous Remodulin was achieved in 12 PAH patients with no
serious adverse events and baseline clinical status was maintained over 12 weeks. The patients were
transitioned from Flolan to intravenous Remodulin by a direct switch from a Flolan medication cassette
to a Remodulin medication cassette. Rapid transition to Remodulin was achieved without serious
adverse events. All patients reported fewer prostacyclin-related side effects with Remodulin and
remained on Remodulin after study completion. The study demonstrated that stable patients with PAH".
can be safely transitioned from Flolan to intravenous Remodulin using a rapid switch protocol.

Although intravenous Remodulin does not possess all the safety and convenience benefits of
subcutaneous Remodulin, it has one important advantage: it eliminates infusion site pain and reaction,
a common side effect of subcutaneous Remodulin. Many patients are unsuccessful in managing such
infusion site pain even when using available pain management techniques. Intravenous Remodulin has
many beneficial characteristics that differentiate it from intravenous Flolan. As intravenous Remodulin
does not require refrigeration, it serves as an alternative to Flolan which must be continuously '
refrigerated, even while being administered to a patient by continuous infusion. Furthermore,
Remodulin remains active for a few hours, whereas Flolan is highly unstable and only remains active in
the body for a few minutes. Because Remodulin remains active longer, it may reduce the risk of
rebound PAH, a severe recurrence of the disease in the case of inadvertent therapy. interruption.
Intravenous Remodulin can be infused continuously for up to 48 hours while Flolan can only be
infused for 24 hours. This allows patients to mix medication solutions every other day as opposed to
daily. Also, because Remodulin can be made in highly concentrated solutions, a wide variety of pump
options, including miniaturized pumps, is available to patients. ‘

In February 2007, the Scientific Leadership Committee (SLC) of the Pulmonary Hypertensnon
Association announced new guidance related to the treatment of PAH patients on long-term
intravenous therapy. The SLC guidance was issued in responsé to the release of a slide presentation’
prepared by researchers with the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) entitled
“Bloodstream infections among patients treated with intravenous epoprostenol and intravenous treprastzml
for pulmonary arterial hypertension, United States 2004—2006". These slides accompanied a presentation
to the SLC and were subsequently published in the March 2, 2007, issue of the CDC’s Morbidity and
Mortality Weekly Report. The slides and report were prepared in connection with a CDC retrospective
inquiry at seven centers into a report of increased blood stream infections (sepsis), particularly
gram-negative blood stream infections, among PAH patients treatéd with intravenous Remodulin as
compared to intravenous Flolan. The SLC guidance statement noted that the CDC observations were -




hypothesis-generating and did not permit definitive or specific conclusions. The-SLC reminded
physicians of the need to be aware of the range of possible gram negative and gram' positive infectious -,
organisms in patients with long-term central catheters and to treat them appropriately. The risk of
sepsis is already noted in the Remodulin package insert. In February 2008, the FDA revised the
Remodulin package insert to more fully describe the associated infection risk and appropriate
techniques to be practiced when preparing and admlmstermg Remodulin intravenously.

International Regulatbry Review of Subcutaneous and Intravenous Remodulin

Remodulin for subcutanéous use is approved in countries throughout the world. We used the
mutual recognition process to obtain approval of subcutaneous Remodulin from European Union
member countries. The mutual recognition process is described in detail in the section entitled
Government Regulation below. The mutual recognition process for subcutaneous Remodulin was
completed in August 2005, with positive decisions received from most European Union countries. We
withdrew our applications i in Ireland, Spain and the United Kingdom following a request for additional’
documentation from these countries. We anticipate resubmlttmg these applications following
intravenous Remodulin approval in Europe. Licenses and pricing approvals have been received in most
European Union countries, In addition, we have submitted a variation of the license for approval of
intravenous Remodulin in the European Union through the mutual recognition process, as we are
required to follow the same approval process used for the approval of subcutaneous Remodulin. The
license variation for intravenous Remodulin is currently under feview by the host nation, France, which.
has notified us that it is not satisfied with the filing we have made. We will work to address these
concerns and believe that we will eventually receive commercial approval for intravenous Remodulin in
at least some European‘countries. In the meantime, we will continue to sell (but not market)
Remodulin in European Union countries where we are not approved under the named-patient system,
which allows us to import Remodulin into European Union countries for sale to hospitals for use in
treating specifically identified patients. ' | :

Sales and Marketing . _

‘Our markéting strategy for Remoduhn relies upon our dedicated sales and marketing team to
educate the. prescriber community and to reach patients suffering from PAH. The sales and marketing
team consisted of approximately 65 employees as of December 31, 2007, vp from approximately 20
employees as of December 31, 2006, with further growth expected in 2008. Our marketing team is
divided into two-approximately equal groups. The first group is primarily responsible for national and
large regional medical practice accounts currently prescribing Remodulin. The second group is
primarily responsible for the smaller, local, community-oriented medical practices not currently
prescribing Remodulin. Additionally, we rely on specialty pharmacy distributors to handle physician and .
patient requests for Remodulin on a non-exclusive basis in the United. States. For additional
information, see the section entitled Domestic Distribution Agreements below.. These specialty . o
distributors are experienced in all aspects of chronic theraples including patient care, the sale and
distribution of medicines and reimbursement from insurance compames and other payers. Qutside of
the United States, we have entered into exclusive distributor agreements covering most of Europe
South America, parts of Asia and Israel. Sales in Canada are currently conducted under the
management of our wholly-owned subsidiary, Unither Biotech' Inc., through a national specialty
pharmaceutical wholesaler. We are working with our current distributors to expand Remodulin sales
into other countries in which they have distribution rights.

Domesuc Dtstnbuuon of Remodulm _

To provide for marketmg, promotion and distribution of subcutaneous -and intravenous Remodulm
in the United States, we entered into non-exclusive distribution agreements with CuraScript, Inc. (a -




wholly-owned subsidiary of Express Scripts, Inc., formerly Priority Healthcare Corporation), Accredo
Therapeutics, Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Medco Health Solutions, Inc.), and Caremark, Inc. (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CVS Corporation). Effective January 1, 2007, Accredo also became the
exchusive U.S. distributor for Flolan. Our distributors are responsible for assisting patients with
obtaining reimbursement for the cost of Remodulin therapy and providing other support services.
Under our distribution agreements, we sell Remodulin to our. distributors at a discount from an .
average wholesale price recommended by us. These agreements provide for automatic renewal for
additional two-year periods, in the case of CuraScript, and one-year periods in the case of Accredo and
Caremark, unless cither party to the agreements provides notice of termination. Due to changes-in the
regulatory environment, i.e., changes in the regulatory requirements, from time 10 time we update the
contracts with our distributors. None of the changes have had or are expected to have a significant
impact on our operations or relationships with. these distributors, as these changes tend to be in the
ordinary course of business. In addition, none of our current agreements contain the distribution rights
for inhaled or oral treprostinil in the United States. If these distributor agreements expire or terminate,
we may, under certain circumstances, be required to repurchase unsold Remodulin inventory held by
the distributors. We have also established a patient assistance program in the United States, which
provides qualified uninsured or underinsured patients with Remodulin at no charge.

Interniational Distribution of Remodulin

We currently sell Remodulin to six distributors who have distribution rights for subcutaneous and
intravencus Remodulin in European Union countries, other non-European Union countries, South
America, and Israel. In the European markets where we are not licensed, we sell (but do not market)
Remodulin under the named-patient system in which patients typically are approved for therapy on a
case by case review by a national medical review board. We are working on expanding our sales of
subcutaneous and intravenous Remodulin into new territorics outside of the United States through our
existing distributors and new distributors. In March 2007, we entered into a distributor agreement with
Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Mochida) to exclusively distribute subcutaneous and intravenous
Remodulin in Japan. In addition, Grupo Ferrer Internacional, S.A. (Grupo Ferrer) has been actively-
working toward commencing commercial sales of Remodulin in Taiwan and South Korea, territories to
which Grupo Ferrer was granted distribution rights. However, certain countries, like Japan, may require
that new clinical trials, called bridging trials, be conducted in order to show the efficacy and safety of a
drug in their patient population. Commercial sales in such countries could therefore be several years
from realization. ‘ '

Inhaled Treprostinil

N '

We are working to develop an inhaled formulation of treprostinil for the treatment of PAH.
During 2004 and 2005, independent clinical investigators in Europe and the United States performed
small uncontrolled trials of inhaled formulations of treprostinil in patients with PAH. In April 2004, the
European Medicines Agency granted orphan designation for inhaled treprostinil for the treatment of
both PAH and chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. If inhaled treprostinil is approved by
the FDA for the treatment of PAH, it will most likely be covered in the United States under the
remaining orphan drug exclusivity applicable to Remodulin, This period of orphan drug exclusivity '
expires on May 21, 2009. If we obtain a separate orphan drug designation for inhaled treprostinil for
the treatment of PAH and we demonstrate that inhaled treprostinil is clinically superior to Remodulin,
then we may obtain a seven-year period of orphan drug exclusivity for inhaled treprostinil that will
begin upon the approval of our New Drug Application. ' ’
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In June 2005, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Lung Rx, Inc., commenced a 12-week, randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase III trial of inhaled treprostinil in patients with PAH who are
also being treated and were optimized with Tracleer®, an orai endothelin antagonist marketed by
Actelion Ltd. During the 12-week trial, patients were administered inhaled treprostinil or placebo in
four daily inhalation sessions with a maximum dose of approximately 45 micrograms per session. The
primary endpoint of the trial was the peak six minute walk (6MW) distance improvement test, which is
a typical benchmark test of cardiovascular health. This trial, TRIUMPH-1 (TReprostinil Sodium
Inhalation Used in the Management of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension), was conducted at
approximately 36 centers in the United States and Europe. In May 2006, the FDA agreed to also
permit the inclusion in the trial of PAH patients who were also being treated with and optimized on
Revatio®, an oral PDE-5 inhibitor marketed by Pfizer, Inc, The FDA-also agreed to expand the trial
size to at least 200 patients, and to permit an interim efficacy assessment after 150 patients had
completed the trial. We did not conduct the interim efficacy assessment. : Co

In November 2007, we announced the completion of our TRIUMPH-1 trial. The study population
consisted of 235 patients. The majority of patients were classified as New York Heart Association
(NYHA) Class III (98%). Patients in the trial were affected by PAH of varied etiologies, including
idiopathic or familial PAH (~55%), collagen vascular disease associated PAH (~35%), and PAH
associated with HIV, anorexigens (appetite suppressants) or other associated conditions (~10%). Mean
baseline walk distance was approximately 350 meters. )

The primary efficacy endpoint of the trial was the 6MW distance at 12 wecks measured at peak
exposure, defined by the trial protocol as 10-60 minutes after inhalation of treprostinil, refative to
baseline. Preliminary analysis of the TRIUMPH-1 resuits demonstrated an improvement in median
6MW distance by approximately 20 meters (p<0.0006, using the Hodges-Lehmann estimate and
non-parametric analysis of covariance in accordance with the trial’s pre-specified statistical analysis -
plan), in patients receiving treprostinil as compared to patients receiving placebo.

At trough exposure, which was defined by the trial protocol as a minimum of four hours after
inhalation of treprostinil, the treatment-related change in 6MW distance at week 12 relative to baseline
was ‘also significantly improved, with an increase in median 6MW distance of approximately 14 meters
(p<0.01). Additionally, the 6MW distance at week 6 relative to.baseline was significantly improved, -
with an increase in° median 6MW distance of approximately 18 meters (p<0.0005).

Preliminary analysis of other 'secondary endpoints, including change in Borg Dyspnea Scale rating
(shortness of breath test), NYHA functional class, time to clinical worsening (as defined by death,
transplant, the need for atrial septostomy (surgical opening of the septum), hospitalization due to PAH,
or initiation of another approved PAH therapy), and the 6MW distance at treatment day one, did not
differ significantly between the inhaled treprostinil and placebo groups (p>0.05). Analysis of two
remaining secondary endpoints, quality of life and signs and symptoms of disease (composite measure),
is ongoing. - . .

Inhaled treprostinil was generally well-tolerated in the trial and adverse events appeared to be
similar to those previously reported for treprostinil or due to administration by inhalation. The most
common adverse events seen in the trial were transient cough, headache, nausea, dizziness and flushing.
Detailed analysis of the reported adverse events is ongoing. All patients in the trial had the option to
continue receiving inhaled treprostinil in an open-label continuation study after completion of the
12-week study period. Of the 212 patients who completed the 12-week study period, approximately 200
patients entered the open-label continuation study. Approximately 160 patients are currently being
treated with inhaled treprostinil, with the longest duration of treatment exceeding two years. Further -
review and analysis of the TRIUMPH-1 results are ongoing. Full data from TRIUMPH-1 is expected to
be presented at the American Thoracic Socicty meeting in May 2008 and is also expected to be
available through the publication of peer-reviewed journal articles.
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FDA approval for inhaled treprostinil will be sought by filing a New Drug Application (NDA). The
Optineb® inhalation device will also be submitted for approval as part of this filing. Optineb is the
ultra-sonic nebulizer that was used for administration of inhaled treprostinil in the TRIUMPH-1 trial.
Optineb is manufactured by NEBU-TEC International Med Products Eike Kern GmbH. (NEBU-TEC),
a German company. Optineb is approved in Germany dnd in other European countries, but is not yet
approved in the United States.

This is the first time we have submitted an inhalation device for FDA approval. Since we do not
manufacture the Optineb device, we rely on NEBU-TEC for certain design, mechanical, operational
and study information needed for the filing. We are actively working with NEBU-TEC to obtain
information necessary to complete the application. We expect to file the NDA and the application for
approval of the Optineb device by mid-2008. FDA review of the NDA generally takes 10 months. We
plan on filing for approval in the European Union using the centralized filing process by the end of
2008. See the section entitled Government Regulation below for further details.

Currently, the only. FDA approved inhaled prostacyclin analog is Ventavis®. Ventavis is marketed
by Actelion Ltd in the United States and by Schering AG in Europe. Ventavis’ active ingredient,
iloprost, has a half-life of approximately 20 to 30 minutes and lacks selectivity to the lungs. The lack of
lung selectivity can cause a drop in a patient’s blood pressure if the drug is dosed too high. As a result,
Ventavis is generally administered six to nine times per day using a nebulizer. Each session on the '
nebulizer requires continuous inhalation of the drug for 4 to 10 minutes. Due to the ionger half-life of
treprostinil and its greater selectivity to the lungs, treprostinil can be inhaled with a nebulizer for about
one minute, taking six to nine breaths per session, four times a day. ) o

The inhalation device market is ever-changing, with smaller devices being developed concurrently
with the discovery of new technologies. We are interested in new technologies that would enable a
more efficient and convenient means of administering inhaled treprostinil to patients. For. this reason,
in August 2007, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Lung Rx Inc., entered into an exclusive license,
development and commercialization agreement with Aradigm Corporation (Aradigm) for the rights to
manufacture, develop and commercialize its AERx Essence® device, a pulmonary drug delivery system,
for use as a next-generation metered-dose inhaler with inhaled treprostinil. '

UT-15C Sustained Release (Oral Treprostinil)

We are developing an oral formulation of treprostinil, treprostinil diethanolamine, which is a novel
salt form of treprostinil. During 2004, we completed studies of yarious formulations of treprostinil
diethanolamine in heaithy volunteers. Based on these studies, a formulation was selected that uses
technology licensed from Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Supernus), to provide for sustained retease of’
treprostinil in tablets. The coating technology, which is resistant to being broken down by the body’s
digestive system, allows for treprostinil to be released into the body through an extremely small hole
that is laser-drilled into the coating of each tablet. This technology releases the treprostinil at a
relatively even rate over a controllable period of time. In 2005, a Phase I study of normal volunteers
demonstrated that the formulation-and coating provided sustained blood concentrations of treprostinil
for 8 to 10 hours following a single oral dose. This duration may allow for twice daily dosing. In July
2005, the European Medicines Agency announced that oral treprostinil had been granted orphan
product status in the European Union. If we obtain a separate orphan drug designation for oral
treprostinil for the treatment of PAH and we demonstrate that oral treprostinil is clinically superior to
Remodulin, then we may obtain a seven-year period of orphan drug exclusivity for oral treprostinil that
will begin upon the approval of our New Drug Application. Drugs with orphan status generally receive
accelerated review of approval applications and may receive longer periods of protection against
competition from generic drugs.
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Two multi-national, placebo-controlled clinical trials of oral treprostinil in patients with PAH
commenced in October 2006. These are Phase 111 trials in which both. dosing and efficacy are being
studied. The FREEDOM-C trial is a 16-week study of up to 300 patients currently on approved .
background therapy using a PDE5 inhibitor, such as Revatio, or an endothelin antagonist, such as
Tracleer; or a combinaticn of both, with a possible interim assessment at 150 patients. The
FREEDOM-M trial is a 12-week study of up to 150 patients, who are not on any background therapy,
with a possible interim assessment at 90 patients. We do not expect to conduct the interim efficacy
assessment available in either trial. Both trials are being conducted at approximately 60 centers
throughout the United States and the rest of the world. During these trials, patients are administered
oral treprostinil or placebo twice a day. The dosage begins at 1 mg twice daily for both trials, the
maximum dose is set at 16 mg twice daily for the FREEDOM-C trial and 12 mg twice daily for the
FREEDOM-M trial, based on symptomatic benefit and tolerability. The primary endpomt of the trial is
the 6MW test in which the distance a patient walks in six minutes on a treadmill is measured at the
start of the trial and at additional pre-specified points in time during the trial in order to detect any
improvement in the distance the patient is able to walk over -the course of the trial.

We commenced the trials using a 1 mg tablet but during the open-label extension trial discovered
that the absorption rate of treprostinil was higher in diseased patients than in healthy individuals. The
difference in absorption rate led to a number of discontinuations from the trials due to patients
suffering from tolerability-related side effects, including nausea, jaw-pain and headaches as the dose
was increased. As a result, we introduced a 0.5 mg tablet in July 2007 to enable more gradual dose
titration (increase). A 0.25 mg tablet is also being manufactured for use in the trials and will be
available once all appropriate quality and release testing has been completed. We are also developing a
(.125 mg tablet and a 2.5 mg tablet. Since the introduction of the 0.5 mg tablet, discontinuations have
greatly diminished. As of December 31, 2007, there were approximately 200 and 90 patients enrolled in
the FREEDOM-C and FREEDOM-M trials, respectively. As of February 18, 2008, there were
approximately 240 and 10{ patients enrolled in the FREEDOM-C and FREEDOM-M trials,
respectively. . . .

* There are currently no approved oral prostacyclin therapies available to patients in the United
States or Europe. If we are successful in developing oral treprostinil, patients and physicians may be
encouraged to use prostacyclin earlier in the PAH disease cycle and in the treatment of other diseases.

Beraprost-MR

In June 2000, we entered into an agreement with Toray Industrles Inc. (Toray), for the exclusive’
right to develop and market beraprost, an oral prostacyclin, in a sustained release formulation
(beraprost-SR) in the United States and Canada for the treatment of cardiovascular indications.
Beraprost is a chemically stable orally bioavailable prostacyclin analog. Like natural prostacyclin and
Remodulin, beraprost is believed to dilate blood vessels, prevent platelet aggregation and prevent
proliferation of smooth muscle cells surrounding blood vessels.

’

In March 2007, Lung Rx, Inc. (Lung Rx), entered into an amended agreement with Toray to
assume and amend the rights and obligations of the June 2000 agreement entered into between Toray
and us concerning the commercialization of a modified release formulation of beraprost
(beraprost-MR). The amended agreement grants us additional exclusive rights to commercialize
beraprost-MR in Europe and broadens the indication to vascular disease (excluding renal disease),
among. other revisions. An earlier clinical trial which examined an immediate release form of beraprost
as monotherapy in PAH had demonstrated 6MW distance improvement at 12 weeks but not at
30 weeks. However, because a number of patients did respond positively to the drug, we feel that the
development of beraprost-MR as combination therapy presents a promising clinical opportunity. Since
individual PAH patients may respond to the same class of molecules in different ways, we believe that
the development of other molecules within the same family is desirable. In addition, we are in the early
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stages of exploring the use of beraprost-MR for the treatment of other cardiovascular and
cardiopulmonary conditions. ‘ e

On October 19, 2007, Toray announced that beraprost-MR_reCt;iveld regulatory approval in Japan
for use in the treatment of PAH. ' '
Products to Treat Peripheral Vascular Disease/Critical Limb Ischemia

UT-15C Sustained Release (Oral Treprostinil)

We are also developing oral treprostinil for late-stage peripheral vascular disease known as critical’
limb ischemia. Peripheral vascular disease affects the blood vessels in the legs. ‘While the precise causes
of peripheral vascular disease are unknown, diabetes, obesity, smoking and lack of exercise are
associated with the disease. Peripheral vascular disease appears to be similar to PAH in that there is a
reduction in natural prostacyclin in the affected blood vessels. B ' '

In the United States, it is estimated that 750,000 people suffer from critical limb ischemia. The
disease is characterized by extreme pain, non-healing ulcers in the legs, reduced exercise capacity and -
severely reduced blood flow in the limbs. There are currently. no drugs approved to treat critical limb .
ischemia in the United States. Physicians often perform surgical interventions (such as balloon-
angioplasty, stents and by-passes) to restore or improve blood flow in the limbs. These procedures can
provide' temporary relief to patients, but do not address the underlying causes of peripheral vascular
disease. Due to the lack of adeéquate pharmaceutical treatments, approximately 200,000 limb
amputations are performed each year on patients with critical limb ischémia. ' .

;

In September 1998, we completed a Phase II study assessing the safcty and blood flow effects of
intravenous Remodulin on patients with critical limb ischemia. The study demonstrated that Remodulin
can be administered safely to patients with critical imb ischemia and that Remodulin substantially
increases blood flow in the affected areas of the legs. We commenced a 30 patient placebo-controlled,
pre-pivotal clinical study 'of Remodulin for critical limb ischemia in 2002. Approximately 19 patients -
were enrolled. The study ended before becoming fully enrolled due to difficulties in patient
recruitment.. We believe that more convenient formulations of treprostinil, such as the oral form, may
be more appropriate for patients with peripheral vascular disease. Accordingly, we have commenced * -
safety and tolerability studies with oral.treprostinil in patients with critical limb {schemia. . - »

Products to Treat other Medical Conditions

'We are currently studying the use of intravenous Remodulin in connection with liver transplants.' ’
Independent studies indicate that patiénts who received prostacyclin after a liver transplant tended to
have a lower rate of tissue rejection and increased liver function which resulted in shorter hospital stays
and improved transplant outcomes. We are currently conducting a Phase III study to demonstrate the
safety and efficacy of intravenous Remodulin when administered during and after liver transplant.

Products to Treat Iﬁfectiaus Diseases—Glycobiology Antiviral Agenfs

In March 2000, we entered into a-license agreement with Synergy Pharmaceuticals; Inc. (Synergy),
to obtain the exclusive worldwide rights to certain patents relating to novel antiviral compounds.
Synergy was working with the Glycobiology Department at the University of Oxford to develop these
compounds. In 2003, by mutual consent, we terminated our licensing agreement with Synergy. We are
now working difectly with Oxford University on the development of new compounds. These
glycobiology antiviral agents are small molecules which may be effective as oral therapies for the
treatment of hepatitis B and C infections, as well as dengue fever, J apanese encephalitis and other
infectious diseases. Currently, many of these agents are undergoing laboratory testing, and new agents
are also being synthesized. o ' * - o
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We are in the planning stages of conducting a Phase II clinical trial with miglustat, a glycobiology
compound which inhibits alpha-glucosidase enzymes, to initiaily evaluate efficacy in patients with
hepatitis C. Miglustat is approved and is currently marketed in the United States and Europe by
Actelion Ltd for the treatment of Gaucher’s disease, a glycolipid storage disorder. Patent protection for
manufacturing the compound has expired. As a result of our research agreement with the University of
Oxford, we have the exclusive right to commercialize miglustat as an anti-viral agent for the treatment
of hepatitis C.

Products to Treat Cancer
OvaRex

In April 2002, we entered into an agreement with AltaRex Corp. (which later became AltaRex
Medical Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of ViRexx Medical Corp.) (AltaRex) to exclusively license
certain rights to a platform of five investigational immunotherapeutic monoclonal antibodies, including
OvaRex, BrevaRex, OncoRex, ProstaRex and GivaRex. These products were being developed by
AltaRex to treat various forms of cancer, including ovarian, prostate, lung, breast, multiple myeloma
and gastrointestinal cancers. The lead product, OvaRex® MAD for the treatment of advanced ovarian
cancer, had completed Phase IT studies.

Ovarian cancer is the deadliest form of women’s reproductive cancer and is the fifth leading cause
of cancer death among women in the United States. Over 25,000 cases of ovarian cancer are diagnosed
in the United States every year, with over 16,000 women dying of the disease annually,

In December 2007, we announced the completion of our two pwotal trials of OvaRex. Analysis of
the results demonstrated that the studies failed to reach statistical significance.

The identical studies, known as IMPACT I and II (IMmunotherapy PlVOta] ovArian Cancer Trlal)
were randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials conducted at over 60 centers across the
United States. The studies enrolled 367 ovarian cancer patients and assessed the efficacy of, OvaRex
mono-immunotherapy during the so-called “watchful waiting” period following front-line carboplatin-
paclitaxel based chemotherapy. The program sought to confirm data observed in a subset analysis of a
prior randomized Phase II study, which suggested the potential of OvaRex to extend the time to
discase relapse among patients who had successfully completed front-line therapy. The studies were
well balanced in terms of patient demographics and the safety profile and quality of life were similar
between active and control populations. The studies demonstrated no difference between active
(standard of care followed by OvaRex) and control (standard of care followed by placebo) populations.
The results of IMPACT I and IT were consistent with each other.

The full data from the IMPACT I and II trials is expected to be presented at an upcoming medical
meeting and published in a peer-reviewed journal.

Based on the results from the IMPACT I and II trials, we decided to terminate our license -
agreement with AltaRex and to cease further development of the entire platform of antibodies licensed
thereunder. We expect to incur approximately $1.1 million in total close-out costs for thlS program, of
which we had incurred appronmately $533,000 as of December 31, 2007.

3F8 and 8HY Antlbodles

In December 2007, we entered into two agreements with Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center
(MSKCC) to exclusively license certain rights to two investigational monoclonal antibodies, 3F8 and
8H9, for the treatment of neuroblastoma and metastatic brain cancer. The monoclonal antibody 3F8 is
a mouse IgG3 MAD, which is currently used in an'investigational setting for the treatment of
neuroblastoma, a Taré cancer of the sympathetic nervous system mainly affecting children. It is the most
common extracranial solid cancer in children and the most common cancer in infants. More than
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400 patients have been treated with the 3F8 antibody since 1986 under investigator-initiated
Investigational New Drug applications. There are fewer than 1,000 new cases of neurcblastoma
diagnosed each year. ' .

The monoclonal antibody 8H9 is an 1gG1 antibody that is also a mouse antibody. The 8H9
antibody is highly reactive with a range of human solid tumors, including human brain cancers. The
8H9 antibody is in early investigational development for metastases which develop in the brain from
the spread of cancers from other tissues in the body. Metastatic brain-cancers are ten times more
common than cancers that originate in the-brain, and prognosis is very poor. In the United States,
more than 100,000 cases of metastatic brain cancer are diagnosed each year.

Products to Provide Telemedicine Services for Cardiac Arrhythmias and Ischemic Heart Disease
CardioPAL and Decipher Recorders

We provide telemedicine services to detect cardiac arrhythmias-and ischemic heart disease through
our wholly-owned subsidiary Medicomp, Inc. (Medicomp), which we acquired in December 2000.
Cardiac arrhythmias and ischemic heart disease affect an estimated 20 million Americans, and possibly
ten times that number worldwide. If left undetected and untreated, these conditions can result in heart
attacks and death. Medicomp provides cardiac Holter monitoring (a 24-hour continuous test of heart
rhythms), event monitoring (a test that typically extends to 3¢ days and looks for more elusive,
intermittent arrhythmias), analysis, and pacemaker monitoring remotely via telephone and the Internet
for hospitals, clinicians and other providers. Medicomp’s services are delivered through its proprietary,
miniaturized, digital Decipher Holter recorder/analyzer and its CardioPAL family of event monitors. In
March 2005, Medicomp received FDA market clearance for a patent pending p-wave analysis adjunct
to its artificial intelligence algorithm that runs on all of its newly manufactured CardioPAL devices. The
p-wave is a diminutive but important portion of the electrocardiograph that helps determine if an
arrhythmia was generated from the top chambers of the heart, the atria, or from the bottom chambers
of the heart, the ventricles. This level of analysis leads to more reliable, automatic detection of
arrhythmias, like atrial fibrillation. :

Holter, event and pacemaker services and systems are marketed to physicians, hospitals, and
managed care providers directly by Medicomp’s internal sales force. Revenues of approximately
$7.7 million, $6.6 million and $5.8 million from the sales of telemedicine products and services were
earned in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. ‘ '

Arginine Products for Vascular Function

In December 2000, we expanded our cardiovascular focus when we acquired the assets and certain
liabilities of Cooke Pharma, Inc., the exclusive maker of the HeartBar® line of arginine-enriched
products, which operated as Unither Pharma, Inc. (Unither Pharma), our wholly-owned subsidiary.
Arginine is required by the body to produce nitric oxide. Unither Pharma is the exclusive licensee of
patents entitling it to claim that arginine is critical for maintaining vascular function and certain other
natural functions.

The HeartBar and a related line of products were marketed directly to consumers by us, by
independent distributors and through the Internet. In January 2006, we discontinued sales of the
HeartBar line of products, after evaluating recent clinical trial results and market potential, among
other factors, ' '

N a - v - .“ '
In November 2006, we settled litigation with three companies that we believed were infringing our
arginine patents. We received a scttlement payment and will receive additional royalties from sales of
products containing arginine from one of the parties.
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In September 2007, we discontinued all sales of our arginine products and we reevaluated our
assumptions used in determining the value of our arginine patents, based on a then recent publication
discounting the benefits of arginine supplementation and a June 2007 Supreme Court decision
concerning the enforceability of patents. This decnslon has no effect on our current licenses with
companies sc]lmg arglmne products.

Approximately $123,000, $100,000 and $293,000 of revenues were earned from the sales and
royalties of argmme related products in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectlvely

Strategic Licenses and Relationships
Northern Therapeutics, Inc.

In December 2000, we formed a new company in Canada, Northern Therapeutics, Inc. (Northern),
in conjunction with the inventor of a new form of autologous (meaning gene transfer using materials
derived from a patient’s own body and not from foreign materials such as viruses) gene therapy for the
treatment of PAH and other diseases. Northern is currently conducting a Phase 1 gene therapy trial in
Canada and, until February 2006, was distributing Remodulin in Canada.

In October 2006, Northern agreed to grant us an exclusive license to develop and commercialize
the autologous gene therapy in the United States for PAH. We are required under this license to make
incremental milestone payments depending on patient enrollment to Northern totaling $§1.5 million if
the planned 18 patient Phase I trial is successfully enrolled. For the twelve months ended December 31,
2007 and 2006, we incurred approximately $150,000 and $500,000, respectively, in expense to Northern.
If the Phase I trial is successfully completed, we will assume the development program and related
costs for the United States market. Northern will receive royalty payments following commercialization.
As part of this agreement, we terminated the Remodulin distribution agreement with Northern for -
Canada. We are distributing Remodulin directly in Canada under the management of our Canadian
wholly owned subs1d1ary, Unither Biotech Inc.

Due to our $5.0 million investment, we currently own approximately 68% of Northern, but only
49% of the voting stock. Although we own approximately 68% of Northern, minority shareholders
possess substantive participating rights as defined under EITF Issue No. 96-16, Investors Accounting for
an Investee when the Investor Has a Majority of the Voting Interest but the Minority Sharéholders or .
Shareholders Have Certain Approval or Veto Rights, that preclude us from controlling Northern and
consolidating the company’s financial statements with our own.

NEBU-TEC Supply Agreement

In June 2004 and Séptember 2006, we entered into Clinical and Commercial Supply Agreements
with NEBU-TEC to provide for the availability of Optineb nebulizer devices and related supplies for
use in our TRIUMPH-1 clinical trial of inhaled treprostinil and for commercial use following regulatory
approval. The non-exclusive agreements provide for NEBU-TEC to sell us Optineb devices and supplies
at specified prices and payment terms for clinical and commercial use. The agreements also specified
the obligations that each party has with respect to regulatory approvals. In February 2008, we entered
into an amendment to the September 2006 Clinical and Commercial Supply Agreement under which
the term of the agreement was extended to the first anniversary of the first to occur of United States
or European Union approval of inhaled treprostinil. We also agreed to an advance order of Optineb
devices and related supplies following satisfactory completion of a testing program in support of our
NDA filing. The amendment also clarified certain regulatory obligations of the parties and provided
NEBU-TEC with the first opportunity to sell devices in Europe for so long as NEBU TEC was able to
meet market demand.
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The Medtronic MiniMed Strategic Alliance

Medtronic MiniMed- partnered with us for the use of its pager-sized continuous microinfusion
pump for delivery of Remodulin subcutaneously. We entered into an agreement with MiniMed, Inc.
(now Medtronic MiniMed), in September 1597, which was implemented in a detailed set of guidelines
to collaborate in the design, development and implementation of therapies to treat PAH utilizing
MiniMed products and Remodulin. The guidelines required us to purchase infusion pumps exclusively
from MiniMed at a discount to MiniMed list prices. The agreement commenced on September 1997,
and was to continue for seven years after the May 2002 FDA approval of Remodulin. MiniMed advised
us in May 2006 that it intended to discontinue manufacturing infusion pumps fqr' subcutaneous delivery
of Remodulin after first giving us and our distributors the opportunity to purchase desired quantities.
In Noﬁ'émber‘ 2006, we mutually entered into a termination agreement with MiniMed. Our distributors
are purchasing pumps from other vendors and associated supplies from either MiniMed or directly
from other vendors. Approximately $56,000, $457,000 and $397,000 of revenues were earned from the
resale of MiniMed pumps and supplies in 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. )

Ar&digm Licensing Agreement

In August'2007; Lung Rx entered into an exclusive license, development and commercialization
agreement with Aradigm Corporation (Aradigm) for the rights to manufacture, develop and .
commercialize its AERx Essence device, a pulmonary drug delivery system, for use as a next-generation
metqfcd-dose inhaler with our investigationa! inhaled treprostinil product in patients with PAH and
other conditions. Under the terms of the agreement, we made an upfront payment of $440,000 to |
Aradigm and paid an additional $440,000 in January 2008. Aradigm will initiate, and is responsible for

conducting and. funding, a study that includes a bridging clinical trial comparing the AERx Essence
technology to the Optineb nebulizer used in the TRIUMPH-1 trial. If the study is successful we will
fund the costs to develop, commercialize and manufacture inhaled treprostinil for use with AERx

Essence.

If the study is successful, we will purchase approximately $3.5 million of Aradigm’s common stock
and pay it -a $650,000 licensing fee. Aradigm will receive three milestone payments over the course of
the development period. The milestone payments will be made upon the first to occur of a specified
event or the successive anniversaries of the effective date of our agreement with Aradigm, August 30,
2007. The first milestone payment of $2.0 million is due no later than August 30, 2008. The second and
third milestone payments are due no later than each successive anniversary date and increase by

$1.0 million each year. The agreement allows for the extension of these payment deadlines by the
amount of time equal to the duration of any delay caused by a regulatory agency. In addition; we
agreed to pay Aradigm royalty fees on a sliding scale based on net sales of t’he AERx Essence device.

Toray Amended License Agreement .

‘In June 2000, we obtained from Toray Industries, Inc. (Toray) the exclusive right to develop and..
market beraprost, a chemically stable oral prostacyclin analog, in a sustained release formulation
(beraprost-SR) in the United States and Canada for the treatment of cardiovascular indications. In
March 2007, Lung Rx entered into an amended agreement with Toray to assume and amend the rights
and obligations of the June 2000 agreement entered into between Toray and us in June 2000 .
concerning the commercialization of modified release formulations of beraprost (beraprost-MR). The
amended agreement grants us additional e;cclugiv'e rights to commercialize beraprost-MR in Europe and
broadens the indication to vascular disease (excluding renal disease), amoqg' other revisions.

In accordance with the terms of the amended agreement, in March 2007 we issued 200,000 shares
of our common stock to Toray in exchange for the cancellation of Toray's existing right to receive an
option grant to purchase 500,000 shares of our common stock (the Option Grant). Under the June
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2000 Agreement, Toray’s right to receive the Option Grant was conditioned upon: Toray’s delivery to us
of adequate documentation regarding the use of beraprost-SR in humans and its transfer of clinical
trial material to us, neither of which had occurred as of the effective date of the amended agreement.
Had the Option’ Grant been made, the exercise price of the options would have been set at the average
closing price of our common stock for the period one month prior to the dehvery date. Under the
terms of the amended agrecment, Toray has the right to request that we repurchase the newly issued
200,000 shares of our comrion stock -upon 30 days prior written notice at the price of $54.41 per share,
which was the average closing price of our common stock between January 11, 2007, and February 23,
2007. Based on’the average closing price of our common stock for the two trading days prior to and
the two trading days after March 16, 2007, the effective date of the amended agreement, we recognized
a research and development expense of approximately $11.0 million relating to the issuance of the -
200,000 shares, because beraprost ‘MR had not yet obtained regulatory approval for commercial-sales. °
In accordance with the provrsron of SFAS No. 133, Accouinting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, EITF 00-19, , Accouniing for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled
in, a Company’s Own Stock, and EITF Topic No. D-98, Classification and Measurement of Redeemable '
Securities, these shares of our common stock are reflected in mezzanine equity as commen stock subject
to repurchase valued at the repurchase price. If Toray requests that we repurchase these shares, then
an amount equal to the repurchase price will-be transferred toa hablllty account until the repurchase is
completed o ' .

* The amended agreement also spec1f1es thdt we make certain milestone payments to Toray during
the development pertod and upon U.S. or European Union Tegulatory approval. Upon execution of the
amended agreement _we made a $3.0 million payment to Toray in addition to the issuance of the
200, 000 shares of ‘our common stock discussed above. Additional annual milestone payments of
$2.0 mlllton are specified in the amended agreement and are to ¢ommence in the first quarter of 2008,
mcreasmg annually in $1.0 million increments through 2011, These payments will be expensed when
incurred. These payments are contingent upon the receipt of clinical trial material and commercial drug
from Toray that meet ali regulatory standards and requirements, including those relating to chemistry,
manufacturing and controls, and are documented to the satisfaction of U.S. and European Union
regulatory authorities. In addition, if Toray elects to terminate production of beraprost-MR, no further-
payments would be-due under the amended agreement. Conversely, if we elect to terminate .
development of beraprost-MR, then all remaining milestone payments would be due to Toray, unless
certdin regulatory standards and requirements have not been met, or if material problems have been
1dent1f1ed with respeet to manufactunng and regulatory compliance. ’

.

Patents. and Propnetary Rrghts

Our success depends in part on our ability (6 obtain and maintain patent protection for our
products, preserve trade secrets, prevent third parties from infringing upon our proprietary rights and
operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others in the United States and worldwide.
(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Iiem 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources for information regarding
royaltles and mllestone payments under these agreements) - : S

.

GlaxoSm:thKhne Asslgnment

In Jdnuary 1997 Glaxo Wellcome Inc. (now GlaxoSmrthKlme PLC) asstgned to us all rights to
the use of thé stable prostacychn analog now known as Remoduhn The patent covering the use of
Remodulin for PAH does not expire in the United States until October 2014 {as extended—see Patent
Term Extensions below) and. until various dates from September 2009 to August 2013 in nine other
countnes o . : .

RN [
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Pfizer License .

In December 1996, Pharmacia & Upjohn Company (néw Pfizer, Inc.) exclusively licensed to us
certain patents, a patent application and know-how for the composition and production of the ‘stable
prostacyclin analog now known as Remodulin. We filed our own United States patent application for a
new synthesis and production method for Remodulin in October 1997, and the patent was granted in
August 2002. Two additional patents covering this synthesis and production method were granted in
March 2003 and August 2004, We believe that our method of synthesis is a substantial improvement
over the Pharmacia method and we are using our unigue synthesis method rather than the licensed
Pharmacia method for the production of Remodulin. We have also registered two patents and have one
pending patent application with respect to additional Remodulin synthesis improvements.

Stanford University and New York Medical College Licenses : ' . : '

Tn 2000, we acquired the exclusive license to patents from Stanford University and New York
Medical College related to arginine-based dictary supplements that work to enhance the level of
naturally occurring nitric oxide in the vascular system, The licenses cover worldwide territories and are’
valid for the life of the patents (expiration dates ranging from 2010 to 2018). We will own all rights to
any new products derived from these licenses. ' o ‘

Supernus Pharmaceutical License

In ‘June 2006, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Supernus to use certain
technologies developed by them in our sustained release oral treprostinil formulation. Urider the |
agreement, in return for the license, we will pay Supernus certain amounts upon the achievement of
specified milestones based on the development of oral treprostinil and its commercial launch. In '
addition, the agreement provides that we will pay a royalty to Supernus based on net worldwide sales
of the initial product. Any such royalty will be paid for approximately twelve years commencing with
the first product sale and is subject to adjustments as specified in the agreement. Additional milestone
payments and royalty payments may be due for the development and commercialization of other:’
products developed using the technology granted in this license. )

TransMIT License

In March 2007, TransMIT Gesellschaft fur Technologletransfer GmbH. (TransMIT), an affiliate of
the University of Giessen, assigned to Lung Rx its entire interest in the patent rights to a portable -
ultrasonic nebulizer and rélated technology in order to make, have made, use and sell products based
on such patent rights. As consideration for the assignment, Lung Rx paid to TransMIT approximately
$779,000 and agreed to pay a 5% running royalty on net sales of nebulizers using the technology in
Germany. However, no royalty payments are due to TransMIT until royalties on net sales of products
in Germany exceed the original payment of approximately $779,000. :

Memorial Sloan Kettering

In December 2007, we entered into two agreements with Memorial Sloan-Kettéring Cancer Center
(MSKCC) to exclusively license certain rights to two investigational monoclonal antibodies, 3F8 and
8H9, for the treatment of neuroblastoma and metastatic brain cancer. The monoclonal antibody 3F8 is
a mouse IgG3 MADb, which is currently used in an investigational setting for the treatment of
neuroblastoma, a rare cancer of the sympathetic nervous system mainly affecting children. 8H9 is also a
mouse monoclonal antibody, but of the IgG1 subclass. The 8H9 antibody is highly reactive with a range
of human solid tumors, including brain cancers. The 8H9 antibody is in early investigational
development for metastatic brain cancer. . s
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Under the terms of the licensing agreements, MSKCC granted us an exclusive license for the
development and commercialization of the 3F8 and 8H9 antibodies for cancer throughout the universe.
In exchange for these exclusive licenses, we agreed {0 pay a royalty fee on net sales, with an annual
minimum royalty payment for each antibody. Milestone payments may also be due for the development
and commerc1allzatlon of these antibodies under our licenses.

Patent Term Extensions

In February 2005, we were granted a flve-year patent term extension by the United States Patent
and Trademark Office for a patent covering the method of treating PAH using Remodulin. U.S. Patent
Number 5,153,222, entitled “Methed of Treating Pulmonary Hypertension with Benzidine
Prostaglandins”, was originally scheduled to expire on October 6, 2009, It will now expire on October 6,
2014. The five-year Hatch-Waxman Act extension is the maximum .extension allowed under 35 U.S.C.
§156. Additional patents covering other products to which we have rights may also be eligible for
extensions of up to five years based upon patent term restoration procedures under the Hatch-Waxman
Act in the United States, and under similar procedures in Europe. l

Research & Development Expenditures

We are engaged in research and development and have incurred substantial expenses for these
activities. These expenses generaily include the cost of acquiring or inventing new technologies.and
products as well as their development. Research and development expenses during 2007, 2006 and 2005
totaled appronmateiy $83.4 million, $57.6 million and $36.1 million, respectively. (See ltem 7—
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations—Major Research
and Development Projects for additional mformatlon regarding expenditures related to major research
and development projects,)

Manufacturmg and Supply

We made treprostinil, the active ingredient for- Remodulin. and- mhaled treprostinil, and treprostinil
diethanolamine, the active ingredient for oral treprostinil, at our manufacturing facility in Chicago,
Hlinois, until March 2007 at which time we transitioned these activitics to our new laboratory in Silver
Spring, Maryland. The validation process for making these treprostinil-based compounds in the Silver
Spring facility commenced in October 2006. We anticipate filing with the FDA and other regulatory
agencies for approval to use the new facility for commercial purposes in the first quarter of 2008, with
regulatory agency approvals expected in the latter half of 2008. Until FDA approval, we cannot
commercially use any products manufactured in the Silver Spring facility. We currently maintain an
inventory of formulated Remodulin that will meet over two years of expected demand.

With the transfer of our manufacturing operations to the Silver Spring, Maryland, facility, we have
also changed our internal manufacturing process. When we began, we produced treprostinil starting
with basic chemicals and completed the full manufacturing process. Over the last two years, we have
been modifying the process to begin treprostinil manufacturing with advanced intermediate compounds
made by outside vendors. We anticipate that upon commercialization of oral treprostinil, the need for
treprostinil diethanolamine will be greater than the need for treprostinil sodium used for the inhaled
and infusion therapies. As a result, the manufacturing process will consist of starting with the advanced ,
intermediate compound, making treprostinil diethanolamine and then converting that compound to
treprostinil sodium as needed. We expect this to allow us the most flexibility and efficiency in meeting
future demands for both forms of active ingredients. We have approved three vendors to supply the
advanced infermediate compounds in order to reduce the risk of supply shortages.

Baxter Healthcare Corporation formulates Remodulin from treprostinil for us. The term of our
initial agreement with Baxter ended in October 2004. The contract is renewable for successive cighteen
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month terms and has been renewed. We rely on'Catalent Pharma Solutions, Inc. (formerly, Cardinal
Health, Inc.), for conducting stability studies on Remodulin, formulating inhaled treprostinil,
formulating oral treprostinil for clinical trials, and analyzing other products we are developing.

In 2008, we anticipate commencing commercial development of the 3F8 and 8H9 antibodies
licensed from MSKCC at our Silver Spring, Maryland, facility. We expect to be able to use the same
equipment for 3F8 and 8H9 development as we used for the OvaRex process.

Our telemedicine products are currently manufactured by MSI of Florida. In 2008, we antlc1pate
moving the manufacturing of our telemedicine products to Winland Electronics, Inc., due to an
increase in the volume of devices needed to meet patient demand.

Although we believe that other manufacturers and suppliers could provide similar products,
services and materials, there are few companies that could replace these manufacturers and suppliers.
A change in supplier or manufacturer could cause a delay in the manufacture, distribution and research
efforts associated with our respective products or result in increased costs. (For further discussion on
this risk, see ftem 1A—Risk Factors—We have [1mtted experience w:th production and manufacturing
products.)

Competition

Many drug companics engage in research and development to commercialize products to treat
cardiovascular and infectious diseases and cancer. For the treatment of PAH, we compete with many
approved products in the United States and worldw1de lncludmg the fol]owmg

* Flolan. The first product approved by the FDA for treatmg PAH, Flolan has been marketed by
GlaxoSmithKline PLC since 1996. In the second quarter of 2006, Myogen, Inc. acquired the marketing
rights for Flolan in the United States. In November 2006, Myogen was acquired by Gilead
Sciences, Inc. The generic exclusivity period for Flolan expired in April 2007, so it is possible that
generic formulations of Flolan could become available for commercial sale.

* Ventavis. Approved in December 2004 in the United States and in September 2003 in Europe,
Ventavis is the only prostacyclin analog that.has been approved for inhalation. Ventavis was initially
marketed by CoTherix, Inc., (CoTherix) in the United States and Schering AG in Europe: In January
2007, CoTherix was acquired by Actelion Ltd, the manufacturer and distributor of Tracleer.

* Tracleer. The first oral drug to be approved for PAH, Tracleer is also the first drug in its class,
known as endothelin receptor antagonists. Tracleer was approved in December 2001 in the United
States and in May 2002 in Europe. Tracleer is marketed by Actelion Ltd worldwide.

* Revatio, Approved in June 2005 in the United States, Revatio is also an oral therapy and is
marketed by Pfizer Inc. Revatio is a different formulation of the very successful drug Viagra® and is
the first drug in its class, known as PDES inhibitors, to be approved for PAH.

* Letairis™. Approved in June 2007 in the United States, Letairis is an oral therapy, and is.
marketed by Gilead Sciences, Inc. in the United States for the treatment of PAH. Like Tracleer,
Letairis is an endothelin receptor antagonist. GlaxoSmithKline is seeking approval of Letairis in
Europe where it is known as Volibris®. In February 2008, GlaxoSmithKline announced that Volibris
received a positive opinion for approval in the European Union.

* Thelin™. Approved in August 2006 in the Buropean Union, Thelin is an oral therapy, and is
marketed by Encysive Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Encysive), for the treatment of PAH. Like Tracleer and
Letairis, Thelin is an endothelin receptor antagonist. In February 2008, Pfizer Inc. announced that it
had reached an agreement to acquire Encysive. Thelin is not approved in the United States.
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Due to their case of use, oral therapies, such as Tracleer and Revatio, are generally considered -
front-line therapies for newly diagnosed patients. Flolan and Remodulin, more complex infusion
therapies, are generally considered later-stage therapies for sicker patients. The use of the available
oral therapics and Ventavis, cither alone or in combination, will delay the need for infusion therapy for
many patients. As a result, while we may not currently compete head-to-head with these drugs as
front-line therapy, the success of their use affects our commercial operations. As we develop both
inhaled and oral treprostinil therapies, we will be expanding our range ‘of therapeutics to front line
treatment. {For further discussion on this risk, see ftem 1A—Risk Factors—We may not successfully
compete with established drugs and the companies that develop and market them).

Holter and event monitoring analy51s services and systems are provided by many local and regional
competitors and a few national competitors.

. We compete with all of these companies for customers, funding, access to licenses, personnel,
third-party collaborators, product development and commercialization. Almost all of these companies
have substantially greater financial, marketing, sales, distribution and technical resources, and more
experience in research and development product development and marketing, clinical trials and
regulatory matters, than we have.

Governmental Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufacture, promotion, marketing and distribution of
pharmaceutical products are extensively regulated by governmental agencves in the United States and i in
other countries. Drugs are subject to rigorous regulation by the FDA in the United States and similar
regulatory bodies-in other countries. The steps ordinarily required before a new drug may be marketed
in the United States, which are similar to steps required in most other countries, include:

. Precliriical laboratory tests, preclinical studies in onima]s,,formulation studies and the submission
to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug Application for a new drug;

. Clrmcal studies in healthy volunteers;

. Adequate and well- controlled clinical trials to establish the safety and efflcacy of the drug for
each indication;

* The submission of a New Drug Application to the FDA; and

'*» FDA review and approval of the New Drug Applrcatron prior to any commercial sale or
shipment of the drug,

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry, toxicity and formutation, as
well as animal studies. The results of preclinical testing are submitted to the FDA as part of an
Investigational New Drug Application. A 30-day waiting period after the filing of each Investigéltional_
New Drug Application is required prior to the commencement of clinical testing in humans. At any
time during.this 30-day period or at any time thereafter, the FDA may halt proposed or ongoing *
clinical trials until it authorizes trials under specified terms. The Investigational New Drug Application
process may be extremely costly and may substantially delay development of our products. Moreover, - -
positive results of preclinical tests will not necessarily indicate positive results in clinical trials.
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Clinical trials to support New Drug Applications are typically conducted in three sequential phases,
but the phases may overlap. During Phase I, the initial introduction of the drug into healthy human
subjects or patients, the drug is tested to assess its effects on bodily functions and safety, including side
effects associated with increasing doses. Phase II usually involves studles in a limited patient popu]atlon ,
tor .

» assess the efficacy of the drug in specific, targeted indications;
* assess dosage tolerance and optimal dosage; and
+ identify possible adverse effects and safety risks. '

If a compound is found to be potentially effective and to have an acceptable safety profile in
Phase II evaluations, then Phase III trials, also called pivotal studies, major studies or advanced clinical
trials, are undertaken to further demonstrate clinical efficacy and to further test for safety within an
expanded patient population at geographically diverse clinical study sites.

After successful completion of the required clinical testing, a New Drug Application (NDA) or a
Biologics License Application (both referred to as an Application) is typically submitted. The FDA may
request additional information before accepting an Application for filing, in which case the Application
must be resubmitted with the additional information. Once the submission has been accepted for filing,
the FDA reviews the Application and responds to the applicant. The review process is often
significantly extended by FDA requests for additional information or clarification. The FDA may refer
the Application to an appropriate advisory committee for review, evaluation and recommendation as to .
whether it should be approved. The FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory
committee. The FDA may also inspect the manufacturing facility before approving an Application. .

If FDA evaluations of the Application and the manufacturing facilities are favorable, the FDA may
issue either an approval letter or an approvable letter. An approvable letter will usually contain a
number of conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval of the Application and .
authorization of commercial marketing of the drug for certain indications. The FDA also may refuse to
approve the Application and issue a not approvable letter, outlining the deficiencies in the submission
and often requiring additional testing or information. B

At the request of an applicant, the FDA may designate a product as an “orphan drug” if the drug
is intended to treat a rare disease or condition. A disease or condition is considered rare if it affects
fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. If an applicant obtains the first FDA marketing -
approval for a certain orphan drug, the applicant will have a seven-year exclusive right: as against
generic versions to market the drug for the orphan indication. The FDA has approved the orphan
designation for treprostinil for the treatment of PAH without regard to drug product formulation. We
believe that the orphan designation of treprostinil includes all types of PAH, regardless of etiology.
However, such designation does not preclude us from seeking orphan drug designation for other
formulations of treprostinil or for other etiologies of PAH or medically plausible subsets of PAH, and
does not preclude the FDDA from granting a new seven-year period of orphan drug exclusmty upon the
approval of an NDA for a new formulation of treprostinil for the designated new indication, _provided
we demonstrate that such new formulation is clinically superior to the older formulation of parcnteral
Remodulin.

L}

Subcutaneous Remodulin was approved by the FDA for the treatment of PAH in patients with-
NYHA Class II-IV symptoms to diminish symptoms associated with exercise, and intravenous -
Remodulin was approved for those’ patients not able to tolerate subcutaneous infusion. If regulatory
approval of our other products is granted, such approvals will similarly be limited to certain discase
states or conditions. The manufacturers of approved products and their manufacturing facilities. will be
subject to continual review and periodic inspections. Furthermore, identification of certain side effects
or the occurrence of manufacturing problems after a drug is on the market could cause subsequent
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withdrawal of approval, reformulation of the _dru.g, additional preclinical testing or clinical trials, and
changes in labeling of the product.

The Hatch-Waxman Act provides that patent terms may be extended to compensate for some of
the patent life that is lost during the FDA regulatory review period for the product. This extension
period would generally be one-half the time between the effective date of an investigational Application
and the submission date of an Application, plus all of the time between the submission date of an
Application and the approval of that Application, subject to a maximum extension of five years. Similar
patent term extensions are available under Européan laws. Following FDA approval, we filed a patent
term extension application with the United States Patent and Trademark Office for our patent covering
the method of treating PAH using Remodulin following FDA approval. The application was approved
in February 2005, and the patent now expires on October 6, 2014,

Outside of the United States, our ability to market our products will also be contingent upon
receiving marketing authorizations from the appropriate regulatory authorities. The foreign regulatory
approval process may include some or all of the risks associated with FDA approval set forth above.
The requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials and marketing authorization vary widely from
country to country. At present, foreign marketing authorizations are applied for at a national level,
although, within Europe, procedures are available to companies wishing to market a product in more
than one European Union (ELJ) member state.

In the EU, marketing authorizations may be submitted through a centralized body or through a
decentralized or a national level process. The centralized procedure is mandatory for the approval of
biotechnology products and high technology products and is available at the applicant’s option for other
products. The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization that is
valid in all EU member states. The decentralized procedure is available for all medicinal products that
are not subject to the centralized procedure. The decentralized procedure provides for mutual
recognition of national approval decisions, changes existing procedures for national approvals and
establishes procedures for coordinated EU actions on products, suspensions and withdrawals. Under
this procedure, the holder of a national marketing authorization for which mutual recognition is sought
may submit an application to one or more EU member states, certify that the dossier is identical to
that on which the first approval was based, or explain any differences and certify that identical dossiers
are being submitted to all member states for which recognition is sought. Within 90 days of receiving
the application and assessment report, each EU member state must decide whether to recognize
approval. The procedure encourages member states to work with applicants and other regulatory
authorities to resolve disputes concerning mutual recognition. Lack of objection of a given country
within 90 days automatically results in approval in that country. Following receipt of marketing
authorization in a member state, the applicant is then required to engage in pricing discussions and
negotiations with a separate prescription pricing authority in that country.

To secure European regulatory 'app'rovalé for subcutaneous use of Remodulin for PAH, we used
the mutual recognition procedure. Under the rules then applicable, centralized filing was not required
and we perceived the decentralized procedure to be the most effective means for approval. We filed
our first Marketing Authorization Application in France in February 2001. Review of our application
was completed in 2005. As a result, Remodulin was approved in 23 countries of the EU under the
mutual recognition process described above. We withdrew applications in Spain, the United Kingdom
and Ireland with the intent of resubmitting the applications when we file for approval for intravenous
Remodulin since these countries required additional information not required by the other European
countries. We have to file for approval for intravenous use of Remodulin using the mutual recognition
process since intravenous use of Remodulin is considered a variation to the original license. We have
- filed our application with our reference member state, France, which has notified us that it is not
satisfied with the filing we have made. We will work to address these concerns and belicve that we will
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eventually receive commercial approval for intravenous Remodulin in at least some European
countries. We have regulatory applications pending in other countries as well.

To secure European regulatory approval for inhaled treprostinil, we will use the centrahzed
process. Regulations in Europe have changed since we made our initial filing for Remodulin and all
therapies for orphan diseases must use the centralized process. We plan on fllmg for European
approval of inhaled treprostinil in late 2008. ‘

To secure approval of the Optineb device in the United States, applicable regulations require a-
quality system for the design, manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, installation and.servicing of
devices intended for commercial distribution. These quality system regulations require that various
specifications and controls be established for devices, devices be designed under a quality system to
meet these specifications, devices be manufactured under a quality system, finished devices meet these
specifications, devices be correctly installed, checked and serviced, quality data be analyzed to identify
and correct quality problems, and complaints be processed. Regulatory authorities may also require
additional patient data to support approval for these devices. We are also sub]ect to inspections by
regulatory agencies and ensuring that we and NEBU-TEC meet all requirements during inspections.

. To continue marketing our products after approval, applicable regulations require us to maintain a
positive benefit-risk profile, maintaining regulatory applications through periodic reports to regulatory
authorities, fulfilling pharmacovigilance requirements, maintaining manufacturing facilities to Good
Manufacturing Practices requirements, and successfully completing regulatory agency inspections,
among other requirements,

Telemedicine products are manufactured at contract facilities that are regulated by the FDA under
different laws and regulations that apply to medical devices. The telemedicine devices designed and
sold by Medicomp have received marketing clearance from the FDA under Section 510(k) of the Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act. Medical devices are required to be manufactured in conformance with the
FDA’s Quality System Regulations.

In the United States, reimbursements are provided for Remodulin by many independent third-
party payers, as well as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Medicare is the federal program which
provides health care benefits to certain senior citizens and certain disabled and chronically ill persons,
and Medicaid is the federal program administered by the states to provide health care benefits to
certain indigent persons. The Medicare contractors who administer the program provide reimbursement
for Remodulin at a rate generally equal to 95% of the published average wholesale price, as '
recommended by us. The state Medicaid programs generally provide reimbursement for Remodulin at a
price that is below the published average wholesale price. Beginning in 2007, the Medicare
Modernization Act requires that we and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services negotiate a
new price for Remodulin. We anticipate that the new rules will not have an impact on Remodulin
reimbursement rates in 2008. In return for including Remodulin in the Medicare and Medicaid
programs, we have agreed to pay a rebate to state Medicaid agencies that provide reimbursement for
Remodulin. We have also agreed to sell Remodulin under contracts with the Veterans Administration,
Department of Defense, Public Health Service and numerous other federal agencies as well as certain
hospitals that are designated as 340B entities (entities designated by federal programs to receive
discounted drug prices) at prices that are significantly below the price we charge to our distributors.
These programs and contracts impose many regulations and restrictions on our business. Failure to
comply with these regulations and restrictions could result in a loss of our ability to continue receiving
reimbursement for Remodulin. We estimate that between 35-50% of Remodulin sales in the United
States are reimbursed under the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

25




Employees - C

We had approximately 320 employeéé as of February 26, 2008. We also maintain active
independent contractor relationships with various individuals, most of whom have month-to-month or
annual consulting contracts. We believe our employee relations are excellent.

Industry Segments and Geographic Areas

We operate two business segments: pharmaceuticals and telemedicine. We sell our products in the
United States and abroad. The information required by Item 101(b) and 101(d) of Regulation S§-K
relating to financial information about industry segments and geographical areas is contained. in Notes
2 and 18, respectively, of the audited consolidated financial statements, which are included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. . :

Corporate Website ‘ : . . o

Our Internet website address is hutp://www.unither.com. 'Ou'; filings on Form 10-K, Form"lo-Q,
Form'3, Form 4, Form 5, and Form 8-K, and amendments thereto, are available fiee of charge through
this internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed or furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC). They are also available through the SEC’s EDGAR portal.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list, as of February 21, 2008, setting forth certain information regarding our =+’
executive officers. Each executive officer holds office until the first meeting of the Board of Directors
after the annual meeting of stockholders, and until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until
his or her edrlier resignation or removal. Each executive officer’s employment will end pursuant to the
terms of his or her employment contract. Each of .the employment contracts generally provides for an
initial term of service of five years, which five- year term may be renewed after each year: for additional
one-year periods.

Cpel

Name Age Position
Ertine A. Rothblatt, Ph.D., J.D., MBA. ... E Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Roger Jeffs, Ph.D. ..................... 46 President, Chief Operating Officer and Diréctor
John M. Ferrari ...................... 53 Chief Financial Officer’and Treasurer

Paul A. Mahon, JD. .................. 44 Executive Vice Presiderit for Strategic Planning,

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Martine A. Rothblatt, Ph.D., I.D., M.B.A., started United Therapeutics in 1996 and has served as.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since its inception. Prior to founding United Therapeutics, she
founded and served as Chief Executive Officer of Sirius Satellite Radio and was principally responsible
for several other unique applications of satellite communications technology. She also represented the
radio astronomy interests of the National Academy of Sciences’ Committee on. Radio Frequencies
before the FCC and led the International Bar Association’s efforts to present the United Nations with
a draft Human Genome Treaty. Her book, YOUR LIFE OR MINE: How GEOETHICS CAN RESOLVE
THE CONFLICT BETWEEN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE INTERESTS IN XENOTRANSPLANTATION, was_published. by
Ashgate in 2004, ' '

Roger Jeffs, Ph.D., joined United Therapeutics in September 1998 as Director of Research,
Development and Medical. Dr. Jeffs was promoted to Vice President 0f Research, Development and
Medical in July 2000 and to President and Chief Operating Officer in January 2001. Prior to 1998,

Dr. Jeffs worked at Amgen, Inc. as Manager of Clinical Affairs and Associate Director of Clinical
Research from 1995 to 1998, where he served as the worldwide clinical leader of the Infectious Disease
Program. : -

John M. Ferrar, joined‘United Therapeutics in May 2001 as Controller. ‘Mr. Ferrari was promoted
to Vice President of Finance in December 2003 and to Vice President of Finance and Treasurer in
June 2004. In August 2006 Mr. Ferrari was promoted to Chief’ Financial Officer and Treasurer. Prior to
joining United Therapeutics, Mr. Ferrari served as Controller for Blackboard, Inc., from 1998 t6 2001.
Prior to his employment with Blackboard, Inc., Mr. Ferrari served in various senior fmanaal
management positions since 1984, ‘ '

Paul A. Mahon, J.D., has served as General Counsel and Assistant Corporate Secretary of United
Therapeutics since its inception in 1996. In June 2001, Mr. Mahon joined United Therapeutics full-time
as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary. In November 2003, Mr. Mahon
was promaoted to Executive Vice President for Strategic Planning, General Counsel and Corporate
Secretary. Prior to June 2001, he served United Therapeutics from its formation in 1996 in his capacity
as principal and managing partner of a law f1rm specializing in technology and media law.
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- PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Forward-Lookmg Statements -

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contams forward -looking statements made pursuant to the safe
harbor provisions of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act) and the
Private Sccurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 which are based on our beliefs.and expectations as to
future outcomes. These statements include, among others, statements relating to the following:

* Expectations of revenues and profitability;
-« The timing and outcome of clinical studies and regulatory filings;
* The.achievement and maintenance of regulatory approvals;
* The existence and activities of competitors;
* The pricing of Remodulin;
* The expected levels and timing of Remodulin sales;

* The dosing and rate of patient consumption of Remodulin;

* The outcome of potentla] future regulatory actions from the FDA and international rcgulatory .
agencies;

* The adequacy of our mtellectual property protections and their exprratlon dates;

. The ability of third parties to market, distribute and sell our products 7

¢ The current and expected future value of our goodwill and recorded intangible assets;

* The ability to obtain financing in the future; -

* The value of our common stock; ' _ '

» The expectation of future repurchases of those shares subject to repurchase from Toray;
* The expectation of continued profits or losses;

* The pace and timing of enrollment in clinical trials;

* The expectation and timing of filing for regulatory approvals of inhaled treprostinil;

* The timing, resubmission, completion and outcome of the applications for approval of
subcutaneous Remodu]m in Ireland, Spain and the United Kingdom;

* The expectation, outcome and timing of marketing approvals in European Umon countries for.
intravenous Remodulin;

* The expected timing of milestone payments from Mochida and commercial activities in Japan;
. "I_‘hp expected timing of payments to third parties under licensing agreements;

¢+ The potential irnpacts of new accounting rules;. .

» The outcome of any litigation in which we are or become involved;

« Any statements preceded by, followed by or that include any form of the words “believe,”
“expect,” “predict,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “should,” “may,” “will,” or similar
expressions; and

b AR 13

* Other statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
that are not historical facts. :
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The statements identified as forward-looking statements may exist in.the section entitled
Ttem 2—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations above or -
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These statements-are subject to risks and uncertainties -
and our actual results may differ materially from anticipated results. Factors that may cause such
differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below. We undertake no obligation to
publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. ' '

Unless the context requires otherwise or unless otherwise noted, all references in this section to
” G

“United Therapeutics” and to the “comipany”, “we”, “us” or “our” are to United Therapeutics
Corporation and its subsidiaries. '

Risks Related to Our Business
We have a history of losses and may not continue to be profitable .

Although we have been profitable for each calendar year since 2004, we have had quarters in
which we experienced a loss. At December 31, 2007, our accumulated deficit was approximately -
$21.5 million. Although we set our annual operating budgets to be less than our estimated revenues,
numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control, could affect consolidated revenues and
profitability and cause our quarterly and annual operating results to fluctuate.

We rely heavily on sales of Remodulin to produce revenues.

We rely heavily on sales of Remodulin. During the year ended December 31, 2007, our Remodulin
sales accounted for 95% of our total revenues. A wide variety of events, many of which are described
in other risk factors below, could cause Remodulin sales to decline. For example, if regulatory .
approvals for Remodulin are withdrawn, we will be unable to sell that product and our revenues will
suffer. In the event that GlaxoSmithKline terminates its assignment agreement or Pfizer terminates its
license agreement, we will have no further rights to utilize the assigned patents or trade secrets to
develop and cothmercialize Remodulin. GlaxoSmithKline or Pfizer could seek to terminate the
assignment or license, respectively, in the event that we fail to pay royalties based on sales of
Remodulin. In addition, we rely on third parties to produce, market, distribute and sell Remodulin. The
loss of third parties to perform these functions, or the failure of these parties to do so successfully, also
could cause our revenues to suffer. Because we are so dependent on sales of Remodulin, any reduction
in the sale of Remodulin would cause our results of operations to suffer. :

Most of our pharmaceutical products are in clinical development and may never generate profits.

Our only pharmaceutical product currently in commercial distribution is Remodulin. Most of our
pharmaceutical products are in clinical studies; therefore, many of those products may not be
commercially available for a number of years, if at all. We might not maintain or obtain regulatory
approvals for our pharmaceutical products and may not be able to sell our pharmaceutical products
commercially. Even if we sell our products, we may not be profitable and may not be able to sustain
any profitability we achieve. ‘ '

We may not suc'cessfully compete with established drugs, products and the companies that develop and
market them.

We compete with established drug companies during product development for, among other things,
funding, access.to licenses, expertise, personnel, clinical trial patients, and third-party collaborators. We
also compete with these companies following approval of our products. Almost all of these competitors -
have substantially greater financial, marketing, sales, distribution and technical resources, and more
experience in research and development, clinical trials and regulatory matters than we do.
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We are aware of existing treatments that compete with our products, especially in the field of
PAH. Patients and doctors may perceive these competing products to be safer, more effective, more
convenient or. less expensive than Remodulin. Accordingly, sales of Remodulin may not increase, or
may even decrease if doctors prescribe less Remodulin. than they are prescribing at present.

For the treatment of PAH, we compete w1th many approved products in the United States dnd '
worldw1de, including the following:

* Flolan. The first preduct approved by the FDA for treating PAH, Flolan has been marketed by
GlaxoSmithKline PLC since 1996. In the second _quarter of 2006, Myogen Inc. (Myogen),
acquired the marketing rights for Flolan in the United States. In November 2006, Myogen was
acquired by Gilead Sciences, Inc., which is regarded as a large and successful biotechnology
company in the United States. The generic exclusivity period for Flolan expired in April 2007, so
it is possible that generic formulations of Flolan could become available for commercial sale.
Flolan is delivered by intravenous infusion and considered to be an effective treatment by most
PAH experts.

* Ventavis. Approved in December 2004 in the United States and in September 2003 in Europe, -
Ventavis is the only prostacyclin analog that has.been approved for inhalation, whereas S
Remaodulin is only currently approved to be delivered through intravenous or subcutaneous "
infusion. Ventavis was initially marketed by CoTherix, Inc. (CoTherix), in the United States and .
Schering AG in Europe. In January 2007, CoTherix was acquired by Actelion Ltd, the
manufacturer and distributor of Tracleer. Actelion is regarded as a large and successful

. biotechnology company.

* Tracleer. The first oral drug to be approved for PAH, Tracleer is also the first drug in its class,
known as endothelin receptor antagonists. Tracleer was approved in December 2001 in'the
United States and in May 2002 in Europe. Tracleer is marketed by. Actelion worldwide.

+ Révatio. Approved in June 2005 in the United States, Revatio is also an oral therapy and is
marketed by Pfizer Inc. (Pﬁzcr) Revatio’is'a different formulation of the very successful drug
Viagra and is the first drug in its class, known as PDES inhibitors, to be approved for PAH.
Pfizer is regarded as a large and successful pharmaceutical company in the United States.

* Letairis. Approved in June 2007 in the United States, Letairis is an oral therapy, and is
‘marketed by Gilead Sciences, Inc. in the United States for the treatment of PAI. Like Tracleer,
Letairis is an endothelin receptor antagonist. GlaxoSmithKline is se€king approval of Letairis in
Europe where it is known as Volibris. In February 2008, GlaxoSmithKline announced that
Volibris received a positive opinion for approval in the European Union. -

* Thelin. Approved in August 2006 in the European Union, Thelin is an oral therapy, and is
marketed by Encysive Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Encysive), for the treatment of PAH. Like Tracleer
and Letairis, Thelin is an endothelin receptor antagonist. In February 2008, Pfizer announced .
that it had reached an agreement to acquire Encysive. : :

Doctors may reduce 'the dose of Remodulin they give to their patients if they prescrlbc our )
competitors’ products in combination with Remodulin. In addition, certain of our competitors’ products
are less invasive than Remodulin and the use of these products may delay or prevent initiation of
Remiodulin therapy. Finally, as a result of Actelion’s acquisition of CoTherix, Gilead’s acquisition of
Myogen, and Pfizer’s pending acquisition of Encysive, each of these three companies now controls two
of the seven: approved therapies for PAH in the United. States, the seventh of which is Remodulin. In
addition to reducing competition through consolidation, each company brings considerable influence
over prescribers to the sales and marketing of their respective two approved theraples through market -
dominance in this therapeutlc area. . . _
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A number of drug companies are pursuing treatments for the hepatitis C virus and cancer that will
compete with any products we may develop from. our glycobiology antiviral agents and monoclonal
antibodies platforms.

Many local and regional competitors and a few national competitors provide cardiac Holter and
event monitoring services and systems that compete with our telemedicine products.

Discoveries or development of new products or technologies by others may make our products obselete
or less useful. :

Companies may make discoveries or introduce new products that render all or some of our
technologies and products obsolete or not commercially viable. Researchers are continually making new
discoveries that may lead to new technologies that treat the diseases for which our products are
intended. In addition, alternative approaches to treating chronic diseases, such as gene therapy, may
make our products obsolete or noncompetitive. Other investigational therapies for PAH could be used
in combination with or as a substitute for Remodulin. If this happens, doctors may reduce the dose of
Remodulin they give to their patients or may prescribe other treatments instead of Remodulin. This
could result in less Remodulin being used by patients and, hence, reduced sales of Remodulin.

Remodulin and our other treprostinil-based products may have to compete with investigational
products currently being developed by other companies, including:

* Thelin. Thelin is currently being developed by Encysive Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Encysive),
worldwide for the treatment of PAH. Although Encysive has received marketing authorization in
all nations in the European Union, they have not received FDA approval in the United States.
In February 2008, Pfizer announced that it had reached an agreement to acquire Encysive and
that it intended to conduct an additional clinical trial in order to file for FDA approval;

* Cialis®. An approved oral treatment for erectile dysfunction, Cialis is currently marketed by Eli
Lilly and Company (Lilly). Prior to January-2007, Cialis was jointly marketed by ICOS
Corporation and Lilly. Cialis is cufrently being studied in patients with PAH, and is in the same
class of drugs as Revatio. In January 2007, ICOS Corporation was acquired by Lilly, which is a
large and successful pharmaceutical company in the United States;

* Gleevec® An approved oral treatment for chronic myeloid leukemia (a cancer of the blood and
bone marrow), Gleevec is currently marketed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation.
Recently, experienced PAH researchers have conducted studies with Gleevec and believe that it
may be effective in treating PAH;

« Aviptadil. An inhaled formulation of a vasoactive intestina) peptide, Aviptadil is being developed
by mondoBIOTECH Holding SA for the treatment of PAH. In September 2006,
mondoBIOTECH announced that it had outlicensed Aviptadil for the treatment of PAH to
Biogen Idec Inc., which is regarded as a large and successful biotechnology company in the
United States;

* PRX-08066. A serotonin receptor 5-HT2B antagonist, PRX-08066 is being developed by Predix
Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc., as an oral tablet for the treatment of PAH. Two Phase I clinical
trials of PRX-08066 are being conducted in healthy volunteers; :

* PulmoLAR. Currently in development by PR Pharmaceuticals, Inc., PulmoLAR is a
once-a-month injectible therapy which contains a metabolite of estradiol and has been shown in
animal and cell models to address certain processes associated with PAH;

* Fasudil. Oral and inhaled formulations of Fasudil, a rho-kinase inhibitor, may be developed by
Actelion Ltd for the treatment of PAH. Fasudil is currently approved in Japan as an intravenous
drug to treat a disease unrelated to PAH;
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» Sorafenib. Originally marketed by Bayer AG as Nexavar® for advanced renal cell cancer,
Sorafenib is a small molecule that inhibits Raf kinase and that may interfere with-the thickening
of blood vessel walls associated with PAH. A Phase I clinical trial in PAH has been proposed;

* Recombinant Elafin. Currently being developed by PROTEO Biotech AG, Recombinant Elafin
is a synthetic version of a protein that is produced naturally in the body and may inhibit
inflammatory reactions. In February 2007, Elafin was granted orphan product status in the

* Buropean Union for the treatment of PAH and chronic thromboembolic pulmonary
hypertension;

* Cicletanine. Marketed by Navitas Pharma for hypertension in Europe, Cicletatnine is an eNOS
coupler-that works to increase the flexibility of blood vessel linings; and

* 6R-BH4. A naturally occurring enzyme cofactor that is required for numerous biochemical and
phiysiologi¢ processes, including the synthesis of nitric oxide, 6R-BH4 is being developed by
BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. for the treatment of poorly controlled hypertension, peripheral
arterial disease and phenylketonuna A Phase I clinical trial of 6R- BH4 for PAH is also

’ underway

There may be additional dmgs in development for PAH in addltlon to those llsted above and there
may also be currently approved drugs that prove effective in treating the disease. If any of these drugs
in development, additional new drugs or other currently approved drugs are used to treat PAH, sales of
Remodulin may fall. . :

If third-party payers will not reimburse patients for our drug products or if third-party payers limit
the amount of reimbursement, our sales will suffer. .

Our commercial success depends heavily on third-party payers, such as Medicare, Medicaid and
private insurance companies, agreeing to reimburse patients for the costs of our pharmaceutical
products. These third-party payers frequently challenge the pricing of new and expensive drugs, and it
may be difficult for distributors selling Remodulin to obtain reimbursement from these payers.
Remodulin and the associated infusion pumps and supplies are very expensive. We believe our
investigational products, if approved, will also be very expensive. Presently, most third-party payers,
including Medicare and Medicaid, reimburse patients for the cost of Remodulin therapy. In the past,
Medicare has not reimbursed the full cost of the therapy for some patients. Beginning ori January 1,
2007, the Medicare Modernization Act requires that we and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services (CMS) riegotiate a new price for Remodulin, As the resalt of the staggered implementation of
this Act, Remodulin has not yet been subject to the pricing provisions. In addition, to the extent that
private insurers or managed care programs follow any Medicaid and Medicare coverage and payment
developments, the adverse effects of lower Medicare payment rates may be expanded by private
insurers adopting lower payment schedules. Additionally, some states have enacted health care reform
legislation. Further federal and state developments are possible.

Third-party payers may not approve our new products for reimbursement or may not continue to
approve Remodulin for reimbursement, or may seek to reduce the amount of reimbursement for
Remodulin based on changes in pricing of other therapies for PAH, including possible generic
formulations of other approved therapies, such as Flolan, which may currently be sold in generic form.
If third-party payers do not approve a product of ours for reimbursement or limit the amount of
reimbursement, sales will suffer, as patients could opt for a competing product that is approved for
reimbursement. '
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The growth of our cardiac monitoring business is dependent upon physicians utilizing our services; if
we fail to maintain our current level of physician utilization, our cardiac monitoring revenues may
stagnate and our business could be adversely affected.

Our ability to provide our cardiac monitoring services is dependent upon physicians prescribing our
diagnostic tests to their patients. Our success in obtaining patients to monitor will be directly influenced
by the relationships we develop and maintain with physicians and physician groups in a manner
consistent with government regulations affecting such relationships. If we are unable to maintain such
relationships and create new relationships in compliance with applicable laws, the number of patients
using our cardiac monitoring services will decline, which may have a material adverse effect on our
revenues and our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to educate physicians regarding the benefits of our CardioPAL® SAVI System and
achieve sufficient levels of utilization, revenues from the provision of our cardiac monitoring services
could fail to grow and could decrease.’ '

Reimbursement for cardiac monitoring services by Medicare is highly regulated and subject to change
and the operation of our call centers and monitoring facilities is subject to rules and regulations
governing Independent Diagnostic Testing Facilities; failure to comply with these rules could prevent
us from receiving reimbursement for our cardiac services from Medicare and some commercial payers.

We receive approximately 15% of our cardiac monitoring service revenues as reimbursement from
Medicare. Reimbursement from Medicare for cardiac monitoring services is subject to.statutory and
regulatory changes, rate adjustments and administrative rulings, all of which could materially affect the
range of services covered or the reimbursement rates paid by Medicare for use of our cardiac
monitoring services. In 2007, CMS adopted a change in methodology for calculating reimbursement
under the Physician Fee:Schedule that will be implemented over a 4 year period. This resulted in
reduced reimbursement for our cardiac monitoring services from Medicare by 3% to 18%, depending
on the type of service. Similar reductions have been adopted for 2008 and are expected annually
through 2010. In addition, we cannot predict whether future modifications to Medicare’s
reimbursement policies could reduce the amounts we receive from Medicare for the services we
provide. Finally, Medicare’s reimbursement rates can affect the rate that commercial payers are willing
to pay for our products and services.

The Medicare program is administered by CMS, which imposes extensive and detailed
requirements on medical services providers, including, but not limited to, rules that govern how we
structure our relationships with physicians, how and when we submit reimbursement claims, how we
operate our monitoring facilities and how we provide our cardiac monitors and. monitoring services.
Our failure to comply with applicable Medicare rules could result in Medicare discontinuing our
reimbursement, our being required to return funds already paid to us, civil monetary penalties, criminal
penalties and/or exclusion from the Medicare program. '

Furthermore, in order for us to receive reimbursement for cardiac monitoring services from
Medicare and some commercial payers, we must have a call center certified as an Independent
Diagnostic Testing Facility, or IDTF. Certification as an IDTF requires that we follow strict regulations
governing how the center operates, such as requirements regarding the experience and certifications of
the technicians who review data transmitted from our cardiac monitors. These rules and regulations
vary from location to location and are subject to change. If they change, we may have to change the
operating procedures at our monitoring facilities, which could increase our costs significantly. If we fail
to obtain and maintain IDTF certification, our services may no longer be reimbursed by Medicare and
some commercial payers,-which could materially affect our telemedicine business adversely.




We rely on third parties to market, distribute and sell most of our products and those third parties
may not perform. '

We are currently marketing products in two of our four therapéutic platforms: Remodulin in our
prostacyclin analog platform and CardioPAL SAVI cardiac event monitors and Holter monitors in our
telemedicine platform. We also have several products in the clinical trial stage. We do not have the
ability to independently conduct clinical studies, obtain regulatory approvals, market, distribute or sell
most of our products and intend to rely substantially on experienced third parties to perform some or.
all of those functions. We may not locate acceptable contractors or enter-into favorable agreements
with them. If third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected
deadlines, we might not be able to develop, market, distribute or sell our products and our future
revenues could suffer.

We rely on Accredo Therapeutics, Inc., CuraScript, In¢. and Caremark, Inc. to market, distribute,.
and sell Remodulin in the United States. Accredo, CuraScript and Caremark are also responsible for
convincing third-party payers to reimburse patients for the cost of Remodulin, which is very expensive.
If our distribution partners and contractors do not achieve acceptable profit-margins, they may not
continue to distribute our products. If our distribution partners in the United States and internationally,
are unsuccessful in their efforts, our revenues will suffer.

Since the commercial launch of Remodulin, ail of our Remodulin distributors in the United States
have been sold to-larger companies. When these distributors were independently managed, the
Remodulin franchisé was a more significant business to them, because they were much smaller. As
divisions or subsidiaries of much larger companies, Remodulin could be much less significant to these
distributors. There can be no assurance that the- mergers experienced by each of our distributors will
not adversely affect Remodulin distribution. In addition, effective January 1, 2007, Accredo became the
exclusive U.S. distributor for Flolan. It is possible that our distributors may devote fewer resources to
the distribution of Remodulin. If so, this'may negatively impact our sales. -

Our operations depend on compliance with complex FDA and comparable international regulations.
Failure to obtain broad approvals on a timely basis or te achieve continued compliance could delay or
halt commercialization of our products. ’ , . . '

The products that we develop must be approved for marketing and sale by regulatory authorities
and, once approved, are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and comparable regulatory '
agencies in other countries. The process of obtaining and maintaining regulatory approvals for new ' -
drugs is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. The manufacture, distribution, advertising and marketing of
these products are subject to extensive regulation. Any new product approvals we receive in the future
could include significant restrictions on the use or marketing of the product. Potential products may fail
to receive marketing approval on a timely basis, or at all. Product approvals, if granted, can be
withdrawn for failure to comply with regulatory requirements, including those relating to-misleading
advertising or upon the occurrence of adverse events followmg commercial introduction of the
products. '

In addition, our marketed products and how we manufacture and sell these products are subject to
extensive continued regulation and review. We received one warning letter from the FDA related to
advertising in 2005, which was resolved satisfactorily. In early August 2007, three European Union
countries requested that we perform repeat sterility testing of Remodulin vials sold in the European
Union. France was our sponsoring country for European Union approval, and we had been operating
under an undeérstanding with French regulatory authorities that additional sterility testing was not
necessary since these tests were already performed in the United States and meet both United States
and European Union regulatory requirements. Our ability to add new patients in those countries
depended on our validating and repeating the sterility testing process in the European Union. We
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arranged for repeat sterility testing of Remodulin vials for use in the European Union-and worked with
appropriate regulatory agencies and our distributors to ensure that there was no disruption of
Remodulin therapy during the repeat testing period. All Remodulin patients in the three countries
remained on therapy throughout the testing process. We completed this process in September 2007. We
have received regulatory clearance from all countries.

We have never experienced a sterility-related or other product specification failure with respect to
our Remodulin vials. However, discovery of previously unknown problems with our marketed products -
or problems with our manufacturing, regulatory, promotional or other commercialization activities may
result in regulatory restrictions on our products, including withdrawal of the products from the market.
If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, we- could be subject.to penalties including
fines, suspensions of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products and criminal prosecution.

If approvals are withdrawn for Remodulin or any other producf, we will not be able to sell that
product and our revenues will suffer. In addition, if product approvals are withdrawn, governmental
authorities could seize our products or force us to recall our products. . X o

Reports of side effects, such as sepsis, associated with intravenous Remodulin-could cause physicians
and patients to not accept Remodulin or to cease to use Remeodulin in favor of alternative treatments.

Sepsis is a serious and potentially life-threatening infection of the bloodstream caused by a wide "
variety of bacteria. Intravenous prostacyclins are infused continuously through a catheter placed in
patients’ chests, and sepsis is an expected consequence of this. type of delivery. As a result, sepsis is
included as a risk in both the Remodulin and Flolan package inserts. The Flolan package insert
specifically documents the risk rate of sepsis at 0.32 events per patient per year, meaning one patient
out of every three taking the drug is expected to have a sepsis infection each year. Or, each patient on
Flolan is expected to have one sepsis infection every three: years. The Remodulin package insert notes
that two out of 38 patients experienced catheter-related infections in an open-label 12-week study, but
does not provide any data relating to expected risk rate. Historical data on intravenous prostacyclin
administration does not identify the specific types of bacteria responsible for these infections.

In February 2007, the Scientific Leadership Committee (SLC) of the Pulmonary Hypertension
Association announced new guidance relating to the treatment of PAH patients on long-térm
intravenous therapy. The SLC guidance was issued in response to the relcase of a slide presentation
prepared by researchers with the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) entitled
Bloodstream infections among patients treated with infravenous epoprostenol and intravenous treprostinil for
pulmonary arterial hypertension, United States 2004—2006. These slides accompanied a presentation to
the SLC and were subsequently published as a report in the CDC’s Morbidity and Mortality Weekly
Report on March 2, 2007. The slides and report were prepared in connection with a CDC retrospective
inquiry at seven. centers regarding a report of increased bloodstream infections, particularly
gram-negative blood stream infections, among PAH patients treated with intravenous Remodulin as
compared to intravenous Flolan. The SL.C guidance statement noted that the CDC observations were
hypothesis-generating and did not permit definitive or specific conclusions. The SLC reminded
physicians of the need to be aware of the range of possible gram negative and gram positive infectious
organisms in patients with long-term central catheters and to treat them appropriately. We have been
informed that the SLC is planning a study to evaluate the risk of sepsis and sepsis sub-types. among
parenterally-delivered prostanoids. Finally, the FDA revised the Remodulin package insert in February
2008 to more fully describe the known infection risk and appropriate techniques to be practiced when
preparing and administering Remodulin intravenously. ' o

Although the risk of sepsis is currently included in’ the Remodulin label! and the occurrence of
sepsis is familiar to physicians who treat PAH patients, concern about bloodstream infections may
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adversely affect physicians’ prescribing practices in regard to Remodulin. If that occurs, Remodulin
sales could suffer and our profitability couid be diminished.

We have transitioned our manufacturing operations to a new location.

We are in the process of validating treprostinil manufacturing in our new Silver Spring, Maryland,
_laboratory. This manufacturing process will be done on a larger scale than that performed in our
former Chicago, Illinois, facility. We closed the Chicago facility in May 2007, Until we have received
FDA and international approvals for the Silver Spring laboratory, we cannot sell products made with
compounds produced there. In addition; commercial treprostinil is being manufactured only by us with
reliance on third parties for certain raw and advanced intermediate materials.

We depend on third parties to formulate and manufacture our products and related devices.

We rely on third parties to formulate our treprostinil-based products. We rely on Baxter - :
Healthcare Corporation for the formulation of Remodulin from treprostinil. We rely on Catalent
Pharma Solutions, Inc. for conducting stability studies on Remodulin, formulating treprostinil for
inhalation use, formulating tablets for our oral clinical trials, and analyzing other products that we are
developing. We also rely on third parties for the manuvfacture of alt our products other than -+
treprostinil. We rely on MSI of Central Florida, In¢. to manufacture our telemedicine devices. We rely
on other manufacturers to make our investigational drugs and devices for use in clinical trials.

We also rely on NEBU-TEC, a German company, to manufacture the Optineb nebulizer used with
inhaled treprostinil. NEBU-TEC is responsible for managing and controlling the manufacturing process
of its device, all associated parts, and work performed by its suppliers, in accordance with all applicable
regulatory requirements. Because regulatory approval of inhaled treprostinil will be linked to regulatory
approval of the Optineb device, any regulatory compliance problems encountered by NEBU-TEC with
respect to the manufacture of its device could delay or otherwise adversely affect regulatory approvals
of inhaled treprostinil, and our revenues could suffer. In addition, following regulatory approval of
inhaled treprostinil, any inability of NEBU-TEC to manufacture a sufficient quantity of nebulizers to
meet patient demand could have an adverse effect on our revenue growth.

v

Although there are few companies that could replace ¢ach of these suppliers, we believe that other
suppliers could provide similar services and materials. A change in suppliers, however, could cause a
delay in distribution of Remodulin and other products, and in the conduct of clinical trials and
commercial launch, which would adversely affect our research and development efforts and future sales
efforts.

Our manufacturmg strategy presents the followmg risks:

* The manufacturing processes for some of our products have not been tested in quantities
needed for commercial sales;. :

* Delays in scale-up to commercial quantities and process vahdatmn could delay chmcal studies,
regulatory submissions and commercnahzat]on of our products;

* A long lead time-is needed to manufacture treprostmﬂ and Remodulin, and the manufacturmg
process is complex;

* We and the manufacturers and formulators 6f our products are subject to the FDA's and
international drug regulatory authorities’ good manufacturing practices regulations and similar
international standards, and although we control compliance issues with respect to synthesis and
manufacturing conducted internally, we do not have control over compliance with these
regulations by our third-party manufacturers; ‘
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« Even if we and the manufacturers and formulators of our products comply with the FDA's and
international drug regulatory authorities’ good manufacturing practices regulations and similar
intefnational standards, the sterility and quality of the products being manufactured and
formulated could be deficient. If this occurred, such products would not be available for sale or
use;

« If we have to change to another manufacturing or formulation contractor for any reason or
abandon our own manufacturing operations, the FDA and international drug regulators would
require new testing-and compliance inspections, and the new manufacturer would have to be

- educated in the processes necessary for the validation and production of the affected product.
Cardinal Health recently sold its formulation business to Catalent Pharma Solutions, Inc..and
there can be no assurances that they will continue formulating treprostinil for both our
inhalation and oral clinical trials; . .

* We may not be able to develop or commercialize our products, other than Remodulin, as .
planned or at all and may have to rely solely on internal manufacturing capacity;

» The supply of raw and advanced intermediate materials and components used in the ‘
manufacture and packaging of treprostinil, Remodulin and other products may become scarce or
be interrupted, which could delay the manufacture and subsequent sale of such products. Any
proposed substitute materials and components are subject to approval by the FDA and
international drug regulators before any manufactured product ‘can be sold. The timing of such
FDA and international drug regulatory approval is difficult to predict and approvals may not be

-timely obtained; and

+ We may not have intellectual property rights, or may have to share intellectual property rights,
to many of the improvements in the manufacturing processes or new manufacturing processes
for our new products.

Any of these factors could delay clinical studies or commercialization of our products, ¢ntail higher
costs, and result in our inability to effectively sell our products.

Until November 2006, Medtronic MiniMed was our exclusive partner for the subcutaneous delivery
of Remodulin using the MiniMed microinfusion device for PAH. Medtronic has discontinued making
infusion pumps for subcutaneous delivery of Remodulin after first giving us and our distributors the
opportunity to purchase desired quantities. In November 2006, we mutually agreed with MiniMed to
terminate our contract. We relied on Medtronic MiniMed’s experience, expertise and performance in
supplying the infusion pumps. Any disruption in the supply to PAH patients of infusion devices could
delay or prevent patients from initiating or continuing Remodulin therapy, which could adversely affect
our revenues. Doctors and patients may not be able to obtain acceptable substitute delivery devices to
replace the MiniMed microinfusion devises when the available supply held by our distributors has been
depleted. . S

If our products fail in clinical studies, we will not be able to obtain or maintain FDA ‘and international
approvals and will not be able to sell those products. : '

In order to.sell our pharmaceuﬁcal products, we must receive regulatory approvals. To obtain those
approvals, we must conduct clinical studies demonstrating that the drug product, including its delivery
mechanism, is safe and effective. If we cannot obtain approval from the FDA and international drug

regulators for a product, that product cannot be sold, and our revenues will suffer.

In November we announced we are conducting Phase I1I clinical studies of an oral formulation of
treprostinil and are working on submission to the FDA for our completed Phase III study of inhaled
treprostinil. Our glycobiology antiviral agent, UT-23!B as monotherapy, completed a Phase 11,
proof-of-concept study in late 2004. In that trial, UT-231B did not demonstrate efficacy as a
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monotherapy against hepatitis C in a population of patients that previously failed conventional
treatments: We are now conducting preclinical testing of additional glycobiology drug candidates and
we are exploring opportunities to accelerate our glycobiology clinical deveIOpment efforts. We are still
completing or planning pre-clinical studies for our other products.

In the past, several of our product candidates have failed or been discontinued at various stages in
the product development process, including, but not limited to: OvaRex MAD for,the treatment of
advanced ovarian cancer; immediate release beraprost for early stage peripheral vascular disease;

. Ketotop for osteoarthritis of the knee; and UT-77 for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Also, the
length of time that it takes for us to.complete clinical trials and obtain regulatory approval for. product
marketing has in the past varied by product and by the intended use of a product. We. expect that this
will likely be the case with future product candidates and we cannot predict the length of time to
complete necessary clinical trials and obtain regulatory approval.

Our ongoing and planned ciinical studies might be delayed or halted for various reasons, mcludmg:
* The drug is not effective, or physrcrans think that the drug is not effective;
* Patients do not enroll in the studies at the rate we expect;

. Patrents experience severe side. effects durmg treatment

* Other mvestrgattonal or approved therap1es are vrewed as more effectwe or convenient by
physrcrans or patlents i

* Patients dle during the chmca] study because thetr drsease is too advanced or because they
experience medrcal problems that are not related to the drug being studred

Kl

* Drug supphes are not avarlable or. suitable for use in the studies; and '
* The results of preclinical testing cause delays in clinical trials.

In addition, the FDA and international regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the
approval process for pharmaceutical products. The FDA and international regulatory authoritics may
not agree that we- have demonstrated that our products are safe and effective. .

 Finally; beciuse regulatory approval of inhaled treprostinil will be linked to regulatory approval of
the QOptineb nebulizer, any regulatory compliance prablems encountered by NEBU TEC with respect to
the mariufacture of its device could delay 'or otherwise adversely affect regulatory approval of inhaled
treprostlml

Our corporate compliance program cannot guarantee that we are in compllance w1th all petentially *
appllcable l‘ederal state and international regulations,

The development manufacture, distribution, pricing, sales, marketing, and reimbursement of our
products, together with our general operations, are subject to extensive federal, state, local and
‘international regulation. While we have developed and instituted corporate compliance programs, we .
cannot ensure that we or our employees are or will be in compliance with.all potentially applicable
federal, state and international regulations. If we fail to comply with any of these regulations, a range
of actrons could result; including, but not lmnted to, the termination of clinical trials, the failure to
approve a product candidate, restrictions on our products or manufacturing processes, including
withdrawal of our products from the market, significant fines,” exclu51on from government healthcare’
programs or other sanctions or litigation.
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If the licenses, assignments and alliance agreements we depend on are breached or terminated, we
would lose our right to'develop.and sell the products covered by the licenses, assignments and alliance
agreements. ' :

Our business depends upon the acquisition, assignment and license of drugs and other products
which ]i’ave been discovered and initially developed by others, 'inclg’lc’iing Remodulin and all of the other
products in the prostacyclin platform, all of the products in the glycobiology antiviral agents platform,
and all of the products in our monoclonal antibodies platform. Under our product license agreements,’
we are granted certain rights to existing intellectual property owned by third parties subject to the
terms of each license agreement, whereas’ assignment agreements transfer all right, title .and -ownership
of the intellectual property to us, subject to the terms of each assignment.agreement. We have also
obtained licenses to other third-party technotogy to conduct our business. In addition, we may be
required to obtain licenses to other third-party technology to commercialize our-early-stage products.
This dependence has the following risks: R C oo ‘ .

» We may not be able to obtain future licenses, assignments and agreements at a reasonable cost
or at all; . : . . .

¢ If any of our licenses or assigﬁments are terminafed, we will lds_e our rights to develop and
market the products covered by stich licenses or assignments; N -

s The licenses and assignments that we hold generally provide for termination by the licensor or
assignor in the event we breach the license or assignment agreément, including failing to pay
royaities and other fees on a timely basis; and ' '

» If licensors fail to maintain the intellectual property licensed or- assigned to us as required by "
most of our license and assignment agreements, we may lose our rights to develop.and market
. some -or all of our products and may be forced to incur substantial additional costs to maintain
the intellectual property ourselves or force the licensor or assignor to do so.
Certain license and assignment agreements relating to our products may restrict our al:ailityi to develop
products in ¢ertain countries and/or for particular diseases and impose other restrictions on our
freedom to develop and market our |;n"‘oducts.l o ' v '

When we acquire, license or receive assignments of drugs and other products that have been
discovered and initially developed by others, we may receive righgs only to develop such’fdrugs or .
products in certain territories and not throughout the world. For example, we only have the rights to ~
market béraprost-MR for sale in North America and Europe. ' " '

In addition, provisions in our license and assignment agreements impose other. restrictions on our
freedom to develop and market our products. For example, in assigning Remodulin to us,
GlaxoSmithKline retained an exclusive option and right of first refusal to negotiate.a license agreement
with us if we ever decide to license any aspect of the commercialization of Remodulin anywhere in the
world. Similarly, in connection with Toray’s license of beraprost-MR to us, we agreed to provisions
establishing & conditjonal, restricted non-competition clause'in Toray’s favor, giving them the right to be
our exclusive provider of beraprost-MR and requiring that we make certain minimum annual sales in
order to maintain our exclusive rights to beraprost-MR. The restrictions that we have accepted in our
license and assignment agreements affect our freedom-to develop and market our products in the’
future. : : ‘ )

If our or our suppliers’ patent and other intellectual property protection are inadequate, our sales and
profits could suffer or our competitors could force our products completely out of the market.

Our United States patent for the method of treating PAH with Remodulin is currently set to
expire in October 2014 and the patent for inhaled treprostinil is set to expire in 2020. We believe that
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some of the patents to which we have rights may be eligible for extensions of up to five years based
upon patent term restoration procedures in Europe and under the Hatch-Waxman Act in the United
States. Our patent for treating PAH with Remodulin has already received the maximum five-year
extension. Competitors may develop products based on the same active ingredients as our products,
including Remodulin, and market those products after the patents expire, or may design around or seek
to invalidate our existing patents before they expire. If this bappens, our sales would suffer and our
profits could be severely impacted. In addition, if our suppliers’ intellectual property protection is
inadequate, our sales and profits could be adversely affected

We have been granted patents in the United States for the synthes1s of Remodulin, but patent
applications that have been or may be filed by us may not result in the issuance of additional patents.
The scope of any patent. issued may not be sufficient to protect our technology. The laws of
international jurisdictions in which we intend to sell our products may not protect our rights to the
same extent as the laws of the United States.

In addition to patent protection, we also rely on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and
technology advances. We enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees and others, but
these agreements may not be effective in protecting our proprietary information. Others may
independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information or obtain access to our
know-how.

Litigation, whlch is very cxpenswe ‘may be necessary to enforce or defend our patents or
proprietary rights’ and ‘may not end favorably for us. While we have recently settled pending litigation
against two parties related to enforcing our arginine patents, we may in the future choose to initiate
litigation against other parties who we come to believe have violated our patents or other proprietary
rights. If such litigation is unsuccessful or if the patents are invalidated or canceled, we may have to
write off the related intangible assets which could significantly reduce our earnings. Any of our licenses,
patents or other intellectual property may be challenged, invalidated, canceled, infringed or
circumvented and may not provide any competitive advantage to us.

Patents’ may be issued to others that prevent the manufacture or sale of our products. We may
have to license those patents and pay significant fees or royalties to the owners of the patents in order
to keep marketing our products. This would cause profits to suffer.

To the extent valid third-party patent rights cover our products or services, we or our strategic
collaborators would be required to seek licénses from the holders of these patents in order to
manufaéture, use, or sell our products and services. Payments under these licenses would reduce our
profits from these products and services. We may not be able to obtain these licenses on acceptable
terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain a required license or are unable to alter the design of our
technology to fall outside the scope of a third party patent, we may be unable to market some of our
products and services, which would limit our profitability.

Proposed changes to United States patent law are currently pending in Congress. If these proposed
patent reforms become law, it could make it easier for patents to be invalidated and/or could reduce
the amount of damages in cases of patent infringement. Because we rely on patents to protect our
products, the proposed patent reform could have an adverse impact on our business.

Pursuant to our agreements with certain business partners, any new inventions or intellectual
properties that arise from our activities will be owned jointly by us and these partners. If we do not
have rights to new developments or inventions that arise during the terms of these agreements, or we
have to share the rights with others, we may lose some or zll of the benefit of these new rights, which
may mean a loss of future profits.or savings generated from improved technology.
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Our success depends in large part on our ability to operate without infringing upon the patents or
other proprietary rights of third parties. '

If we infringe the patents of others, we may be prevented from commercializing products or may
be required to obtain licenses from these third parties. We may not be able to obtain alternative
technologies or acquire a license on reasonable terms or at all. If we fail to obtain such licenses or
alternative technologies, we may be unable to develop or commercialize some or all of our products.

If our highly qualified management and technical personnel leave us, our business may suffer.

We are dependent on our current management, particularly our founder and Chief Executive
Officer, Martine Rothblatt, Ph.D.; our President and Chief Operating Officer, Roger Jeffs, Ph.D.; our-
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, John Ferrari; our Executive Vice President for Strategic Planning
and General Counsel, Paul Mahon; our Senior Vice President for Pharmaceutical Development, David
Zaccardelli, Pharm.D.; our Senior Vice President for Regulatory Affairs, Dean Bunce; and our Senior
Vice President for Biologics Production, Development and Supply, James Levin, DVM. While these
individuals are employed by us pursuant to multi-year employment agreements, employment ‘
agreements do not ensure the continued retention of employees. We do not maintain key person life
insurance on these officers, although we do incentivize them to remain employed by us until at least
age 60 through our Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. Our success will depend in part on
retaining the services of our existing management and key personnel and attracting and retaining new
highly qualified personnel. Few individuals possess expertise in the field of cardiovascular medicine,
infectious disease and oncology, and competition for qualified management and personnel is intense.

We may not have adequate insurance and may have substantial exposure to payment of product
liability claims.

The testing, manufacture, marketing, and sale of human drugs and diagnostics involve product
liability risks. Although we currently have product liability insurance covering claims up to $25 million
per occurrence and in the aggregate for our products, we may not be able to maintain this product
liability insurance at an acceptable cost, if at all. In addition, this insurance may not provide adequate
coverage against potential losses. If claims or losses exceed our liability insurance coverage, we may go
out of business. . ‘ . '

If we need additional financing and cannot obtain it, product development and sales may be li_mlited.' ’

We may need to spend more money than currently expected because we may need to change our-
product development plans or product offerings to address difficulties with clinical studies, to prepare
for commercial sales or to continue sales of Remodulin. We may not be able to obtain additional funds
on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If additional funds are not available, we may be compelled
to delay clinical studies, curtail operations or obtain funds through collaborative arrangements that may
require us to relinquish rights to certain products or potential markets. ' '

At least a portion of the repayment of our 0.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011 (Convertible
Notes) will be required to be made in cash. Our product development plans and product offerings
could be negatively impacted if we do not have sufficient financial resources, or are not able to arrange
suitable financing, to pay required amounts upon conversion or tender of the notes and fund our
operations.

Our activities involve hazardous materials, and improper handling of these materials could expose us
to significant liabilities.

Our research and development and manufacturing activities involve the controlled use of chemicals
and hazardous materials and we arc expanding these activities to new locations. As a consequence, we
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are subject to numerous federal, state, and local environmental and safety laws and regulations,
including those governing the management, storage and disposal of hazardous materials. We may be
required to incur significant costs in order to comply with current or future environmental laws and
regulations, and substantial fines and penalties for failure to comply with those laws and regulations.
While we believe that we are currently in substantial compliané:e with laws and regulations governing
these materials, the risk of accidental ¢ontamination or injury from these miaterials cannot be
eliminated. Furthermore, once these materials leave our site, we cannot control what our hazardous
waste removal contractors choose to do with them. In the event of an accident or we could be liable
for civil damages that result or for costs associated with the cleanup of any release of hazardous
materials, which could be substantial. Any such liability could exceed our resources and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. :

We may encounter substantial difficulties managing our growth.

’ Severa] risks are inherent to our plans to grow our businéss. Achieving our goals will require
substantial mvestments in research and development, sales and marketing, and facilities. For example,
we have spent considerable resources building and seeking regulatory approvals for our laboratories
and manufactunng facilities. These facilities may not prove sufficient to meet demand for our products
or we may have ‘excess capacity at these facilities. In addition, building our facilities is expensive, and
our ability to recover these costs will depend on increased revenue from the products produced at the
facilities.

. If we aro able to grow sales of our products, we may have difficulty n'lanaging inventory levels..
Marketing new therapies is a complicated process, and gauging future demand is difficult.

Growth in our business may also contribute to fluctuations in our operating results, Wthh may
cause the price of our securltles to decline.

Our financial results may be impacted by future accounting rules.

Our future, a$ well as our previously published financial results could be affected by new
accounting rules. The FASB recently proposed FASB staff position (FSP) APB 14-a, Accounting for
Convertiblé Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash Upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash
Settlement) (FSP 14-a). The proposed FSP specifies that issuers of such instruments should separately
account for the liability and equity components of the instrument in a manner that will reflect the
entity’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate on the instrument’s issuance date ‘when interest cost is
recognized in-subsequent periods. Qur Convertible Notes are within the scope of FSP 14-a; therefore,
we would be required to record the debt portions of our Convertible Notes at their fair value on the
date of issuance and amortize the resulting discount into interest expense over the life of the debt..
However, there would be no effect on our cash interest payments. As currently proposed, FSP 14-a will
be effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and will
be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. If adopted as proposed, these.changes would be .
reflected in our financial statements beginning with the first quarter | of 2009. We believe that the
change, if adopted as proposed could have a significant impact in the future on our tesults of
_Operatlons o

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The price of our common stock could be volatile and could decline.

The market prices for securities of drug and biotechnology companies are highly volatile, and there
are significant price and volume fluctuations in the market that may be unrelated to’ particular

e . [ . '
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companies’ operating performances. The table below sets forth the high and low closing prices for our
common stock for the periods indicated:

High Low
January 1, 2005—December 31,2005 .. ... ... .iioiaa i $ 7782 $41.37
January 1, 2006—December 31, 2006 ............. e $ 71.33 $47.96
January 1, 2007—December 31,2007 .. .. ... o ae oo $108.62 $47.87

The price 'of our common stock could decline suddenly due to the following factors, among others:

Quarterly and annual financial and operating results;
Failure to meet estimates or expectations of securities analysts or our projections;
The pace of enroliment in and the results of clinical trials;

Physician, patient, investor or public concerns as to the efficacy and/or safety of producté
marketed or being developed by us or by others;

Changes in or new legislation and regulations affecting reimbursement of Remodulin by
Medicare or Medicaid and changes in reimbursement policies of private health insurance -
companies; : ' :

Announcements by us or others of technological innovations or new products or announcements

regarding our existing products;

Developments in patent or other proprietary rights;

Disagreements with our licensors and vendors;

Future sales of substantial amounts of our commeon stock by us or our existing stockholders;
Future sales of our common stock by our directors and officers;

Rumors among investors and/or analysts concerning the company, its prddilcts or oper'atiohs;
Failure to maintain, or changes to, our approvals to sell Remodulin;

Failure to successfully obtain FDA approval for our new Silver Spring, Maryland, Remodulin
and monoclonal antibody laboratory; ) -

The accumulation of significant short positions in our common stock by hedge funds or other
investors or the significant accumulation of our common stock by hedge funds or other
institutional investors with investment strategies that may lead to short-term holdings;

.

Timing and outcome of additional regulatory submissions and approvals; and

General market conditions.

We may fail to meet third party projections for our revenue or profits.

Many independent securities analysts have published quarterly and annual projections of our
revenues and profits. These projections were made independently by the securities analysts based on

their own analysis. Such estimates are inherently subject to a degree of uncertainty, particularly because

we do not generally provide forward-looking guidance to the public. As a result, the actual revenues
and net income may be greater or less than projected by such securities analysts. Even small variations
in reported revenues and profits as compared to securities analysts’ expectations can lead to significant
changes in our stock price.
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Future sales of shares of our common stock may depress our stock price.

If we issue common stock to raise capital, or our stockholders transfer their ownership of our
common stock or sell a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or
investors become concerned that substantial sales might occur, the market price of our common stock
could decrease. All of our executive officers have announced their adoption of 10b3-1 prearranged
trading plans.-In accordance with these plans, these executives periodically sell a specified number of
our shares of our common stock either owned by them or acquired through the exercise of stock
options. However, our executives and directors may choose to sell additional shares outside of 10b5-1
trading plans and two executive officers and six directors have done so. A decrease in our common
stock price could make it difficult for us to raise capital by selling stock or to pay for acquisitions using
stock. To the extent outstanding options are exercised or additional shares of capital stock are issued,
existing stockholders may incur additional dilution.

Furthermore, the conversion of some or all of the Convertible Notes after the price of our
common stock reached $105.67 per share dilutes the ownership interests of our existing stockholders.
We have filed a resale registration statement covering sales of such shares. The Convertible Notes
initially are convertible into an aggregate 3.3 million shares of our common stock. Any sales in the
public market of our common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing
market prices of our common stock. In addition, the existence of the Convertible Notes may encourage
short selling by market participants because the conversion of the Convertible Notes could depress the
price of our common stock.

The fandamental change purchase feature of the Convertible Notes may delay or prevent an otherwise
beneficial attempt to take over our company.

The terms of the Convertible Notes require us to purchase the Convertible Notes for cash in the
event of a fundamental change. A takeover of our company would trigger the requirement that we
purchase the Convertible Notes. This may have the effect of delaying or preventing a takeover of our
company that would otherwise be beneficial to investors.

We will need cash to pay at least a portion of the conversion value of the Convertible Notes, as
required by the indenture governing the notes.

At least a portion of the repayment of the Convertible Notes will be required to be made in cash.
Our product development plans and product offerings could be negatively impacted if we do not have
sufficient financial resources, or are not able to arrange suitable financing, to pay required amounts
upon conversion or tender of the notes and fund our operations. '

Provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation, by-laws, shareholder rights plan, and
employment and licensing agreements could prevent or delay a change in control or change in
management that could be beneficial to us and our public stockholders.

Certain provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation, by-laws, shareholder rights
plan, and employment and licensing agreements may prevent, delay or discourage:

* A merger, tender offer or proxy contest;
» The assumption of control by a holder of a large block of our securities; and
* The replacement or removal of current management by our stockholders.

For example, our certificate of incorporation divides our board of directors into three classes, with
members of each class to be elected for staggered three-year terms. This provision may make it more
difficult for stockholders to change the majority of directors and may hinder accumulations of large




blocks of our common stock by limiting the voting power of such blocks. This may further result in
discouraging a change in control or change in current management.

In addition, the non-competition and other restrictive covenants in all of our employees’
employment agreements (other than those few employees who may be entitled to severance following a
change in control) will terminate upon a change in control that is not approved.by our board of
directors in accordance with the terms of such employment agreements.

Further, certain of our license agreements with other companies contain a provision prohibiting
each party to the agreement and its affiliates from directly or indirectly seeking to acquire or merge
with us, or taking any steps in furtherance thereof, for the term of the agreement and for five.years
thereafter, subject to certain exceptions. As a result, the companies that are party to these license
agreements with us would be prevented from pursuing an acquisition of our company unless we
consent. Furthermore, other companies may be deterred from seeking to acquire our company because
of the limitations that would' be imposed on further acquisition activities.

Change in control restrictions in certain of our agreements could prevent or delay a change in control
or change in management that could be beneficial to us and our public stockholders.

Certain of our license and other agreements with other companies contain provisions restricting
our ability to assign-or transfer the agreement to a company which desires to ‘merge with or -acquire us.
These restrictions often require the prior consent of the other party to the agreement to a proposed
change in control of our company. In the event that the other party to a contract with us chooses to-
withhold its consent to such a merger or acquisition, then such party could seek to terminate the
agreement and we would no longer have the rights and benefits under such agreement which may
adversely affect our revenues and business prospects. In addition, certain of our license and other
agreements with other companies contain provisions allowing the other company to terminate the
agreement if a third party attempts to acquire control of our company without our consent, unless
certain conditions are met. These restrictive contractual provisions may delay or dlSCOurage a change in
control of our. company, .

Our existing directors and executive officers own a substantial block of our common stock and might
be able to influence the outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval.

Our directors and named executive officers beneficially owned approximately 11% of our
outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2007, including stock options that could be exercised by
those directors and executive officers within 60 days of that date. Accordingly, these stockholders as a
group might be able to influence the outcome of matters requiring approval by our stockholders,
including the election of our directors. Such stockholder, influence could delay or prevent a change in
control with respect to us.

If stockholders do not receive dividends, stockholders must rely on stock appreciation for any return
on their investment in us. R '

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on any of our capital stock. We currently intend to
retain our earnings for future growth and therefore do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES . T N , o

Maryland—We own our corporate héadquartelrs office building in Silver Spring, Maryland. We also
own the three buildings and land: adjacent to our corporate headquarters. We lease our laboratory
facility adjacent to our corporate headquarters which is used for the synthesis of treprostinil-based
compounds and monoclonal antibodies. In addition, in late 2007 we began construction on a new
combination office and laboratory. building which will connect to our existing’ laboratOry facility in Silver
Spring. We lease space at a warchouse near Silver Spring to maintain some of our raw material
mventory used in the manufacturlng and synthe51s process.

Florlda——-We own our Remodulm Therapy Assistance office building in Satellite Beach, 'Florlda
Our subsidiary, Lung Rx, Inc., also occupies a portion of this building. Our original office building in.
Satellite Beach, Florida, was demolished in early 2007 as a condition of the building permit approval
we received for the new office adjacent to this property. The land was returned to its natural state. Our
subsidiaries, Lung Rx Inc. and Medicomp, Inc., lease manufacturing and office space; respectively, in
Melbourne, Florida.

North. Carolma——-We lease office space in Resedrch Trlangle Park North Carolina, for our clmlcal
development and Remodulin commercialization staff. In Jurie 2006, we purchased approximately 54
acres of land in Research Triangle Park, where'we are building a new manufacturing facility and office
building that will be used by our clinical research and development and Remodulin commercialization.
staff. The manufacturing facility will formulate oral treprostinil. This 200,000 square foot building
project began in early 2007.and is expected to be completed- -in early 2009,

Other locations—In March 2007, we purchased land and a building adjacent to our leased legal
and governmental affalrs offlce in Washington, D.C. Our submdxary, Unither Neurosciences, Inc., leases
office space in Burllngton Vermont Our subsidiary, United Therapeutlcs Europe Lid,, leases office
space near London England. Our Canadlan subsidiary, Unlther Blotech Inc, leases offlce space in
_Magog, Quebec Canada

We believe that these f&CllltleS are adequate for our current operations and that additional land-
and facilities for future expansion are reasonably available.

" "The office space in Melbourne Florida, is uqed ifi otir telemedicine segment. All other propertles .
and leased facilities are used in our pharmaceutleal segment

ITEM 3. ' LEGAL 'PROCEEDINGS .. T : - .

Currently, and from time 'to time, we are mvolved in litigation incidental to the conduct of our
busmess We are not a party to any lawsuit or proceedmgs that, in the opinion of our management and
based on consultation with legal counsel, is likely o have a material adverse effect on our financial .
position or results of operations.

1

ITEM 4. 'SUBMISSION OF MATTERS:TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of securlty holders durmg the fourth quarter of the fiscal year
covered by this report.

- . .-
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PART I

ITEM 5. 'MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER -
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Common Equity

Our common stock (and associated preferred stock purchase rights) trades on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market under the symbol “UTHR”. The table below sets forth the high and low closing
prices for our common stock for the periods indicated:

. 2007 _ 2006

. High Low High Low ,
January 1—March 31 .. ..ot $ 59.13 $47.87 $71.33 $61.57
April 1—June 30 . ... o e $ 67.64 $52.03 $66.61 $47.96
July 1—September 30 . . ... ... P e $ 70.04 $63.96 $59.60 $50.69
October 1—December 31 . ........oviy e $108.62 $65.53 $62.17 $51.12

'As of February 22, 2008, there were 53 holders of record of our common stock. We estimate that
included within the holders of record are approximately 16,100 beneficial owners of our common stock.
As of February 22, 2008, the closing price for our common stock was $81.98.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid and have no present intention to pay dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We intend to retain any-earnings for use in our business operations.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes and ftem 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for future
periods. The following information is presented in thousands, except per share data.

Years Ended December 31,

. 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues .......... .. . ... ... ... ... $210,943 $159,632 $115,915 $73,59¢ $ 53,341
Operating expenses: O .

Research and development. . ................ 83,352 57,570 36,052 30,713 35417

Selling, general and administrative ............ 99.027 56,052 24655 21,418 22,667

Costofsales ................ e 22,261 17,028 12315 8250 6,783
Total operating expenses . . ................... 204,640 130,650 73,022 60,381 64,867
Income (loss) from operations ... .. ............. 6,303 28,982 . 42,893 13,209 (11,526)
Other income (expense): . . ‘ o,

Interest income . . . . . e [ 13,602 10,700 5,359 2,986 2,435

Interestexpense .............. ... ... ... T (2,175) (482) (29) €)] (112)

Equity loss in affiliate ..................... (321) (491) (754y  (785) (953)
Other,met ... .. ... .. (826) 1,199 53 43 . - 187
Total other income (expense), net .......,...... 10,280 .10,926 4,629 2240 1,557
Net income (loss) before income tax ............. 16,583 39,908 47,522 15449  (9,969)
Income tax benefit ............ ... ... ....... 3276 34,057 17,494 — —_
Net income (1088) - .. ..., $ 19,859 $ 73,965 $ 65,016 $15,449 §$ (9,969)
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic(1l) ....... ... i, $ 094 8% 321 % 28 $ 071 $ (047

Diluted(1) ... ...... it e e $ 088 § 306 % 258 3% 066 $ (047
Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding:

Basic ........ ... i 21,224 23,010 22,825 21,726 21,135

Dilated . . .. ... e e e e e 22,451 24138 25206 23,351 21,135

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable

investments(2) . . .......... ..., $299,287 $264,163 $ 170,347 $ 139,140 § 117,337
Totalassets . . . ......... ... i, 587,018 478,550 291,413 207,158 179,502
Notes and leases payable(3)................ 250,014 250,025 23 26 798
Accumulated deficit .................., ., (21,501) (41,360) (115,325) (180,341) (195,790)
Total stockholders’ equity . ................ 295,790 204,606 275,102 191,636 167,765

(1) See Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the computation
of basic and diluted net income per share.

(2) Excludes restricted marketable investments and cash of $44,195, $38,988, and $20,666 for the years
ending December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(3) Includes current portion of notes and leases payable.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION'AND - .
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS e o i L i

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with' the-consolidated financial statements
and related notes appearing in’ this’Annual Report. The' following discussion contains forward-looking
statements made pursuant to the-safe harbor provisions of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act!
of 1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform' Act of 1995, including the statements listed under’
Item 1A--Risk Factors. These statements are based on our beliefs and expectations as to future -+ 4 ...
outcomes and are-subject to’risks and uncertainties that could cause our results to differ materially
from anticipated results. Factors that could causé or contribute to-such differences include those .,
discussed below and described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under ftem !A—Risk Factors—
Forward:Looking Statements, and the other cautionary statenients, cautionary language and risk factors .
set forth in other reports and documents filed with the SEC. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events-or otherwise..

T

1y . M '

Overview o I Lo - N

United Therapeutics Corporation is a biotechnology company focused on the development gnﬂ '
commercialization of unique products to addréss thé unmet. medical needs of patients with chronic and
life-threatening cardiovascular and infectious discases and cancer. We commenced operations in June
1996 and, since our inception, have devoted substantially all of our resources to acquisitions and
research and development programs.. .~ =~ . L . T '

et ' . ' Cot T ' ie !

+

Our key therapeutic platforms are: . AN C o I
* Pros't'ziqyg:lih al;'llalogs, ‘W-I"lit:h' are stable synthetic forms of prostacyclin, an imp'ortanf moleé'ulgé' ...’I
produced by the body, that has powerful effects on blood vessel health and function; |

. » Glycobiology antiviral agents, which are a:class of smail molecules that have shown pre-clinical
indications of efficacy against a broad range of viruses, such as hepatitis C; and "+ -~ T

Vo e - T . ‘l‘ S . ' . i, B . o oy

* Monoclonal antibodies, which are antibodies that activate patients’ immune systems to treat ‘, ’

cancer. ' '

We focus most of our resources on these three key platforms. We also devote resources to the

commercializaiipn and further development of telemedicine products and services, princ_il')a‘ll)‘r for the
detection of cardiac arrhythmias. o ' L Co

f
e , " ' o '

We commenced operations in June 1996. We began to earn pharmaceutical revenues in: May 2002
after we received FDA approval for Rémodulin, our lead product, by subcutaneous (under the skin)3.~
infusion to treat pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH). Remodulin is also approved in 33 countries
throughout the world-for similar’ uses. Marketing authorization applications are currently under review
in other countries. :

l' 4

Revenues

o " L ) ' 1 . et A i i . [

We derive substantially all of our revenue from-the sale of.Remodulin, a prostacyclin analog. 7. -

Our sales a\‘ndrnalj!(ét.insc,rr feam consisted of approximately 65 employees as of December 31, 2007,
up from approximately 20 employees as of December 31, 2006, with further growth expected in"2008.
Our marketing team is divided into two approximately equal groups. The first group is primarily -
responsible for national and large regional medical practice ‘accounts currently prescribing Remodulin,
while the second group is primarily responsible for smaller, local, community-oriented medical practices

not currently prescribing Remodulin, Our distributors augment the efforts of our sales and marketing




staff.” We face stiff competition from ‘several other-companies that’ market and sell competmg therapies
and we expect this competition will continue to grow.

~Remodulin is'sold to patients.in the United States by Accredo Therapeutics, Inc., CuraSeript, Inc.,
and:Caremark, Inc:, and outside of the United States by various international distributors. We sell
Remodulin .in' bulk shipments to these distributors. Because discontinuation of our therapy can be
life-threatening to patients, we require that our distributors maintain inventory-levels as specified in our
distribution agreements. Due to the contractuval requirement to maintain a minimum level.of inventory,
sales of Remodulin to distributors-in any given quarter may not be. indicative of patient. demand during
that quarter. In-addition, inventory levels reported by, distributors are affected by the, timing of their
sales around‘the end' of each reporting period. Our U.S.-based distributors typically place one order per
month,.usually.in the first half of the month. The timing and magnitude of our sales of Remodulin are.
affected' by the -timing and magnitude of these bulk orders from distributors. Bulk orders placed by our
distributors are based on their estimates of the amount of drug required for new and-existing:patients,,.
as well as maintaining the contractual level of inventory that can meet approximately thirty days’
demand as a contingent supply. Effective January 1, 2007, CuraScript’s minimum inventory requirement
was reduced from 60 days to 30 days to make its contractual inventory requirement consistent with
those of our two other U.S. d1Str1but0rs This inventory rcducnon resulted in a decrease in CuraScrlpt 5
mventory of approxrmately $2.0 mllllon Sales of Remodulm are recogmzed as revenue when delwered ’
to our dlStI‘lbutOI’S )

In March 2007 we entered 1nt0 an exclusrve agreement wrth Mochrda Pharmaceutrcal Co., Ltd. .
(Mochida), to distribute subcutaneous and intravenous Remodulin in Japan. Mochida will be
responsible, with our assistance, for obtaining Japanese marketing authorization for Remodulin, ., - 1
including conductlng bridging studies required in Japan. We will supply study drug at no charge to
Mochida. Due to the bridging studies and requrred Japanese regulatory reviews, commercial activities
in Japan are not expected to commence until 2010 or later. Upon teceipt of marketing authorization
and pricing approval, Mochida will purchase: Remodulin from usat an agreed-upon transfer price. In
addition, Mochida. has agreed-to make-certain exclusive distribution rights payments to us. Payments for
dlstnbutlon rights received through the filing of the New Drug Application will be recognized ratably
over the'estimated period of time from when the paymient is due until marketing authorization'is
received.

In addition to réveriues from sales of Remodulm, we have generated revenues from telemedicine
products and services primarily designed for paticnts in the United States with abnormal heart rhythms
called cardiac arrhythmias, and ischemic heart discase, a condition that causes poor blood flow to the -
heart. We have also generated revenues from sales of arginine (which deliver an amino acid that is
necessary for-maintaining cardiovascular function) products and from royalty-fees from licensing
agreements in the United States and other countries: In September 2007, we stopped selling all - .. .. .
arginine products based on publications discounting the benefits of arginine supplementation. - .

. A -

Expenses

Since our inception, we devoted substantially all of our resources to acquisitions and research and”
development programs. We incur significant expenses in connection with our clinical trials and other
aspects of our, research and development programs. Since the approval of Remodulin in 2002, we have
funded our operatrons from revenue, generated from the’ salps ‘of our products and services. Our
operatmg expenses consist primarily of research and development sellmg, general and admmlstratlve
cost of product sales and cost of serv1ce sales o :

-
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Major Research and Development Prgjects =~ - - S ' I UL

Qur major research and development prOJects have been and are focused on the use of treprostmll
to treat cardiovascular diseases, glycobiology antiviral agents (a novel class of small molecules_that may
be effective as oral therapies) to treat infectious diseases, such as hepatlns C, dengue’ feverand =~ '”
Japanese encephalitis, among other viruses, and monoclonal antibodies (antibodies that activate a’
patient’s immune response) to treat a variety of ¢ancers. . Co o N Y

“\

Cardiovascular Disease Projects

Subcutaneous use of Remodulin was approved by the FDA in May 2002 and material net cash
inflows from the sales of Remodiilin for PAH commenced thereafter. In November 2004, the FDA -« .’
approved intravenous infusion of Remodulin for patients who are not able to 'tolerate subcutaneous. «
infusion. This approval was based on data establlshmg the btoeqmvalence of tntravenous Remodulm
with subcutaneous Remodulm _ ' . .

1 - o . . ' Lot A

We are working to develop an mhaled formulation of treprostinil sodmm for the treatment of.
PAH. In June 2005, we commenced a 12-week randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled.Phase 1M
trial of inhaled treprostinil in patients with PAH who were ‘also being treated with and were' optimized
on Tracleer; an oral endothelin antagonist. This trial, TRIUMPH-1 (TReprostinil Inhalation Used in :
the Management of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension), was conducted at approximately 36 center in .
the United States and Europe. In May 2006, the FDA agreed to also permit the inclusion in the trial of
PAH patients who were also being treated with and optimized on Revatio, an oral PDES inhibitor
marketed by Pfizer Inc. The FDA also agreed to expand the trial size to at least-200 patiénts, and ‘to
permit an interim efficacy assessment after 150 patlents had completed the trial. We did not conduct

the interim efficacy assessment. S 0
i . -

In November 2007, we :announced the comp]etlon of our TRIUMPH-1 trial The study populauon
consisted of 235 patients. Preliminary’ Analysis of the TRIUMPH-1 results demonstratesran . %
improvement in median six minute walk (6MW) distance by approximately 20 meters (p<0. 0006,‘*using'
the Hodges-Lehmann estimate and non-parametric analysis of covariance in accordance with the trial’s-
pre-specified statistical ‘analysis plan), in patients receiving inhaled treprostinil as compared to patlents '
receiving placebo. FDA approval for inhaled treprostinil will be sought by filing-a New Drug * . . .
Application (NDA). The Optineb inhalation device will also be submitted for approval as part'of this 1
filing.. Optineb is'the ultra-sonic nebulizer that was exclusively uséd for administration of inhaled -
treprostinil in the TRIUMPH-1 trial. Optineb is manufactured by NEBU-TEC Initernational Med - .
Products Eike Kern GmbH. (NEBU-TEC), a German company. Optineb is approved in Germany.and
in other European countries, but is not yet approved in the United States. We expect to file the New -
Drug Application and the application for approval of the Optineb device by mid-2008. FDA review of
the New Drug Application generally takes 10 months. We plan on filing for approval in the European
Union using the centrallzed filing process by thc end of 2008. R g N

We have also begun plasining.an open-label study. in which patlents on Ventavis, the only currently
approved inhaled' prostacyclin, will be switched to inhaled treprostinil. The study is expected to start in
late 2008 and will continue through the FDA rcgulatory approval process for mhaled treprostinil, Wthh
is currently expected to be completed by mid-2009. . : oo N

'We are developmg an oral formulation of treprostlml treprostlml dtethanolamme a novel salt o h
form. Two multi-national placebo-controlled ‘clinical trials of oral treprostinil in patients with PAH
commenced in October 2006. These trials are Phase I1I trials, in which both dosing and efficacy are
being studied. The FREEDOM-C trial is a 16-week study of 'up to 300 patients currently on approved -
background therapy using a PDES5 inhibitor, such as Revatio, or an endothelin antagonist, such as . it
Tracleer, or a combination of both. The FREEDOM-M trial is a 12-week study of up to 150 patients, -
who are not on any background therapy. Both trials are being conducted at approximately 60 centers
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throughout the United States and the rest of the world. As of December 31, 2007, there were
approximately 200 and 90 patients enrolled in the FREEDOM-C and FREEDOM-M trials,
respectively. As of February 18, 2008 there were approxunately 240 and 100 patlents enrolled in the
FREEDOM C and FREEDOM-M trials, respectwe]y

We are also in the early planning stages of designing a dose-ranging study for oral treprostmll to .
commence later in 2008 upon the completion of both FREEDOM trials. A dose-ranging study
measures the therapeutic effect of a drug at predetermined escalating doses. The results of this study
should show corresponding increased therapeutic benefit with increased dosage.

We incurred expenses of approximately $35.0 million and $33.0 million, and $20.1 million during
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, on Remodulin development..
Approximately $228.9 million from inception to date has been incurred on Remodulin development.

We are also developing a modified release formulation of beraprost (beraprost-MR) for PAH.
Beraprost-MR is an oral prostacyclin analog. In March 2007, Lung Rx entered into an amended
agreement with Toray Industries, Inc. (Toray) to assume and amend the rights and obligations of the
June 2000 agreement entered into between Toray and us concerning the commercialization of
beraprost-MR. This amended agreement is discussed in greater detail in the section entitled Strategic
Licenses and Relationships. We recognized approximately-$14.0 million of expense during the year
ended ‘December 31, 2007, related to the licensing transaction. Approximately $14.4 of expenses were
incurred on beraprost-MR development during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Infectious Disease Projects

We are in the planning stages of conducting a Phase II clinical trial with miglustat, a glycobiclogy
compound which inhibits alpha-glucosidase enzymes, to initially evaluate efficacy against hepatitis C.
Miglustat is approved and is currently marketed in the United States and Europe by Actelion Ltd for
the treatment of Gaucher’s disease, a glycolipid storage disorder. Patent protection for manufacturing
the compound has expired. As a result of our research agreement with the University of Oxford, we
have the exclusive right to commercialize miglustat as an anti-viral agent for the treatment of hepatitis
C. Our infectious disease program also includes glycobiology antiviral drug candidates in various
preclinical and clinical stages of testing. The drugs in this program are being developed for the
treatment of a wide variety of viruses. Through our agreement with Oxford University, we are
supporting research into new glycobiology antiviral candidates. We incurred expenses of approximately
$824,000, $753,000.and $3.2 million during the vears ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005,
respectively, on infectious disease projects. Approxlmately $36.5 million from inception to date has
been incurred for mfectlous disease programs

Cancer Dtsease ijects .

In April 2002, we entered into an agreement with AltaRex Corp. (which later became AltaRex
Medical Corp., 2 wholly-owned subsidiary of ViRexx Medical Corp.) (AltaRex) to exclusively license
monoclonal antibody immunotherapies. In December 2007, we announced the completion of cur two
pivotal trials of OvaRex MAD, called IMPACT. I and II. Analysis of the results demonstrated that the
studies failed to reach statistical significance. The studies showed no difference between active
(standard of care followed by OvaRex) and control (standard of care followed by placebo) populations.
The results of IMPACT I and II were consistent with each other.

‘Based on the resuits from the IMPACT ! and II trials, we decided to terminate our license
agreement with AltaRex and to cease further development of the entire platform of antibodies licensed
thereunder. We expect to incur approximately $1.1 million in total close-out costs for this program, of
which we had incurred approximately $533,000 as of December 31, 2007.
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In December 2007, we entered into two agreements with Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center
(MSKCC) to exclusively license certain rights to two investigational monoclonal antibodies, 3F8 and
8H9, for the treatment of neuroblastoma and metastatic brain cancer. The monoclonal antibody 3F8 is
a mouse 1gG3 MADb, which is currently used in an investigational setting for the treatment of
neuroblastoma, a rare cancer of the sympathetic nervous system mainly affecting children. 8H9 is also a
mouse monoclonal antibody, but of the IgG1 subclass. The 8HY antibody is highly reactive with a range
of human solid tumors, including brain cancers. The 8H9 antibody is in early investigational
development for metastatic brain cancer. We expect to begin clinical development of these antibodies in
2008. B

We incurred expenses of approximately $13.9 million, $10.5 million and $8.7 million during the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, on cancer projects. Approximately
$56.8 million from inception to date has been incurred for the cancer programs.

Project Risks . ,

Due to the inherent uncertainties involved in the drug development, regulatory review and
approval processes, the anticipated completion dates, the cost of completing the research and
development and the period in which material net cash inflows from these prdjects are expected’to
commence are not known or estimable. There are many risks and uncertainties associated with
completing the development of the unapproved products discussed above, including the following: * -

¥

» Products may fail in clinical studies; S y e
» Hospitals, physicians and patients may not be willing to participate in clinical studies;

» Hospitals, physicians and patients may not properly adhere to clinical study procedures; .
+ The drugs may not be safe and effective or may not be perceived as safe and effective;

« Other approved or investigational therapies may be viewed as safer, more effective or more ~ :
convenient;

» Patients may experience severe side effects during treatment;

.« Patients may die during the clinical study because their disease is too advanced or bécau_se they .
experience medical problems that are not related to the drug being studied; . - i )

« 'Othér ongoing or new clinical trials sponsored By other drug companics or ourselves may reduce
the number of patients available for our studies; i : :

»

* Patients may not enroll in the studies at the rate we expect;

» The FDA, international regulatory authorities or local internal review boards may delay or
withhold approvals to commence clinical trials or to manufacture drugs;

+ The FDA or international regulatory authorities may request that additional studies be
performed; . o '

I

» Higher than anticipated costs may be incurred.due to the high cost of contractors for drug
manufacture, research and clinical trials; ) ‘ ‘ '

+ Drug supplies may not be sufficient to treat the patients in the studies; and .

* The results of 'preclinica} testing may cause dé:[ays in the commencement of clini'ca’l‘ trials.

If our projects are not completed in-a timely manner, regulatory approvals could be delayed and
our operations, liquidity and financial position could suffer. Without regulatory approvals, we cannot
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commercialize and sell these products and, therefore, potential revenues and profits from these
products could be delayed or be impossible to achieve.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related éxpenses )
including stock option expense for corporate and marketing personnel, travel, office expenses,
insurance, rent and utilities, profeSSIona] fees, advertising and marketing and depreciation and
amortization.

Cost of product sales

Cost of product sales consists of the cost to manufacture or acquire products that are sold to
customers. We manufacture treprostinil using advanced intermediate compounds purchased in bulk
from third-party vendors. We have approved three vendors that have the capability to manufacture
greater quantities of these compounds less expensively than if we did so ourselves. We expect to begin
commercial manufacturing of treprostinil in our new facility in Silver Spring, Maryland, in 2008, which
is when FDA approval of the facility is expected. We anticipate that upon commercialization of oral
treprostinil, the need for treprostinil diethanolamine, the active ingredient in our tablet, will be greater
than the need for treprostinil sodium, the active ingredient for Remodulin and inhaled treprostinil. As
a result, the manufacturing process at the Silver Spring facility consists of starting with an advance .
intermediate compound, making treprostinil diethanolamine and then converting that compound to
treprostinil as demand requires. We believe that this will allow us the most flexibility and efficiency to
meet future demands for both forms of active ingredients. :

Cost of service sales

Cost of service sales consists of the salaries, stock option expense, and related overhead necessary
to provide telemedicine services to customers. : s

] 4.

Future Prospects

We have experienced annual revenue growth exceeding 30% each year since Remodulin was
approved in 2002. Continued growth at a high rate is contingent upon future commercial development
of our pipeline. One of our goals is to expand the use of treprostinil-based drugs to include the
treatment of patients at earlier stages of the PAH disease pathway. In other words, we seek to move
treprostlml from the last line of treatment for the sickest patients to front line therapy for newly
diagnosed patients.

We expect to file for approval of inhaled treprostinil with the FDA in mid-2008. If we are
successful in obtaining FDA approval in accordance with FDA requirements and anticipated review
period, then we expect to begin commercial sales of inhaled: treprostinil in 2009. We are currently in
the later stages of development of our oral treprostinil formulation. We expect to unblind our
FREEDOM-C trial in late 2008. If this trial is successful, we expect to file for approval with the FDA
in 2009 w1th commercial sales begmnmg in 2010, assummg a regular FDA rev1ew perlod

We bchcve that our trials for both the inhaled and oral formulatlons of treprostlml will be
successful and will lead to products that generate revenues. However for either or both of these
formulations, we could be required to do additional studies which would delay commercialization. This
could reduce our ability to continue to grow our revenues at our historic rate. Delays, if they occur,
should not reduce our ability to continue revenue growth of Remodulin. Because PAH is a progressive
disease with no cure, more patients each year are diagnosed with the disease and many patients
continue to deteriorate on the current approved oral and inhaled therapies. In_addition, we will need to
sign new distribution agreements on acceptable terms for the inhaled and oral formulations of
treprostinil in the United Stdtes and most foreign countries.
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While we have been profitable for each year since 2003, we have experienced quarterly losses. At
December 31, 2007, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $21.5 million. Future profitability
will depend on many factors, including the price, level of sales, level of reimbursement by public and’
private insurance payers, the impact of competitive products and the number of patients using
Remodulin and other currently commercialized products and services.

+

Financial Position

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable investments (including all amountis classified as current and
non-current, but excluding all restricted amounts) at December 31, 2007, were approximately
$299.3 million, as compared to approximately $264.2 million at December 31, 2006.

Restricted marketable investments and cash totaled approximately $44.2 million at December 31,
2007, as compared to approximately $39.0 million at December 31, 2006. The restricted amounts
include approximately $39.2 million pledged to secure our obligations under our financing
arrangements for our Silver Spring, Maryland, laboratory facility, discussed below undet Off Balance
Sheet Arrangement, and approximately $5.0 million set aside for our Supplemental Executlve Retirement
Plan and placed in a Rabbi Trust.

N

Prepaid expenses at December 31, 2007, were approximately $5.9 million, as compared to
approximately $9.2 million at December 31, 2006. The decrease was primarily due to the expensing of a
portion of those assets used in operations during 2007.

Property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2007, were approximately $69 4 million as
compared to approximately $34.7 million at December 31, 2006. The increase was primarily due to, the
acqu1smon for $5.7 million of an office building adjacent to our leased legal and governmental affairs -
office in Washington, D.C., and construction expenditures for our Research Triangle Park, North
Carolina, and Silver Spring, Maryland, “facilities projects of approximately $21.8 miilion.

Accrued expenses at December 31, 2007, were approximately $17.9 million, as compared to -
approximately $15.3 million at December 31, 2006. The increase was due primarily to an increase in
Remodulin-related royalty expense of approxnmately $1.3 million and an increase in accrued bonuses ofy
approximately $1.1 million. - S . L

Common stock subject to repurchase at December 31, 2007, was approximately $10.9 million, as
compared to none at December 31, 2006. The common stock subject to repurchase represents the:
issuance of 200,000 shares of our common stock to Toray, which are subject to repurchase under our
amended license agreement. See the Toray Amended License Agreement for further details.

Total stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2007, was approximately $295.8 million, as compared to
approximately $204.6 million at December 31, 2006. The increase in stockholder’s equity is highlighted
as follows (in thousands): . .

Balance at December 31,2006 .. ... ... ... .. .. o, .. $204,606
NetIncome . ... ... . e 19,859
Foreign currency translation adjustments . . . ............... Caeas '_ . 28BS
Unrealized (loss) on available-for-sale securities. . ................ . (219)
Realized (loss) on available-for-sale securities ................. . (678)
Unrealized (loss) on pension liability . .. ......... ... ... ... .... 1 (552)
Exercise of stock options ... ................... e . 58,344
Tax benefits primarily from the exercise of stock options. ... .. ... .. .. .. 32,089
Treasury stock repurchases .. ........... ... ... ... .. . . . (67,059)
Options issued in exchange for services .. ................ P 48,979
Stock issued for license. ., ... .. ey e 131

Balance at December 31, 2007 . . .. .. ... . e e e s $295,790
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Results Of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2007, were approximately $210.9 million, as compared
to approximately $159.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase’ of approximately
$51.3 million was due primarily to growth in sales of Remodulin to our distributors as a result of an
increase in the number of patients being treated with Remodulin.

The following table sets forth our fevenues by source for the periods presented (dollars -n
thousands): .

Years Ended
December 31, Percentage

2007 2006 Change

Remodulin . $200,879 $152478  31.7%
Telemedicine services and products _ , 6,597  17.1%
Other products : . © 179 557 (67.9)%
Distributor fees — N/A

Total Tevenues 3 o S $210 94 $159 632 32.1%

For the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, approximately 87% and 90% of our Remodulin-
revenues, respectively, were earned from our three distributors located in the United: States.

Total, revenues are reported net of estimated government rebates, prompt pay discounts and fees
due to distributors for services. We pay government rebates to state Medicaid agencies that pay for
Remodulin. We estimate our liability for such rebates based on the historical level of government
rebates invoiced by state Medicaid agenc1es relative to U.S. sales of Remodulin, Prompt pay discounts
are offered on sales of Remodulin if the related invoices are paid in full generally within 60 days from
the date of -sale. We estimated our liability for prompt pay discounts based on historical payment -
patterns. Fees paid to distributors for services are estimated based on contractual rates for specific
services applied to estimated units of service provided by the distributors for the period.

. A roll forward of the liability accounts associated with estimated government rebates, fees to
distributors for services, and prompt pay discounts as well as the net amount of reductions to revenues -
for these items are presented as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended

. December 31,
‘ Co o 2007. 2006 .

Liability accounts, at beginning of period . .. .. ............. $ 2,366 $ 1,590
Additions to liability attrlbuted to %ales in:

Current period ............ .. .. ...... e 12,439 9,442

Prior period ... ........... e e 278 =
_Payments or reductions attributed to sales in: : .

Currentperiod . ....... ... ... .. ..ol 0 (9838)  (7,163)

PHOT PEHOA . . oo ot er et Lo (2366)  (1,503)
Liability accounts, at end of period ............. S $ 2879 $ 27366
Net reductions to revenues : . .... ..o veeronenonn. . $12,703 $ 9,442

Research and development expenses were approximately $83.4 million for the year endéd
December 31, 2007, as compared to approximately $57.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.
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The table below summarizes research and development by major project and non-project components
(dollars in thousands): o ' : : - :

~ Years Ended
December 31,

Pércentage

) _ 2007 2006 Change -
Project and non-project: . . . .
Cardiovascular . ... .. v i $38,459 $33,005  165%
Cancer.......... e e ..i... 13874 10462 32.6%
Infectious disease . . ..o v vvevcunennnn.. . 824 753 9.4%
Stock option. . ... ... e e .. 12373 0 9240 33.9%
Other ........... . ..o .. e e 6,809 4,110 .65.7%
R&D expense from issuance of common stock for - . ' ‘
license . .......... D Coi.al...s 11013 — N/A
Total research and development expense. . . . . . $83352 $57,570 44.8%

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the increase in cardiovascular expenses was primarily due
to expensing a $3.0 million milestone payment to Toray in connection with the amended license
agreement for modified release beraprost (beraprost-MR). For the ycar ended December 31, 2007, the
increase in our cancer program expenses as compared to 2006 was primarily related to the development
of our OvaRex manufacturing processes. The research and development expense from issuance of
common stock is.related to the 200,000 shares of our common stock issued to Toray for our amended
license agreement for beraprost-MR. Co ‘ '

Selling, general and administrative expensés were approximately $99.0 million for the year ended
December 31,2007 as compared to approximately $56.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.
The table below summarizes selling, general and administrative expenses by major categories (dollars'in
thousands): o e ' :

, Years Ended

Decemb?r 3, . Pel;éenu’:ge
2007 2006 Change -

Category: ‘ A . ' |
General and administrative . ... ... .. ... ... $34,933  $25,434 37.3%
Sales and marketing ... ... .. e ... 24159 . 14,438 67.3%
' Impairment charges ............ . ..., .. - 3,582 - 2,024 77.0%
Stock option. ... i, . vt . 36,353 14,156 156.8%

Total sel‘ling, general and administrative expense . $99,027  $56,052 76.7%

The increase in general and administrative expenses was due primafily to increased expenses of
approximately: (1) $3.2 million for salaries and related expenses from headcount. growth to support
expanding operations; and (2) $1.1 million for other operating expenses supportiag the growth in our
operations. The increase in sales and marketing related expenses is the result of an increase in salaries
and related expenses of approximately $5.4 million primarily due to an increase in staffing and an
increase in travel expenses of approximately $1.3- million..In November 2006, we scttled an arginine
infringement case and the $1.6 million settlement payment that we received was recorded as a
reduction to general and administrative expense.

Under the terms of her employment agreement, as amended, our Chief Executive Officer is
entitled to receive stock options in December of each calendar year based on the average closing bid
price of our stock for the month of December. At December 31, 2007, we granted her options to
purchase 582,607 shares of our common stock, which represents one-eighteenth of one percent of the

57




increase in our market capitalization from its average in December of 2006 based on the average .
closing bid price of our stock for the month of December 2007. Our stock market capitalization
increased approximately $1.0 billion from January 1, 2007, to December 31, 2007. We recognized stock
option expense in December 2007 of approximately $20.3 miltion, representing the fair market value of
these stock options in excess of the $3.5 million recognized at September 30, 2007. Our market
capitalization increased by approximately $814.7 million from September 30, 2007, to December 31, .
2007. The offset to this expense was an increase to additional paid-in capital.

An impairment of the intangible assets related to the HeartBar product trade name totaling
approximately $2.0 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2006. This impairment
was required since the HeartBar product was discontinued in January 2006 and is no longer sold. In
September 2007, based,on a recent Supreme Court decision concerning the enforceability of patents
and a publlcatlon discounting the benefits of arginine.supplementation, we decided to discontinue
selling any arginine related products'and we reevaluated our assumptions used in determining the
recoverability of our arginine patents. As a result, an impairment charge of $1.6 milliqn was recorded.

. In December 2007, based on the announcement of the failure of the IMPACT I and II Phase IT1
trials of OvaRex in advanced ovarian cancer, the stock price of ViRexx declined We considered this
decline to be'an other-than-temporary impairment of approximately $1.9 million. Based on the quoted
market price at December 31, 2007 the book value of our VlReXX investrent is approximately
$505,000. - - :

Cost of product sales was approximately 10% of net product sales for each of the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006. Cost of service sales was apprommately 32% and 33% of service sa]es for
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Interest income for the year ‘ended December 31, 2007, was apprommately $13.6 million, as
compared to interest inicome of approximately $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.
The increase was due prlmarlly to an increase in markel interest rates and amounts available to 1nvest

Equity loss in affiliate represents our share of Northern Therapeutics’ losses. The equity loss in
affiliate was approx1mately $321,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to
approximately $491,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. Northern Therapeutics’ loss was due
primarily to expenditures for its autologous (gene transfer using materials derived from a patient’s own
body and not from forelgn materlals such as viruses) gene therapy research for PAH. * :

We recognized an income ‘tax beneﬁt of apprommately $3.3 million and. $34.1 million for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The tax benefit generated for 2007 was primarily due
to the amount of tax credits generated during the year from our orphan drug related research and
development activities. For the year ended December 31, 2006 the tax benefit recognized was due
primarily to reductions of approximately $45.7 million in the Valuation allowance against our deferred
tax asscts bascd on our determination that certain of these deferred tax assets are more likely than not
to be reahzable - . .

[

Hears ended December 31 2006 and 2005

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2006, were approximately $159. 6 million, as compared
to approximately. $§115.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase of approximately
$43.7 million: was due primarily to growth in‘sales of Remodulin: to our distributors. .

P
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The following table sets forth our revenues by source for the periods presented (dollars in
thousands): : -

Years Ended

December 31, Percentage

2006 2005 Change
Remodulin . .. ..o ittt r e iieennees $152,478 $109,191 39.6%
Telemedicine services and products . ........... 6,597 5,773 14.3%

Other ProduCtS - . « o v vveeeeeeeaeaenens 557 . 68%  (19.2)%

License fees .. ... i — 262 N/A

Total TEVENMUES . . o« o v v evevee o ean s . $159,632 $115915 37.7%

For each of the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, approximately 90% and 89%,
respectively, of our Remodulin revenues, respectively, were earned from our three distributors located
in the United States. ' '

. A roll forward of the liability accounts associated with estimated government rebates, fees to
distributors for services, and prompt pay discounts as well as the net amount of reductions to revenues
for these items are presented as follows (in thousands): :

Years Ended
December 31,
N , 2006 2005
‘Liability accounts, at beginning of period . ... . s $ 1,590 $-2,121
Additions to liability attributed to sales in:
Current period . ............. e e e 9,442 6,789
Prior period. . ............ e e R —_ -,
Payments or reductions attributed to sales in: ‘ ‘
Currentperiod ... ... i (7,163)  (5,701)
Prior period. . ... .o e (1,503) (1,619} .
Liability accounts, at end of period ............. A $ 2366 $1,59
Net reductions to revenues- . . . . . e e $9442 $6,789

Rescarch and development expenses were approximately $57.6 million for the ycar ended :
December 31, 2006, as compared to approximately $36.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
The increase in expenses was due primarily to increased expenses for treprostinil-related programs of
approximately $12.9 million, primarily in our oral program, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R effective
January 1, 2006, which resulted in the recognition of employee stock option expense of approximately
$6.7 million, an increase in expenses of approximately $1.6 million related to stock option expense for
option grants to scientific advisory board members, and an increase in spending in our cancer program
of approximately $1.7 million. These increases were offset by a reduction of approximately $2.5 million
in expenses associated with our infectious disease research program. During 2006, we purchased
approximately $6.5 million of advanced intermediate compounds, which were either used or earmarked
for use in the production of clinical trial material for our oral program. Because these compounds are
for research and development purposes, they were expensed during the year. See Major Research and
Development Projects above, for additional information regarding our research programs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately $54.0 million-for the year ended
December 31, 2006, as compared to approximately $24.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was due primarily to approximately
$14.2 million of employee stock option expense related to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R. Also
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contributing to this expense increase were an increase in marketing related expenses of approximately
$6.3 million, representing an increase in marketing staff and marketing initiatives, an increase in -
non-marketing related salaries (mainly due to an increase in headcount and salary increases) of
approximately $5.0 million and an increase in rent and other operating expenses, primarily due to the
opening of the new laboratory facility in Silver Spring, Maryland, of approximately $2.1 million. In
December 2006, Fred Hadeed, our Executive Vice President for Business Development, resigned from
his position with the company. In accordance with his employment contract, Mr. Hadeed received a
salary payout of two times his annual salary and the average bonus received over the last two years, as
well as the immediate vesting of all of his unvested stock option grants. As a result, in December 2006,
we recognized a cash salary expense of approximately $1.5 million and a non-cash stock option expense
of approximately $3.9 million, representing 225,000 options which were immediately vested.

An impairment of intangible assets related to the HeartBar product trade name totaling
approximately $2.0 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2006. This impairment
was required since the HeartBar product was discontinued in January 2006 and is no longer sold. The
decision to discontinue HeartBar did not impact other aspects of our arginine business, which includes
sales of non-HeartBar arginine products and license royalties from third parties selling arginine based
products. We made this decision after evaluating the recent clinical trial results and market potential,
among other things. :

Cost of product sales was approximately 10% of net product sales for the year ended
December 31, 2006, which is consistent with approximately 9% for the year ended December 31, 2005,
Cost of service sales was approximately 33% of service sales for the year ended December 31, 2006, as
compared to approximately 40% for the year ended December 31,-2005. The improvement in the cost
of service sales as a percentage of service revenues was due to the growth in: telemedicine service sales
during 2006, with no corresponding increase in costs, as a result of scheduling efficiencies.

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2006, was approximately $10.7 million, as
compared to interest income of approximately $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The
increase was due primarily to an increase in cash available for investing during 2006 and increased
market interest rates,

Equity loss in affiliate represents our share of Northern Therapeutics’ losses. The equity loss in
affiliate wa$ approximately $491,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to
approximately $754,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. Northern Therapeutics’ loss was due
primarily to expenditures for its cell-based gene transfer technology research for PAH.

. An income tax benefit of approximately $34.1 million was recognized for the year ended
December 31, 2006, as compared to $17.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The beneﬁt
in 2006 was due to an approximately $45.7 million reduction in the valuation allowance of our deferrcd
tax assets as of December 31, 2006. The reduction of the valuation allowance is based on our review of
both historical and projected taxable income which has shown that it is more likely than not that
certain portions of our deferred tax assets will be realized. As a result, a reduction of the valuation
allowance related to our net operating loss carry forwards, all of our business ‘credits and other
temporary assets was required. The remaining valuation allowance of approximately $6.8 million is on
those deferred tax assets that need a capital gain to oceur in order to be recognized. Because these
events are not likely to occur in the near future, we contmue to maintain.a valuation allowance. Prior
to 2005, due to the company’s long history of operating losses, we did not believe our deferred tax
assets had a realizable value and they were fully reserved. As a result, we did not report tax benefits or
deferred tax assets prior to 2005. In 2005, we reduced the valuation reserve by apprommately
$19.7 million.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Until May 2002, we funded the majority of our operations from the net proceeds of sales of our
common stock. Since May 2002, we have funded the majority of our operations from revenues, mainly
Remodulin-related, and we expect this to continue. We believe that our existing revenues, together with
existing working capital resources (consisting primarily of unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and -
marketable investments), will be adequate to fund our operations. However, any projections of future
cash needs and cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. See Item 1A—Risk Factors—We have a
history of losses and may not continue to be profitable and Item 1A—Risk Factors—We may fail to meet
third party projections for our revenue or profits. '

Net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $49.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, as compared to approximately $51.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.
The increase in cash provided by operating activities is due primarily to growth in sales of Remodulin
and the collections on receivables from sales. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2007, we |
also received approximately $87.9 million in stock option exercise proceeds and in excess tax benefits .
related to the stock option exercises as compared to approximately $25.2 million during the year ended
December 31, 2006. With the increase of our common stock price in the fourth quarter of 2007, we -
experienced a much larger than usual volume of stock option exercises. We don’t expect that the level
of stock option exercises experienced in the fourth quarter of 2007 will continue into 2008 unless our
common stock price increases in a similar magnitude as it did in 2007.

Our working capital at December 31, 2007, was approximately $79.7 million, as compared to
approximately $258.1 million at December 31, 2006. The decrease is primarily due to the’ -
reclassification of our $250.0 million 0.50% Convertible -Senior Notes (Convertible Notes) from long
term debt to short term debt as of December 31, 2007, as a result of these Convertible Notes becoming
eligible for conversion by the bondholders. Our expectation, based on our understanding of historical
behavior of holders of convertible notes with terms similar to ours, is that our Convertible Notes will-
continue to be held until they mature in October 2011. Consequently, we believe that we have .
approximately $329.7 million of working capital available at-December 31, 2007, for our operating -
needs. ' -

We are currently constructing an approximately 200,000 square foot facility in Research, Triangle
Park, North Carolina, which will consist of a manufacturing operation and offices. The manufacturing
operation will primarily be for oral treprostinil, aithough it is expected to support other programs, and
the offices will be used by our clinical development and sales and marketing staffs, who currently '
occupy a leased facility in the area. Construction of this facility is expected to be completed in early
2009. The project may cost up to $107.1 million, and we expect to fund the construction of this facility
from our current working capital and working capital generated from existing operations. As of '
December 31, 2007, we have spent approximately $19.3 million on this construction project.

In March 2007, we entered into a construction management agreement with DPR
Construction, Inc. (DPR), based in Falls Church, Virginia. DPR will manage the construction of our
manufacturing and office facility in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina. The agreement has a
guaranteed maximum price clause in which DPR agrees that the construction cost of the facility will
not exceed approximately $78.0 million, which amount is subject to change with agreed-upon changes
to the scope of work. DPR will be responsible for covering any costs in excess of the guaranteed
maximum price. If the ultimate cost of the project is less than the guaranteed maximum price, we u{il]
share a portion of these savings with DPR. In addition, DPR must pay us penalties if the construction '
is not completed by February 2009, which date is subject to change based on agreed-upon changes to
the scope of work. DPR has no material relationship with us or any of our affiliates. '

At the end of December 2007, we began construction of a new office and laboratory building
which will connect to our current laboratory facility in Silver Spring, Maryland. The cost of this project
is expected to be approximately $106.1 million. The construction of this facility is expected to take two
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years to complete. Based on the current amount of working capital and working capital to be generated'
from future operations, we have decided to self-fund this construction project.

. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we paid approximately $1.2 million in interest to the
holders of our Convertible Notes. We are required to pay a semi-annual interest payment of $625,000
to our bondholders until the Convertible Notes mature in.October 2011, .

Under our’ exrstmg license agreements we are obhgated to make royalty payments on sales of
Remodulin that exceed ‘annual net sales of $25.0 million and on all arginine royalty fees received.
Royalties on salés of all products currently ‘marketed range up to 10 percent of sales of those products *
and are recorded as cost of sales in our consolidated statements of income.

+ ey . N L

Convemble Senwr Nates _ o - . y

On _October 30, 20006, we' 1ssued $250 0 'million of Convertible Notes Proceeds from the offering,
after deductlng the initial purchaser s, Déutsche Bank Securities Inc. (Deutsche Bank), discount and
commission and estimated ‘expenses were approximately $242.0 millién, The Convertible Notes were *
issued at‘par value-and pay interest'in cash semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October- 15 of -
each year, beginning in April 2007. The Convertible Notes are unsecured unsubordinated obligations
and'rank’ equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness. The' Convertible Notes
havé''an’initial conversion price of $75.2257 per share. The Convertible Notes may only be converted:
(i) any time after July 15, 2011; (ii} during any calendar quarter commencing after the date of original
issuance of the notes, if the closing sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days in the
period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the calendar quarter preceding
the quarter in which the conversion occurs is more than 120% of the conversion price of the notes in
effect on that dast trading day; (111) during the ten consecutive trading-day period following any five
consecutive trading-day period in which the trading price for the notes for each such trading day was
less than 95% of. the closing sale price of our common stock: on such date multiplied by the then
current conversion rate; or (iv) if specified significant distributions to holders of our common stock are
made, specified corporate transactions occur, or our common stock ceases to be approved for listing on
The NASDAQ Global Select Market and is not listed for trading on another U.S. national or regional
securities exchange. Upon conversion, a holder will receive: (i) cash equal to the lesser of the prmcrpal
amount of the note or the conversion value; and (ii) to the extent the conversion value exceeds the'
principal amount of the note, shares of our common stock. In addition, upon a change in control, as
defined in the indenture under which the Convertible Notes have been issuéd, the holders may require
us to purchase all or a portlon ‘of rhelr ‘Convertible Notes for 100% of the prmcrpal amount plus
accruéd and unpaid interest, 'if any, plus a number of additional shares of our common stock, as set
forth in the related mdenture The indenture under which the Convertible Notes were rssued contams
customary covenants A ' .

Concurrent with | the issuance of the Convertlble Notes (see Note 7 in the Consolidated Fmanctal
Statements), we purchased call options on our common stock in a private transaction with Deutsche
Bank AG London (the Call Option). The Call Option allows us to purchase up' {o approximately
3.3 million shares of our common stock at $75.2257 per share' from Deutsche Bank AG London, equal
to the amount of our’common stock related to the éxcess conversion valué that we would detiver to the
holders of the Convemble Notes upon ‘conversion. The Convertible Notes are generally convertible
once our stock price exceeds $75.2257 per share. "The Call Option will terminate upon the earlier of the
matunty dates of the related Convertlble Notes or the first day all of the related Convertible Notes are
no longer outstandmg due to conversion or otherwise. The Call Optiori, which cost approxlmately
$80.8 million, was recorded as a reduction to additional pald-m-capltal

In a separate transactlon that took place concurrently with the issuance of the Convertrble Notes,
we sold warrants to Deutsche Bank AG London under which Deutsche Bank AG London has the ‘right
to purchase approxrmately 3 3 million shares of our cornmon 'stock at an exercise price of $105.689 per
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share (the “Warrant”). Proceeds received from the issuance of the warrants totaled approximately
$45.4 million and were recorded as an increase to additional paid-in-capital. ;

The combination of the Calt Option and Warrant effectively serves to reduce the potential dilutive
effedt of the conversion the Convértible Notes. The Call Option has a strike price équal to the '
conversion price for the Convertible Notes, and the Warrant has a higher ‘strike price of $105.689 per’
share that serves to cap the amount of dilution protection provided. The Call Option and Warrant are
settled on a net share basis. The Warrant may be settled in registered or, subject to certain potential
adjustments in the delivery amount, unregistered shares.. Furthermore, if additional shares are .required-
to be delivered with respect to a settlement in unregistered shares or any anti-dilution;adjustments in -
the related Convertible Notes, the Warrant provides that in no-event shall we be required to deliver in
excess of approximately 6.6 million shares in connection with the Warrant. We have resérved : . Y
approximately 6.6 million shares for the'settlement of the Warrant and have sufficient shares available -
as of December 31, 2007, to-effect such settlement. ‘ - ’ s

Deutsche Bank AG London is responsible for providing 100% of the necessary shares of our
common stock upon an exercise of the Call Option triggered upon conversion of the Convertible Notes
by a bondholder. The shares of our common stock that. Deutsche Bank -AG London will ‘deliver must
be obtained from existing shareholders. 1f the market-price per share of our common stock is above
$105.689 per share, we.will be required to deliver'to Deutsche Bank AG’ London shares of:our .~ »
common stock representing the value in excess of the Warrant strike price. In accordance with the
provisions of EITF No. 00-19 and SFAS 133, these transactions meet the definition of equity and are -
indexed to our common &tock; therefore, the Call Option and Warrant-ar¢ not considered derivative . .
instruments or required to be accounted for separately. .- oo o . » R

vile

Stock Repurchases

In July 2006, in a privately negotiated transaction, we repurchased 766,666 shares of our common
stock, par value $0.01 per share, from Toray Industries for a cash purchase price of approximately..’
$42.2 million (or $55.08 per share), pursuant to a stock ‘purchase agreement between Toray Industries..
and us. The purchase price was the average of the closing price of our common-stock.for the 30 - .- ..,
consecutive trading days énding July.26, 2006. Toray Industries retains ownership of 100,000 shares.of .-
our common stock. . . . ) : N

’

. 4
b

Due to our desire to return value to our sh.arehol_ders, on October 17, 2006, our Board of
Directors approved a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to 4 million shares of our common
stock over a two year period: As of December 31, 2007, approximately 3.1 million shares have been
repurchased under the program at a cost of approximately $182.5 million. Approximately 1.8 million
shares of our common stock were repurchased using approximately $112.4 million of the net proce€ds
from the issuance of:the Convertible Notes, based on the closing price of our common stock on, * ..
October 24, 2006, of $62.17. The remaining shares were repurchased on the open market. As of -
December 31, 2007, we had approximately 912,000 shares remaining under the approved stock . .

repurchase program. We may also repurchase shares -outside of this program. |

v

! o N
Under the amended and restated agreement with Toray entered into in March 2007, we issued to
Toray 200,000 shares of our common stock which are subject to repurchase. Toray has the right, upon- -
30 days prior written notice, to-request that we repurchase these newly issued shares at the-price of
$54.41 per share, which was the average closing price of .our common stock between January 11, 2007,
and February 23, 2007. We have not received notice from Toray to repurchase any of these shares of -
our common stock. B . o1 P ‘ o I oo

Income taxes

. . -

We recognized an income tax benefit of approximately $3.3 million; $34.1 million and $17.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The tax benefit generated for:2007
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was primarily due to the amount of tax credits generated during, the year from our orphan drug related
research and development activities. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the tax benefit
recogmzed is due primarily to reductions of approximately $45.7 million and $19.7 million, respectively,
in the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets based on our determination that certam of
these, deferred tax aSsets are more likely than not realizable.

» At December 31, 200’? we had, for federal income tax purposes net-operating loss casryforwards .
of approximately $69.8 million and business tax credit carryforwards of approximately, $48.8 million,
which expire at various dates from 2012 through 2024. The majority of the net operating loss
carryforwards is attributable to exercised stock options, the benefit of which was realized as direct
increases in additional paid-in-capital. Business tax credits can offset future tax liabilities and arise from
qualified research expenditures..We have been and may continue to be subject to federal alternative
minimum tax and state income taxes, even though we have significant net operating loss and tax credit .
carryforwards. We have paid and expect to continue to pay state income taxes. A portion of the-nét
operating loss carryforwards continues to be reserved through a valuation allowance as of
December 31, 2007. ) o .. .

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code hmlts the utilization of net operatmg losses when
ownership changes occur-as defined by that section. We have annually reviewed our ownership change -
position pursuant to Section 382. Through December 31, 2006, we have determined that ownership .
changes have occurred in December 1997, June 1999, and November 2004 and; as a result; the .
utilization of certain of our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited, However, we do not ..
expect any significant portion of our net operating-loss carryforwards or general business tax credits to
expire unused. We are currently reviewing the ownership changes for the year ended December 31,
2007.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangement

B ¢ ! ' I A ‘

In june 2004, we entered into.a synthetic operating ieaSe and related agreements wnh Wachovia
Development Corporation and its affiliates (Wachovia) to fund the construction of a.laboratory facility
in Silver Spring, Maryland. Under these agreements, Wachovia funded $32.0 million towards the .
construction ‘of the laboratory facility on land 'owned by us. The construction phase '‘commenced in 2004
and was completed in May 2006. Following construction, Wachovia leased the laboratory facility to us
with a term ending in May 2011. Under the 99-year ground lease, Wachovia paid fair value rent to us
for use of the land during the construction phase and will pay fair value rent after the laboratory lease
is termmated During the term of the laboratory lease Wachovia will pay $1 per year to us for use of
the land.

' * i
- We pledged a portmn of our marketable investments as collateral to secure our lease obligations..
At December 31, 2007, approximately $39.2 million of marketable investments and cash were pledged .-
as collateral and are reported as restricted marketable investments and cash in our consolidated .
balance sheet. L. ' ‘ . e oy ‘-

Upon termination of the lease, we will generally have the option of renewing the lease (subject to
approval of both parties), purchasing the laboratory at a price approximately equal.to. the funded
construction cost, or selling it and repaying Wachovia the:cost of its construction. We have guaranteed
that if the-labofatory is sold, Wachovia will receive at least 86% of the amount it funded. toward
construction. The maximum potential amount of this guarantee is approximately $27.3 million,
equivalent to 86% of the total.construction costs of $32.0 miillion. We have reported the fair value of
this guarantee as a non-current asset (prepaid rent) and non-current liability (other liability). At
December 31, 2007, the liability and the corresponding asset are approximately $566,000, net of
accumulated amortization,

The laboratory lease-and other agreéments require, among other things, that we maintain a
consolidated net'worth of at least $70.0 million. The agreements contain other covenants-and
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conditions with which we must comply throughout the lease periods' and upon termination of the lease.
If we were unable to comply with these covenants and conditions, if the noncompliance went uncured,
and if the parties could not agree otherwise, the agreements could terminate. A termination of these
agreements could result in the loss of our liquid collateral, among other consequences.

Wachovia receives monthly payments from us, generally based on applying the 30-day LIBOR rate
plus approximately 55 basis points to the amount funded by Wachovia towards the construction of the
laboratory. This monthly payment commenced when the laboratory construction was completed in May
2006 and will continue until the termination of the lease in May 2011, The monthly payment from May
2006 through December 2007 is recorded as rent expense. - ro

Upon completion of our laboratory facility in May 2006, Wachovia advanced to us ‘approximately
$5.2 million, which constituted the remaining funds available for construction due to. the lengthy '
process involved in finalizing construction costs. At December 31, 2007, there were no remaining
construction advances. ‘ C

Based on construction costs of approximately $32.0 million and the then current effective rate of
approximately 5.2% (equivalent to the current 30-day LIBOR rate plus approximately 55-basis points at
December 31, 2007), the payments to be made are approximately $1.7 million annually. In ‘addition,
Wachovia paid us ground rent of approximately $307,000 in June 2004 covering the construction period
through May 2006. This amount is being recognized as income ratably through May 2011.

We intend to enter into a construction agreement that generally obligates us to complete .
construction on a new combination laboratory and office building that will connect to our existing
Silver Spring, Maryland, laboratory facility. Upon execution of an amendment to our leasing
agreements with Wachovia permittiflg us to attach the new facility to the existing Silver Spring
laboratory facility, the estimated fair value of the building and the corresponding financing obligation to
Wachovia will be classified as a component of our Property, Plant and Equipment and as a lease
obligation in our consolidated balance sheet. The existing Silver Spring laboratory facility will not be
considered a standalone structure, which is a significant factor contributing to our current off balance
sheet accounting of it. We will continue to make lease payments to Wachovia as specified in 'thcf
agreement; however, those payments will be recorded as interest expense and a reduction to the lease '
obligation instead of as an operating lease payment.

-

Contractual Obligations

At December 31, 2007, we had contractual obligations coming due approximately as follows (in
thousands): ' : : ' '

L

Payment Due In .

' . 2009 011 . 2013

N . . to to and
' Total 2008 2010 2012 Later
Notes payable and capital lease obligations(1) . .. .. $251272 $251272 § — $§ — $ —
Operating lease obligations . . ................. 9,180 2981 . 5107 1078 .14
Purchase Obligations(2) ............. e 5,764 2,764 . 2,000 1,000 . —
Other long term Obligations(3) ................ 566 — — . 566 @ —
Milestone payments(4) .. ....... e 20,555 | 2,430 8,910 6,590 2,625

Totals .......coieiviinnn, Cie e $287,337 $259.447 816,017 $9,234 $2,639

(1) In October 2006, we issued $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes. The
‘principal balance of the notes is to be repaid in cash. The notes can be redeemed by the: -
bondholders once the market price of our common stock exceeds $90.27 for a specified period
which was satisfied as of December 31, 2007. While the Convertible Notes are classifed as current,
we believe that the bondholdérs will hold the notes until' maturity in October 2011. - -t
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(2). Includes specified payments to Toray for clinical trial material and related services.

(3) Upon termination of the synthetic operating lease with Wachovia for the laboratory facility, we will
.generally have the option of renewing the lease, purchasing the laboratory or selling it and
repaying Wachovia the cost of its construction. We guaranteed Wachovia that if the laboratory is
sold, Wachovia will receive at least 86% of the amount it funded towards the construction. The
final- cost of constructing the laboratory was approximately $32.0 million and the guarantee is
estimated at approximately $27.5 million. The remaining value of the guarantee is included in

+ other long-term liabilities reflected in the statement of financial position. See the section entitled
Off Balance Sheet Arrangement above for additional information. :

{4) We licensed products from other companies under license agreements. These agreements generally
include milestone, payments to be paid in cash by us upon the achievement of product
development and commercialization goals set forth in each license agreement. Total milestone
payments under these license agreements have been estimated based on the assumption that the
products currently under study will be successfully developed and on the cstlmated timing of these
development and commercialization goals.

(5) As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately $3.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits. The
-, table excludes these amounts due to uncertainty of timing surrounding future payments See
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies

Income Toxes i
We account for i income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SEAS) No. 109, Accounting for' Income Taxes. Under the asset and liability method of SFAS ‘No, 109,
deferred tax asscts and liabilities are’ determined based on the differences between the financial °
reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the tax ratés and laws that
are ‘expected to apply to taxable income in the yeass in which those tcmporary differences are expected
to be recovered or settled. A net deferred tax asset or liability is reported in the balance sheet.

At each reporting date, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or the
entire net deferred tax 'asset is realizable. If the net deferred tax asset is not fully realizable, then a
valuation allowance is established to reduce the amount of net deferred tax assets reported in the
balance sheet. Based on the weight of available evidence ai December 31, 2007, it was determined that
a partial valuation allowance totaling approximately $7.5 million was necessary at December 31, 2007.

Uncertain Tax Positions

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertamty in Income Taxes, and an
mterpretatlon of SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescrlbmg the
minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the
financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The interpretation
applies to all tax positions related to income taxes subject to SFAS 109. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006.

' - . , -

Remodulin Revenue Recognition o . G

Product sales of Remodilin are recognized when delivered to- dlstrlbutors which comprise our
customers for Remodulin. Product sales of Remodulin delwery pumps and related supplies are
recognized when delivered to distributors on a.gross basis in accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue (EITF) No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent. Title to
these products passes upon delivery. Had the net basis been applied, the amounts of revenues and cost
of product sales reported in the consolidated financial statements.would have been lower, but there -,
would have been no -impact on net income or losses. Prompt payment discounts, government rebates
and fees to a distributor are cstimated and recognized as reductions of revenue in the same period that
revenues are recognized. Had these discounts, rebates and fees not been reported as reductions of
revenue, the amounts reported as revenues and selling expenses would have been higher, but there
would have been no impact on net income or losses.
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. Return policies provide that product that has expired or become damaged in shipment may be
replaced, but not returned. We follow the guidance provided by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 48, Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists (SFAS 48). Exchanges for expired or
damagedin shipment product is generally less that 0.20% of.the volume of vials that we sell. An
exchange for expired vials generally occurs months after the vial was sold. Reserves for exchanges are
not recorded unless product expiration or-damage occurred during shipping are known to:us. The sheif
life of Remodulin'is two ‘and.one-half years from the date of its manufacture. We rely on our
distributors to report damage in shipment or. expirations of Remodulin product.-

One of our Remodulin distribution agreements stipulated minimum quarterly purchases by the
distributor for periods through June 30, 2005, and no minimum quarterly purchases after June 30, 2005.
The distribution agreement, however, does not permit- the distributor to return Remodulin product
solely based on the distributor’s ability or inability to resell the product. As a result, revenues from
sales. to this distributor are recognized in the period that the Remodulin' product is delivered to the
distributor. During the years ended December-31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, approximately $20.6 million,
$16.6 million, and $5.3 million, respectively, was'recognized as revenue from sales to this distributor
who has made voluntary purchases since June 30, 2005. . ‘ C

Weé closely monitor lévels of inventory in the distribution channels for contractual compliance. The
sheif life of Remodulin is 30 months. Obsolescence due to dating expiration has not been a historical
concern, given the rapidity with which our products move through the chiannel. Changes due to our a
competitors’ price movements have not adversely affected us. We do not provide inceritives to our *°°
distributors to assume additional inventory levels beyond what is customary in the ordinafy coursé of '
business. o ' ' : T ) R

We record Remodulin and related product sales net of the following significant categories of, . .
product sales allowances: prompt payment discounts, Medicaid discounts, and fees paid to distributors.
Calculating each of these items involves significant estimates and judgments and requires us to.use - .
information from external sources. . . ' :

Prompt payment discounts—We offer our distributors a.:2% prompt-pay cash discount as an
incentive to remit payment within the first thirty days after the date of the invoice. Prompi-pay. discount
calculations are based on the gross amount of each invoice.. These discounts are accounted for by
reducing sales by the 2% discount amount when: product is sold, and applying earned cash discounts at
the time of payment. Qur customers have routinely taken advantage of this discount, If information-is .
available, such as an outstanding invoice, which would indicate that the invoice will not be paid within
the discount period, we adjust the accrual-to reflect actual .experience as necessary and, as a result, the
actual amount recognized in any period may be slightly different from the accrual amount: |

Medicaid discounts—We record accruals for rebates to be provided through governmental rebate
programs, such as the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program,-as-a reduction of sales when product is sold.
These reductions are based on historical rebate amounts and trends of sales eligible for these
governmental programs for a period, as well as any expected changes to the trends of our total product
sales. In addition, we estimate the expected unit rebate amounts to be used and adjust the rebate
accruals based-on the expected changes in rebate pricing. Rebate amounts are generally invoiced and
paid a quarter in arrears, so that the accrual consists of an estimate of the.amount expected to be
incurred for the current quarter’s activity, and an estimated accrual for prior quarters’ unpaid ‘rebates.
While we have not experienced large variability in our estimated rates of rebates, using historical
amounts and trends could lead to fluctuations in recorded revenue due to differences between amounts
accrued and amounts actually paid. . ! SR . ’

LS

. . ’ ' "

Distributor Fee and Nori-Reﬂmdable Upfront License Revenlue Recognitidﬁ

"Our revenue recognition policy for all non-refundable upfront license and’ distribution rights fees
‘and milestone arrangements are in accordance with the guidance provided in the Commission’s Staff

67




Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements as amended by SAB
No. 104, Revenue Recognition. In addition, we follow the provisions of EITF, Issue No. 00-21, Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, (EITF 00-21) for multiple element revenue arrangements.
EITF 00-21 provides guidance on how to determine when an arrangement that involves multiple
revenue-generating activities or deliverables should be divided into separate units of accounting for
revenue recognition purposes, and if this division is required, how the arrangement consideration
should be allocated among the separate units of accounting. If the deliverables in a revenue
arrangement constitute separate units of accounting according to the EITF’s separation criteria, the -
revenue recognition policy must be determined for each identified unit. If the arrangement is a single
unit of accounting, the revenue recognition pohcy must be determined for the entire arrangement.

Under arrangements where the license or distribution rights fees and research and development -~
activities can be accounted for'as separate units of accounting, non-refundable upfront license and
distribution fees are deferred and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the expected term
of our continued involvement in the research and development process. Revenues from the i
achievement of certain research and development milestones, if deemed substantive, are recognized as
revenue when the milestones are achieved and the milestone payments are due and collectible.
Milestones are considered substantive if all the following criteria are met: (1) the milestone payment is
non-refundable; (2) achievement of the milestone was not reasonably assured at the inception of .the
arrangement; (3) substantive effort is involved fo achieve the milestone; and (4) the amount of the
milestone payment appears reasonable in relation to the effort expended, the other milestones in the
arrangement and the related risk associated with achievement of the milestone. If any of these o
conditions is not met, we would recognize a proportionate amount of the milestone payment upon
receipt as revenue that correlates to work already performed and the remaining portion of the
milestone payment would be deferred and recognized as we complete our performance obligations.

Intangible Assets ' : ' ' " " . ‘

We adopted thé provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, on January 1,
2002, which eliminated the amortization of goodwill. Rather, goodwill is subject to at least an annual
assessment for impairment by applying a fair value-based test that is performed on October 1* of éach
year. We continually evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate that the
remaining value of goodwill may not be recoverable. If we believe impairment has occurred, we
generally use a discounted cash’ flow methodology to calculate the actual impairment. At December 31,
2007, we believed that goodwill was not impaired and therefore no impairment losses have been
recorded. This conclusion is based on our judgment, taking into consideration expectations regarding
future profitability and the status of the reporting units which have reported goodwill. However,
changes in strategy or adverse changes in market conditions could impact this judgment and require an
impairment loss to be reoogmzed for the amount that the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its fair
value. . ,

Marketable Investments

Currently, we invest portions of our.cash in marketable debt securities issued primarily by
corporations and federally-sponsored -agencies. We do invest in state and municipal government
agencies, mainly auction rate securities and in selected corporate debt issues. Due to our intent and -
ability to hold these marketable debt investments until their maturities, these investments are reported
at their amortized cost. We believe that we are able to hold these. investments to maturity, due to the
significant level of cash and cash equivalents that we have and the generally short term nature of the
investments. The weighted average maturity on these investments is approximately 14 months. If we did
not have the ability and intent to hold these investments to maturity, we would have reported them in
the consolidated balance sheets at their fair market values with changes in the fair value being recorded

o

t
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in our results of operations. At December 31, 2007, the amortized cost of these debt securities was
approximately $141.0 million and their fair values were approximately $140.9 million. . ¢
Stock Options o I - _
Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R,
Share-Based Payment, using the modified prospective transition method. Under the modified )
prospective transition method, compensation cost recognized in 2006 includes compensation-cost for all-
equity-based payments granted prior to but not yet vest as of January 1, 2006. This estimation is based
on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123 and
compensation cost for all equity-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the
grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. Results for prior,
periods have not been restated. ' ' ' '

.

We have utilized the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model for estimating the fair value of the.
stock options granted since adoption of SFAS No. 123R, as well as, for option grants during all prior
periods. The Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model includes many assumptions that are subject to
substantial judgments, such as risk-free rate of interest, expected dividend yield, expected volatility,
expected term of options and expected forfeiture rate. ; :

Expected Volatility—Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a
share price has fluctuated (historical volatility):or is expected to fluctuate {(expected volatility) during a
period. We use the historical volatility based on the weekly price observations of our common stock
during the period immediately preceding the share-based award grant that is equal in length to the
award’s expected term (up to 2 maximum of.five years). We believe that historical volatility within the
last five years represents the best estimate of future long term volatility. - e

Risk-Free Interest Rate—This is the average interest rate consistenit with the yield available on a
U.S. Treasury note (with a term equal to the expected term of the underlying grants) at-the date the
option was granted. : . : T

Expected Term of Options—This is the period of timé that the options granted are expected to
remain outstanding. We adopted SAB 107’s simplified method for estimating the expected term of
share-based awards granted during the year ‘ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. The use of SAB 107
to calculate expected term has been extended past the original curtailment date of Décember 31, 2007.
We are evaluating the historical holding patterns of our options to determine if we can calculate a
reasonable estimate of expected term for stock option grants beginning in 2008. Given the increase in
our stock price, our stock options could be exercised soofier than we have seen in prior years.

Expected Dividend Yield—We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock and
does not anticipate paying any dividenids in the foreseeable future. As such, the dividend yié;ld
percentage is assumed to be zero. ) '

' I'd ' .
Expected Forfeiture Rate—This is the ¢stimated percentage of options granted that are expected to
be forfeited or cancelled on an annual basis before becoming fully vested. We estimate.the forfeiture
rate based on historical forfeiture experience for similar levels of employees to whom options were
granted. Lo : "o Co P

Investments in Affiliates

.

The equity method of accounting is used to account for some of our investments in affiliates,
including Northern Therapeutics, Inc. (Northern). The equity method of accounting ‘generally ‘requires *
that we report our share of our affiliates’ net losses or profits in our financial statements, but-does not
require that assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the affiliates be consolidated with our .
consolidated financial statements. The equity method of accounting is being applied generally due to
the lack of control over these affiliates and the levels of ownership held by us. Although our investment

69




in Northern exceeds 50%, minority shareholders possess substantive pamcnpatlng rights that- prcclude
Northern’s financial statements from being consolidated.

Other investments in affiliates are accounted for on the cost method generally due to the lack of
significant influence over these affiliates and a less than 20% ownership by us. The cost method of
accounting does not require that we report our share of the affiliates’ net losses or profits in our
financial statements, nor are affiliates’ assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses consolidated with our
consolidated financial statements. s

~ Lease of Laboratory Facilify. L -

In' June 2004, we entered into a synthetic operating lease and related agreements with Wachovia to
fund the construction of a laboratory facility in Silver Spring, Maryland. The construction of the
laboratory facility was completed in May 2006. The total cost of the consfruction was $32.0 million. The
laboratory facility is owned by Wachovia, the lessor. We are the lessee and pay rent to Wachovia now
that the facility is completed. This arrangement is a form of off balance sheet financing under which
Wachovia funded 100% of the costs for the construction of the property and now leases the laboratory
facility to us. We have provided a residual value guarantee to Wachovia that the residual value of the.
leased assets will be at least equal to a specified amount at lease termination.

In accordance with the guidance in SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases, EITF Issue No. 97-1,
Implementation Issues in Accounting for Lease Transactions, Including Those Involving Special-Purpose
Entities, EITF Issue No. 97-10; The Effect of Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction, and Financial
Accounting Standards Board' (FASB) Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,
we determined that the lease is properly classified as an-operating lease for accounting purposes.-
Furthermore, we determined that Wachovia has sufficient substance such that it can be treated as an
unrelated entity and, accordingly, does not require consolidation into our financial statements.

Operating leases of assets do not require that the leased asset and the related rent obligation be
reported in the lessee’s balance sheet, but rather be disclosed as future commitments. In contrast,
capital leases do require that the leased asset and rent obligations be reported in the lessee’s balance
sheet as assets and debt. Changes in the levels of investment made by Wachovia and its affiliates in the
laboratory could affect the classification of the lease from operating to capital. In that event, we would,
include both the assets and debt associated with the laboratory facility on our balance sheet.

»

Senior Execunve Retirement Plan

We account for our Senior Exccutive Retlrcment Plan (SERP) in accordance with SFAS No. 87,
Employers Accounting for Pensions (SFAS 87), and SFAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (SFAS 158), and related standards and interprétations. In
accordance with SFAS 87, a material change in the plan, such as adding a participant which occurred in
August 2006, requires a remeasurement of the Plan. Since there are no plan‘assets, no interest on
assets is assumed earned. With the addition of a participant in 2006, there is’ an unrecognized prior
service cost of approximately $713,000 as of December 31, 2007 which will be amortized over the next
12 years, the average expected future service period of all the plan participants. In addition, any
unrealized actuarial losses will be amortized as an expense only when the cumulative unrecognized
losses exceed 10% of projected benefit obligations. Benefit payments are not expected to be paid over
the next five years since no current partlc:lpants will reach the age of 60 w1thm this time period.

Recent Accountmg Pronouncements

Fair Valie Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements, SFAS 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles,
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements
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issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this statement could have on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. ' '

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities ‘ .

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS No. 159 permits an
entity to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently
required to be measured at fair value. Entities that elect the fair value option will report unrealized
gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this’
statement could have on our financial condition, results of operations and.cash flows. o

Non-Refundable Advance Payments for Research and Development Activities

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Non-Refundable Advance
Payments for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities (EITF 07-3),
which provides that non-refundable advance payments for future research and development activities
should be deferred and capitalized until the related goods are delivered or the related services are
performed. EITF 07-3 will be for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007 and will be evaluated

on a contract by contract basis. This standard is not expected to have a material impact on our future’
consolidated financial statements.

Collaboration Arrangements

In December 2007, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 07-1, Accounting for Collaboration
Arrangements Related to the Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property (EITF 07-1),
which provides guidance on how the parties to a collaborative agreement should ‘account for costs
incurred and revenue generated on sales to third parties, how sharing payments pursuant to a
collaboration agreement should be presented in the income statement and certain related disclosure
requirements, EITF 07-01 will be effective for the Company beginning January 2009 on a retrospective
basis. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of EITF 07-1 will have, if any, on our

consolidated financial statements. Lo vy

1

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Stai‘ements_ : C

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated
Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB No. 51. SFAS No. 160 requires all entities to report .
noncontrolling (minority) interests in subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Its
intention is to climinate the diversity-in practice regarding the accounting for transactions between an
entity and noncontrolling interests. This Statement is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohibited. We
are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this statement could have on our financial
condition, resuits of operations and cash flows.

Business Combinations S

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), a revised version of SFAS No. 141,
Business Combinations. The revision is intended to simplify existing guidance and converge rulemaking
under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) with international accounting rules. This
statement applies prospectively to business combinations where the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, and may affect
the release of our valuation allowance against prior acquisition intangibles. An entity may not apply it
before that date. The new standard also converges financial reporting under U.S.’GAAP with )
international accounting rules. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this statement
could have on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

At December 31, 2007, a substantial portion of our assets was comprised of debt securities issued
by corporations and federally-sponsored agencies. The market value of these investments fluctuates
with changes in current market interest rates. In general, as rates increase, the market value of a debt
investment would be expected to decrease. Likewise, as rates decrease, the market value of a debt
investment would be expected to increase. To minimize such market risk, we hold such instruments to
maturity at which time these instruments will be redeemed at their stated or face value. At
December 31, 2007, we had approximately $141.0 million in debt securities issued by federally-
sponsored agencies and corporations.with a weighted average stated interest rate of approximately
4.4% maturing through March 2012 and callable annually. The fair market value based on quoted
market prices of this held-to-maturity portfolio at December 31, 2007, was approximately
$140.9 million.

At December 31, 2007, a portion of our assets was comprised of auction rate debt securities issued
by state-sponsored agencies. While these securities have long-term maturities, their interest rates are
reset approximately every 7-28 days through an auction process. As a result, the interest income from
these securities is subject to market risk since the rate is adjusted to accommodate market conditions
on each reset date. However, since the interest rates are reflective of current market conditions, the
fair value of these securities typically does not fluctuate from par or cost. At December 31, 2007, we
had approximately $54.0 million in these debt securities with a weighted average stated interest rate of
approximately 6.3%. The fair market value based on quoted market prices of these available-for-sale
debt securities as of December 31, 2007 was approximately $54.0 million.

At February 28, 2008, we held approximately $35.4 million of investments in municipal notes,
classified as current assets, with an auction reset feature (“auction rate securities”). The underlying
assets of these investments are generally student loans which are substantially backed by the federal
government. In February 2008, auctions failed for approximately $11.3 million of our auction rate
securities and there is no assurance that currently successful auctions on the other auction rate
securities in our investment portfolio will continue to succeed. As a result, our ability to liquidate and
fully recover the carrying value of our investments in the near term may be limited. An auction failure
means that the parties wishing to sell securities could not. All of our auction rate securities, including
those subject to the failure, are currently rated AAA, the highest rating, by a rating agency. If the
issuers are unable to successfully close future auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate, we may be
required to record an impairment charge on these investments. We believe we will be able to liquidate
our investments without significant losses within the next year, and we currently believe these securities
are not significantly impaired, primarily due to the government guarantee of the underlying securities,
however, it could take until.-the final maturity of the underlying notes (up to 30 years) to realize our
investments’ recorded value. Based on our expected operating cash flows, and our other sources of
cash, we do not anticipate the potential lack of liquidity of these investments to affect our ability to
execute our current business plan or the carrying value of these investments.

In June 2004, we entered into a synthetic operating lease and related agreements with Wachovia
Development Corporation and its affiliates (Wachovia) to fund the construction of a laboratory facility
in Silver Spring, Maryland. Under these agreements, we pay rents to Wachovia generally based on
applying the 30-day LIBOR rate plus approximately 535 basis points to the amount funded by Wachovia
towards the construction of the laboratory. The total amount of construction was $32.0 million. These
rents, therefore, are subject to the risk that the LIBOR rate will increase or decrease during the period
until termination in May 2011. At December 31, 2007, the 30-day LIBOR rate was approximately 4.6%.
For every movement of 100 basis points (1%) in the 30-day LIBOR rate, the rents under this lease
could increase or decrease by approximately $320,000 on an annualized basis.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ST o

The Board of Directors and Shareholders et |
United Therapeutics Corporation - Tt

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of United Therapeutics Corporation as
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ -
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,:2007. Our audits
also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Ttem 15 (a)(2). These financial -
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the. Company’s management. Qur responmblllty i to
express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.’

:

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An -
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting prln¢1ples used and 51gn1f1cant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of United Therapeutics Corporation at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.

As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, in fiscal year 2006, United
Therapeutics Corporation changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation in
accordance with guidance provided in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards no.123(R) Share-
Based Payment. As discussed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statement, United Therapeutics
Corporation adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48. Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, effective
January 1, 2007.

We also have audited, in accordance with the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of United Therapeutics Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 28, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2008




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting:Firm on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
United Therapeutics Corporation

We have audited United Therapeutics Corporation internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). United
Therapeutics Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control-Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. ‘

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a internal weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion. ' ’

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally ‘
accepted accounting principies, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide.
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not pievent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion United Therapeutics Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the 2007 consolidated financial statements of United Therapeutics Corporation,
and our report dated February 28, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2008




UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ..........
Marketable INVESUMENIS . . . . . o ottt e e e s e s e e e e e e e
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of none for 2007 and $1 for 2006 . . .. ... ...
Other receivable. .. .. ... .. e e e e
Interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventories, net

..............................................
...............................................

P T T R e R

Total current assets

.............................................

Marketable investmentS . . . . ... oottt e e e e e e e
Marketable investments and cash—restncted ..............................
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, NEt . . . . . . 0ttt
Property, plant, and equipment, net
Investments in affiliates
Deferred tax assets
Other assets

....................................................

o 7

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

Accrued EXPENSES - . . . ... '

Current portion of notes and leases payable . ... ... . ... e e
Other current liabilities . . ... ... . . . o e

Total current liabilitiés , ... ... ...... ... ..t e R
Notes and leases payable, excluding current portlon
Other liabilities . . .. . . .. . . s e e e

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies: . .
Common stock subject to repurchase . ... ... ............. e

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, par value $.01, 10,000,000 shares authorlzcd no shares issued . . .. ...
Series A jumnior participating prefcrred stock, par valve $.01, 100,000 authorized, no
shares issued
Common stock, par value $.01, 100 000,000 shates authorized, 26,629,189 and
24,632,153 shares issued at Dcccmber 31, 2007 and 2006, .respectively, and 22,247,592
and 21,475,078 outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income -
Treasury stock at cost, 4,381,597 shares and 3,157,075 shares at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively . . . L. e e e e e
Accumulated deficit . .. ... L e

Total stockholders’ equity . .. ... ... . .
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2007 2006

$139323 $ 91,067
150,720 136,682
25,654 22,453
2,959 1,581
1,049 1,611
5,948 ° 9,242
13,211 12,047
13,588 2,691
352,461 277,374
9,740 36,414
44195 38988
7465 7465

962 3,140
69,354 ° 34,681
1,247 4,700
93,700 65,308
7,894 8,901

$ 587,018 § 476,971

$ 2000 $ 3,003
17,942 15,265
250,012 10
2,806 882
272,760 19,250

2 250,015

7584 3,100
280,346 272,365
10,882 —
" 266 246
548327 408,804

317 1,476

(231,619)  (164,560)
(21,501)  (41,360)
295,790 . 204,606

$ 587,018 § 476,971




UNITED THERAPEUTICS. CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Income -

(In thousands, except per share data)

For Years Ended December 31,

) 2007 2006 2005
Revenues: o . : z ‘ : -
Netproductsales. . ........ ... iiininenunnns $201,348 $153,448- $110,412
Service sales .. ... ... ... e 7,435 6,184 5,241
License f8ES. . . v ittt i e e e 2,160 . — 262
Total revenue . . ........... PR 1210943 159,632 115915
Operating expenses: _
Research and development . . ... ... .. et . 83,352 57,570 36,052
Selling, general and administrative. . ... ... N 99,027 56,052 24,655
Costof product sales .. ....... .ot 19,919 14,673 10,242
Cost of service sales . . . ....... e e .. 2,342 2,055 ‘2,073
Total operating €XpPenses . . . . oot vine i 204,640 130,650 73,022
Income from operations .. ......... oo v, 6,303 28,982 42,893
Other income (expense}: . -
Interest income . ............. S e 13,602 10,700 5,359
Interest €Xpense . .. .. ... it i e e (2,175) (482) 29
Equity loss in affiliate . ......... ... ... ... . .. .. . (321) (491) (754)
Other,net . . ... .. e (826) 1,199 - 53
- Total other income (expense), net ... ... L e 10,280 . 10,926 4,629
Net income before iricome tax benefit .. ... e 16,583 39,908 47,522
Income tax benefit ................... e 3,276 34,057 17,494
NetinCome . . oo v v e P . oo $19859 § 73,965 § 65,016
Net income per common share:
Basic. . ... $ 094 § 321 § 285
DIlted - .o oo e $ 08 $ -306 § -2.58
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding: ‘ '
BaSIC. e e e 21,224 23,010 22,825
Diluted ................. e e e e e . 22,451 24,138 25,206

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

’
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Eguity

(In thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-in  Comprehensive Treasury Accumulated

' Shares  Amount Capital Income Stock Deficit Total
Balance, December 31, 2004 . ... 22,955,129 $229 $375,945 $ 2,677 $ (6,874) 3$(180,341) $ 191,636
r Netincome ,.,.......... o — — — —_ — 65,016 65,016
Foreign currency translation
adjustments . ........... — — — (220) = — (220)
Unrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale securities, . . — — — 1,136 — — 1,136
Total other comprehensive
income . ............. — — — 916 — .. 65016 . 65932
Exercise of .stock options . . . .. 889,875 10 14,955 — — — 14,965
Tax benefit from exercises of ’ C
non-qualified stock options . . — - 1,586 — : —_ —_ 1,586
. Options issued in exchange for _ . :
SEIVICES .. .v.vv v .. — — 983 — — — 983
Balance, December 31, 2005 . ... 23,845,004 239 393,469 3,593 (6,874) (115325) 275,102
‘Netincome .. ............ — — — — — 73,965 73,965
Foreign currency translation . .
adjustments . ........... — — — 336 — — 336
Unrealized %loss) on .
available-for-sale securities . . — - - (2,453) — — (2,453)
Total other comprehensive '
imcome .............. — — _— (2,117) —_ 73,965. 71,848
Exercise of stock options . . . .. 787,149 7 14,437 —_ — —_ 14,444
Tax benefit from exercises of
non-qualified stock options . . — - 12,236 L— . — —_ 12,236
Treasury stock repurchases . . . . - - — — {157,686) — (157,686
Cost of call spread options, net. — — (35,400) —_ ToV— — (35,400
Options issued in exchange for
_services_ ............... —_ . — 24,062 _ —_ —_ 24,062
Balance, December 31, 2006 . ... 24,632,153 246 408,804 1,476 {164,560y  (41,360) 204,606
Netincome .............. — — — _ C = 19,859 19,859
Foreign currency translation
adjustments . ........... — — — 285 — — 285
Unrealized gloss) on :
available-for-sale securities . . — - — (214) —_ — (214)
Realized (loss) on : .
available-for-sale securities . . —_ — — (678) — — (678)
Unrealized (loss) on pension
liability . . . .......... e — — — (552) = — . (552)
Total other comprehensive
income .. ............ — — —_ (1,159) — 19,859 18,700
Exercise of stock options . . . .. 1,797,036 18 58,326 — — — 58,344
Tax benefit from exercises of
non-qualified stock options . | — — 32,089 — — - 32,089
Treasury stock repurchases . . . . —_ — — — {67,059) —_ (67,059)
Options issued in exchange for
SEIVICES . . ... vuvvvn .. — — 48,979 — _ — 48,979
Stock issued for license . . . - 200,000 2 129 — — _ 131
Balance, December 31, 2007 . ... 26,629,189 $266 $548,327 $ 317 $(231,619) $ (21,501) $ 295,790
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
Years Ended Décember 31,
2007 - 2006 . 2005
Cash flows from operating activities:
NELIICOMIE « - o v v vt s v omeee e masba i o a e s e , 8% 19859 $ 73965 $ 65016
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)- , -
operating activities: i B
Depreciation ‘and amortization . . . .. e e e e e . 3,427 2,713y 2,534
Loss on disposals of equipment . . .. ... ... oo 1,345 240 58
Provisions for bad debt and write downs. . . . ........ .. s . 154 (151) 90
Stock and options issued in exchange for scrv1ces S 48,704 24,062 983
Tmpairment 10sses . .. ... va e e 3,582 - 2,024 —
Deferred tax benefit .. ... ... . ..o (3 276) (37,047)  (18,125)
“Provisions for inventory obsolescence andwritedowns . ........ ..... 221" 407 T 228
Amortization of tPrf:mlums and discounts on marketable mvestments cees (4,065) (1,249) (120)
Equity loss in affiliate .. ... ... .o i 321 490 754
Excess tax benefit from stock- based compensation . . . ........ - (29,604) ° (10.761) —
Amortization of deferred financing cost . .. ... .. .. i 1,595 — —
Issuance of stock for license . .. . v o o o v c i i s T e 11,013 -. — —_
Changes of operating assets and liabilities: , .
Restrictionsoncash .. ... ... ..o i E5,176 (2,396 534
Accounts receivable . . . .. ... ... ... .. T S 4,030 E8,869 220
Interest receivable . . . ... ... e e e e 496 . (812 234
Inventories. . . .. ... e e e P TN . (2,339) . - (1,006 3,461
Prepaid expenses . ........ e e e s 3,642 %2,867 2,377
Other assets . . . . v v v i v e s e oo 52,959; 2,389 2,331)
Accounts payable ......... U 1,072 (1 082) 2,122
ACCIUEd EXPEIISES .« . oo v v v v et a e e e 2,667 _ 2,705
Other liabilities . ... ... e 2,978 4 446 322
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . ........ o oo 49,083 49,388 43,166
Cash flows from investing activities: P '
Purchases of ﬁroperty, ‘plant and-equipment - ... .. ... ...l (38,658) . (15,634 (6,117
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments. . . . . . e (221,986) (120,405 516,475
Purchases of available-for-sale investments . .. ........ ... .. 0o (80,000 (84,350 61,050
Maturities of held-to-maturity investments . .......... ... o000 260,888 32,360 —_
Sales of available-for-sale investments ... ............ AL " 58,050 86,400 12,900
Net cash (used in) investing activities .. ......0 . .o et (21,706). (101,629) (70,742)
| Cash flows from financing activities: )
, Proceeds from exercise of stock options . .. ... ... .. e 38,344 14,445 14,963
| Proceeds from the issuance of Convertible Notes, net of issuance costs . e — 242,024 - —
Payments to repurchase common StOCK. . . ..o oo ot (67,059) {157,686 —
Purchase of call spread options, net . . .. ... v vt — 35,400 —_
Proceeds from excess tax benefits ... .. ... 0 i i 20,604 10,761 —_
Principal payments on notes payable and capital lease obligations . ... .. (10) ©o(16) {795)
Net cash provided by financing activities ... ...... ... v 20,879 .74,128 ¢ 14,170
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . ............... 48,256 21,887  (13,406)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . ........ .. ..ot 91,067 69,180 82,586
Cash and cash equivalents, end of vear. . . ... ... $ 139,323 § 91,067 - § 69,180
Supplemental cash flow information—cash paid for interest. . . ............ $ 12100 % 7 %8 029
Cash paid for income taxes. .. ........ .. e e $ 1,355 § 304 § 185

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes:to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Organization and Business Deseription

United Therapeutlcs Corporation is a biotechnology company focused on the development and
commercialization of unique products to address the unmet medical needs of patients with chronic and
life-threatening cardiovascular and infectious diseases and cancer. We were incorporated on June 26,
1996, under the laws of the State of Delaware. We have the following wholly-owned subsidiaries: Lung
Rx, Inc. (Lung Rx), Unither Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (UPI), Unither Telmed, Ltd (Unither Telmed and
formerly Unither Telemedicine Services Corporation), Unither.com, Inc., United Therapeutics
Europe, Ltd,, Unither Pharma, Inc., Medicomp, Inc., Unither Neurosuences Inc.’ (formérly Unither
Nutrlceutlcals Inc.), LungRx lelted Unither Biotech Inc., and Unither Virology, LLC.

Qur lead product is Remodulin®. Remodulin was first approved for use on May 21, 2002, by the
United States Food and. Drug Administration (FDA) as a continuous subcutaneous.infusion for the
treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) in patients with New York Heart' Association
(NYHA) class II-TV symptoms to diminish symptoms associated with exercise. In November 2004, the
FDA approved intravenous infusion of Remodulin, based on data establishing intravenous.
bioequivalence with subcutaneous Remodulin, for patients who are not able to tolerate a subcutaneous
‘infusion. In 2006, the FDA expanded its approval of Remodulin to include patients requiring transition
from Flolan®, the only other FDA-approved intravenous prostacyclin. The FDA also agreed that we
had fulfilled its Subpart H approval requirement for a Phase IV post-marketing study to confirm the
clinical benefit of Remodulin. In addition to the United States, Remodulin is approved for
' subcutaneous infusion in most of Europe, Canada, Israel, Australia and several countries in South
America. It is also approved for intravenous infusion in Canada, Israel, Mexico, Argentma and Peru,
Other mternatlonal applications for the approval of Remodulin are pending.

We have generated pharmaceutical revenues from sales of Remodulin and arginine products in the.
United States, Europe and Asia. In addition, we have generated non- pharmaceutlcal revenues from
telemedlcme products and services in the United States oo

2. Summary of Slgmficant Accounting Policies " (.
Principles of Consolidation ‘ Yo
The consolidated financial statements mcludc the financial statements of United Therapeutlcs
Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiarics. All mgmflcam mtercompany balances and transactions
are eliminated in consolidation. Lo :

Cash Equivalents ' . S ' L

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 'months or
less at the time of purchase. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds, commercizl paper, and
certificates of deposit and amounted to approximately $139.3 million and $91.1 million at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. Approximately $1.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was held by a
bank as a compensating balance in order to reduce fees charged by the bank. However, the agreement
with the bank does not restrict our ability to withdraw such balances.

Inventories

We manufacture certain chemical compounds, such as treprostinil-based compounds. We contract
with third-party manufacturers to make our cardiac monitoring devices and to formulate Remodulin.
These inventories are accounted for under the first-in, first-out method and are carried at the lower of
cost or market.




UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) -

Inventorics consisted of the following, net of reserves (in thousands):

* December 31,
2007 2006

Remodulin: . S :
Raw materials. . . .......... S P ... $3364 § 149
WOIK in PrOIESS .« .o vsereone it caee e 4782 7,807
~ Finished goods .. ........ e I X & 3,355
Remodulin delivery pumps and medical supplies ............ Cot291 661
Cardiac monitoring equipment components . ........... . '.". © 159 38
Arginine related product lines . . ... ... .. e o — 37
Total INVENEOTIES . . v oo iiies e e e s e .. $13211 812,047

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of assets placed in service is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful
lives of the assets are as follows: .

Buildings . ..........ccoon 39 Years
Building improvements . . . . . ... 15-39 Years .
Furniture, equipment and vehicle. .. 3-15 Years
Holter and event cardiac monitoring
SYSTEMS . o . v .1. 3-7 Years
Leasehold improvements . .. .... .. " Life of the lease or asset, whichever is shorter ’

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in thoilgands):

-+ December 31,

. . - . 2007 2006

| 71 7 I R ... $10507 '$ 9,789
Buildings, building improvements and leasehold improvements . 19,203 13,023
Buildings under construction . ... . .o 26,134 4,363
Holter and event cardiac monitoring systems .. ............ 3,915 3,540
Furniture, equipment and vehicle . . .. ...... ... ... e 19,955 13,230

: S ' 79,714 43,945
Less—accumulated depreciation. .. .. ... 0. .l (10,360)  (9,264)
"Property, plant and equipment, net . ... e PR  $69,354 $34,681

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, was approximately
$2.9 million, $2.4 million, and $2.1 million, respectively.

The laboratory facility in Silver Spring, Maryland, was completed in May 2006. It was financed
through a synthetic operating lease with Wachovia Development Corporation (Wachovia). This project
and its related financing are discussed in Note 10 in the Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition,
in late December 2007, we began construction on a new combination office and laboratory building
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

which will connect to this laboratory facility. This new building is anticipated to cost approximately
$106.1 million and is expected to be funded from working capital. The bu1ld1ng project could take up to
two years to complete.’

In June 2006, we purchased 54 acres of land in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, for
approximately $3.2 million which will be used to build an approximately 200,000 square foot office and
manufacturing facility. The manufacturing facility will formulate oral treprostinil and future
glycobiology antiviral compounds, and the office will be used by our clinical development and
Remodulin commercialization staff currently occupying leased space in the area. We anticipate that the
building project which began in early 2007 will have an estimated cost of approximately $107.1 million
and is expected to be funded from working capital. The new facility is expected to be completed by
early 2009. '

In May 2006, we purehased land and a building adjacent to our Silver Spring, Maryland,
headquarters for approximately $1.8 million. In January 2007, we paid $5.7 million for an office
building adjacent to our Ieased Iegal and governmental affairs office in Washington, D.C.

Research and Develapment.

Research and product development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development
expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, costs to acquire pharmaceutical products
and product rights for development, and amounts paid to contract research organizations, hospitals and
laboratories for the provision of services and materials for drug development and clinical trials. Clinical
trial materials are expensed as research and development expense as they are used.

We expense the costs relating to the production activities in our laboratory facility in Silver Spring,
Maryland as research and development expense in the period incurred until such time as we receive
approval from the FDA for the facnhty

Costs incurred in licensing the rights to technologles in the research and development stage and
that have no alternative future uses are expensed as incurred and in accordance with the specific
contractual terms of the applicable license agreements. Acquired in-process research and development
is expensed if technological feasibility has not been demonstrated and there is no alternative use for the
in-process technology. - . - . -

Income Taxes

-,

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with SFAS Na. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes.
Under the asset and liability method of SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on.the differences between the financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the tax rates and laws that are expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in
tax rates on deferred taxes and liabilities is recognized as either a change in the valuation allowance or
in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuatlon allowances are provided against
deferred tax assets, including those arising from net operating loss carry forwards, if it is anticipated
that some or the entire asset may not be realized -through future taxable income. We assess quarterly
the likelihood that-the deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the
extent we believe that recovery is not likely, a valuation -allowance is established: To the extent that we.
establish a valuation‘allowance or changes to the valuation allowance-occur in' a given period, an
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. (Continued) P

sl

income tax expense or benefit (i.c. reduction of expense} may be recognized in the statement;of
operations. For the years ended December 31; 2006 and 2005, we released a portion of the valuation.;-
allowance on the deferred tax assets: See Note 8 in the Consolidated. Financial Statements for further .-«
information. _«i . . . L e e e e
- On’January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation of No. 48, Accounting foF: -
Uncertainty in’ Income ‘Taxes-(FIN '48). FIN 48 clarifies‘the accounting for+uncertainty for ificome taxes
recognized in the financial statements and requires the impact of a tax position to be recognized in the
financial statements.if that. position is more likely than not of being sustained by the taxing authority.
Implementation of FIN 48 did not result in a cumulative adjustment tg accumulated deficit and. did not
have 'a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. - i, -,
e e oy T . -y, o . T A He LY ' S I 4
Marketable Invesiments . S Lo Ce e e ‘ v . ’ _
Approximately $141.0 million and $162.1 million of our ‘marketablezinvestments were ‘considered
held-to-maturity securities at December. 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Held-to-maturity securities are
those ‘securities-which we have the ability and intent to hold until maturity and are.recorded at .
amortized cost, adjusted for the amortization or accretion of premiums or discounts. Premiums and . -
discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related, held-to;maturity security as an,
adjustment to yield using the effective interest method. We monitor our investment portfolio for
impaifinent on a periodic basis. In the event that the carrying value of an investment exceeds its fair
value and the decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary, we record an impairment
charge and ‘esfablish a new cost basis for the investment at its then current fair value. In order to
determine whether a decline in"value is other-than-temporary, we evaluate, among other factors: the
duration and extent to which the fair value has been less than the carrying value; the financial - .. .
condition.of and business outlook for the issuer, including key operational and cash, flow metrics,
current market conditions and future trends in the issuer’s industry; the issuer’s relative competitive
position within the industry; and-our intenit and ability fo retain the investment for a period 'of time '
sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. Declines in market values below amortized

" [ ¥

cost that are considered other-than-temporary are reported in the statement of opeirat'idns':':ls losses.
s . i . - . . B [} e | 2 I

I A O A

Approximately $54.9 million and $46.3 million of our marketable investments were considered :; ~
available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Available-for-sale securities
are those securities which we neither intend to hold until maturity nor intend to sell in the near term.+;
Available-for-sale securities are recorded at their fair values. Changes in fair values are excluded from
earnings and reported in other comprehensive income. Our available-for-sale-securities 'are auction rate
debt securities which have long term maturities and publicly traded equity securities. The interest rates
on auctidn rate debt securities reset approximately every 7 to 28 days through a re-auctioning process.
Since the interest rates are generally reflective of current market conditions, the fair value of these

securities typically approximates cost. ‘ . oL

’

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the
net tangible' and intangible assets of-the business acquired. Other intangible assets resulting from.
business -acquired relate to covenants not to compete, employment agreements, technology, patents, and
trade: names and were determined on the basis of independent valuations. The other intangibles.are .
being amortized over three to eighteen years, consistent with the terms of the undeflying agreements. -
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ (Continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment in October of each year. Intangible assets subject to
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that -
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The measurement of possible impairment is - :
based primarily on the ability to recover the balance of the goodwill and other intangible assets from
expected future operating cash flows on an undiscounted basis. Impajrment losses for other intangible
assets are recognized when expected future cash flows are estimated to be less than the asset’s carrying
value. In management’s opinion, no impairment exists at December 31, 2007.

An’impairment of intangible assets related to' the HeartBar product trade name totaling
approximately $2.0 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2006. This impairment
was required since the HeartBar product was discontinued in January 2006 and is no longer sold. In-
September 2007, based on a recent Supreme Court decision concerning the enforceability of patents
and a publication discounting the benefits of arginine supplementation, we reevaluated cur assumptions
used in determining the recovery of our arginine patents. As a result vsing a discounted cash flow
methodology, we recognized an impairment charge of approximately $1.6 miltion as a charge to selling,
general and administrative expenses The 1mpa1rment was recorded in the pharmaceutical segment of
our business. - o :

Goodwﬂl and other mtanglble assets were comprlsed as follows (m thousands)

As ol’ Decemher 31, 2007 .+ As of December 31, 2006

' ’ Accumulated . .. Accumulated
, , . Gross _A!enﬁization Net Gross Amortization Npt
Goodwill . .. ... [P e $7.465 $§ — 87465 §$7465 $. —  $7465
Intangible assets; i ! S
Technology and patents. I P 4532" (3, 570) - 062 6,164 (3,024) 3,140
Total intangible assets ...:..... ..... $4,532  $(3,570) '$ 962 $6,164 . $(3024) $3,140

Total amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2007 2006 and 2005, was
approxxmately $545,000, $324,000 and $479,000, respectively. The mtanglble assef related to patents for
arginine has'a remaining amortization period of approximately 5 yéars as of December 31, 2007. As of
December 31,2007, the aggregate amortization expense related to these intangible assets for each of
the flve succeedlng years is estlmated as follows (in thousands)

Years ending December 31,

2008 . o e e T DR $558 .. ¢
2009 . 0. .., e e e e 122
2010, ..o S T S AT 122
7211 & RSP 122
p31) 2 38

Investments in Affiliates

The investments in affiliates represent our investment in Northem Therapeutics, Inc. (Northern)
The investment in Northern is being accounted for on the equity method of accounting which requires
us to report our share of the affiliate’s net losses or -profits in our financial statements, but does not
require that assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the affiliates be.consolidated with our
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes. to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

consolidated financial statements. We own approximately 68% of Northern, but only hold 49.9% of the
voting shares. The equity method is used because the minority shareholders of Northern possess

substantive participating rights as defined by EITF Issue No. 96-16, Investors Accounting for an Investee
when the Investor Has a Majority of the Voting Interest but the Minority Shareholders or Shareholders Have
Centain Approval or Veto Rights. ' - .

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payable, and
accrued expenses, approximate fair value due to their short maturities. The carrying value of
marketable investments and notes payable approximated its fair value based on quoted market prices.
The fair values of leases payable approximate their carrying values based on notes that are currently
available to us for obligations with similar terms and maturities.

Earnings per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average -
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the respective period. Diluted earnings per
common share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period plus the number of shares issuable upon the exercise of
outstanding stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method.

At December 31, 2007, the holders of the components of basic and dilutive earnings per share are
as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts): .

Years ended December 31,

' 2007 2006 2005

Net income (Numerator) .......... P e $19,859 $73,965 . $65,016
Shares (Denominator):

Weighted average outstanding shares for basic EPS............... 21,224 23,010 22,825

0.50% Convertible Senior Note . 1. ... v iy — . = —

Dilutive effect of stock options ....... J 1,227 1,128 2,381

Adjusted weighted average shares for diluted EPS ............... 22451 24,138 25,206
Earnings per share : ;

BaSIC & v o e ee e e e e $ 094 § 321 § 285

DAIEd . oot oot e e e e e e $ 088 $ 306 $ 258
Stock options and warrants excluded from calculation ........... .. 4,776 1,588 2,020

Certain stock options and warrants were not included in the computation of earnings per share
because the exercise prices of these options and warrants were greater than the average market price of
our common stock during these periods; therefore their effect was antidilutive. r
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes to' Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies -(Continued)
Use of Estimates o

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reportmg period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

Stock Option Plan

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123
(revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R), using the modified prospective transition method
and therefore have not restated results for prior periods. Under this transition method, stock-based
compensation expense in fiscal 'year 2006 included stock-based compensation expense for all share-
based payment awards granted pl‘lOl‘ to, but not yet vested as of, January 1, 2006, based on the
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123). Stock-based compensation expense for all share-based
payment awards granted after January 1, 2006 is based on the ‘grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. We recognize these compensation costs on a-straight-line
basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term of three
years. For awards that contain a performance condition, we recognize compensation costs on an
accelerated attribution model. We account for equity instruments issued to consultants in accordance
with SFAS No. 123 and EITF Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other
than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services. Prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123R, we recognized stock-based compensation expense in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25). In March 2005, the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (SAB 107)
regarding the SEC’s interpretation of SFAS 123R and the valuation of share-based payments for public
companies. We have applied the provisions of SAB 107 in our adoption of SFAS 123R. See Note 7 in
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of stock-based compensation.

Reventies
Revenues are recognized in the financial statements only when considered realizable and earned.

Product sales of Remodulin are recognized when delivered to distributors, which are our customers
for Remodulin. Product sales of Remodulin delivery pumps and related supplies are recognized when
delivered to distributors on a gross basis in accordance with EITF Issue No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue
Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent. Title to these products passes upon delivery.

We record Remodulin and related product sales net of the following significant categories of
product sales allowances: prompt payment discounts;, Medicaid discounts; and fees paid to distributors.
Calculating each of these items involves significant estimates and judgments and requires us to use
information from external sources. Prompt payment discounts and government rebates are estimated
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) L .

and recognized as reductions in revenue for the same period that revenues are recognized. Return
policies provide that product that has expired or become damaged in shipment may be replaced, but
not returned. - Cooe : . .

Prompt payment discounts—we offer our distributors a' 2% prompt-pay cash discount as an )
incentive to remit payment within the first thirty days after the date of the invoice. Prompt-pay discount
calculations are based on the gross amount of each invoice. These discounts are accounted for by ’
reducing sales by the 2% discount amount when product is sold, and applying earned cash discounts at
the time of payment. Our customers have routinely taken advantage of this discount. If information is
available, such as an outstanding invoice, which would indicate that the invoice will not be paid within
the discount period the discount accrual is adjusted. We adjust the accrual to reflect actual experience
as necessary and, as a result, the actual amount recognized in any period may be slightly differegg_from

the accrual amount.

Medicaid discounts—we record accruals for rebates to be provided through governmental rebate
programs, such as the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, as a reduction of sales when product is sold.
These reductions are based on historical rebate amounts and trends of sales eligible for these
governmental programs for a period, as well as any expected changes to the trends of our total product
sales. In addition, we estimate the expected unit rebate amounts to be used and adjust the rebate
accruals based on the expected changes in rebate pricing. Rebate amounts are generally invoiced and
paid a quarter in arrears, so that the accrual consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be
incurred for the current quarter’s activity, and an estimated accrual for prior quarters’ unpaid rebates.

Fees paid to distributors—we pay two of our distributors fees for services that they render on our
behalf, These fees are recorded as a reduction to revenue. Fees to distributors are accrued monthly and
are estimated based on contractual rates for specific services applied to estimated units of service
provided by the distributors for the period. ' ' C

Distributor fees and non-refundable license revenue

Our revenue recognition policy for all non-refundable upfront license and distribution rights fees
and milestone arrangements are in accordance with thé guidance provided in the Commission’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” as amended by
SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition.” In addition, we follow the provisions of EITF, Issue No. 00-21,
“Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” (EITF 00-21) for multiple element revenue '
arrangements. EITF 00-21 provides guidance on how to determine when an arrangement that involves
multiple revenue-generating activities or deliverables should be divided into separate units of
accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and if this division is required, how the arrangement -
consideration should be allocated among the separate units of accounting. If the deliverables in a
revenue arrangement constitute separate units of accounting according to the EITF’s separation
criteria, the revenue recognition policy must be determined for each identified unit. If the arrangement
is a single unit of accounting, the revenue recognition policy must be determined for the entire
arrangement. * o

Under arrangements where the license or distribution rights fees and research and development
activities can be accounted for as separate units of accounting, non-refundable upfront license and
distribution fees are deferred and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the expected term
of our continued involvement in the research and development process. Revenues from the
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achievement of certain research and development milestones, if deemed substantive, are recognized as
revenue when the milestones are achieved and the milestone payments. are due and collectible.
Milestones are considered substantive if all the following criteria are met: (1) the milestone payment is
non-refundable; (2) achievement of the milestone was not reasonably assured at the inception of the
arrangement; (3) substantwe effort is involved to achieve the mllestone and (4) the amount of the
milestone payment appears reasonable in relation to ‘the effort expended the other milestones in the
arrangement dnd the related risk associated with achievement of the milestone. If any of these
conditions is not met, we would recognize a proportionate amount of the milestone payment upon
receipt as revenue that correlates to work already performed and the remaining portion of the
mllestone payment would be deferred and recognized as we complete our performance obligations.

Telemedicine and arginine revenue

Service sales from cardiac momtormg analysis servnces are recognized when the services are
performed

¥

Product sales of cardlac momtormg systems are recognized when delivered to customers and
installed. - . * .. . L L L.

Product sales from the argmme related products were recognized when delivered to customers. If
the products were con51gned sales were recognized in the period that the consignee has sold the
product. Product sales were recorded net of allowances for estimated returns and rebates.

T)'ade Receivables

Trade receivables that are deemed collectible and will be held until payment is received are
reported in the consolidated balance sheets at the outstanding amounts less an allowance for doubtful
accounts. We write off uncollectible receivables when the likelihood of collection is remote.

Other Receivables
Other recelvables consist pnmarlly of recoverable lmport duties on shipments of Remodulm to
other countries.

] .

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is reported at cost 1ncludmg commissions and fees.

Advertising Costs .o .o

Advertising' costs 'are,expens'ed when incurred. Advertising costs expensed dudng the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, were approxi;pat‘ely $1.2 million, $630,000 and $31,000, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk, Suppliers;' Products, Revenues and Customers

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to credit risk, consist primarily of cash, money
market funds, commercial paper, marketable investments, and trade receivables. We maintain our cash
and money market funds with major financial institutions. The amounts deposned with these
institutions exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limits. We have not
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experienced any losses on such bank accounts. Our commercial paper and marketable investments have
been issued by corporate, state and local government agencies with high credit ratings and by federally
sponsored agencies.

If these financial institutions, issuing companies, federal agencies or customers failed to perform
their obligations under the terms of these financial instruments, the maximum amount of loss resulting
from these credit risks would be approximately equal to the amounts reported in the consolidated
balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, marketable investments, accounts receivable and interest
receivable.

We currently rely on a single supplier for stability studies on Remodulin, the formulation of oral
treprostinil and inhaled treprostinil, and to analyze other products. Additionally, Remodulin is
formulated and packaged by a single formulator. Although there are a limited number of companies
that could replace these suppliers, we believe that other suppliers could provide similar services and
materials. A change in suppliers, however, could cause a delay in distribution of Remodulin and in the
conduct of clinical trials and commercial launch for products in development, which would adversely
affect our research and development efforts and future sales efforts. '

We rely solely on one manufacturer to make our cardiac monitoring devices. Although there are a
limited number of companies that could replace this supplicr, we believe that other suppliers could
provide similar services and materials. A change in supplier, however, could cause a delay in the
manufacture and distribution of cardiac monitoring devices which would adversely affect our sales
efforts. ‘

During the year ended December 31, 2007, Remodulin drug sales accounted for approximately
05% of total revenues.

The majority of Remodulin drug sales were made to United States distributors. In the United
States, we have contracted with three distributors which purchase and market Remodulin. There are
several other qualified distributors that could market Remodulin, if an existing distributor ceased to
market Remodulin. If these distributor agreements expire or are terminated, under certain conditions,
we may have to repurchase unsold Remodulin inventory held by the distributors.

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, approximately 88%, 90% and 90% of our Remodulin revenues,
respectively, were earned from customers located in the United States. Foreign revenues were derived
from several countries mainly located in Europe. Virtuaily all of our long-lived assets are located in thé
United States. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, trade receivables were due primarily from three
customers in the pharmaceutical segment.

We earned approximately 69% of our total net domestic revenues and approximately 63% of our
total net Remodulin revenues from one customer in our pharmaceutical segment. Gross revenues from
that customer totaled as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Accredo Therapeutics . .. ........... DU $136,975 $101,584 $75,317
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3. Related Party Transactions
Receivable from Employees

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had approximately $46,000 and $38,000, respectively, in
non-interest bearing advances due from employees The advances are classified as other assets in the
consolidated balance sheets.

Marketing and Consulting Agreements

In May 2007, we entered into a technical services agreement with Kurzweil Technologies Inc.
(KTT), a company controlled by Raymond Kurweil, a member of our Board of Directors. Pursuant to
this agreement, we agreed to pay KTI consulting fees up to $12,000 monthly. We also agreed to
reimburse KTI on a monthiy basis for all necessary, reasonable and direct out of pocket expenses. In
addition, we agreed to pay KTI up to 5% royalty on certain sales of products reasonably attributed to
and dependent upon certain technology developed by KT1 under the technical services agreement. We
incurred approximately $84,000 in expenses during 2007 under this agreement.

In September 2002, we entered into a technical services agreement with KTI. Pursuant to this
agreement, we paid KTi $40,000 monthly for consulting fees, additional sums for preapproved patent
work, and up to $1,000 monthly for reimbursement of expenses for certain telemedicine technology
development services. In addition, we agreed to pay KTT a 5% royalty on certain sales of products
reasonably attributed to and dependent upon technology developed by KTI under the technical services
agreement and which are covered by claims of an issued and unexpired United States patent(s). The
agreement was terminated by the parties as of Decemnber 31, 2006. During the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we incurred approximately none, $568,000, and $541,000,
respectively, of fees and expenses related to this agreement, of which approximately none were payable
to KTT at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

4. License Agreements
Glaxo SmithKline ' B

In January 1997, GlaxoSmithKline PLC (formerly known as Glaxo Wellcome, Inc.) assigned to us
patents and patent applications for the use of the stable prostacyclin analog UT-15 (now known as
Remodulin) for the treatment of PAH and congestive heart failure. GlaxoSmithKline has a right to
negotiate a license from us if we decide to license any part of the marketing rights to a third party.
Under the agreement, GlaxoSmithKline is entitled to certain royalties on sales exceeding a specified
threshold from us for a period of ten years from the date of the first commercial sale of any product
containing Remodulin. If we grant any license to Remodulin to a third party, GlaxoSmithKline is also
entitted to a percentage of all consideration payable to us by such licensee. We are responsible for all
patent prosecution. and maintenance for. Remodulin, ‘

Pfizer L:cense

In December 1996 Pflzer Inc (formerly known as Pharmacia & Upjohn Company) exclusively
licensed us patents and a patent application for the composition and production of treprostinil. Under
the amended 2002 license agreement with Pfizer, we pay royalties to Pfizer of 4% on annual net sales
of Remodulin in excess of $25.0 million. This 4% royalty is subject to a 50% reduction for royalties due
to other parties. Under the amended license agreement, Pfizer is entitled to these royalties from us for
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4, License Agreements (Continued)

a period of ten years from date of the first commercial sale in the applicable country of any product
containing Remodulin.

Medtronic MiniMed

We entered into an agreement with Medtronic MiniMed (MiniMed) in September 1997 to’
collaborate in the design, development, and implementation of therapies to treat PAH and peripheral
vascular disease utilizing MiniMed products with subcutaneous Remodulin. In May 2006, MiniMed
advised us that it intended to discontinue making infusion pumps for subcutaneous delivery of
Remodulin after first giving us and our distributors the opportunity to putrchase desired quantities. In
November 2006, MiniMed and we mutually entered into a termination agreement.

Toray Industries, Inc. License

In June 2000, we entered into an agreement with Toray Industries, Inc. (Toray), for the exclusive
right to develop and market beraprost, a chemically stable oral prostacyclin analog, in a sustained
release formulation {(beraprost-SR) in the United States and Canada for the treatment of ali
cardiovascular indications. Under this agreement, Toray was granted the right to receive an option
grant to purchase 500,000 shares of our common stock (the Option Grant). Toray’s right to receive the
Option Grant was conditioned upon Toray’s delivery to us of adequate documentation regarding the
use of beraprost-SR+«in humans and its transfer of clinical trial material to us. The exercise price of the
options would be based on the average of closing market prices of our common stock for the month
preceding delivery of the clinical trial material.

In March 2007, Lung Rx entered into an amended agreement with Toray to assume and amend the
rights and obligations of the agreement entered into between Toray and us in June 2000 concerning the
commercialization of modified release formulations of beraprost (beraprost-MR). Under our original
agreement with Toray, we had exclusive North American rights to commercialize beraprost-MR in the
United States for all cardiovascular diseases. The amended agreement grants us additional exclusive
rights to commercialize beraprost-MR in Europe and broadens the indication to vascular disease
(excluding renal disease), among other revisions.

In accordance with the terms of the amended agreement, in March 2007 we issued 200,000 shares
of our common stock to Toray in exchange for the cancellation of Toray’s existing right to receive the
Option Grant. At the time the amendment was entered into, the conditions for Toray’s receipt of the
Option Grant had not been met. Under the terms of the amended agreement, Toray has the right to
request that we repurchase the issued 200,000 shares of our commen stock upon 30 days prior written
notice at the price of $54.41 per share. We recognized research and development expenses of
approximately $11.0 million relating to the issuance of the 200,000 shares, because beraprost-MR had
not yet obtained regulatory approval for commercial sales. In accordance with the provision of SFAS
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, EITF 00-19, Accounting for '
Derivative Financial Instruments Indeéxed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock, and EITF
Topic No. D-98, Classification and Measurement of Redeemable Securities, these shares of common stock
are reflected in mezzanine equity as common stock subject to repurchase valued at the repurchase
price. If Toray requests that we repurchase these shares, then an amount equal'to the repurchase price
will be reclassified to a liability account until the repurchase is completed. .

F-19




"UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated-Financial Statements (Continued)

4. License Agreements (Continued)

 The amended agreement also specifies that we make certain milestone payments to Toray during
the development period and upon U.S. or European Union regulatory approval. Upon execution of the
amended agreement, we made a $3.0 million payment to Toray in addition to the issuance of the
200,000 shares of our common stock discussed above. Additional annual milestone payments of
$2.0 million are specified in the amended agreement and are to commence in the first quarter of 2008,
increasing in $1.0 million increments annually through 2011. These payments will be expensed when
incurred. These payments are contingent upon the receipt of clinical trial material and commercial drug
from Toray that meet all regulatory standards and requirements, including those relating to chemistry,
manufacturing and controls, and are documented to the satisfaction of U.S. and European Union
regulatory anthorities. In addition, if Toray elects to terminate production of beraprost-MR, no further
payments would be due under the amended agreement. Conversely, if we elect o terminate
development of beraprost-MR, then all remaining milestone payments would be due to Toray, unless
certain regulatory standards and requirements have not been met, or if material problems have been
identified with respect to manufacturing and regulatory compliance.

On October 19, 2007, beraprost-MR received regulatory approval in Japan for use.in the treatment
of PAH.

Supémus Pharmaceutical License

In June 2006, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc,
(Supernus), for use of certain technologics developed by Supernus in our sustained release oral
treprostinil formulation. Under the agreement, in return for the license, we will pay Supernus certain
amounts upon the achievement of specified milestones based on the development of oral treprostinil
and its commercial launch. In addition, the agreement provides that we wiil pay a royalty to Supernus
based on net worldwide sales of the initial product. Any such royalty will be paid for approximately
twelve years commencing with the first product sale and is subject to adjustments as specified in the
agreement. Additional milestone payments and royalty payments may be due for the development and
commercialization of other products developed using the technology granted in this license.

Northern Therapeutics, Im: Licenses

On October 15, 2006, Lung Rx enterecl into an exclusrve license agreement with Northern
Therdpeutrcs Inc. (Northern), to obtain the developmental and commercial rights to Northern’s
cell-based gene transfer technology for the treatment of PAH in the United States. Under the terms of
the agreement, Lung Rx would assume the development activities of this technology upon the
successful completion of the current Phase I trial being conducted by Northern in Canada, PHACeT In
addition, Lung Rx will pay Northern certain milestone payments during the PHACeT trial, totaling
approximately $1.5 million, if the trial is successful. We have incurred expenses totaling $150,000 and .
$500,000 during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Upon successful
commercial launch of a product using this technology, royalties would be due to Northern at various
rates from 5% to 10% depending on sales level.

Stanford University and New York Medical College

Unither Pharma, Inc. has exclusively licensed patents related to arginine-based dietary supplements
to enhance the level of naturally occurring nitric oxide in the vascular system from Stanford University
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and New York Medical College. The licenses cover worldwide territories and are valid for the life of
the patents. In return, Unither Pharma, Inc. has agreed to pay royalties equal to 1% of net sales of
amino acid based products to each licensor respectively; subject to reductions. Minimum annual
royalties of $10,000 are due to each licensor. o " )

b

Aradigm Licensing Agreement

In August 2007, Lung Rx entered into an exclusive license, development and commercialization
agreement with Aradigm Corporation (Aradigm) for the rights to manufacture, develop and
commercialize its AERx Essence® device, a pulmonary drug delivery system, for use as a
next-generation metered-dose inhaler with our investigational inhaled treprostinil product in patients
with PAH and other conditions. Under the terms of the Agreement, we made an upfront payment of
$440,000 to Aradigm and paid an additional $440,000 in January 2008. Aradigm will initiate, and is
responsible for conducting and funding, a study that includes a bridging clinical trial comparing the
AERx Essence technology to the NEBU-TEC Optineb nebulizer used in our clinical trial for inhaled
treprostinil, TRIUMPH-1.

If the study is successful, we will purchase approximately $3.5 million of Aradigm’s common stock.
Aradigm will receive certain milestones and license fees over the course of the development period and
we will fund the costs to develop,.commercialize and manufacture inhaled treprostinil for use with
AERx Essence. :

TransMIT License . . : )

In March 2007, TransMIT Gesellschaft fur Technologletransfer GmbH. (TransMIT), an affiliate of
the University of Giessen, assigned to Lung Rx its entire interest in the patent rights to a portable
ultrasonic nebulizer and related technology in order to make; have made, use and sell products based
on such patent rights. As consideration for the assignment, Lung Rx paid to TransMIT approximately
$779,000 and agreed to pay a 5% running royalty on net sales of nebulizers using their technology in
Germany. However, no royalty payments are due to TransMIT ‘until royalties on net sales of products
in Germany exceed the original payment of approximately $779,000.

Memorial Sloan Kettering

In December 2007, we entered into two agreements with Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center
(MSKCC) to exclusively license certain rights to two investigational monoclonal antibodies, 3F8 and
8H9, for the treatment of neuroblastoma and metastatic brain cancer. The monoclonal antibody. 3F8 is
a mouse IgG3 MAb, which is currently used in an investigational setting for the treatment of
neuroblastoma, a rare cancer of the sympathetic nervous system mainly affecting children. 8H9 is also a
mouse monoclonal antibody, but of the IgG1 subclass. The 8H9 antibody is highly reactive with a range
of human solid tumors, including brain cancers. The 8H9 antibody is in early investigational
development for metastatic brain cancer. -

Under the terms of the licensing agreements, MSKCC granted us an exclusive license for the
development and commercialization of the 3F8 and 8H9 antibodies for cancer throughout the universe.
In exchange for these exclusive licen_'s'es, we agreed to pay a royalty fee on net sales, with an annual '
minimum royalty payment for each antibody. Milestone payments may also be due for the development
and commercialization of these antibodies under our licenses. ' ‘
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5. Distribution Agreement
NEBU-TEC Supply Agreement

In June 2004 and September 2006, we entered into Clinical and Commercial Supply Agreements'
with NEBU-TEC International Med Products Eike Kern GmbH. (NEBU -TEC) to provide for the
availability of Optineb® inhalation devices and related supplies for use in our TRIUMPH-1 clinical trial
of inhaled treprostinil and for commercial use following regulatory approval. The non-exclusive
agreements provide for NEBU-TEC to sell us Optineb devices and supplies at specified prices and
payment terms for clinical and commercial use. The agreements also specified the obligations that each
party has with respect to regulatory approvals, In-February 2008, we entered into an amendment to the
September 2006 Clinical and Commercial Supply Agreement under which the term of the agreement
was extended to the first anniversary of the first to occur of United States-or European Union approval
of inhaled treprostinil. We also agreed to terms for an advance order of Optineb devices and related
supplies following satisfactory completion of a testing program in support of our NDA filing. The .
amendment also clarified certain regulatory obligations of the parties and provided NEBU-TEC with
the first opportunity to sell devices in Europe for so long as NEBU-TEC was able to meet market
demand.

On March 27, 2007, we entered into an exclusive agreement with Mochida
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Mochida) to distribute subcutaneous and intravenous Remodulin in Japan.
Mochida will be responsible, with our assistance, for obtaining Japanese marketing authorization,
including conducting necessary bridging studies. We will supply study drug at no charge to Mochida.
Due to the bridging studies and required Japanese regulatory reviews, commercial activities in Japan
are not expected to commence until 2010 or later. Upon receipt of marketing authorization and pricing
approval, Mochida will purchase Remodulin from us at an agreed-upon transfer price. In addition,
Mochida has agreed to make certain exclusive distribution rights payments to us. We received the first
payment of $4.0 million in May 2007. Cerfain other distribution rights payments are due as follows:
(1) $4.0 million upon Remodulin receiving orphan drug status in Japan or February 1, 2008, whichever
first occurs; (2) $2.0 million upon filing a New Drug Application (NDA) in Japan; and (3) $2.0 million
upon marketing approval in Japan. Payments for distribution rlghts received through the filing of the
NDA will be recognized ratably over the estimated period of time from when the payment is due until
marketing authorization is received.

~ 6. Commitments
Oxford University

Unither Pharmaceuticals, Inc.. (UPI) has a research agreement with the University of Oxford
(Oxford) to develop antiviral compounds licensed from Synergy Pharmaceuticals and from Oxford. The
research agreement provided for payments of up to approximately $1.1 million over two years and had
an initial term expiring in September 2002, which was renewed until September 2006. Under the
agreement, UPI is required to fund the research and make milestone payments to Oxford for successful
completion of clinical trials. UPI will also pay to Oxford a royaity equal to a percentage of net sales
that UPI earns from discoveries and products developed by Oxford. The milestone payments and
royaltles are subject to reduction depending upon.third-party contributions to inventions and/or third-
party licensés necessary to develop products. On October 1, 2006, the research agreement was extended
through September 30, 2011, obligating us to make 60 equal monthly payments for a total amount of
approximately $3.7 million. As of December 31, 2007, approximately $2.9 million remains due on this
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contract. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, we have incurred
approximately, $652,000, $562,000, and $544 000, respectively, in expenses under the terms of thls
agreement.

»

Milestone and Royalty Paymenis

J ]

We have licensed certain products from other companies under license agreements described in
Note 4 in the Consolidated Financial Statements. These agreements generally include milestone
payments to be paid in cash by us upon the achievement of certain product development and
commercialization goals set forth in each licénse agreement. !

Total milestone payments under these license agreements are expected based on estlmates of the
timing and success of the development and commercialization of. products covered by these agreements
to come due approximately as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

701+ SO $2,430
2000 . . . e e e e e e e e e $4,330
2000 . . . e e e $4,580
7 1 )1 1 P $5,545
2012 and thereafler. o v v o e e e e e e e e s $3,670

Additionally, certain agreements described in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
require us to pay royalties. The royalties are generally based on a percentage of net sales or other
product fees earned by us. Royalties will become due when sales are generated and will range from
1.0% to 12.0% of net product revenues as définéd in the respective agreements.

7. Stockholders’ Equity : . . | - '
Stock Incentive Plan ‘

Our Board of Directors adopted an equity incentive plan (the Plan) effective in November 1397. In
April 1999, the Board of Directors and stockholders approved an amendment and restatement of the
Plan that increased the total number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the
Plan to 14,939,517 shares, which includes 7,939,517 shares reserved for issuance to the CEO under her
employment agreement. The Plan provides for the grant of awards to eligible participants, including
options (qualified and nonqualified), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, and other rights
as defined in the Plan. Options currently granted under the Plan generally vest over a period of up to
three years, are not transferable and must generally be exercised within 10 years. The price of all
options granted under the Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of the common stock on
the date of grant. With respect to any participant who owns 10% or more of our outstanding common
stock on the date of grant, the exercise price of any incentive stock option granted to that participant
must equal or exceed 110% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant and the
option must not be exercisable for longer than five years, We have historically issued new shares to
satisfy share option exercises.
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Employee Options

We utilize the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model for estimating the fair value of our granted
stock options. Option valuation models, including Black-Scholes-Merton, require the input of highly
subjective assumptions. Changes in the assumptions used can materially affect the grant date fair value
of an award. These assumptions include the risk-free interest rate, expected dividend yield, expected
volatility, expected forfeiture rate and the expected termt of options.

Expected Volatility—Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial vanable such as a
share price has fluctuated (historical volatility) or is.expected to fluctuate (expected volanltty) during a
period. We use the historical volatility based on the weekly price observations of our common stock
during the period immediately preceding the share-based award grant that is equal in length to the
-award’s expected term (up to a maximum of five years). We'believe that historical volatility within the
last five years represents the best estimate of future long term volatility. Since 2002, our annual
volatility has ranged from 92.9% in 2002, to 48.5% in 2007 with an average of 59.3% durmg the
five-year period.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—This is the average interest rate consistent with the yield available on a
U.S. Treasury note (with a term equal to the expected term of the underlying grants) at the date the
option was granted.

Expected Term of Options—This is the period of time that the options granted are expected to
remain outstanding. We adopted SAB 107’s simplified method for estimating the expected term of
share-based awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. Expected Dividend |
Yield—We have never decIared or paid d1v1dends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying .
any dividends in the foreseeable future. As such, the dividend yield percentage is assumed to be zero.

Expected Forfeiture Rate—This is the estimated percentage of options granted that are expected to
be forfeited or cancelled on an annual basis before becoming fully vested. We estimate the forfeiture
rate based on historical forfeiture experience for similar levels of employees to whom options were
granted.

Followmg are the wetghted average assumptions ‘used in valuing the stock opttons granted to
employees during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Years ended December 31,

, 2007 2006 2005
Expected volatility .. ................ L 398%  42.6% 43.6%
Risk-free interest rate ............... . 41% . 48% 3.7%
Expected term of options ... ........... .. S7years 6.0years 2.4 years |,
Expected dividend . .................... 00% . 0.0% 0.0%
Forfeiture rate . . . . . . PR 4.7% 82% = 0.0%
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A summary of the status of our employee stock options as of December 31, 2007 and the changes
during the year then ended is presented below:

Weighted
2007 As':egrnge
Weighted-  Remaining Apgregate
Average Contractual - Intrinsic
X Exercise Term . Value
Shares Price (in years) ($ in 000s)
Outstanding at beginning of period ... ............. 5,503,765  $43.83 -
Granted . ... .. e s 2,053,093 72.01
Exercised . .. .. i e e 1,750,287y  32.23
Forfeited . . . ... . i (192,822) 57.70.
Canceled . . ... ...... ... ... ... . — —
Outstanding at end of period .................. .. 5,613,749  $57.28 7.6 $226,643
Options exercisable at end of period . . ............. 3,416,511 $55.17 6.6 $145,129
Expected to vest at December 31, 2007 . ............ 2,056,615  $60.55 9.1 $ 76,297

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, was approximately $88.8 million, $30.5 million and $36.8 million, respectively. The weighted
average fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was
$31.44, $27.27 and $15.92, respectively. . _ '

As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $47.3 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to nonvested employee stock options which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years. The total fair value of shares vested during the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, was approximately $42.2 million, $20.5 million and
$19.8 million, respectively.

Total employee share-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31,
2007 and 2006 are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Years ended

December 31,
2007 " 2006
Cost of servicesales . ............. e $ 42 § 117
Research and development ......... oo 10,969 6,679
Selling, general and administrative . ... .................. 36,353 14,156
Share-based compensation expense before taxes . ........... 47,364 20,952
Related income tax benefits . . .. ... ... .. o o (17,927) (8,278)
Share-based compensation expense, net of taxes . ........... $ 29437 $12,674

Equity-based compensation cost capitalized as part of inventory during years ended December 31,
2007 and 2006, were approximately $213,000, and $505,000, respectively. We recorded approximately
$31.4 million and $5.2 million in share-based compensation expense during the years ended
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December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, related to the grant of optlons to purchase 2,053,093 and
988,061 shares of common stock to employees, respectively. '

The following table (in thousands, except per share amounts) illustrates the effect on net income
and net income per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R to
equity-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Information for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, is presented for comparative purposes only and is
consistent with the presented statement of operations.

Years énded December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Net income, asreported . ... ............ ... ..... e $19,859 $73,965 § 65,016

Less total stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair value based method for all awards . . .. ............. — —  (23,097)

Pro forma net inCome . .. ... oo veie e e $19,859 © $73,965 $ 41,919
Basic net income per common share:

Asteported. . ... e $ 094 § 321 § 285

Proforma ............. e e ... — 8 — § 184
Diluted net income per common share:

Asreported. .. ... ... L e $ 088 § 306 $ 258

Proforma............... e 8 — 8 —- 8166

A summary of option exercises under all share-based payment is‘as follows (dollars in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 * 2006 2005
Number of options exercised . .............. 1,797,036 787,149  8R9.875
Cashreceived .............. ... c....... $ 58344 § 14,445 § 14,965

As of December 31, 2007, there were 6,110,939 shares available for grant under the plan.

Options granted to employees under this Plan were as follows:

Nulﬁber of Weighted Average

Options Granted Grant Price
For the years ended December 31, C ‘
2007 . e 2,053,093 $72.01
2000 . . e — 088,061 $56.18

2005 .. e 2,564,303 $55.35
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Options Issued in Exchange for Services

We.issued options under the plan to consultants for services during 2007, 2006 and 2005. The
options generally vest over a period of up to one year. The fair value of these options is being
recognized as expense over the performance period which is typically one year. The grant activity is
summarized as follows: : '

Number of Weighted Average

Options Granted Grant Price
For the years ended December 31,
2007 .« o e 41,000 $53.22
2006 ... 49437 . $66.70
D005 . e e e e e 31,417 $48.02

Stock Repurchases

In July 2006, in a privately negotiated transaction, we repurchased 766,666 shares of our common
stock, par value $0.01 per share, from Toray Industries, Inc. (Toray), for a cash purchase price of
approximately $42.2 million (or $55.08 per share) pursuant to a stock purchase agreement between us
and Toray. The purchase price was the average of the closing prices of our common stock for the 30
consecutive trading days ending on July 26, 2006. '

Our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to 4.0 million
shares of our stock over a two year period on October 17, 2006. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
approximately 1.2 million shares and 1.9 million shares, respectively, had been repurchased under the
stock repurchase program at a cost of approximately $67.1 million and $115.5 million, respectively. As
of December 31, 2007, 911,669 shares remained eligible for repurchase under this program.

Preferred Stock

A total of 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.01 wete authorized in 1997.
No preferred stock has been issued. ' :

Shareholder Rights Plan

In December 2000, our Board of Directors approved the adoption of a Shareholder Rights Plan
designed to discourage takeovers that involve abusive tactics or do not provide fair value to our
shareholders. The Sharcholder Rights Plan provides for a dividend distribution of one Preferred Share
Purchase Right (Rights) for each outstanding share of our common stock. The dividend distribution
was made to shareholders of record on December 29, 2000. The Rights will be exercisable only if a
person or group (except for certain exempted persons or groups) acquires 15% or more of our
common stock or announces a tender offer which would result in ownership of 15% or more of our
common stock. The Rights entitle each holder of one share to purchase one one-thousandth of a share
of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (par value $.01} and will expire on December 29, 2010.
A total of 100,000 shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock with a par value of $.01 were
authorized in 2000. No Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock has been issued.
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Call Spread Option

Concurrent with the issuance of the 0.50% Convertible Senior- Notes (Convertible Notes) (see
Note 8 in the Consolidated Financial Statements), we purchased call options on our common stock in a
private transaction with Deutsche Bank AG London (the Call Option). The Call Option allows us to
purchase up to approximately 3.3 million shares of our common stock at $75.2257 per share from
Deutsche Bank AG London, equal to the amount of our common stock related to the excess
conversion value that we would deliver to the holders of the Convertible Notes upon conversion. The
Convertible Notes are generally convertible once our stock price exceeds $75.2257 per share. The Call
Option will terminate upon the earlier of the maturity dates of the related Convertible Notes or the
first day all of the related Convertible Notes are no longer outstanding due to conversion or otherwise.
The Call Option, which cost approximately $80.8 million, was recorded as a reduction to additional
paid-in-capital.

In a separate transaction that took place concurrently with the issuance of the Convertible Notes,
we sold warrants to Deutsche Bank AG London under which Deutsche Bank AG London has the right
to purchase approximately 3.3 million shares our common stock at an exercise price of $105.689 per
share (the Warrant). Proceeds received from the issuance of the warrants totaled approximately
$45.4 million and were recorded as an increase to additional paid-in-capital.

The combination of the Cail Option and Warrant effectively serves to reduce the potential dilutive
-effect of the conversion the Convertible Notes. The Call Option has a strike price equal to the
conversion price for the Convertible Notes and the Warrant has a higher strike price of $105.689 per
share that serves to cap the amount of dilution protection provided. The Call Option and Warrant are
settled on a net share basis. The Warrant may be settled in registered or, subject to certain potential’
adjustments in the delivery amount, unregistered shares. Furthermore, if additional shares are required
to be delivered with respect to a settlement in unregistered shares or any anti-dilution adjustments in -
the related Convertible Notes, the Warrant provides that in no event shall we be required to deliver in
excess of approximately 6.6 million shares in connection with the Warrant. We have reserved
approximately. 6.6 million shares for the settlement of the Warrant and have sufficient shares available
as of December 31, 2007, to effect such settlement.

Deutsche Bank AG London is responsible for providing 100% of the necessary shares of our
common stock upen an exercise of the Call Option triggered upon conversion of the Convertible Notes
by a bondholder. The shares of common stock that Deutsche Bank AG London will deliver must be
obtained from existing: shareholders. If the market price per share of our common stock is above
$105.689 per share, we will be required to deliver to Deutsche Bank AG London shares of our
common stock representing the value in excess of the Warrant strike price. In accordance with the
provisions of EITF No. 00-19 and SFAS 133, these transactions meet the definition of equity and are
indexed to our common stock; therefore, the Call Option and Warrant are not considered derivative
instruments or required to be accounted for separately.
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8. Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision for (benefit from) income taxes attributable to operations
consist of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Current:

Federal ...... e $§ 634 % — 5 —

QALE o i e e e e 103 868 953

FOretgn . ..o v 78 — Co—
Total CUITent . . . . o v et et e e 815 868 - 053 -
Deferred A

Federal . ... .ttt it (39,025) (43,133) (18,706)

BALE & v vt e e ot e e e (83) (3,449) 259
Total deferred . .. .. ..t s (39,108)  (46,582) (18,447)
Other Non-Current

Federal .. ..ot i 32,526 10,326 —_

GlALE & v et et et e 2,491 1,331 —
Total other nON-CUTTENT . .. ... ..o v 35,017 11,657 —
Total provision for (benefit from) income taxes ... § (3,276) $(34,057)  $(17,494)

Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Other
non-current is predominately related to equity based compensation

A reconciliation of tax benefit computed at the statutory federal tax rate on income (loss) from.
operations before income taxes to the actual income tax expense is approximately as follows (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Federal tax provision computed at 35% in 2007 and 2006, 34% in

00 S g $ 5804 § 13,877 § 16,804
State tax provision, net of federal tax provision ................. 473 1,908 1,212
Change in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets allocated to

taX EXPEMSES . . . oo v v v e en . e 795 (45,662) (36,934)
General business credits . ... ... . (12,849)  (4,358) —
ISO stock OpLiON EXPENSE . .. oot v v v i e e 1,234 1,77 —
Change in rate of deferred tax assets . . ........ ... 903 (1,402) —
Nondeductible expenses ... ............. e 364 (191) 1,424

Total income tax (benefit} ................ R $ (3,276) $(34,057) $(17,494)

Deferred tax assets reflect the net effect of net operating loss carryforwards and the temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
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the amounts used for income tax purposes. We adopted the tax law approach for determining the order
in which deductions, carryforwards and business credits are realized. Significant components of our net
deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are approximately as follows

{in thousands):

December 31,

2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards ... ... ... ... ... .. . $ 2296 $ 866
General business Credits . . ... oot e e e e 69,771 46,355
Impairment losses on invesStMents . .. .. ... . it e e 2,543 3,279
Realized losses on marketable investments. . ... ............. ... .c...... 4,635 2,286
License fees capitalized for tax purposes . . ........ ... ... ... .. .. ..... 11,896 8,881
Nonqualified stock option. . . .. ... .. .. ... ... e, 20,446 8,210
OhEr .. e e 7,876 6,454
Total deferred 1ax ass@IS . . ..o i e 118,463 76,331
Deferred tax liabilities:
Furniture and equipment principally due to differences in depreciation . ... ... (2,691) (1,579)
Total deferred tax liabilities . . ... ... ... ... .. ... (2,691) (1,579)
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance .. ...................... 116,772 74,752
Valuation allowance . ... ..................... e e (7.548)  (6,754)
Net deferred tax asset . . ... ... . i e, $109,224  $67,998

In assessing the valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of our net deferred tax assets are realizable, We review our
deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis to determine if a valuation allowance is required, primarily
based on our estimates of future taxable income. Changes in the valuation allowance based on the
assessment could result in the period of change in the recording of tax expense if the valuation
allowance is increased or the recording of either a tax benefit or an increase to additional
paid-in-capital if the valuation allowance is decreased. The change in the valuation allowance during
the year ended December 31, 2007, related to losses in foreign subsidiaries and the impairment of cur
investment in ViRexx that are not deemed to be realizable.

At December 31, 2007, we had for federal income tax purposes net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $48.7 million and business tax credit carryforwards of approximately $69.8 million which
expire at various dates from 2012 through 2025. As a result of certain realization requirements of
SFAS 123(R), the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above does not include certain
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 that arose directly from tax deductions related to
equity compensation in excess of compensation recognized for financia! reporting. Additional paid-in
capital will be increased by approximately $48.7 million if such deferred tax assets are ultimately
realized. We have been and may continue to be subject to federal alternative minimum tax and state
income taxes, even though we have existing net operating loss and credit carryforwards.

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code limits the utilization of net operating losses when
ownership changes occur as defined by that section. We have reviewed our ownership change positions
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pursuant to Section 382 through December 31, 2006 and have determined that ownership changes
occurred in December 1997, June 1999, and November 2004 and, as a result, the utilization of certain
of our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited. However; we do not expect any significant
portion of our net operating loss carryforwards or business tax credits to expire unused. We are
currently reviewing our stock trading history for the year ended December 31, 2007 to ascertain if any
ownership changes pursuant to Section 382 have occurred.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of the total amounts of unrecognized tax
benefit for the year is as follows (in thousands): :

Unrecognized tax benefit at January 1,2007.............. e -8 —
Gross increases—tax positions in priorperiod .. ... ..o i . 2,989 .
Gross decreases—tax positions in prior period. . .. ... e —
Gross increases—tax positions in the current period ........... e —
Seftlements . . ... ..ottt e -
Lapse of statute of limitations . ......... ... i —_

Unrecognized tax benefit at December 31,2007 . ........... e - $2,989 -

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2007 are $1.8 million of tax
benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. We are unaware of any positions for
which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly
increase or decrease within the next 12 months.

We recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as income tax
expense. ’ '

We are subject to federal and state taxation in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions.
Our tax years for 2004, 2005, and 2006 are subject to examination by the state tax authorities and all of
our federal tax years are subject to examination as a result of none of our business credits being
utilized. We believe that appropriate provisions for all outstanding items have been made for all
jurisdictions and for all open years.

9. Notes Payable
Convertible Senior Notes

On October 30, 2006, we issued $250.0 miilion of 0.50% Convertible Senior Notes due in
October 2011 (Convertible Notes). In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, we also
entered into a call spread option (See Note 7 in the Consolidated Financial Statements). The
Convertible Notes were issued at par value and pay interest in cash semi-annually in arrears on
April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning on April 15, 2007. The Convertible Notes are
unsecured unsubordinated obligations and rank equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated
indebtedness. The Convertible Notes have an initial conversion price of §75.2257 per share. The
Convertible Notes may only be converted: (i) any time after July 15, 2011; (ii) during any calendar
guarter commencing after the date of original issuance of the Convertible Notes, if the closing sale
price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days
ending on the last trading day of the calendar quarter preceding the quarter in which the conversion
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occurs is more than 120% of the conversion price of the Convertible Notes in effect on that last
trading day; (iii) during the ten consecutive trading-day period following any five consecutive
trading-day period in which the trading price for the Convertible Notes for each such trading day was
less than 95% of the closing sale price of our common stock on such date multiplied by the then -
current conversion rate; or {iv) if specified significant distributions to holders of our common stock are
made, specified corporate transactions occur, or our common stock ceases to be approved for listing on
The NASDAQ Global Select Market and is not listed for trading on another U.S. national or regional
securities exchange.

As of December 31, 2007 our common stock price was greater than 120% of the 75.2257 per share
conversion price for more than 20 days prior to and including the 30 consecutive trading days ending
December-31, 2007. As a result, the holders of our Convertible Notes have the right to convert their
notes. As this conversion right is outside of our control, the Convertible Notes are now classified as
short-term debt on our consolidated balance sheet. Upon conversion, a holder will receive: (i) cash
equal to the lesser of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes or the conversion value; and (i) to
the extent the conversion value exceeds the principal amount of the Convertible Notes, shares of our
common stock. In addition, upon a change in control, as defined in the indenture under which the
Convertible Notes were issued, the bondholders may require us to purchase all or a portion of their
Convertible Notes for 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, plus
additional shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2007, the fair market value of the
$250.0 million Convertible Notes outstanding was approximately $460.8 million, based on their quoted
market price.

For the years ended, December 31, 2007 and 2006, we incurred. interest expense of approximately
$2.8 million and $482,000, respectively. We capitalized interest of $689,000 for year ended _
December 31, 2007 related to the COIlSt['UCthﬂ of our Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, facmty
which we began constructing in 2007

19. Commitments and Continge'ncigs
Laboratory Operating Lease

In June 2004, we entered into a synthetic operating lease and related agreements with Wachovia
Development Corporation and its affiliates (Wachovia) to fund the construction of a laboratory facility
in Silver Spring, Maryland. Under these agreements, Wachovia funded $32.0 million towards the
construction of the laboratory facility on land owned by us. Construction commenced in 2004 and was
completed in May 2006. Following construction, Wachovia leased the laboratory facility to us with a
term ending in May 2011. Under the 99-year ‘ground lease, Wachovia paid fair value rent to us for use
of the land during the construction phase-and will pay fair value rent after the laboratory lease is
terminated. During the term of the laboratory Iease Wachovia will pay-$81 per year to us for use of the
land.

We pledged a portion of our marketable investments as collateral to secure our lease obligations.
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, approximately $39.2 million and $39.0 million, respectively, of
marketable investments and cash were pledged as collateral and are reported as restricted marketable
investments and cash in our consolidated balance sheet.
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Upon termination of the lease, we will have the option of renewing the lease (subject to approval
of both parties), purchasing the laboratory at a price approximately equal to the funded construction
cost, or selling the facility and repaying Wachovia the cost of its construction. We hdve guaranteed that
if the laboratory is sold, Wachovia will receive at least 86% of the amount it funded toward '
construction. The maximum potential amount of this guarantee is,approximately $27.5 million, .
equivalent to 86% of the total construction costs of $32.0 million. We have reported the estimated fair
value of this guarantee as a non-current asset (prepaid rent) and non-current liability (other liability).
At December 31, 2007, the liability and the corresponding asset are approximately $566,000, net of
accumulated amortization. o |

The laboratory lease and other agreements require, among other things, that we maintain a
consolidated net worth of at least $70.0 miltion. The agreements contain other covenants and
conditions with which we must comply throughout the lease period and upon termination of the lease.
If we are unable to comply with these covenants and conditions, if the noncompliance went uncured,
and if the parties could not agree otherwise, the agreements could terminate. A termination of these
agreements could result in the loss of our liquid collateral, among other, consequences. :

Wachovia receives monthly payments from us, generally based on applying the 30-day LIBOR rate
plus approximately 55 basis points to the amount funded by Wachovia towards the construction of the
laboratory. This monthly payment commenced when the laboratory construction was completed in May
2006 and will continue until the termination of the lease in May 2011, The monthly payment from May
2006 through December 2007 is recorded as rent expense. . - . . _— L

Upon completion of our laboratory facility in May 2006, Wachavia advanced to us approximately
$5.2 million, which constituted the remaining funds available for constriction due to the lengthy
process involved in finalizing construction costs. At Decembér 31, 2007, there were no remaining
construction advances. ' - ' :

Based on construction costs of approximately $32.0 million and the then current effective rate of
approximately 5.2% (equivalent to the current 30-day LIBOR rate plus approximately 55 basis points at
December 31, 2007), the monthly payments to be made to Wachovia are approximately $1.7 million
annually. In addition, Wachovia paid us ground rent of approximately $307,000 in June 2004 covering
the construction period through May 2006. This amount is being recognized as income ratably through
May 2011. - \ ‘ Coo :

We intend to enter into a construction agreement that generally ‘obligates us to completé
construction on a new combination laboratory and office building that will coninect to our existing
Silver Spring, Maryland, laboratory facility. Upon execution of an amendment to our leasing
agreements with Wachovia permitting us to attach the new facility to the existing Silver Spring
laboratory facility, the estimated fair value of the building and the corresponding financing obligation to
Wachovia will be classified as a component of our Property, Plant and Equipment and as a'lease
obligation in our consolidated balance sheet. The existing Silver Spring laboratory facility will not be
considered a standalone structure, which is a significant factor contributing to our current off balance
sheet accounting of it. We will continue to make lease payments to Wachovia as specified in the
agreement; however, those payments will be recorded as interest expense and a reduction to the lease
obligation instead of as an operating lease payment.
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Other Operanng Leases : L . ‘ . o :

We lease various offlce and productlon space generally under non-cancelable agreements with
terms expiring through 2013, We also lease automobiles for certam employees.

Approxnmate minimum annual rent payments to be paid under these non-cancelable operatmg
leases are as follows (in thousands) . : ’

. Years ending December 31,

2008. ..o $2,981
2009, ..t 2,785
2010, . . 2,322
20100 e 914 ‘
2012, e 164

These minimum annual rent payments shown above include estimated amounts for the synthetic
operating lease described above and are based on LIBOR rates in effect at December 31, 2007. Total
rent expense was approximately $3.3 million, $2.7 million and $1.4 million for the years ended |
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

+
3

11. Comprehenswe Income (Loss)

i

SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehenswe Income, establlshes standards for the reportmg and display
of comprehensive income (loss) and its components. SFAS No. 130 requires, among other things, that
unrealized gains and losses on available- for-sale securities and foreign currency translation adjustments
be included in other comprehensive income (loss) The following statement presents comprehensive '
income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

. Years ended December 31,

. o . ; . 2007 2006 2005
- Net income . .o ... .. E R S ..o $19.859 873,965 $65,016
Other comprehénsive income: R - co - :
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) adjustments . 285 336 (220)
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities 214y (2,453) 1,136
Realized (loss) on available-for-sale securities .. ... . (678) - _
Unrecogmzed prior period pension service cost, net
oftax of S118 .. .. ... ... .. ... ... . L © o (587) — —
Unrecogmzed actuarial pensnon gain (loss}, ‘net of B
BAX . o vt e e . 35 — —

Comprehensive income . ... .......... .. ... ..., $18,700 $71,348 $65,932

12. Marketable Investments
Held-to-matunty investments

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, a portion of our investments consisted of federally-sponsored and
corporate debt securities that are classified as held-to-maturity investments. The market value of these
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investments fluctuates with changes in current market interest rates. In general, as rates increase, the
market value of a.debt investment would be expected to decrease. Likewise, as rates decrease, the
market value of a debt investment would be expected to increase. To minimize such market risk, we
hold such instruments to maturity at which time these instruments will be redeemed at their stated or
face value. The amortized cost approximates fair value of these investments at December 31, 2007 and
2006. Certain of these marketable investments have been pledged as collateral to Wachovia
Development Corporation under the laboratory lease described in Note 10 in the Consolidated
Financial Statements, and are classified as restricted marketable investments and cash on the
consolidated balance sheet. '

Held-to-maturity marketable investments were as follows (in thousands): .

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains | Losses Value
Government sponsored entities at December 31, 2007 ... § 66,905 $103  $(214) $ 66,794
Corporate notes and bonds at December 31, 2007 ... ... 74,082 - 38 (15) 74,105
Total .. e e e $140,987 $141 $(229)  $140,899
Reported as
Current marketable securities. . . ......... ... ..., $ 96,223
Noncurrent marketable securities . . . ... P A 44,764 Lo
' $140,987
Gross °°  Gross
Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
t A Cost - Gains + Losses Value
Government sponsored entities at December 31, 2006 ... $ 90,572 $1 $(1,894) - § 88,679
Corporate notes and bonds at December 31, 2006 ... ... 71,508 — (82) 71,426
Total .. ... e e $162,080 $_r1 $(1,976) $160,105
Reported as
Current marketable securities. . ... .......... ... .. $ 90,382
Noncurrent marketable securities , . ............... 71,698
' $162,080
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The following table summarizes our investments’ gross unrealized losses, fair value and the length

of time that individual securities have been in a contmuous unrealized loss position as of December 31,
2007 and 2006 (in thousands)

December 31,

2007 2006
Gross L . Gross
Fair Unrealized Unrealized
Value Loss Fair Value Loss
Government sponsored: )
Less thanone year .. ......... e 80— 8 —  $25151 § (46)
Greater thanone year ............ 35,765 (214) 63,028 (1,847)

35765  (214) 88,179  (1,893)

Corporate notes;

Lessthanoneyear............... 17,197 i(15) 70,425 § (83)
Greater thanoneyear ............ _ — — —

17,197 (15) 70,425 (83)
TOtal . . st §52.962  $(229) $158,604  $(1976)

The unrealized losses at December 31, 2007 and 2006, on the corporate and federally-sponsored
securities were caused by market interest rate fluctuations. We have the ability and intent to hold these

investments until a recovery of fair value or maturlty As a result, we do not consider these investments
1o be other-than-temporarlly impaired.

The following table summarizes maturities of our held-to-maturity marketable investment securities
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

Cost Value Cost Value
Less than one year. . . .. R, $ 96,223 § 96,209 §$ 90,382 $ 90,275
Dueinonetotwoyears............ 24,830 24,747 28,305 27,994
Due in three to five years........... 19,934 19,943 33393 32,324
Due afterfiveyears ... .. .......... — —_ 10,000 9,512
Total ... .. i $140,987 $140,899 $162,080 $160,105

Our gross proceeds realized from maturities, realized gains and realized losses from marketable
investments are as foliows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Grossproceeds .. ...t e $260,888 $32,360 $200
Realized gains . ........... .. ... ... ., $ - 5 — §—
Realized losses. . . ...........o i, $ - % — $—-
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Available-for-sale investments

At December 31, 2007, a portion of our investments consisted of auction rate debt securities issued
by state and local government sponsored agencies. While these securities have long term maturities,
their interest rates are reset approximately every 7-28 days through an auction process. As a result, the
interest income from these securities is subject to market risk since the rate is adjusted to
accommodate market conditions on each reset date. However, since the interest rates are reflective of
current market conditions, the fair value of these securities typically does not fluctuate from par or
cost. ' ' :

At February 28, 2008, we held approximately $35.4 million of investments in municipal notes,
classified as current assets, with an auction reset feature (“auction rate securities”). The underlying
assets of these investments are generally student loans which are substantially backed by the federal
government. In February 2008 auctions failed for $11.3 million of our auction rate securities and there
is no assurance that currently successful auctions on the other auction rate securities in our investment
portfolic will continue to succeed. As a result, our ability to liquidate and fully recover the carrying
value of our investments in the near term may be limited. An auction failure means that the parties” -
wishing to sell securities could not. All of our auction rate securities, including those subject to the
failure, are currently rated AAA, the highest rating, by a rating agency. If the issuers are unable to
successfully close future auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate, we may in the future be required
to record an impairment charge on these investments. We believe we will be able to liquidate our
investments without significant losses within the next year, and we currently believe these securities are
not significantly impaired, primarily.due to the government guarantee of the underlying securities,
however, it could take until the final maturity of the underlying notes (up to 30 years) to realize our
investments’ recorded value. Based on our expected operating cash flows, and our other sources of
cash, we do not anticipate the potential lack of liquidity of these investments to affect our ability to
execute our current business plan or the carrying value of these investments. '

At

Available-for-sale investments were as follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses ) Value
Municipal notes at December 31,2007 . .......... e $54,000 $— $— $54,000
Municipal notes at December 31,2006 .. ..........,.. $46300 $— $— $46,300

The following table summarizes maturities of our available'for-sale investment securities at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands): = - . : ' o

B December 31; 2007 December 31, 2006
, Amortized Fair .,  Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Less thanoneyear ............. .8 — § — 8 — $ -
Due in one to two years . ... .. e . — — - =
Due in three to five years . ... ......... = - - o=
Due after five years ....... e 54,000 54,000 46,300 46,300
Total ....\..... U e §54000 $54000 $46300 $46300 0
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Our gross proceeds realized from maturities, realized gains and realized losses from our .
available-for-sale investments are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
. Gross proceeds .. ............. R $58,050 $86,400 $12,700
Realized gains . .. ........ P 5 — % - 85 —
Realized losses .. ... ... ... .. coieniinarnn... $ — 5 — 5 —

Equity Holdings

Our equity-holdings consist of our investment in ViRexx Medical Corp. (formerly AltaRex Medical
Corp.) and Twin Butte Energy Ltd (Twin Butte). Both of these investments were acquired in
connection with the licensing agreements for the rights to ViRexx’s monoclonal antibody of whlqh
OvaRex was. the principle antibody. Both companies are publicly traded and our investment is
accounted for as an available-for-sale securlty Available-for-sale securities are reported at their fair

values, based on quoted market prices, in the balance sheet. Changes in their fair values are reported
as other comprehensive income or loss. Declines in values that are considered other-than-temporary are
reported as losses in the statement of revenue. We own approximately 7% of ViRexx and less than 1%
of Twin Butte. . o

In December 2007, based on the announcement of the failure of the IMPACT I and II Phase III
trials of OvaRex in advanced ovarian cancer, the stock price of ViRexx declined We considered this
decline to be an other-than-temporary impairment of approximately $1.9 million. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, the investment in ViRexx’s common stock was reported at its fair market value of ‘
approximately $505,000 and $3.1 million, respectively. The unreahzed gain at December 31, 2007 and
2006, was approximately none and $678,000, respectively.

13, Investments in Affiliates
Northem Therapeuttcs, Inc. .

In December 2000, Northern Therapeutics, Inc. (Northern), was formed in conjunction with the
inventor of a new form of autologous (meanmg gene transfer using materials derived from a patient’s
own body and not from foreign materials such as viruses) gene therapy for the treatment of pulmonary
arterial hypertension and other diseases. The purpose of Northern was to develop the gene therapy and
also to distribute Remoduiin and other of our products in Canada. Lung Rx, Inc. (Lung Rx) received
approximately 59% of the initial outstanding common stock of Northern in exchange for $5.0 million in
cash. In January 2002, Northern purchased and retired shares of one of the initial founders. This
increased Lung Rx’s ownership of Ngrthern to approximately 68%.

Northem is incorporated as a Canadian Controlled Private Corporation. Lung Rx may appoint
only two of the company’s seven board seats. Substantially all important decisions require unanimous
board votes in favor of the proposal. The decisions requiring unanimous board votes include decisions
related to personnel selection and compensation and establishment of operating and capital budgets.
Therefore, the minority. owners of Northern have substantive participating rights as discussed in EITF
No. 96-16, Investors’ Accounting for an Investee when the Investor has a Majority of the Voting Interest but
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the Minority Shareholder or Shareholders Have Certain Approval or Veto Rights. As a result of these
substantive participating rights, Lung Rx does not control Northern and consolidation, therefore, is
prohibited. The equity method of accounting is used to account for Lung Rx’s investment in Northern.
At December 31, 2007, Lung Rx’s investment in Northern was reported at approximately $1.2 million,
which is comprised of $5.0 million paid in cash, net of Lung Rx’s share of Northern’s tosses since its
formation. Lung Rx’s equity in the underlying net assets was approximately $939,000 at December 31,
2007. The difference between Lung Rx’s investment in Nosthern and its equity in the underlying net -
assets is accounted for as goodwill. :

Summarized financial information for Northern is as follows (in thousands):

As of and For the Years
ended December 31,

2007 2606 2005
TOLAl ASSELS + + v v o v e e e e e e e $1,404 $1,576 § 1,883
Total Habilities . . ...t oo e e e $ 31 $ 111 $ 206
TOtal TEVEIUES . « « v v et eee i a e $ 485 $1,434 § 1,497
NEELOSS © .o vve s eet e ana e $ (469) $ (718) $(1,102)

In October 2006, Northern agreed to grant a license to us to develop and commercialize its gene
therapy technology for PAH in the United States. The license will require us to make incremental
payments totaling $1.5 million to Northern upon achieving certain milestones in increments during and
upon completion of the Phase I trial in March 2006. After successful completion’ of the Phase I trial,
we will assume the development program and related costs for the United States. For the year ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, we have incurred approximately $150,000 and $500,000, respectively, in
expense to Northern under the license agreement. In anticipation of this agreement, we and Northern
terminated the Remodulin distribution agreement for Canada. We now distribute Remodulin directly in
Canada through the management of our Canadian wholly-owned subsidiary, Unither Biotech Inc.

14. Employees’ Retirement Plan

Effective January 1, 1999, we adopted the United Therapeutics Corporation Employees’
Retirement Plan (the Plan), a salary reduction 401(k) Plan. Employees employed on or after July 15,
1999 are eligible to participate in the Plan. The Plan provides for annual discretionary employer
contributions. Employees may also contribute to the Plan at their discretion subject to statutory
limitations. Beginning January 1, 2004, we began matching qualifying employce contributions at a rate
of 20%, subject to certain limitations. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we
contributed and expensed $375,000, $295,000 and $223,000, respectively, to the plan as a result of this
matching. . : '

15. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In May 2006, the Compensation Committee approved the United Therapeutics Corporation
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the SERP). The SERP is administered by the Compensation
Committee. Only a member of a “select group of management or highty compensated employees” .
within the meaning of ERISA section 201(2) may be eligible to participate in the, SERP. If a participant
terminates employment with us for any reason prior to age 60, no benefit will be earned. Our Chief
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Executive Officer (CEO), three other executive officers and three other officers have been designated
as eligible to participate in the SERP. Each of these participants, who may retire at the age of 60, is
eligible to receive monthly payments equal to the monthly average of the total gross base salary
received by the participant over his or her last 36 months of active employment (the Final Average
Compensation), reduced by the participant’s Social Security benefit (determined as provided under the
SERP), for the remainder of the participant’s life (the aggregate amount of such payments, the Normal
Retirement Benefit), commencing on the first day of the sixth month after retirement. The participant
may elect to receive a lump sum distribution equal to the present value of payments that he or she
would be expected to receive upon retirement under the calculation noted. '

Future SERP participants will become eligible upon recommendation by the CEQ and
confirmation by the Compensation Committee. Eligibility commences on the first day of the month
following Compensation Committee approval. If Compensation Committee approval occurs on the first
day of the month, eligibility commences immediately. Upon retirement after the age of 60, such
participants will be eligible to receive a Normal Retirement Benefit, made in monthly payments equal
to (1) the participant’s Final Average Compensation, reduced by the participant’s Social Security
benefit (determined as provided under the SERP), multiplied by (2) a fraction (no greater than one),
made up of a numerator equal to the participant’s years of service at United Therapeutics and a
denominator of 15. This benefit will run for the remainder of the participant’s life (unless the
participant elects to receive a lump sum payment), commencing on the first day of the sixth month of
retirement. In the event that a participant’s employment ceases due to disability or death prior to the
age of 60 or retircment if older than 60, a participant or the participant’s designated beneficiary will be
entitled to a Disability Retirement Benefit. Such benefit would be equal to a percentage of the
participant’s anticipated Normal Retirement Benefit under the SERP. This benefit would still
commence on the first day of the sixth monih after cessation of employment due to death or disability.
Should a SERP participant die after the program commences, his or her designated beneficiary will
continue to receive a percentage of the SERP benefit for the remainder of what would have been the
participant’s years of eligibility. The Compensation Committee expects the number of participants to
remain small during the life of this program.

In the event of a change in control of us, by acquisition, merger, hostile takeover or for any other
reason whatsoever which also qualifies as a “change in the ownership or effective control of the
corporation, or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the corporation” under
Internal Revenue Code section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) (Change in Control), a participant who is actively
employed on the date of the Change in Control will be entitled to a lump sum payment equal to the
actuarial equivalent present value of a monthly single life annuity equal to (1) the participant’s Final
Average Compensation, reduced by the participant’s estimated future Social Security benefit
(determined as provided under the SERP), multiplied by (2) a fraction (no greater than one) made up
of a numerator equal to the participant’s years of service at United Therapeutics and a denominator of
15, to be paid as soon as administratively practicable following the Change in Control. In the event that
a participant is entitled to a Normal Retirement Benefit or Disability Retirement Benefit at the time of
a Change in Control, all such payments (or any remaining payments, with respect to any participant
who is receiving payments under the SERP at the time of the Change in Control) will be made in a
lump sum as soon as administratively practicable following such Change in Control (without regard to
whether the participant otherwise is in pay status at the time of the Change in Control).
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Participants in the SERP will be prohibited from competing with us or soliciting our employees for
a period of twelve months following their termination of employment (or, if earlier, upon attainment of
age 65). Violation of this covenant will result in the forfeiture of all benefits under the SERP.

Rabbi Trust ' ' o .

On December 28, 2007, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (the
Compensation Committee) adopted the United Therapeutics Corporation Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Document (the Rabbi Trust Document), providing for the establishment
of a trust (the Rabbi Trust), the assets of which will be contributed by us and used to pay benefits
under the SERP, in order to provide more certainty around our obligation to pay beneflts to SERP
participants, including upon a change in control of the Company

The Rabbi Trust Document was entered into on December 28, 2007, between us and Wilmington
Trust Company, which will serve as trustee of the Rabbi Trust. The Rabbi Trust is irrevecable, and
SERP participants will have no preferred claim on, nor any beneficial ownership interest in, any assets
of the Rabbi Trust. We made an initial investment to the Rabbi Trust of $5.0 million. This investment is
classified as restricted marketable investments and cash on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2007.

-

Generally, additional assets to the Rabbi Trust may be contributed by us at our sole discretion.
However, pursuant to the terms of the Rabbi Trust Document, within five days’following the
occurrence of a Potential Change in Control (as defined below), or if earlier, at least five days prior to
the occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined below), we will be obligated to make an irrevocable
contribution to the Rabbi Trust in an amount sufficient to pay each SERP participant or beneficiary the
benefits to which they would be entitled pursuant to the terms of the SERP on the date on which the
Change in Control occurred. o )

For purposes of the Rabbi Trust Document, a “Potential Change in Control” will be deemed to
have occurred if one of the following events has occurred: (A) we enter into an agreement, the
consummation of which would result in the occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined below);

(B) we or any person publicly announces an intention to take or to consider taking actions which, if
consummated, would constitute a Change in Control; or (C) the Board of Directors adopts a resolution
to the effect that, for purposes of the Rabbi Trust Document, a Potential Change in Control has
occurred.

For the purpose of the Rabbi Trust Document, “Change in Control” means any transfer in control
of the Company by acqmsmon merger, hostile takeover or for any other reason whatsoever which also
qualifies as a “change in the ownership or effective control of the corporation, or in the ownership of a
substantial portion of the assets of the corporation” under Internal Revenue Code
section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v).

The Rabbi Trust will not terminate until the date on which SERP participants or their beneficiaries
are no longer entitled to benefits pursuant to the terms of the SERP.

We account for the SERP in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers Accounting for Pensions
(SFAS 87) and SFAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans (SFAS 158), and related standards and interpretations. In accordance with SFAS 87, a material
change in the plan, such as adding a participant which occurred in August 2006, requires a
remeasurement of the Plan. Expenses related to the SERP are reported in selling, general and
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administrative and research and development expenses in the accompanymg consolldated statements of

operations.

The table below summarizes the changes in projected benefit obligations for the years ended

December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands)

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period ......... ...
Service cost ... ... . ..., P
Interest COSt ... vttt it et e
© Assumption change . ...V, .. L i S
" Planamendment ... .../ ..t e, A S
+ Actuarial logs/ (Gain). e e e

Prolected benefxt obhgatlon atendofperiod................. _

The following table provides the weighted average assumptions used:

¢t '
Weighted-Average Assumptions

-Discount Rate .. ................... . S

i

Years ended
December 31,
2007 2006
$2,508 §& —
2,449 1,521
149 31
(327) 203
—_ 792
30 51
$4,899  $2,598
6.15% 5.7%
... 5.00%75.00%

‘The components of net periodic beneﬁt expense for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

were as follows (in thousands)

Service €oSt . . ...t e P

Interest cost . .............cvuiinin.. R o
Net prior service cost amortization . . .. ....................

Net periodic benefit expense .......... ... ... ... ... ..

‘

Year Ended
December 31,
" 2007 2006
$2,449 §1,521
149 31
59 20
$2,657 $1,572

= *

The following schedules preseﬁt the changes in'the components of the net prior service cost that *
compose the accumulated other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2007 which
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offsets the additional liability required to reflect the funded status of the defined benefit pension plan
(in thousands): .

“Year Ended December 31, 2007

Before- Tax
Tax (Expense)  Net-of-Tax
Amounts or Benefit  Amount

Net prior service cost at January-1, 2007 ........ S $(136) $636

Amortization of prior service cost included as pension
-1 S (59). (25) (84)
Net prior service cost at December 31, 2007 . ...... $713 $(161) $552

As of December 31, 2007, approximately $587,000 and $35,000 of prior period service costs and
acturial gains, respectively, were recorded in other comprehensive loss, net tax. Net tax benefits at
December 31, 2007 of $118,000 are reflected as a deferred tax asset on our consolidated balance sheets.

The amount of accumulated other comprehensive loss consisting of net prior service cost that is
expected to be recognized as pension cost in 2008 is approximately $60,000.

Projected benefit obligations are based on actuarial assumptions including future increases in
compensation. Accumulated benefit obligations are based on actuarial assumptions but do not include
possible future increases in compensation. The accumulated benefit obligation for the SERP was
approximately $3.0 million and approximately $1.4 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Since there are no plan assets, no interest on assets is assumed earned. With the addition of a
participant unrecognized prior service cost of approximately is created which will be amortized over the
next 12 years, the average expected future service period of all the plan participants. In addition, the
unrealized loss of will be amortized as an expense only when the cumulative unrecognized losses exceed
10% of projected benefit obligations. Benefit payments are not expected to be paid over the next five
years since no current participants will reach the age of 60 within this time period. -

16. Relocation and Project Termination Costs

We have constructed a laboratory facility adjacent to our headquarters in Silver Spring, Maryland,
to replace our former laboratory facility in Chicago, [llinois. Certain Chicago-based employees
relocated to the new facility in 2006 and 2007. Approximately $289,000 and $221,000 were incurred
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, in connection with
relocating these employees. Costs associated with these transfers were reported in the period in which
the employees actually move and incur the relocation costs. :

Additionally, we had agreed to pay bonuses to a small number of employees in Chicago to remain
employed there until the laboratory closed in the middle of 2007. Such retention bonuses were accrued
ratably over the period from the date agreement was reached with employees in October 2005 to the
date of payment in May 2007. As of December 31, 2006, approximately $141,000 was accrued for these
bonuses with a total of $179,000 paid in April 2007. All retention bonuses were classified in selling,
general and administrative expenses. Project termination costs were classified as research and
development and selling, general and administrative expense.
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In December 2007, we announced the completion of our IMPACT T and I trials of OvaRex.
Analysis of the results demonstrated that the studies failed to reach statistical significance. As such, we
decided to terminate our license agreement with AltaRex and to cease further development of the
entire platform of antibodies licensed thereunder. When the project termination plans were finalized,
we incurred expenses of approximately $533,000, primarily consisting of the employee severance costs,
termination benefits and contract exit costs. The employee severance costs and termination benefits will
be paid out starting in February 2008, Additional costs relating to the project termination will be
expensed as incurred. All project termination costs are classified as research and development expense.

The following table provides a reconciliation of accrued termination beneflts for the year ended
December 31, 2007 (in thousands): ‘

Balance at December 31 2006 ............ R N E |

CAdd: o E - oo
Severance benefits . . ... ............. .. 562

Less: . .. '
Payments . ......... ... ... c.ou... e (179)

Balance at December 31, 2007 .0 ... ... ... o § 524

A i L : 1

17. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consnsted of the following (in thousands)

December 31,

S . 2007 2006

" Professional fees ............... SR e L% 362 % 230
Research rélated ....... .. ......,...L........ e 1,617 2,293 ‘
Payroll related . ............... .. L .. 5081 3,853
Royaltiesand rebates .. ......... ... ... ... .. . ... 8,481 6,382
Contracted SEIVICES . . o . ot vttt A 192 305
Otherr. ... 0 i s e e i e e 1,309 -2,202

Total ... ... e L L $17,942  $15,265

18. Segment Informatmn

Il

We have two reportable business segments. The pharmaceutical segment includes all activities
associated with the research, development, manufacture, and commercialization of therapeutic products.
The telemedicine segment includes all activitics associated with the research, design, and delivery of
patlent monitoring services. The telemedicine segment is managcd separately because diagnostic
services require different technology and marketing strategies.
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Segment information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007, was as follows (in
thousands):

Consolidated
. Pharmaceutical  Telemedicine Totals

Revenues from external customers. .. .......ccovvvvevnn $203,218 $ 7,725 $210,943
Net income (losses) .............. ... 16,540 43 16,583
Interest iNCOME . . .. .. it ittt i n e 13,595 7 13,602
INtErest EXPENSe . . ..o oo vt ittt it e (2,165} (10} (2,175)
Depreciation and amortization ....................... (3,037) (390} (3,427)
Equity loss in affiliate . . ........ ... .. ... e (321) — (321)
Total investments in equity method investees . ............ 1,247 - 1,247
Expenditures for long-lived assets . .................... (37,601) (1,057) (38,658)
Goodwill, met . . ... . e 1,287 6,178 7,465
TOtal ASSELIS .« o vt ittt et e e 555,036 31,982 587,018

Segment information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, was as follows (in
thousands):

Consolidated
Pharmaceutical  Telemedicine Totals

Revenues from external Customers. .. ... ovvv e e nnn. $153,035 $ 6,597 $159,632
Net income (losses) . .........o v 74,438 (473) 73,965.
Interest iNCOME . . . .t i ittt ittt e e et te e rae i nen 10,679 21 10,700
Interest eXpense . . ... ... ... ... (482) — (482)
Income tax benefit ... ...... .. e 34,057 — . 34,057
Depreciation and amortization ....................... (2,273) (440) (2,713)
Equity loss in affiliate . .. ........ ... ... C(491) — (491)
Total investments in equity method investees . ............ 1,568 — 1,568
Expenditures for long-lived assets ..................... (15,170) (464) (15,634)
Goodwill, net . .. ... .. e 1,287 6,178 7,465
Total @SSEES . . ittt i e e e e e 466,493 12,057 478,550
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Segment information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005, was as follows (in
thousands):

Consolidated
Pharmaceutical  Telemedicine Totals

Revenues from external CustOmers. .. ...........ouvvun. $110,142 $5,773 $115915
Net income (losses) .......... ... ... ... .. ... ... 05,672 (656) 65,016
Interest InCOmMe . .. ... ... ... . .. .t iiinnnnnnnn. 5,344 15 5,359
Interest eXpense . . ....... . ... . i (29) — (29)
Income tax benefit . . ...... .. ... .. . .. . .. ... 17,494 — 17,494
Depreciation and amortization .................... .., (1,696) (838) (2,534)
Equity loss in affiliate . . .. ...... ... ... ... . ... ... ... (754) — {754)
Total investments in equity method investees ............. 2,059 - 2,059
Expenditures for long-lived assets . .................... (5,294) (823) {6,117)
Goodwill, net . ... ... .. 1,287 6,178 7,465
Total assets . . .o e e, 281,613 9,800 291,413

The segment information shown above equals the consolidated totals when combined. These
consolidated totals equal the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements without further
reconciliation for those categories which are reported in the consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies in Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. There are
no inter-segment transactions. S

19. Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fuair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS No. 159 permits an
entity to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently
required to be measured at fair value. Entities that elect the fair value option will report unrealized
gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this
statement could have on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles,
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
We are currently evalvating the impact the adoption of this statement could have on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. .
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19. Recent Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) S .
Non-Refundable Advance Payments for Research and Development Activities

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Non- Reﬁmdable Advance
Payments for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities (EITF 07-3),
which provides that non-refundable advance payments for future research and development activities
should be deferred and capitalized until the related goods are delivered or the related services are
performed. EITF 07-3 will be for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007 and will be evaluated
on a contract by contract basis. This standard is not expected to have a material impact on our

. consolidated financial statements,

Collaboration Armngements ' .

In December 2007, the FASB ratified EITF Issued No. 07-1 Accountmg for Collaboration
Arrangements Related to the Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property (EITF 07-1),
which provides guidance on how the parties to a collaborative agreement should account for costs
incurred and revenue generated on sales to third parties, how sharing payments pursuant to a
collaboration agreement should be presented in the income statement and certain related disclosure
tequirements. EITE 07-1 will be effective for the Company beginning January 2009 on a retrdspeétive L
basis. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoptlon of EITF 07-1 will have, if any, on our
consolidated financial statements.

Non Controlling Interest m Consolidated Fmanczals‘ Statements

e

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrollmg Interests in Consolzdated
Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB No. 51. SFAS No. 160 requires all entities to report
noncontrolling (minority) interests in subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Its
intention is to eliminate the diversity in practice regarding the accounting for transactions between an
entity and noncontrolling interests. This Statement is effective for fiscal years, and interim perlods
within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohlblted We
are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this statement could have on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), a revised version of SFAS No. 141,
Business Combinations. The revision is intended to simplify existing guidance and converge rulemaking
under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) with international accounting rules. This
statement applies prospectively to business combinations where the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, and may affect
the release of our valuation allowance against prior acquisition intangibles. An entity may not apply it
before that date. The new standard also converges financial reporting under U.S. GAAP with
international accounting rules. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this statement
could have on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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20. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following presents certain quarterly financial information for cach of the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Quarters Ending During 2007
December 31, September 30,  June 30,  March 31,

2007 . 2007 2007 - 2007
Netsales.............. e e oL $59.898 - $59,045 $51,831 $40,169
Grossprofit ....... ... .. ... .. .. . " 52,714 52,213 45,822 35,773
Net income (loss) . ....... ..o 1,986(1) 14,848 5,806 (2,781)
Income (loss) per share—basic . . ............... $ 009 $ 070 § 028 § (0.13)

Income (loss) per share—diluted ............... $ 0.08 $ 066 $ 026 $(0.13)

Quarters Ending During 2006
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,

: . : ' T 2006 2006 2006 2006
Net sales. . . . . e AP o Ce..L... 845826 $40,397  $40,245° $33,164
Gross profit ............ P 41,073 36,243 36,001 29,287
Netincome . .. ..ovvvevnn... P I . 55,508(2) 8,478 7,673 ' 2307
Income per share—basic .................. L. 8 254 “$ 037  $ 033 § 010
Income per share—diluted . . .. ................ $ 242 $ 034 § 030 °$ 009

(1) In the three month period ended December 31, 2007, we recognized approximately $20.3 million in
stock option expense related to the year performance grant of stock options to our Chief Executive
Officer in accordance with her employment contract. - +

(2) In the three month period ended December 31, 2006, we recogmzed approximately $47.7 million
incom¢ tax benefit due to an approximately $45.7 mn]hon reduction in the valuation allowance of
* our deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2006

+
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United Therapeutics Corporation
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005

(in thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable
Balance at  Additions

Beginning ' charged to Balance at

of Year expenses Deductions End of Year
Year ended December 31,2007 ................ ... $1 — $ (1) —
Year ended December 31,2006 .. ..... ... ... ... .. $15 $1 $(15) $1
Year ended December 31,2005 ................... $23 $9 $(17) $15

Reserve for Inventory Obsolescence

Balance at  Additions

Beginning  charged to Balance at

of Year expenses Deductions End of Year
Year ended December 31,2007 ......... ... ... .... $440 $570 $(502) $508
Year ended December 31,2006 . ...... ... ... ... ... $570 $472 $(602) $440
Year ended December 31,2005 .. ... ... ..o . $447 $315 $(192) $570
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE |

.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢)
and 15d-15(¢) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of December 31, 2007. Based on that '
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2007 '

Managenient’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal'éontrol over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended). Our internal control over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. All internal controls over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, have
inherent limitations. As a result of these inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those internal controls determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. . o " .

Our management assessed thie efféctiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Management's
assessment included an evaluation of the design of our internal control over financial reporting and
testing of the operational effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Based on this
assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective. ‘

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation
report on our internal control over financial reporting. The report of Ernst & Young LLP is contained
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Attestation of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting is set forth in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the
caption “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm™ and incorporated herein by
reference.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

73




PART HI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by Item 10 regarding nominees and directors appearing under Election of
Directors in our definitive proxy statement for our 2008 annual,sharecholders meeting (the 2008 Proxy
Statement) is hereby incorporated herein by this reference. Information regarding our executive officers
appears in Part I, Item I of this Form 10-K under the heading Executive Officers of the Registrant.
Information regarding the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee’s financial expert appearing
under Board Meetings and Committees—Audit Committee in our 2008 Proxy Statement is hereby
incorporated herein by this reference.

Information appearing under Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in the 2008
Proxy Statement is hereby incorporated herein by this reference.

We have a written Code of Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer and our principal accounting officer and every other director, officer and
employee of United Therapeutics. The Code of Conduct and Ethics is available on our Internet website
at http:/fwww.unither.com. A copy of the Code of Conduct and Ethics will be provided free of charge by
making a written request and mailing it to our corporate headquarters offices to the attention of Senior
Vice President, Investor Relations. If any amendment to, or a waiver from, a provision of the Code of
Conduct and Ethics that applies to the principal executive officer, principal financial officer angd
principal accounting officer is rnade such information will be posted on our Internet website at
www.unither.com,

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information concerning executive compensation required by Item 11 appears under Compensation
Disclosure and Analysis in our 2008 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated herein by this
reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information regardmg beneficial ownership of our caplta] stock required by Item 12 appears
under Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management in 2008 Proxy Statement and is
hereby incorporated herein by this reference.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table presents information as of December 31, 2007, regarding our securities
authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans:

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance
Number of securities to be under equity compensation

" issued upon exercise of  ° Weighfed average exercise plans (excluding securities
outstanding options price of outstanding options reflected in column (a)
Plan category (a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plan
approved by security
holders.............. 5,457,815 $59.24 6,110,939
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security .
holders.............. 358,064 $20.66 None

Total .. ............. .. 5,815,879 $56.86 6,110,939

We have one equity incentive plan approved by security holders in 1997. In addition, prior to 2005,
we granted options to employees and consultants outside of the plan approved by security holders
(non-plan options). Information regarding the security holder approved plan and the non-plan options
is contained in Note 7 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report. We
do not have any warrants or rights that are outstanding or available for issuance as described in
Regulation S-K Item 201(d). Securities issued pursuant to the non-plan awards were made under
standard agreements generally consistent with the form contained in Exhibits 10.22 and 10.38.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE '

Information concerning related party transactions and director independence required by Item 13
appears under Certain Relationships and Related Transactions Director Independence and Board
Committees in our 2008 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item, concerning the principal accounting fees paid by the Registrant
and the Audit Committee’s pre-approval policies and procedures, is incorporated by reference to the
information under Independent Auditors in our 2008 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated by
reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Our financial statements filed as part of this report on Form 10-K are set forth in the Index
. to Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

(a)('2) The Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is filed as part of this Form 10-K. All

- other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required, or because the
required information is included in the consolidated statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits filed as a part of this Form 10-K:

Exhibit No. ’ Description

it Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-76409).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2

’ of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-76409).

33 _ Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righis of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 18, 2000.

41 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.

4.2 Form of Purchase Agreement dated as of December 22, 1999, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.6 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-93853).

43 Registration, Rights Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2000 by and between the Registrant
and Toray Industries, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 of the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-40598).

4.5 Form ‘of Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 13, 2000 incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 14, 2000.

4.6 Rights Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2000 between Registrant and The Bank of
New York, as Rights Agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of Registrant’s
Form 8-K dated December 18, 2000,

4.7 Indenture, daied October 30, 2006, between Registrant and The Bank of New York, as
trustee {including form of 0.50% Convertible Senior Note due October 15, 2011),
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
October 30, 2006.

48 Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 30, 2006, between Registrant and
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as the initial purchaser, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Qctober 30, 2006.

10.1** Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1 (Registration No. 333-76409).

10.2** Executive Employment Agreement (as amended) dated as of April 2, 1999, between the
Registrant and Martine A. Rothblatt, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-76409).

10.3** Amendment dated December 21, 2000 to the Employment Agreement between the

Registrant and Martine A. Rothblatt, which appears as Exhibit 10.5 to Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002, which exhibit
is incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.4**
10.5*
10.6*
10.7*
10.8*
10.9*
10.10**
10.11

10.12*

10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16

10.17***

10.18**

Employment Agreement dated June 16, 2001 between the Registrant and Paul A. Mahon,
which appears as Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2002, which exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.
Exclusive License Agreement dated as of December 3, 1996, between the Registrant and
an affiliate of Pharmacia & Upjohn Company, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of
the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-76409).
Assignment Agreement dated as of January 31, 1997, between the Registrant and affiliates
of Glaxo Wellcome Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration'No. 333-76409).

Cooperation and Strategic Alliance Agreement dated as of September 3, 1997, between
Registrant and MiniMed Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, (Registration No. 333-76409).

Exclusive License Agreement dated as of September 24, 1998, between the Registrant and
Toray Industries, Inc., incorporated by reference-to Exhibit 10.11 of the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-76409).

Exclusive License Agreement dated as of March 15, 1999, between the Registrant and
Toray Industries, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-76409).

Employment Agreement dated November 29, 2000 between the Registrant and Roger
Jeffs, which appears as Exhibit 10.9 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002, which exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its Directors,-
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-76409). :

Guidelines to Govern the Strategic Activities, Co-Development and Related Actwmes of
the Parties dated as of November 1, 1999, between the Registrant and MiniMed, Inc.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of the Registrant’s Amended Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A (Registration No. 333-93853).

Exclusive License Agreement dated as of June 23, 2000 between the Reglstrant and Toray
Industries, Inc,, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-40598).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of December 15, 2000 among the Registrant, UP
Subsidiary Corporation, and Cooke Pharma, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
of the Registrant’s Form 8-K/A dated February 1, 2001.

Amendment No. 1 to Exclusive License Agreement, effective as of December 3, 1996,
made as of October 1, 2002 by and between Pharmacia & Upjohn Company and the
Registrant, which appears as Exhibit 10.25 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, which exhibit is incorporated herein by
reference,

Technical Services Agreement dated August 27, 2002 between the Registrant and Kurzweil
Technologies, Inc., which appears as Exhibit 10.26 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, which exhibit is incorporated
herein by reference.

Exclusive License Agreement dated April 17, 2002 between AltaRex Corp. and Unither
Pharmaceuticals, a subsidiary of the Registrant, which appears as Exhibit 10.12 to
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002,
which exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.

Standard Non-plan Option Award Agreement used by Registrant, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002.
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.19**
10.20**
10.21
10.22%*
10.23
10.24
10.25

10.26

10027

10.28**

10.29%*.
10.30**

10.31**
10.32**
10.33

10.34**

10.35

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 11, 2002 between the Registrant
and' Roger Jeffs, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002,

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 11, 2002 between the Registrant
and Paul Mahon, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Real Estate Purchase Agreement dated October 31, 2003 by and between Unither
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Montgomery County, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

United Therapeatics Corporation Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan, as
amended effective as of September 24, 2004 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004,

Lease Agreement dated as of June 28, 2004, by and among United Therapeutics
Corporation and Wachovia Development Corporation, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on July 6, 2004.

Assignment of Liquid Collateral Account dated June 28, 2004, by and among United
Therapeutics Corporation and Wachovia Development Corporation, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on July 6, 2004.

Ground Lease dated June 28, 2004, by and among United Therapeutics Corporation and
Wachovia Development Corporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on July 6, 2004,

Participation Agreement dated June 28, 2004, by and among United Therapeutics
Corporation, Wachovia Development Corporation, Varions QOther Banks and Financial
Institutions and Wachovia Bank, NA, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 of the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on July 6, 2004.

Agency Agreement dated June 28, 2004, by and among United Therapeutics Corporatlon
and Wachovia Development Corporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.5 of the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on July 6, 2004,

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement between Martine A. Rothblatt and
United Therapeutics Corporation, dated April 2, 1999, as previously amended,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrar’s Form 8-K filed on

December 29, 2004.

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Roger Jeffs, Ph.D. and United
Therapeutics Corporation dated November 29, 2000, as previously amended, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrar’s Form 8-K filed on December 29, 2004.
Amendment to Employment Agreement between Paul A. Mahon and United Therapeutics
Corporation dated June 16, 2001, as previously amended, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrar’s Form 8-K filed on December 29, 2004,

Form of Employee Stock Option Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrar’s Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2004,

Form of Non-Employee Stock Option Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrar’s Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2004.

Turner Construction Contract, incorporated by reference to Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 of
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 17, 2005.

» United Therapeutics Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 4,
2006.

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 27, 2006, between Registrant and Toray
Industries, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed July 27, 2006.
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.36**
10.37**
10.38**

10.39

10.40
10.41
10.42%*

10.43
10.44

10.45****
121

21

23.1

31.1

31.2

321

322

Employment Agreement, dated August 2, 2006, between John Ferrari and Registrant,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
August 4, 2006. ’ ’
Amendment, dated July 31, 2006, to amended Employment Agreement, dated

November 29, 2000, between Roger Jeffs, Ph.D. and Registrant, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8- filed August 4, 2006.
Amendment, dated July 31, 2006, to amended Employment Agreement, dated June 16,
2001, between Paul A. Mahon and Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
Registrant’s Curfent Report on Form 8-K filed  August 4, 2006.

First Amendment to Certain Operative Agreements, dated May 16, 2006, between
Wachovia Development Corporation and Registrant, incorporated by reference to-

Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended

Tune 30, 2006. "

Confirmation, dated October 24, 2006, between Deutsche Bank AG London and
Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on *-

Form 8-K filed October 30, 2006.

" Confirmation, dated October 24, 2006, between Deutsche Bank AG London and

Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 30, 2006. . :

Amendment, dated December 28, 2006, to Employment Agreement, dated August 2, 2006,
between John Ferrari and Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 29, 2006.

United Therapeutics Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust
Document entered into December 28, 2007, by and between the Registrant and
Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 28, 2007.

Standard form of agreement between the Registrant and DPR Construction, Inc., dated
March 9, 2007, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated April 19, 2007, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2007. _

Distribution Agreement dated March 20, 2000, between Registrant and Accredo
Therapeutics, Inc., as amended. S L
Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant. o '

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, .

Certification of Chief Financia! Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, '

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. .

*  Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to
Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. K

** Designates management contracts and compensation plans. o

**+ Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Act of 1934,

»#*+Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this document. The omitted portions of
this document have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the fequifeménts of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly
authorized.

" UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION

By: /s/f MARTINE A. ROTHBLATT

. i Martine A. Rothblatt, Ph.D.
February 28, 2008 ! . Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated. .

Signatures . E ) . ) Date

/s/ MARTINE A ROTHBLATT Chairman of the Board and Chief

Martine A Rothblatt Executive Officer ,Febru.ary 28, 2008
/s/ ROGER A.'JEFFS - i Chi : .
Pr_es:dent, Chief Operatmg Officer and February 28, 2008
Roger-A. Jeffs - Director ‘ "

./s/ JOHN M. FERRARI
John M. Ferrari

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer February 28, 2008

/sf CHRISTOPHER CAUSEY

- Director ’ : ‘ February 28, 2008
Christopher Causey
/s/ RAYMOND DWEK . _
Director February 28, 2008
Raymond Dwek - .
/s/ R, PAUL GRAY _ : :
Director February 28, 2008
R. Paul Gray , ‘ .
/s/ RAYMOND KURZWEIL 3 . :
- Director February 28, 2008
Raymond Kurzweil
/s/ CHRISTOPHER PATUSKY . .o
- Director February 28, 2008
Christopher Patusky
/s/ Louls W. SULLIVAN . o .
Director February 28, 2008

Louis W. Sullivan
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1110 Spring Street
Silver Spring, MD 20910

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The annual meeting of shareholders of United Therapeutics Corporation will be held at our
headquarters, 1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910, on Tuesday, April 29, 2008, at
9:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Savings Time for the following purposes:

Election of three Class III directors for terms expiring at the 2011 annual meeting of

1.
shareholders. Our Board of Directors has nominated the foliowing persons for election as
Class I directors at the meeting: Raymond Dwek, Roger Jeffs and Christopher Patusky;

2. Approval of the 2008 United Therapeutics Corporation Equity Incentive Plan;

3. Ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as United Therapeutics Corporation’s
independent registered public accounting firm for 2008; and

4. To consider and act upon such other business as may properly come before the annual

meeting.
Only shareholders of record at the close of business on March 7, 2008, are entitled to notice of,

and to vote at, the meeting,
Important Notice Regarding the Internet Availability of Proxy Materials for United Therapeutics

Corporation’s 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders:
United Therapeutics Corporation’s Proxy Statement, Annual Report, Form 10-K and
other proxy materials are available at: http:/firunither.com/annualProxy.cfm

WHETHER OR NOT YOU EXPECT TO ATTEND THE MEETING, YOU ARE REQUESTED TO
FILL IN, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD IN THE ACCOMPANYING
PRE-PAID ENVELOPE AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE TO ENSURE THAT YOUR SHARES ARE

REPRESENTED AT THE MEETING.
ALL SHAREHOLDERS ARE EXTENDED A CORDIAL INVITATION TCO ATTEND THIS

MEETING,
By Order of the Board of Directors,

gl

Paul A. Mahon
Secretary

March 7, 2008
Silver Spring, Maryland
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UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION

1110 Spring Street
Silver Spring, MD 20910

PROXY STATEMENT FOR ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING, VOTING AND PROXIES
GENERAL

This proxy statement and enclosed proxy card are furnished on or about March 7, 2008, to
shareholders of United Therapeutics Corporation in connection with the solicitation by our Board of
Directors of proxies to be voted at our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders. Our annual meeting will
be held on Tuesday, April 29, 2008, beginning at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Savings Time at our
corporate headquarters, located at 1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910.

RECORD DATE AND OUTSTANDING SHARES

At the close of business on March 7, 2008 (the “Record Date”), there were 22,365,534 shares of
our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at our annual meeting. Only shareholders of record
at the close of business on the Record Date will be entitled to vote, either in person or by proxy, at our
annual meeting, and each share will have one vote,

SOLICITATION

Proxies are being solicited by our Board of Directors. We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies.
We have retained Mellon Investor Services LLC to aid in the solicitation. For these services, we will
pay Mellon a fee of $5,500 and reimburse them for certain out-of-pocket expenses. Our officers and
employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone, fax, email or regular mail, and they will
receive no additional compensation for such work. Copies of solicitation materials may be furnished to
brokers, custodians, nominees and other fiduciaries for forwarding to beneficial owners of shares of our
common stock, and normal handling charges may be paid for such forwarding service.

VOTING RIGHTS AND QUORUM

Shares can be voted only if the shareholder is present in person or by proxy. Whether or not a
shareholder plans to attend our annual meeting in person, he or she is encouraged to sign and return
the enclosed proxy card. Any proxy given pursuant to this solicitation may be revoked by the person
giving it at any time before its use by delivering to the Secretary of United Therapeutics Corporation at
1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910, a written notice of revocation or a fully executed
proxy bearing a later date, or by attending the meeting and voting in person. The representation in
person or by proxy of at least a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote is necessary to
provide a quorum at the meeting.

Abstentions, “broker non-votes” (i.e., shares held by brokers or nominees that are represented at
the meeting but with respect to which they have no discretionary power to vote on a particular matter
and have received no instructions from the beneficial owners thereof or persons entitled to vote
thereon) and proxies that are marked “without authority” with respect to the election of any one or
more nominees for election as directors will be counted as present in determining whether the quorum
requirement is satisfied.

PROXY

If the enclosed proxy card is properly executed and returned prior to the meeting, the shares
represented by the proxy card will be voted in accordance with the shareholder’s directions, or, if no




directions are indicated, the shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendation of our Board
of Directors as specified in this proxy statement. The shareholder giving the proxy has the power to
revoke the proxy at any time before it is exercised by delivering to the Secretary of United
Therapeutics Corporation at the above address either a written notice of revocation or a duly executed
proxy bearing a later date. If a shareholder decides to attend the annual meeting and wishes to change
his or her proxy vote, the shareholder may do so by voting in person at the meeting.

Unless otherwise instructed on the proxy, it is the intention of the persons named in the proxy to
vote the shares represented by each properly executed proxy for the election of the three persons
named as nominees. If the proxy card is signed and returned without any direction given, shares of
stock represented by the proxy will be voted FOR the election of the three director nominees named
on the proxy card; FOR the approval of the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan; and FOR ratification of the
appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as United Therapeutlcs Corporation’s independent registered
public accounting firm for 2008.

Each of our director nominees has consented to be named herein and to continue to serve on our
Board of Directors, if elected. It is not anticipated that any nominee will become unable or unwilling to
accept his or her nomination or election. If such an event should occur, the persons named in the
proxy intend to vote for the election of, in such nominee’s stead, such other person as is recommended
to our Board of Directors by our Board of Directors’ Nominating and Governance Committee.

VOTING REQUIREMENTS
Proposal No. 1: Election of Directors

Directors are elected by a plurality of the affirmative votes cast at our annual meeting. “Plurality”
means that the nominees up to the maximum number of directors to be elected at our annual meeting
who receive the largest number of votes cast are elected as directors. Consequently, any shares
represented at our annual meeting but not voted for any reason have no impact on the election of
directors. Cumulative voting is not permitted in the election of directors.

Proxies may not be voted for a greater number of persons than the number of nominees named.
Proxies representing shares held as of the Record Date that are returned duly executed will be voted,
unless otherwise specified, in favor of these three nominees for our Board of Directors.

Proposal No. 2: Approval of the 2008 United Therapeutics Corporation Equity Incentive Plan

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock present, in person
or by proxy, and entitled to vote at our annual meeting of shareholders is required to approve our 2008
Equity Incentive Plan.

Proposal No. 3: Ratification of the Appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as United Therapeutics Corporation’s
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for 2008

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock present, in person
or by proxy, and entitled to vote at our annual meeting of shareholders is required for ratification of
the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2008.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, BOARD OF DIRECTORS, COMMITTEES

Lead Director

Professor Christopher Patusky, one of our independent directors, serves as our Lead Director and
as the Chairman of our Nominating and Governance Committee. Our Nominating and Governance
Committee charter requires that the Nominating and Governance Committee Chairman convene and




preside over regular meetings of our independent directors. When serving in such a capacity, the
Chairman is also referred to as the Lead Director of our Board of Directors. The Lead Director
organizes and chairs periodic meetings of our independent directors, where company business can be
discussed outside the presence of the non-independent directors and members of management, The
Lead Director also serves as the official liaison between our independent directors and members of
management,

Shareholder Communicatioen with Directors

We do not have a formal process by which shareholders may communicate directly with our Board
of Directors. Instead, shareholders are encouraged to address any director communications to our
Secretary by overnight mail, signature acceptance required, at: United Therapeutics Corporation,
Attention: Secretary, 1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910. The Secretary will process and
direct the communication to the appropriate director, officer or employee for response. Shareholders
will receive a written acknowledgement from the Secretary upon receipt of such written communication.
Shareholders have the option of reporting concerns anonymouslty and confidentially.

Committees of our Board of Direct0r§

Our Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a
Nominating and Governance Committee. Our Board of Directors has determined that all members of
these committees meet the definition of “independence” set forth in Rule 4200(a}(15) of the NASDAQ
Stock Market, Inc. (NASDAQ) listing standards. In addition, our Board of Directors has determined
that the Audit Committee members meet the independence standards set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of
the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The charter for each committee may be accessed electronically in the “Corporate Governance”
section of the “About” page of our website located at http://www.unither.com, or by writing to us at:
United Therapeutics Corporation, Attention: Secretary, 1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryland
20910.

Audit Committee

Members: R. Paul Gray (Chair), Christopher Causey, M.B.A,, and Christopher Patusky, J.D.,
M.G.A.

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors held seven meetings during 2007. The Audit
Committee’s responsibilities include: (a) representing and assisting our Board of Directors in its
oversight responsibilities regarding our accounting and financial reporting processes, the audits of our
financial statements, including the integrity of our financial statements, and our independent registered
public accounting firm’s qualifications and independence; (b) preparing the report required by the
Securities and Exchange Commission for inclusion in our annual proxy statement; (c) retaining and
terminating our independent auditors; (d) approving in advance all audit and non-audit services to be
performed by our independent auditors; (e) approving related person transactions; and (f) performing
such other functions as our Board of Directors may from time to time assign to the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee Financial Expert.  Our Board of Directors has determined that R. Paul Gray, the
Audit Committee Chairman, is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. All of the members of the Committee meet
the financial sophistication requirements of the NASDAQ listing standards.
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Compensation Committee
Members: Christopher Causey, M.B.A. (Chair), R. Paul Gray, and Louis Sullivan, M.D.

The Compensation Committee oversees our compensation plans and policies, semi-annually
reviews and approves all decisions concerning compensation for our Named Executive Officers (which,
for 2007, included our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer, our President and Chief
Operating Officer, and our Executive Vice President, Strategic Planning and General Counsel} and
administers our stock option plans, including reviewing and approving stock option grants to our
Named Executive Officers and employees. The Compensation Committee’s specific responsibilities
include: (a) assisting our Board in putting in place a proper system for long-term and short-term
compensation to provide performance-oriented incentives to attract and retain management, and
ensuring that compensation plans are appropriate and competitive and properly reflect the objectives
and performance of management and the Company; (b) assisting our Board in discharging its
responsibilities relating to compensation of our Named Executive Officers; (c) evaluating our Chief
Executive Officer and setting her remuneration package; (d) making recommendations to our Board
with respect to incentive-compensation plans and equity-based plans; and (e) performing such other
functions as our Board may from time to time assign to the Compensation Committee. As part of its
responsibilities, the Compensation Committee administers our 1997 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended
and restated (the 1997 Equity Incentive Plan), and will administer our proposed 2008 Equity Incentive
Plan if it is approved by our shareholders at our annual meeting. The Compensation Committee’s
Charter, which is periodically reviewed and revised by the Committee and our Board of Directors,
outlines the Committee’s specific responsibilities. The Charter for the Compensation Committee may
be accessed electronically in the “Corporate Governance” section of the “About” page of our website
located at hutp:/iwww.unither.com.

The Compensation Committee held nine meetings during 2007. In addition to its other meetings,
the Compensation Committee meets twice each year to determine the cash and equity incentive bonus
compensation for our Named Executive Officers, which is awarded every six months. The
Compensation Committee also holds a meeting at the beginning of each year to determine base salaries
and maximum cash and equity incentive bonus opportunity targets for our Named Executive Officers
for the following year, which become effective in April of each year. The Committee acts by unanimous
consent resolutions between meetings. For additional information regarding the processes and
procedures used by the Compensation Committee, please see the section entitled Executive Pay
Decisions and Process in the Compensation Discussion & Analysis below.

The Compensation Committee has the authority to engage its own advisors to assist in carrying out
its responsibilities. In accordance with this authority, the Committee directly engages Compensia, Inc.
(Compensia) as its compensation consultant to advise on the Company’s compensation practices and
policies. Compensia has served in this capacity since 2004 and is expected to continue in this role until
determined otherwise by the Commiitee or Compensia. The Committee, in its discretion, may replace
Compensia or hire additional consultants at any time. Compensia is independent because it does not
provide any other services to the Company and receives compensation only for services it provides to
or on behalf of the Committee,

The Compensation Committee has engaged Compensia to review and advise it on all principal
aspects of executive and non-employee director compensation. This includes base salaries, cash
incentive bonus awards, and equity incentive bonus awards for our Named Executive Officers, and cash
compensation and equity awards for non-employee directors, Tasks provided under Compensia’s
engagement include:

* Providing recommendations regarding the composition of our peer group;




« Gathering and analyzing publicly available proxy data for our peer group and survey data
relating to executive compensation;

» Reviewing and advising on the structure of our compensation arrangements (i.e., base salary
levels, cash incentive bonus award target levels and the size of equity incentive bonus award
targets);

* Reviewing and advising on the design of our cash bonus program and equity incentive awards;

» Reviewing and advising on our Chief Executive Officer’s salary, bonus and equity incentive
award targets as compared to other executives;

+ Reviewing and advising on the Committee’s salary, cash bonus and equity incentive award
decisions with respect to our Chief Executive Officer;
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+ Conducting pay and performance analyses relative to our peer group;

» Updating the Committee on industry trends/best practices with respect to executive and
non-executive equity program design, including type of equity incentive award, size of equity
grant by employee level, and aggregate equity usage;

« Conducting a comprehensive review of the total compensation arrangements for all
non-employee directors, including competitive analysis of retainers and meeting fees for Board
and committee service (chair and member) and initial and annual equity awards, and proposed
changes to the compensation structure;

« Working on special/ad-hoc projects for the Committee as they arise; and
« Assisting with the drafting of the Compensation Discussion & Analysis for this proxy statement.

In the course of fulfilling these responsibilities, Compensia regularly communicates with the
Committee Chairman outside of and prior to most Committee meetings. The Committee sometimes,
but not always, invites Compensia to attend its meetings. In 2007, Compensia attended one of the
Committee’s nine meetings. In addition, Compensia also meets with management from time to time to
gather information on and review proposals that management may make to the Committee. However,
Compensia reports its findings to the Committee, not to management.

Per the Committee’s instructions, Compensia completed these services and advised the Committee
where indicated above. While the Committee considers its consultant’s recommendations, the
Committee’s executive compensation decisions, including the specific amounts paid to Named Executive
Officers and directors, are its own and may reflect factors and considerations other than the
information and recommendations provided by Compensia and management.

Nominating and Governance Committee

Members: Christopher Patusky, J.D., M.G.A. (Chair), Raymond Dwek, FER.S., and Louis Sullivan,
M.D.

The Nominating and Governance Committee of our Board of Directors held two meetings during
2007. The Nominating and Governance Committee’s responsibilities include: (a) assisting our Board in
determining the desired expericnce, mix of skills and other qualities to provide for appropriate Board
composition, taking into account the current Board members and the specific needs of the Company
and our Board; (b) identifying qualified individuals meeting those criteria to serve on our Board;

(c) proposing to our Board a slate of nominees for election by the shareholders at our annual meeting
of shareholders and nominees to fill vacancies and newly created directorships; (d) reviewing candidates
recommended by shareholders for election to our Board and shareholder proposals submitted for
inclusion in our proxy materials; (¢) developing plans regarding the size and composition of our Board




and its committees; (f) proposing to our Board which directors should serve as chairpersons and
members on committees of our Board; (g) coordinating matters among committees of our Board;

(h) reviewing management succession plans; (i) developing, evaluating, recommending to our Board
and monitoring all matters with respect to corporate governance; (j) overseeing our compliance with
legal and regulatory obligations; and (k) such other functions as our Board may from time to time
assign to the Nominating and Governance Committee. The Nominating and Governance Committee
will consider shareholder recommendations for directors submitted in compliance with the procedures
described in the sections entitled Director Independence and Director Nominations below.

Director Independence

Our Board of Directors has determined that: (i) Raymond Dwek and Christopher Patusky are
“independent” in accordance with Rule 4200(a)(15) of the NASDAQ listing standards; (ii) Roger Jeffs
and Martine Rothblatt are not “independent” in accordance with Rule 4200(a)(15) of the NASDAQ
listing standards, due to Dr. Jeffs’ employment as our President and Chief Operating Officer and
Dr. Rothblatt’s employment as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; (iii) Ray Kurzweil is not
“independent” in accordance with Rule 4200(a)(15) of the NASDAQ listing standards due to certain
payments received in connection with the technical services agreements described in the section entitled
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions below; and (iv) Louis Sullivan, Christopher Causey and
R. Paul Gray, who are not standing for election at our 2008 annual meeting, are “independent” under
Rule 4200(a)(15) of the NASDAQ listing standards.

Director Nominations

The Nominating and Governance Committee of our Board of Directors does not have a formal
policy with respect to considering director candidates recommended by shareholders, believing that it is
more appropriate to rely on our network of contacts for identifying and evaluating potential director
candidates. To be considered by the Nominating and Governance Committee, a director candidate must
meet the following minimum criteria:

* personal and professional integrity;
* a record of exceptional ability and judgment;

* ability and willingness te devote the required amount of time to our affairs;

* interest, capacity and willingness, in conjunction with the other members of our Board of |
Directors, to serve the interests of our shareholders;

* reasonable knowledge of the fields of our operations, as well as familiarity with the principles of
corporate governance;

* expertise required to serve on the commitiees of our Board of Directors;

* confidence that the candidate is capable of working constructively on our Board of Directors and
with management; and

* absence of any personal or professional relationships that would adversely affect his or her
ability to serve our best interests and those of our shareholders,

Once such potential nominees have been identified, the Nominating and Governance Committee,
with the help of our General Counsel, screens candidates, performs reference checks, prepares a
biography of each candidate and conducts interviews. The Nominating and Governance Committee and
our Chief Executive Officer interview the identified candidates and, in accordance with its charier, the
Nominating and Governance Committee selects nominees that it determines best suit our Board of
Directors’ needs to recommend to the full Board of Directors.




Meetings of our Board of Directors

In addition to the meetings of its committees, our Board of Directors held five meetings during
2007. All directors attended at least four of the five meetings of the Board and every committee
meeting for the committees on which they served during our 2007-2008 Board service year. In
accordance with applicable NASDAQ rules, the independent members of our Board of Directors met
without management present three times during 2007. We do not have a formal policy regarding
director attendance at annual meetings of shareholders. Although our Board of Directors encourages
all members to attend such meetings, their attendance is not mandatory. Five members of our Board of
Directors attended our 2007 annual meeting of shareholders.

Non-Employee Director Compensation
Description of Non-Employee Director Compensation

Our directors play a critical role in guiding our strategic direction and overseeing our management.
Recent developments in corporate governance and financial reporting have resulted in an increased
demand for highly qualified and productive public company directors.

The many responsibilities and the substantial time commitment of being a director require that we
provide adequate compensation commensurate with our directors’ workloads and opportunity costs.
Our Compensation Committee sets non-employee director compensation. Our non-employee directors
are compensated based upon their levels of participation and responsibilities with respect to our Board
of Directors, including service on committees of our Board of Directors. Non-employee directors
receive a combination of annual cash retainers and equity awards in amounts that correlate to the
responsibilities of each director in his or her service to United Therapeutics. In addition to this
compensation, members of our Board of Directors are also eligible for reimbursement of expenses
incurred in connection with attendance at meetings of our Board of Directors and its committees and
related activities. Our two employee directors, Dr. Rothblatt and Dr. Jeffs, receive no additional
compensation for their service as directors.

The following table describes our compensation practices for non-employce directors during 2007.
This compensation arrangement was recommended by the Compensation Committee and approved by
our Board of Directors in April 2005, It is intended that these practices will remain in effect for 2008.

Non-Employee Director Compensation

Stock Option Awards(3)
Annual Cash  [Initial (#) Annual (#)

Board Membership ........... ... ....... R $25,000 20,000 15,000
Lead Director(1) ... ..., e $25,000 - —
Committee Chairmanship(2):
Audit COMMILIEE . . .ttt oottt et et a e e e inine e eas $20,000 — —_
Compensation Committee . . .. .. ... $15,000 — —
Nominating and Governance Committee ... ........... ..., $10,000 — —
Committee Membership(2):
Audit COMMUILEE . .. . ottt et e e et ae e $10,000 — —
Compensation Committee . . . ... . ..ot $ 7,500 — —
Nominating and Governance Committee ... ............... $ 5,000 — —

(1) Compensation for service as Lead Director is paid in addition to amounts for Board membership
and for any committee chairmanship or membership.




(2) Committee chairmen receive the compensation indicated for committee chairmanship in lieu of the
compensation for committee membership. Compensation for committee chairmanship and
committee membership is paid in addition to amounts for Board membership.

(3) Awards are granted once per vear on the date of our annual meeting of shareholders.

QOur non-employee directors receive stock option grants under our 1997 Equity Incentive Plan and,
beginning in 2008, will receive stock option grants under our proposed 2008 Equity Incentive Plan if it
is approved by our shareholders. Non-employee directors’ initial and annual stock option awards are
granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock as reported on the
NASDAQ Stock Market on the date of grant, which is the date of our annual meeting of shareholders
in the year of grant. These stock options will fully vest on the one-year anniversary of the grant date
only if the director attends at least 75% of the regularly scheduled meetings of our Board of Directors
and his or her Board of Directors committee meetings from the date of grant until the date of our next
annual meeting of shareholders. During 2007, we granted options to purchase 90,000 shares to our
current non-employee directors, with an exercise price of $62.34 per share.

Directors may also be compensated for special assignments delegated by our Board of Directors.
No such compensation was paid during 2007.

The following table lists the 2007 compensation earned by each non-employee director:

2007 Non-Employee Director Compensation

Fees Earned or Stock Option

Name Paid in Cash ($)(1)  Awards ($)(2) Total ($)
Christopher Causey . . .. ... . ... ... .. $ 50,000 $ 402,626(3) $ 452,626
Raymond Dwek ................... ... ....... 30,000 402,626(4) 432 626
Paul Gray............... IR s L 52,500 . 402,626(5) 455,126
Ray Kurzweil . . ........ ... ... ... ... ... ..., 25,000 402,626(6) 427,626
Christopher Patusky . ........ ... ... . ... ... .. 70,000 402,626(7) 472,626
Louis Sullivan . ...... ... o oo 37,500 402,626(8) 440,126

Total . F T $265,000 $2,415,756 $2,680,756

(1) Includes annual cash retainer and fees for serving on our Board of Directors and committees of
our Board of Directors (and, in the case of Christopher Patusky, for serving as Lead Director).

(2) Includes annual stock option grants for all members of our Board of Directors. Represents the
amount of compensation cost recognized by us in 2007 related to stock option awards granted in
2007 and prior years, in accordance with SFAS No. 123R, excluding forfeitures. For a discussion of
valuation assumptions see Note 7, Stockholder Equity to our 2007 Consolidated Financial
Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

(3) The grant date fair value, pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, of the stock option awards issued 1o
Mr. Causey in 2007 was $414,914. As of December 31, 2007, Mr. Causey had 34,500 stock options
outstanding, of which 19,500 were exercisable. Mr. Causey is the beneficial owner of 1,511 shares
of our common stock. '

(4) The grant date fair value, pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, of the stock option awards issued to Prof.
Dwek in 2007 was $414,914. As of December 31, 2007, Prof. Dwek had 77,689 stock options
outstanding, of which 62,689 were exercisable.
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(5) The grant date fair value, pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, of the stock option awards issued to
Mr. Gray in 2007 was $414,914. As of December 31, 2007, Mr. Gray had 48,000 stock options
outstanding, of which 33,000 were exercisable.

(6) The grant date fair value, pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, of the stock option awards issued to
Mr. Kurzweil in 2007 was $414,914. As of December 31, 2007, Mr. Kurzweil had 50,500 stock
options outstanding, of which 35,500 were exercisable.

(7) The grant date fair value, pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, of the stock option awards issued to Prof.
Patusky in 2007 was $414,914. As of December 31, 2007, Prof. Patusky had 70,333 stock options
outstanding, of which 55,333 were exercisable. Prof. Patusky is the beneficial owner of 3,500 shares
of our,common stock.

(8) The grant date fair value, pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, of the stock option awards issued to
Dr. Sullivan in 2007 was $414,914. As of December 31, 2007, Dr. Sullivan had 60,641 stock options
outstanding, of which 45,641 were exercisable.

Related Party Transactions Policy

Our Audit Committee is responsible, in accordance with its charter, for reviewing and approving
“related party transactions” as that term is defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC and
NASDAQ. It is the general practice of our Audit Committee to review all material facts of potential
related party transactions that would require the Committee’s approval, as prepared and presented to
the Audit Committee by our Chief Financial Officer and/or our General Counsel. After reviewing such
information, the Committee generally approves of or prohibits our entering into such a transaction. In
determining whether to approve or ratify a related party transaction, our Audit Committee will
generally, take into account, among other factors it deems appropriate, whether the related party
transaction is made up of terms no more and no less favorable than terms generally available to an
wnaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances. The Committee also considers the
extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction and whether such transaction will occur on an
arm’s length basis.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Technical Services Agreements

In May 2007, following Audit Committee approval, we entered into a technical services agreement
related to the development of certain inventions involving cancer stem cells with Kurzweil
Technologies, Inc. (KTI), a company controlled by Ray Kurzweil. Pursuant to this agreement, we agreed
to pay KTI consulting fees of up to $12,000 monthly. To the extent that the amount invoiced by KTI in
any given month is less than the monthly cap of $12,000, the difference between $12,000 and the
amount actually billed for such month may be carried forward in order to supplement the billing in any
subsequent month or months that the billing is greater than $12,000. In no event will the consulting
fees exceed $144,000 in any given 12-month period. We also agreed to reimburse KTI on a monthly
basis for all necessary, reasonable and direct out-of-pocket expenses. In addition, we agreed to pay KT1
up to a 5% royalty on certain sales of products reasonably attributed to and dependent upon certain
technology developed by KTI under the technical services agreement and which are covered by claims
of issued and unexpired United States patents. We incurred approximately $84,000 in expenses during
2007 under this agreement.

In September 2002, we entered into a technical services agreement related to our telemedicine
intellectual property with KTI. Pursuant to this agreement we paid KTI $40,000 monthly for consulting
fees, additional sums for preapproved patent work, and up to $1,000 monthly for reimbursement of
expenses for certain telemedicine technology development services. In addition, we agreed to pay KTI a
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5% royalty on certain sales of products reasonably attributed to and dependent upon technology
developed by KTI under the technical services agreement and which are covered by claims of issued
and unexpired United States patents. This agreement was terminated by the parties as of December 31,
2007. No expenses under this agreement were incurred in 2007.

University of Oxford Research Agreements

In 2000, we entered into a research agreement with the University of Oxford and an agreement for
consulting services with Isis Innovation Limited (formerly Oxford University Consulting) with respect to
the development of our iminosugar platform, one of our three drug development platforms. On
October 1, 2006, the research agreement was extended through September 30, 2011, obligating us to
make 60 equal monthly payments totaling approximately $3.7 million. Under exclusive licenses issued in
accordance with the research agreement, we are required to pay the University of Oxford a royalty
. equal to 1.5% percent of net sales of products arising from the research, less certain offsets. Professor
Raymond Dwek, one of our directors, is a co-discoverer of our iminosugar platform, a co-principal
investigator under our research agreement with the University of Oxford, Director of the Glycobiology
Institute, and Professor of Glycobiology at the University of Oxford. Our Board of Directors has
determined that Professor Dwek is “independent” under Rule 4200(a)(15) of the NASDAQ listing
standards. We incurred approximately $652,000 in expenses during 2007 under these agreements with
University of Oxford.

In March 2006, we entered into an agreement in which we agreed to fund an annual lecture in
virology at the University of Oxford through 2022. Under this agreement, we are obligated to make 16
annual payments of £16,000, totaling £256,0000. We incurred approximately $32,700 in expenses during
2007 under this agreement.
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BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK

The following table sets forth certain information as of December 31, 2007 (unless otherwise
specified), with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock by (i) each person who we
know beneficially owns more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, (ii) each
director and nominee, (iii) each of our Named Executive Officers (which, for 2007, included our Chief
Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer, our President and Chief Operating Officer, and our
Executive Vice President, Strategic Planning and General Counsel) and (iv) all of our directors and
Named Executive Officers as a group. Unless otherwise noted, the address of each person listed below
is our address.

Number of Shares Percentage of

of Common Stock Qutstanding
Name Beneficially Owned(1) Shares(2)
Shumway Capital Partners LLC(3)(4) .. ......... ... oo, 1,855,974 8.3%

One Fawcett Place
Greenwich, Connecticut 06830
Fred Alger Management, Inc.(3}(5) . ........ ... .ot 1,673,000 1.5%
111 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10003
Martine Rothblatt{6) . . .. ... ... i 1,910,801 8.0%
Goldman, Sachs & Co.(3)(7) . ..o e 1,186,630 5.3%
85 Broad Street
New York, New York 10004

Roger Jeffs(8) . .. ..o 299,202 - 1.3%
Paul Mahon, I.D.(9) ....... e 181;891 *
Raymond Dwek, ERS.(10) ... .. ... 62,689 *
Christopher Patusky, JD.(11) .. ... ... 58,833 *
Louis Sullivan, MD.(12) ... ... oo 45,641 *
John Ferrari(13) ... ... . s 42,500 *
RoPaul Gray(14) . .. ..o 33,000 *
Ray Kurzweil(15) ... ... e 35,500 *
Christopher Causey(16) . .. .. ... .. i 21,011 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (10 persons)(17) .. . .. 2,691,068 10.9%

*  Less than one percent.

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and generally includes ownership of those shares over which the person has sole or
shared voting or investment power. Beneficial ownership also includes ownership of shares of stock
subject to rights, options and warrants currently exercisable or convertible, or exercisable or
convertible within 60 days after December 31, 2007. Except where indicated otherwise, and subject
to community property laws where applicable, to our knowledge, the persons listed in the table
above have sole voting and investment power with respect to their shares of common stock.

(2) Ownership percentage is based on 22,247,592 shares of common stock outstanding on
December 31, 2007, plus, as to the holder thereof and no other person, the number of shares (if
any) that the person has the right to acquire as of December 31, 2007, or within 60 days after
December 31, 2007, through the exercise of stock options or other similar rights.

(3) Beneficial ownership information obtained from a Schedule 13G, or amendment thereto, filed by
the named beneficial holder between January 1, 2008 and February 14, 2008. This information is as
of the Schedule 13G filing date.
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(4) The Schedule 13G was filed on behalf of Shumway Capital Partners LLC and Chris W. Shumway.
The address of principal business office for each of these Reporting Persons is One Fawcett Place,
Greenwich, CT, 06830.

(5) The Schedule 13G was filed on behalf of Fred Alger Management Inc., Alger Associates,
- Incorporated. The address of principal business office for each of these Reportmg Persons is 111
Fifth Avenue, 2™ Floor, New York, New York 10003.

(6) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 1,700,255 shares. Also inctudes 90,122 shares
held in a Grantor Retained Annuity Trust by Dr. Rothblatt’s spouse and 1,468 currently exercisable
options to purchase shares held by Dr. Rothblatt’s spouse. Dr. Rothblatt disclaims beneficial
ownership of all shares and options held by her spouse. Also includes 115,456 held in a Grantor
Retained Annuity Trust by Dr. Rothblatt and 3,500 shares held in a margin account.

(7) The Schedule 13G was filed on behalf of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc. The address of principal business office for each of these Reporting Persons is 85
Broad Street, New York, New York, 10004.

(8) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 287,159 shares. Also includes 12,043 shares held
in a margin account, of which 10,855 are subject to a pledge agreement.

(%) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 169,141 shares. Also inciudes 12,750 shares held
in a margin account, of which 12,000 are subject to a pledge agreement.

(10) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 62,689 shares.

(11} Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 55,333 shares. Also includes 3,500 shares held in
a margin account.

(12) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 45,641 shares.
(13) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 42,500 shares.
(14) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 33,000 shares.
(15) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 35,500 shares.

(16) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 19,500 shares. Also includes 1,511 shares held in
a margin account,

(17) Includes currently exercisable options to purchase 2,452,186 shares.
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PROPOSAL NO. 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our Board of Directors consists of eight members and is divided into three classes. At each annual
meeting of shareholders, members of one of the classes, on a rotating basis, are elected to a three-year
term. At this meeting, Raymond Dwek, Roger Jeffs and Christopher Patusky are nominees for election
as Class III directors for terms expiring at our 2011 annual meeting of shareholders.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT OUR SHAREHOLDERS VOTE “FOR”
THE ELECTION OF THE NOMINEES AS CLASS III DIRECTORS OF UNITED THERAPEUTICS
CORPORATION.

The foliowing table presents information concerning persons nominated for election as directors of
United Therapeutics and for those of our directors whose terms of office will continue after our annual
meeting, including their current membership on committees of our Board of Directors, principal
occupations or affiliations during the last five years or more, and certain other directorships held. For
additional information concerning the nominees for directors, including stock ownership and
compensation, see the tables entitled Non-Employee Director Compensation, 2007 Non- Employee Director
Compensation and Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock above.

Nominees for Election at our 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Raymond Dwek, F.R.S. Member, Nominating and Governance Committee

Age 60 Professor Dwek is a Fellow of the Royal Society, London, and
currently serves as Director of the Glycobiology Institute,
Professor of Glycobiology at the University of Oxford and as
the President of the Institute of Biology. From 2000 to 2006,
Professor Dwek served as head of the Department of
Biochemistry at the University of Oxford. Professor Dwek has
been serving in various positions at the University of Oxford
since 1966, In 1988, Professor Dwek was the scientific founder
of Oxford GlycoSciences PLC, which was publicly traded on
the London Stock Exchange and NASDAQ, and he served as a
member of its Board of Directors until its sale in 2003. He was
the 2007 Kluge Chair of Technology and Society at the U.S. -
Library of Congress. Professor Dwek is considered the founder
of glycobiology. He has served as a United Therapeutics
director since 2002.

Roger Jeffs, Ph.D. Dr. Jeffs joined United Therapeutics in September 1998 as
Age 46 Director of Research, Development and Medical. Dr. Jeffs was
: promoted to Vice President of Research, Development and
Medical in July 2000, and to President and Chief Operating
Officer in January 20(H. From 1995 to 1998, Dr. Jeffs worked
at Amgen, Inc. where he served as the worldwide clinical
leader of the Infectious Disease Program. Dr. Jeffs currently
| leads the clinical development, commercial and business

“development efforts at United Therapeutlcs He has served as
a United Therapeutics director since 2002.
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Christopher Patusky, J.D., M.G.A.
Age 44

Christopher Causey, M.B.A.
Age 45

R. Paul Gray
Ape 44

Vice Chairman

Lead Director

Chairman, Nominating and Governance Committee
Member, Audit Committee '

Since August 2007, Mr. Patusky has served as Director; Offlce
of Real Estate, for the Maryland Department of
Transportation, where he is responsible for overseeing the
Department’s real estate matters statewide, including its transit
oriented development programs. From 2002 until May 2007,
Mr. Patusky served as the Executive Director'and a member of
the faculty of the Fels Institute of Government at the
University of Pennsylvania. He has served as a United
Therapeutics director since 2002.

Directors Continuing in Office

Chairman, Compensation Committee

Member, Audit Committee

Mr. Causey has served as the Principal of Causey Consortium,
a professional services organization providing strategic
planning and marketing advice to the healthcare industry, since
2002. Previously, Mr. Causey served as a senior marketing
officer for a variety of healthcare and technology companies.
From 2001 to 2002, Mr. Causey served as the Chief Marketing
Officer for Definity Health Incorporated. Mr. Causey has
served as a United Therapeutics director since 2003 and his
current term expires in 2010,

Chairman, Aadit Committee

Member, Compensation Committee

Mr. Gray serves as the Managing Member of Core

Concepts, LLC, a strategic and financial consulting firm which
he founded in 2002. Mr. Gray currently serves as Chairman of
the Board of Red Branch Technologies, Inc., a comprehensive
online travel company, and is a member of the Board of
Directors of C’'Watre International, Inc., both of which are
publicly traded companies. Until recently, Mr. Gray had served
on the board of directors of several companies including
Elevated Security, Inc., a private energy solutions company
which was recently acquired, and of TenthGate, Inc., a public
medical holding company. From May 2004 to May 2005,

Mr. Gray served a one-year term as a director of Earth Search
Sciences, Inc., a publicly traded company. From 2003 to
November 2004 Mr. Gray served as a director of Vertica
Software, Inc., a pubhcly traded company until the completion
of a merger transaction in November 2004. From September
2001 to May 2004, Mr. Gray served as Director and Chief
Financial Officer of Power3 Medical Products, Inc., a publicly
traded company. From 1985 to 1999, Mr. Gray practiced as a
Certified Public Accountant at Ernst & Young LLP,

KPMG LLP and Beers & Cutler LLP. The Board of Directors
has determined that he is an audit committee financial expert
as defined under the rules and regulations of the Securities
and -Exchange. Commission and meets the financial
sophistication requirement of the listing standards of the
NASDAQ. He has served as a United Therapeutics director
since 2003 and his current term expires in 2010. '
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Ray Kurzweil
Age 60

Martine Rothblatt,-Ph.D., J.D., M.B.A.
Age 53

Louis Sullivan, M.D.
Age 74

Mr, Kurzweil is an inventor, entrepreneur and author, and has
created several important technologies in the artificial
intelligence field. He has received the National Medal of
Technology, the MIT-Lemelson Prize, fifteen honorary
doctorates and honors from three U.S. Presidents.

Mr. Kurzweil was selected as a 2002 inductee into the National
Inventors Hall of Fame. Since 1995, Mr. Kurzweil has served
as the Chief Executive Officer of Kurzweil Technologies, Inc., a
technology development firm. He has served as a United
Therapeutics director since 2002 and his current term expires
in 2009.

Chairman

Dr. Rothblatt started United Therapeutics in 1996 and has
served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since its
inception. Prior to creating United Therapeutics, she created
and served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Sirius
Satellite Radio. Her book, Your Life or Mine: How Geoethics

Can Resolve the Conflict Between Public and Private Interests In

Xenotransplantation, was published by Ashgate in 2004. She has
served as a United Therapeutics director since 1996 and her
current term expires in 2009.

Member, Compensation Committee

Member, Nominating and Governance Committee

Dr. Sullivan currently serves as a Director of Henry

Schein, Inc., BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Emergent
BioSolutions, Inc., all publicly traded companies. Dr. Sullivan
was the founding President of Morehouse School of Medicine,
from 1981 to 1989 and 1993 to 2002, and he became President
Emeritus of Morehouse School of Medicine in July 2002.

Dr. Sullivan was also founder and Chairman of Medical
Education for South African Blacks, Inc., a member of the
National Executive Council for the Boy Scouts of America,
and a member of the Board of Trustees of the Little League of
America. Dr. Sullivan served as Secretary of the United States
Department of Health and Human Services from 1989 to 1993.
He has served as a United Therapeutics director since 2002
and his current term expires in 2009.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2: APPROVAL OF THE
UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION 2008 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Effective November 12, 1997, our Board of Directors adopted the United Therapeutics
Corporation 1997 Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved by our shareholders. On October 16,
1999, cur Board amended and restated our 1997 Equity Incentive Plan (as so amended, our 1997 Plan)
to permit equity awards to be granted to individuals who are directors (including non-employee
directors), officers or employees (including employees who also are directors or officers) of or
consultants to United Therapeutics or its subsidiaries, which amendment was approved by our
shareholders. Our 1997 Plan provided for 7,000,000 shares eligible for award under the plan with an
additional 7,939,517 shares eligible for award only to our Chief Executive Officer in accordance with
her employment agreement. See the section entitled Equity Incentive Bonus Compensation below. As of
December 31, 2007, 70,948 of the 7,000,000 share maximum remained available for issuance under our
1997 Plan to all participants other than our Chief Executive Officer. As of December 31, 2007,
6,039,991 of the 7,939,517 share maximum remained available for issuance to our Chief Executive
Officer under our 1997 Plan.”

Stock options and other equity-based awards provide us flexibility to motivate, attract, and retain
the services of employees upon whom our success depends and to provide them with an equity interest
in our success in order to motivate superior performance. Our equlty award grant practices are
designed to reflect an appropriate balance between our shareholders’ dilution concerns and our need to
remain competitive by recruiting and retaining high-performing employees. As is discussed in detail in
the section entitled Compensation Discussion and Analysis below, we believe that giving all of our
full-time employees an economic interest in the long-term appreciation of our common stock through
the grant of stock options and other equity-based awards  encourages their continued strong
performance and, in turn, creates value for,our shareholders.

We believe that our 1997 Plan has served us well and has supported and encouraged our growth
over the nearly ten years that it has'been in existence. Recognizing that awards under our 1997 Plan to
participants other than our Chief Executive Officer were nearing the share maximum under that plan,
on January 9, 2008, upon the recommendation pf the Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors and subject to shareholder approval, our Board approved and adopted our 2008 Equity
Incentive Plan (our 2008 Plan). Among other things, our 2008 Plan: (i) reproduces substantially the
terms of our 1997 Plan (excluding those provisions relating to the dedicated option pool for our Chief
Exccutive Officer), and (ii) reserves 7,000,000 shares of common stock for availability for awards under
our 2008 Plan. No options or other performance awards, deferred share awards, stock appreciation
rights or restricted stock awards are outstanding under our 2008 Plan. Any grants made pursuant to our
2008 Plan will be subject to shareholder approval of the plan and any such conditionally-awarded grants
may not be exercised prior to such shareholder approval.

Our Board of Directors believes that our 2008 Plan is in the best interests of our Company and
our shareholders and will bolster our recruitment, retention and incentivization of employees,
consultants and directors. As a near clone of our 1997 Plan that has served us well for nearly ten
years of growth, our Board of Directors believes that our 2008 Plan will support and encourage our
continued growth.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT OUR SHAREHOLDERS VOTE “FOR”
THE APPROVAL OF OUR 2008 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN,

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock present, in
person or by proxy, and entitled to vote at our annual meeting of shareholders is required to approve
our 2008 Plan. Qur 2008 Plan is included as Appendix A, to this proxy statement.
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The principal features of our 2008 Plan are summarized below. This summary is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the full text of our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan in Appendix A to this proxy
statement.

Summary of our 2008 Plan

General. The purpose of our 2008 Plan is to provide us with flexibility to motivate, attract, and
retain the services of employees upon whom our success depends and to provide them with an equity
interest in our Company in order to motivate superior performance. Our 2008 Plan currently provides
for the grant of equity-based awards, including options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards or performance share awards or any other right or interest relating to shares or cash, to eligible
participants.

Shares Subject to our 2008 Plan. The aggregate number of shares reserved and available for award
under our 2008 Plan is 7,000,000 (the Share Reserve). Our 2008 Pian contemplates the issuance of
common stock upon exercise of options or other awards granted to eligible persons under our 2008
Plan. Shares issued under our 2008 Plan may be either authorized and unissued shares or previously
issued shares acquired by us. Upon termination or expiration of an unexercised option, stock
appreciation right or other stock-based award under our 2008 Plan, in whole or in part, the number of
shares of common stock subject to such award again become available for grant under our 2008 Plan.
Any shares of restricted stock forfeited as described below will become available for grant. The
maximum number of shares that may be granted to any one participant in any calendar year may not
exceed 500,000 shares.

In the event of any change in capitalization of our Company, such as a stock split, merger,
consolidation, separation, spin off, or other distribution of stock or property of our Company, any
reorganization, any partial or complete liquidation of our Company or any extraordinary cash or stock
dividend, the Compensation Committee (the Committee) will make appropriate substitutions or
adjustments in the aggregate number and kind of shares reserved for issuance under our 2008 Plan, in
the share limitations for awards set forth in our 2008 Plan and in the number of shares subject to and
exercise price of outstanding awards, or will make such other equitable substitution or adjustments as it
may determine to be appropriate.

Our Chief Executive Officer will continue to participate in our 1997 Plan, under which 6,039,991
shares of our common stock remain reserved for future stock option grants to her. Such grants shall be
made in accordance with her Executive Employment Agreement as discussed in the section entitled
Equity Incentive Bonus Compensation below.

Administration.  Our 2008 Plan is administered by the Committee, which has the power to
determine the terms and conditions of awards. In addition, the Committee has the authority to amend,
maodify or terminate our 2008 Plan. No action by the Committee may affect any shares previously
issued or any award previously granted under our 2008 Plan without the participant’s written consent.

Stock Options. Options granted under our 2008 Plan are not generally transferable and must be
exercised within 10 years, subject to earlier termination upon termination of the option holder’s
employment, but in no event later than the expiration of the option’s term.

Each option granted under our 2008 Plan must be evidenced by a written agreement between us
and the optionee specifying the number of shares subject to the option and the other terms and
conditions of the option, consistent with the requirements of our 2008 Plan. The exercise price of each
option may not be less than the fair market value of a share of our commeon stock on the date of grant
(except in connection with the assumption or substitution for another option in a manner qualifying
under Section 424(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code). Incentive stock
options granted to any participant who owns 10% or more of our outstanding common stock
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(a Ten Percent Shareholder) must have an exercise price equal to or exceeding 110% of the fair market
value of a share of our common stock on the date of the grant and must not be exercisable for longer
than five years.

Options become vested and exercisable at such times or upon such events and subject to such
terms, conditions, performance criteria or restrictions as specified by the Committee. The maximum
term of any option granted under our 2008 Plan is ten years, provided that an incentive stock option
granted to a Ten Percent Shareholder must have a term not exceeding five years. Unless otherwise
determined by the Committee, an option generally will remain exercisable for 90 days following the
optionee’s termination of service, except that if service terminates as a result of the optionee’s normal
retirement, death or disability, the option generally will remain exercisable for its remaining term. The
Committee, in its discretion, may provide longer post-termination exercise periods, but in any event the
option must be exercised no later than its expiration date.

Stock options are not assignable or transferable by the optionee other than by will or by the laws
of descent and distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent permitted by the Committee,
in its discretion, and as set forth in the option award agreement, an option is assignabie or transferable
subject to the applicable limitations described in the General Instructions to Form S-8 Registration
Statement under the Securities Act of 1933 (which includes transfers to family members, family trusts
or pursuant to domestic relations orders, but excludes transfers of options for consideration).

Performance Awards. Under our 2008 Plan, a participant may also be awarded a “performance
award,” which means that the participant may receive cash, stock or other awards contingent upon
achieving performance goals established by the Committee. The Committee may also make “deferred
share” awards, which entitle the participant to receive our stock in the future for services performed
between the date of the award and the date the participant may receive the stock. The vesting of
deferred share awards may be based on performance criteria and/or continued service with our
Company. A participant who is granted a “stock appreciation right” under the Plan has the right to
receive all or a percentage of the fair market value of a share of stock on the date of exercise of the
stock appreciation right minus the grant price of the stock appreciation right determined by the
Committee (but in no event less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant). Finally,
the Committee may make “restricted stock” awards under our 2008 Plan, which are subject to such
terms and conditions as the Committee determines and as are set forth in the award agreement related
1o the restricted stock. Unless the Committee otherwise provides, upon termination of a participant’s
employment during the period when the restrictions apply, the participant’s restricted stock is forfeited
to us.

Section 162(m) of the Code limits our federal income tax deduction for compensation paid to our
Chief Executive Officer and our three most highly paid executive officers (other than the Chief
Financial Officer) for the applicable taxable year. The limit is $1,000,000 per officer per year, with
certain exceptions. This deductibility cap does not apply to “performance-based compensation,” if
approved in advance by our shareholders. Our 2008 Plan provides that all or a portion of an award that
is subject to performance-based vesting may be designed to qualify as deductible “performance-based
compensation.” The performance criteria for that portion of any award that is intended to qualify as
deductible performance-based compensation will be a measure based on one or more of the following
performance criteria, either individually, alternatively or in any combination, applied to either our
Company as a whole or to a subsidiary, division or other area of our Company, and measured either
annually or cumulatively over a period of years, on an absolute basis or relative to a pre-established
target, to previous years’ results or to a designated comparison group, in each case as specified by the
Committee: (a) cash flow; (b) earnings (including gross margin, earnings before interest and taxes
(EBIT), earnings before taxes (EBT), earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and
stock option expense (EBITDASQ), and net earnings); {(c) ethical conduct; (d} communication of our
clinical and scientific information; (e) market share; (f) product manufacturing and development;
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(g) clinical trials; (h) earnings per share; (i) growth in earnings or earnings per share; (j) stock price;
(k) return on equity or average sharcholders’ equity; (1) total shareholder return; (m) return on capital;
(n) return on assets or net assets; (0) return on investment; (p) revenue; (q) income or net income;

(r) operating income or net operating income; (s) operating profit or net operating profit; (t) operating
margin; (u) return on operating revenue; (v) overhead or other expense reduction; (w) growth in
shareholder value relative to the two-year moving average of the S&P 500 Index; (x) growth in
shareholder value relative to the two-year moving average of the Dow Jones Industrial Average;

(y) credit rating; (z) strategic plan development and implementation; (aa) succession plan development
and implementation; (bb) retention of executive talent; (cc) improvement in workforce diversity;

_(dd) return on average shareholders’ equity relative to the ten-year treasury yield; (ee) capital resource
management plan development and implementation; (ff) improved internal financial controls plan
development and implementation; (gg) corporate tax savings; (hh) corporate cost of capital reduction;
(ii) investor relations program development and implementation; (jj) corporate relations program
development and implementation; (kk) executive performance plan development and implementation;
and (ll) tax provision rate for financial statement purposes. The Committee may adjust the performance
results to take into account extraordinary, unusual, non-recurring, or non-comparable items. No award
of restricted stock, deferred stock or other awards granted under our 2008 Plan {other than stock
options and stock appreciation rights) that is intended to satisfy the requirements for “performance
based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code will be payable unless the Committee certifies
in writing that the applicable performance goals have been satisfied.

Change in Control.  In the event of certain changes in control of United Therapeutics, the
Committee has the discretion to provide that any award under our 2008 Plan that may be exercised will
become fully vested and exercisable, and/or that all restrictions on any awards under our 2008 Plan will
lapse as the Committee determines, which may be prior to the change of control,

Termination or Amendment.  Our 2008 Plan will continue in effect until the first to occur of (i) its
termination by the Committee or (ii) the date on which all shares available for issuance under our 2008
Plan have been issued and all restrictions on such shares under the terms of our 2008 Plan and the
agreements evidencing awards granted under our 2008 Plan have lapsed. However, no incentive stock
option may be granted under our 2008 Plan after April 28, 2018.

The Committee may terminate or amend our 2008 Plan at any time, provided that without
sharcholder approval, our 2008 Plan cannot be amended to increase the Share Reserve, change the
class of persons eligible to receive incentive stock options or effect any other change that would require
shareholder approval under any applicable law. No termination or amendment may affect any
outstanding award unless expressly provided by the Committee, and, in any event, may not adversely
affect an outstanding award without the consent of the participant unless necessary to comply with any
applicable law.

The foregoing summary of certain provisions of our 2008 Plan is qualified by reference to the text
of our 2008 Plan attached as Appendix A to this proxy statement.

The aggregate market value of the shares of our common stock held by non-affiliates based on the
closing price of our common stock on March 5, 2008, of $82.72 as reported by the NASDAQ Global
Select Market was $1,830,600,000.

Summary of Federal Income Tax Consequences of our 2008 Plan

The following summary describes the typical U.S. federal income tax consequences of awards
granted under our 2008 Plan based upon provisions of the Code, as in effect on the date hereof,
current regulations promulgated and proposed thercunder, and existing public and private
administrative rulings of the Code, all of which are subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect).
This is not intended to be a complete analysis and discussion of the federal income tax treatment of
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awards under our 2008 Plan, and does not discuss estate or gift taxes or the income tax laws of any
municipality, state, or foreign country. Our Company generally will be entitled to withhold any required
taxes in connection with the exercise or payment of an award, and may require the participant to pay
such taxes as a condition to exercise of an award.

Stock Options.  ISOs and non-qualified stock options (NQSOs} are treated differently for federal
income tax purposes. ISOs are intended to satisfy the requirements of Section 422 of the Code. NQSOs
need not satisty such requirements.

A participant is not taxed on the grant or, except as described in the next sentence, the exercise of
an 1SO. The difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of the shares on the
exercise date, however, will be a preference item for purposes of the alternative minimum tax, and thus
a participant could be subject to the alternative minimum tax as a result of the exercise of an 1SO. If a
participant holds the shares acquired upon exercise of an ISO for at least two years following the
option grant date and at least one year following exercise, the participant’s gain, if any, upon a
subsequent disposition of such shares is long-term capital gain. The measure of the gain is the
difference between the proceeds received on disposition and the participant’s basis in the shares (which
generally equals the exercise price).

If a participant disposes of shares acquired pursuant to exercise of an ISO before satisfying the
one and two-year holding perieds described above, then: (i) if the proceeds received exceed the
exercise price of the ISO, the participant will recognize capital gain equal to the excess, if any, of the
proceeds received over the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise, and will recognize
ordinary income equal to the excess, if any, of the lesser of the proceeds received or the fair market
value of the shares on the date of exercise over the exercise price of the ISO; or (ii} if the proceeds
received are less than the exercise price of the ISO, the participant will recognize a capital loss equal to
the excess of the exercise price of the ISO over the proceeds received. Capital gains recognized upon a
disqualifying disposition will be taxable as long term capital gains if the participant held the shares for
more than one year after the exercise of the 150, or otherwise as short-term capital gains if the
participant held the shares for less than ane year after the exercise of the ISQ. Capital losses
recognized upon a disqualifying disposition will offset long term capital gains if the participant held the
shares for more than one year after the exercise of the ISO, or otherwise wiil offset up to $3,000 of
long-term or short-term capital gains each year with the remainder carried forward if the participant
held the shares for less than one year after the exercise of the 1SO.

Our Company is not entitled to an income tax deduction on the grant or exercise of an ISO or on
the participant’s disposition of the shares after satisfying the holding period requirements described
above. If the holding periods are not satisfied, our Company will be entitled to a deduction in the year
the participant disposes of the shares in an amount equal to the ordinary income recognized by the
participant.

The recipient of an NQSO will not realize any taxable income upon the grant of the option. Upon
exercise of such option, the participant will realize ordinary income in an amount generally measured
by the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise over the option
exercise price. Qur Company will generally be entitled to a deduction in the same amount as the
ordinary income realized by the participant. Upon the sale of such shares, the participant will realize
short-term or long-term capital gain or loss, depending upon the length of time the shares are held.
Such gain or loss will be measured by the difference between the sale price of the shares and the fair
market value on the date of exercise. Special rules will apply in cases where a recipient of an award
pays the exercise or purchase price of the award or applicable withholding tax obligations under our
2008 Plan by delivering previously owned shares or by reducing the number of shares otherwise issuable
pursuant to the award. The surrender or withholding of such shares will in certain circumstances result
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in the recognition of income with respect to such shares or a carryover basis in the shares acquired,
and may constitute a disposition for purposes of applying the ISO holding periods discussed above.

Stock Appreciation Rights. There will be no federal income tax consequences to either the
participant or our Company on the grant of a stock appreciation right or while the right remains
outstanding. Upon the exercise of such right, the participant will recognize ordinary income in an
amount equal to the amount of cash and/or the fair market value, at the date of such exercise, of the
shares received by such participant as a result of such exercise. Our Company will generally be entitled
to a corresponding tax deduction.

Restricted Stock. The federal income tax consequences of a grant of restricted stock depend upon
whether or not a participant elects to be taxed at the time of the grant of such shares under
Section 83(b) of the Code (an 83(b) election). If no 83(b) election is made, the participant will not
recognize taxable income at the time of the grant of the restricted stock. When the restrictions on the
shares lapse, the participant will recognize ordinary taxable income in an amount equal to the fair
market value of the restricted stock at that time. If the 83(b) election is made, the participant will
recognize taxable income at the time of the grant of restricted stock in an amount equal to the fair
market value of such shares at that time, determined without regard to any of the restrictions. If the
shares are forfeited before the restrictions lapse the participant will be entitled to no deduction on
account thereof.

The participant’s tax basis in the restricted stock is the amount recognized by him or her as
income attributable to such shares. Gain or loss recognized by the participant on a subsequent
disposition of any such shares is capital gain or loss if the shares are otherwise capital assets,

Our Company will be entitled to a tax deduction in the same amount as the income recognized by
the participant as a result of the grant of restricted stock or lapse of restrictions in the taxable year in
which the participant recognizes such income.

Deferred Stock/Other Stock Awards,  Participants will not have taxable income upon the grant of
deferred stock or-other stock awards. Recognition of taxable income is postponed until the restrictions -
on the awards lapse. At that time, the participant will recognize taxable income equat to the then fair
market value of the shares or other property issuable in payment of such award, and such amount will
be the tax basis for such shares. Our Company will be entitled to a tax deduction in the same amount
as the income recognized by the participant as a result of the lapse of restrictions in the taxable year in
which the participant recognizes such income.

Other Tax Issues. As noted above, Section 162(m) of the Code limits our federal income tax
deduction for compensation paid to the Chief Executive QOfficer and any of the three other most highly
compensated executive officers (other than the Chief Financial Officer) for the applicable taxable year.
In certain instances, our Company may be denied a compensation deduction for awards granted to
certain executive officers that do not qualify as “performance-based compensation” to the extent their
aggregatt compensation exceeds $1,000,000 in a given year.

As noted above, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, accelerate the payment or vesting or
release any restrictions on any awards in the event of a change in control of our Company (as defined
in our. 2008 Plan) or in the event of certain tender offers. If a participant’s award vests because of a
change in (i) the ownership or effective control of our Company or (ii) the ownership of a substantial
portion of the assets of our Company and the participant is an officer, shareholder or highly-
compensated employee of our Company, such acceleration could be subject to the “golden parachute”
provisions of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code. In that event, our Company could be denied all or
part of its tax deduction and the participant could be subject to excise tax.
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PROPOSAL NO. 3: RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT
OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP AS UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION’S
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR 2008

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has appointed Ernst & Young LLP as our
independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended 2008. Services provided to us and our
subsidiaries by Emnst & Young LLP in 2007 are described under the section entitled Principal
Accountant Fees and Services below.

We ask our shareholders to ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm. Although ratification is not required by our Bylaws or otherwise, our
Board of Directors has chosen to submit the selection of Ernst & Young LLP to our shareholders for
ratification as a matter of good corporate practice.

Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP will be present at our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders
to respond to appropriate shareholder questions and to makes such statements as they may desire.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock present, in
person or by proxy, and entitled to vote at our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders is required for
ratification.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT SHAREHOLDERS VOTE “FOR”
RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR 2008.

In the event our shareholders do not ratify the appointment, the appointment will be reconsidered
by the Audit Committee and our Board of Directors. Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit
Committee in its discretion may select a different registered public accounting firm at any time during
the year if it determines that such a change would be in our the best interests and those of our
shareholders.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis will describe the Compensation Committee’s .
compensation objectives and policies for our Named Executive Officers, including executive pay
decisions and processes and all elements-of United Therapeutics’ executive compensation program.

United Therapeutics’ Named Executive Officers, a. group comprised of the Chief Executive Officer,
the Chief Financial Officer, and two other executive officers in 2007, are the following four individuals:

Martine Rothblatt, Ph.D. Chief Executive Officer

Roger Jeffs, Ph.D. President and Chief Operating Officer

Paul Mahon, 1.D. Executive Vice President, Strategic Planning and
General Counsel : )

John Ferrari Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Executive Summary

The Board of Directors believes that United Therapeutics has an exceptional leadership team
(including each of our Named Executive Officers) and that their leadership is one of the principal
reasons why United Therapeutics has consistently generated industry-leading performances over the
past six years. The Compensation Committee believes it is critical to United Therapeutics’ future
success that the Company retain and reward executive officers in a manner that supports a strong
pay-for-performance philosophy such that the compensation realized by the executive officers reflects
the operational performance of the company and the value realized by shareholders. The
Compensation Committee believes-that these objectives are accomplished through the following
executive compensation principles and processes that the Compensation Committee follows in - .
establishing executive compensation;

+ Compensation for our Named'Execut_ivc Officers is benchmarked against two peer groups
(defined more fully in the section entitled Benchmarking Compensation below) in order to
provide competitive compensation to our executives and to forestall their loss to competitors.

* Target compensation opportunities are established at or above the 75" percentile of the Similarly
Situated Peer Group and at the 50" percentile of the High Performing Peer Group (as defined
below) for each element of total direct compensation (as defined below). The Compensation
Committee’s program is flexible enough to allow it to provide compensation above or below
these target opportunities so that the compensation realized by executives is aligned with their
performance.

* A substantial portion of target total direct compensation (defined as base salary plus annual
target incentive cash bonus plus annual target equity incentive bonus grant value) is delivered in
the form of variable, performance-based cash and stock option-based compensation structured
with the intent to create an appropriate balance between United Therapeutics’ long-term and

_ short-term performance and a positive relationship between United Therapeutics’ operational
performance and shareholder return. For 2007, such variable compensation comprised an
average of approximately 90% of target total direct compensation, approximately the same
percentage as in 2006. In particular, in 2007, an average of approximately 85% of our Named
Executive Officers’ total direct compensation was delivered in the form of stock options,
supporting our objectives to provide significant incentives to our Named Executive Officers to
increase shareholder value and to align our Named Executive Officers’ interests with those of
our shareholders.
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* In order to promote the retention of our Named Executive Officers and other key executives,
certain elements of our executive compensation program require continued service in order to
receive a payout. In particular, in order to be entitled to any benefit under our Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (SERP), an executive must rémain employed with United
Therapeutics until at least the age of 60. Additionally, our annual stock option awards o our
Named Executive Officers other than our Chief Executive Officer are structured to vest in equal
annual installments over a three-year period.

Compensation recommendations for our Named Executive Officers are developed by the
Compensation Committee with input from the Chief Executive Officer (other than with respect to her
compensation) and Compensia, Inc., the Compénsation Committee’s independent consultant. For
additional information regarding the role of Compensia, see the section entitled Compensation
Committee above. No other members of management are involved in compensation decisions for our
Named Executive Officers. The ultimate decision regarding all compensation of our Named Executive
Officers rests with the Compensation Committee. .

Actual total direct compensation during the first-half of 2007 (defined as one half of annual base
salary plus the cash and equity incentive bonus awards for the first half of 2007, including one half of
Dr. Rothblatt’s 2007 equity incentive award) was above the 75th percentile of the Similarly Situated
Peer Group and above the 70th percentile of the High Performing Peer Group, with the peer group
data prorated to reflect one half of compensation received in 2006 for comparison purposes. The
Compensation Committee believes this level of compensation is appropriate considering the following
information relating to United Therapeutics’ overall performance, financial condition and prospects:

* United Therapeutics’ stock price increased 83% during 2007;

* As of November 26, 2007, United Therapeutics had achieved six consecutive years of more than
30% revenue growth, and based on a report prepared by Compensia, it was ranked first among
leading U.S. biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies;

* As-of November 26, 2007, based on a report prepared by Compensia, (i) United Therapeutics’
market capitalization per employee was ranked fourth among leading biopharmaceutical and
biotechnelogy companies; (ii) United Therapeutics’ trailing 12 month price/earnings ratio was
ranked sixth among leading biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies; and (iii) United
Therapeutics® revenue per employee was ranked seventh among leadmg biopharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies; and

* United Therapeutics announced positive results from its pivotal clinical trial of an inhaled
formulation of its lead.product, Remodulin.

Executive Pay Decisions and Process
Compensation Guiding Principles

United Therapeutics’ executive compensation program is designed to achieve four primary
objectives: (i} to attract and retain highly-competent executive officers capable of leading United
Therapeutics to the fulfiliment of its business objectives and continued growth to augment shareholder
value; (ii) to offer competitive compensation opportunities that reward individual contributions and
corporate performance; (iii) to align the interests and compensation of executive officers with the value
created for shareholders through a strong pay-for-performance culture; and (iv) to incentivize executive
officers to consider the long-term as well as the short-term best interests of United Therapeutics.

The Compensation Committee believes that substantial portions of total potential compensation
for our Named Executive Officers should be “at risk”, or dependent on United Therapeutics’
achievement of pre-determined operational goals and increasing shareholder value. For instance, in
2007 the Compensation Committee noted that the overall cash compensation paid to our Named
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Executive Officers remained consistent with the Committee’s compensation guiding principles, although
the mix of base salary and cash incentive bonus award was more heavily weighted toward base salary
than that of United Therapeutics’ peers. In 2007, the Compensation Committee increased the ratio of
at-risk compensation to fixed compensation for each of our Named Executive Officers, as annual cash
incentive bonus target opportunities and equity incentive targets were increased at a rate greater than
increases to base salaries. :
Benchmarking of Compensation, Target Pay Position, Tally Sheets and Other Factors Affecting
Compensation Decisions

Benchmarks. As one factor in its compensation decision-making process, the Compensation
Committee benchmarks the compensation practices of two peer groups made up of United
Therapeutics’ labor market competitors in order to assess the competitiveness of proposed base
salaries, cash incentive bonus target opportunities and equity incentive bonus targets for our Named
Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee reviews the companies included in the two peer
groups annually and makes adjustments to the groups as necessary to ensure that these groups continue
to properly reflect the market in which United Therapeutics competes for talent.

The first peer group, called the Similarly Situated Peer Group, includes biopharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies that are labor market competitors for executive talent and are in a similar
range with United Therapeutics with respect to several metrics, principally the last four quarters’
revenue, last four quarters’ net income, number of employees at year end, market capitalization,
market capitalization as a multiple of revenue, revenue per employee and market capitalization per
employee. For 2007, the Similarly Situated Peer Group was comprised of the same companics as it was
in 2006. They are as follows:

¢ Charles River Laboratories, Inc. » Neurocrine Biosciences, Inc.
* Encysive Pharmaceuticals Inc. * Pharmion Corporation

» Integra LifeSciences Holdings Corporation  * PDL Biopharma, Inc.

* King Pharmaceuticals, Inc. * QLT Inc. (USA)

« Ligand Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ¢ Techne Corporation . y

* Martek Biosciences Corporation * Valeant Pharmaceuticals International
» Medicis Pharmaceutical Corporation * Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
« Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. « ZymoGenetics, Inc.

* Nabi Biopharmaceuticals

The second peer group, called the High Performing Peer Group, includes biopharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies deemed to be industry leaders by the Compensation Committee, regardless of
size, as measured by financial performance, shareholder value creation and drug development and
commercialization. These companies also compete with United Therapeutics for executive talent. The
Compensation Committee believes this latter group is an important comparison based on United
Therapeutics’ historical performance and consequently, the marketability of United Therapeutics
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executives to other companies. For 2007, the High Performing Peer Group was comprised of the same
compames as it was in 2006. They are as follows:

+ Allergan, Inc. * Genzyme Corporation

. An{gen, Inc. ‘ + Gilead Sciences, Inc.

* Barr Pharmaceuticals, Inc. * ImClone Systems Incorporated
* Biogen Idec Inc. » Invitrogen Corporation

* Celgene Corporation + MedImmune, Inc.

 Forest Laboratories, Inc. : * Sepracor Inc.

¢ Genentech, Inc,

With the assistance of Compensia, the Compensation Committee reviews the executive pay
practices of these peer companies as reported in their public filings. The Compensation Committee
compares its proposed base salaries and annual cash incentive target opportunities and equity incentive
bonus targets for our Named Executive Officers with those of both peer groups based on a report
provided by Compensia.

Target Pay Position. "Target compensation opportunities are established at or above the
75™ percentile of the Similarly Situated Peer Group and at or above the 50 percentile of the High
Performing Peer Group for each element of compensation, as well as for total compensation. The
Compensation Committee agreed to target the 75th percentile of the Similarly Situated Peer Group
based on its desire to retain what it believes is an exceptional management team and in recognition of
United Therapeutics’ long-track record of performing at or near the top of this peer group against key
operational and stock growth benchmarks. A lower target percentile is used for the High Performing
Peer Group because these companies tend to be larger than United Therapeutics. The Compensation
Committee evaluates pay competitiveness on an element-by-element basis, as well as on a total
compensation basis. This type of evaluation assists the Compensation Committee with its determination
of the overall compensation to be provided to the Named Executive Officers as well as the appropriate
mix and weighting of each pay element. This approach also provides the Compensation Committee with
flexibility to foeus on one or another element from year-to-year, -

Tally Sheets. The Compensation Committee periodically reviews tally sheets for our Named
Executive Officers and utilizes them, along with peer group analyses, in making its compensation
decisions. These tally sheets assign dollar amounts to each component of compensation for our Named
Executive Officers, including current pay (base salary and cash and equity incentive bonus awards),
outstanding equity awards, benefits, perquisites and potential change in control severance payments.
These tally sheets are one tool used by the Compensation Committee in the process of evaluating the
total amount of compensation provided to each Named Executive Officer and the impact that any
adjustment to the various elements of Named Executive Officer’s current compensation will have on
total compensation. Tally sheets are not used in any formulaic manner to dictate pay decisions.

Other Factors Affecting Compensation Decisions. In addition to benchmarking and tally sheets, the
Compensation Committee also takes into account the financial performance of United Therapeutics,
including without limitation, independent analyst reports on United Therapeutics, changes in its stock
price and fundamental achievements (such as successful clinical trial results), and, bated on this
information, may make adjustments up or down to our Named Executive Officers’ benchmarked levels
of compensation accordingly.
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Discussion of the Components of United Therapeutics’
Executive Compensation Program and Review of
2007 Executive Compensation Decisions

Summary of 2007 Compensation

Total compensation earned or paid to our Named Executive Officers in 2007 is shown in detail in
the table entitled Summary Compensation below. For more details on compensation resulting directly
from the exercise of stock options by our Named Executive Officers, please see the table entitled
Option Exercises and Stock Vested and in the section entitled Equity Incentive Bonus Compensation
below.

_ The main components of compensation to our Named Executive Officers are base salary, cash
incentive bonus compensation and equity incentive bonus compensation. The following table shows our
Named Executive Officers’ base salaries and target variable compensation for 2007 and the amount of
any increase from 2006. The basis for the Compensation Committee’s decisions with respect to each
compensation component for 2007 are discussed in greater detail below.

Summary 2007 Target Compensation

% Increase over % Increase over
% Increase 2007 2006 Cash 2007 2006 Equity
2007 Base Over 2006 | Cash Incentive Incentive Equity Incentive | Incentive Bonus
Executive Officer Salary Base Salary Bonus Target Bonus Target Bonus Tarpet Target
Martine Rothblatt | $755,000 4% | $600,000 20% - (D) (1)
Roger Jeffs $675,000 4% $420,000 20% 175,000 0%
Paul Mahon $585,000 5% $250,000 25% 125,000 0%
John Ferrari $320.000 (2) $140.000 (2) 75,000 (2)

(1) Equity incentive bonus awards for Dr. Rothblatt, if any, are determined at the end of each
calendar year in accordance with a formula set forth in her employment agreement based on the
average closing price of United Therapeutics’ common stock for the month of December.

(2) Mr. Ferrari did not become a Named Executive Officer until the second half of 2006.

2007 Base Salary

Base salary is the primary fixed element of the compensation packages for our Named Executive
Officers. The Compensation Committee reviews and establishes base salary amounts for our Named
Executive Officers each year taking into consideration the following three factors: (i} a subjective
evaluation of individual performance, including contribution to the advancement of corporate
objectives, impact on financial results, and strategic accomplishments; (ii) United Therapeutics” overall
performance, financial condition and prospects; and (iii) the annual compensation received by
comparable positions at United Therapeutics’ peers as described in the section entitied Benchmarking
of Compensation, . Target Pay Position, Tally Sheets and Other Factors Affecting Compensation Decisions
above.

In February 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the base salaries for our Named
Executive Officers listed in the Summary 2007 Target Compensation table above consistent with the
average merit salary increase for United Therapeutics employees in 2007. As this increase reflected the
Company-wide merit salary increase, the Compensation Committee did not consider other factors when
determining these salary increases. These salaries became effective on April 1, 2007,

2047 Cash Incentive Bonus Target Opportunities

Each year, the Compensation Committee establishes maximum annual cash incentive bonus target
opportunity amounts for each of dur Named Executive Officers, taking into consideration the same
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factors as it does when determining base salary. As described in the section entitled Compensation
Guiding Principles above, the Compensation Committee increased the 2007 cash incentive bonus target
opportunities for our Named Executive Officers at a higher rate than it increased base salaries in order
to raise the percentage of at-risk compensation for our Named Executive Officers dependent on United
Therapeutics’ performance. While the Compensation Committee does not set a target percentage of
our Named Executive Officers’ base salaries in order to determine the maximum cash incentive bonus
target opportunities for our Named Executive Officers, one of the Committee’s objectives is to increase
at-risk compensation for our Named Executive Officers over time. The maximum annual cash incentive
bonus target for each Named Executive Officer for 2007 is shown in the Summary 2007 Target
Compensation table above.

2007 Equity Incentive Bonus Targets

Dr. Rothblatt. In accordance with the terms of her employment agreement, Dr. Rothblatt is
eligible to receive an annual award of stock options under United Therapeutics’ 1997 Equity Incentive
Plan to purchase the number of shares of common stock at its closing price on December 31* of each
year that is equal to one-eighteenth of one percent of the increase in United Therapeutics’ market
capitalization each year based on the average closing price of United Therapeutics’ stock for the month
of December. Prior to grant, the Compensation Committee may reduce the number of stock options
determined by this contractual formula. These stock options, if granted, are granted on
December 31% of each year and are fully exercisable on the date of grant. The Compensation
Committee believes that the structure of Dr. Rothblatt’s annual equity incentive bonus compensation is
designed to pay for performance and align Dr. Rothblatt’s interests with those of our shareholders. In
calendar years in which United Therapeutics” stock price increases, Dr, Rothblatt receives equity
incentive bonus compensation in proportion to the increase. In calendar years in which United
Therapeutics’ stock price does not increase, Dr. Rothblatt receives no equity incentive bonus
compensation under her employment agreement and her outstanding stock options do not increase in
value, as was the case in 2000, 2001, 2004 and 2006.

Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari.  Twice each year, on approximately the same schedule as
the cash incentive bonus awards, our Named Executive Officers other than Dr. Rothblatt. have been
awarded stock option grants under United Therapeutics’ 1997 Equity Incentive Plan, and, beginning in
2008, will be awarded stock options under the 2008 United Therapeutics Corporation Equity Incentive
Plan if it is approved by United Therapeutics’ shareholders, up to a predetermined annual maximum
target amount. The maximum stock option award amount is established each February by the
Compensation Committee. In establishing the maximum equity incentive bonus targets, the
Compensation Committee takes into consideration the factors listed in the section entitled
Compensation Guiding Principles above. For 2007, the equity incentive bonus targets for Dr. Jeffs and
Mr. Mahon remain unchanged from 2006, while the equity incentive bonus target for Mr. Ferrari was
increased by approximately 42,000 stock options from the number of stock options that were awarded
to him in 2006. The primary reason for this increase was to increase his equity incentive compensation
target to a market competitive level in recognition of his appointment to Chief Financial Officer. The
equity incentive bonus target for each Named Executive Officer for 2007 is shown in the Summary 2007
Target Compensation table above.

The Compensation Committee’s standard practice is to grant stock options to our Named
Executive Officers, other than Dr. Rothblatt, that vest in equal annual installments over a three-year
period. :

Cash Incentive Bonus Coempensation

Cash incentive bonus compensation for our Named Executive Officers is primarily based on
United Therapeutics’ Company-wide Milestone Incentive Bonus Program for which all full-time
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employees of United Therapeutics are eligible. This program, administered by the Compensation
Committee, establishes qualitative or quantitative metrics, as appropriate, for each of five
Company-wide Milestones which reflect core performance measures for the success of United
Therapeutics’ business. With the participation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Compensation
Committee selects these Milestones as the most important substantive activities of United Therapeutics
and the ones which the Compensation Committee believes translate most directly into short-, mediuvm-
and long-term value growth. Our Company-wide Milestones at the end of 2007 were: -

Milestone 1 — Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortization and Stock
Options (EBITDASQ) per share growth, excluding one-time events,
in the top quintile of United Therapeutics’ peer group, as measured
by a 40% growth in EBITDASO for the same quarter in sequential
years or 10% growth in EBITDASO for sequential quarters

Milestone 2 — Ethical conduct, including the absence of material legal problems

Milestone 3 — Communication of United Therapeutics’ clinical and scientific
information and market share

|
|
Milestone 4 — Product manufacturing and pipeline development |
|

Milestone 5 — Clinical trial completions, publication and expert rankings of
approved drugs

The First Milestone relates to cash profits, a short-term objective because this metric reflects
United Therapeutics’ quarterly growth and directly affects United Therapeutics’ stock price. The third
Milestone relates to market awareness of United Therapeutics’ products, a sustaining factor in
maintaining cash profits, thus a medium-term objective. The fifth Milestone relates to starting and
completing new clinical trials and getting the results published, which is how United Therapeutics can
sustain long-term growth. The other two Milestones relate to avoiding manufacturing problems and
legal problems, thus reducing risks to United Therapeutics’ short-, medium- and long-term growth
prospects. The Compensation Committee believes that these Milestones are a good indicator of future
stock market performance. '

Partial credit opportunities are available for achieving certain Milestones based on performance
goals established by the Compensation Committee. In addition, the Compensation Committee annually
assigns each Milestone a percentage weighting of the overall cash incentive bonus target opportunity.
Each Milestone is initially weighted equally for each performance period and the Compensation
Committee then adjusts the weighting for difficulty. For example, in 2007, the Milestone relating to
cash profits was assigned a greater weight, while the Milestone relating to legal problems was assigned
a lesser weight, because the former is the most difficult to achieve while the latter is the easiest to
achieve. The weighting of the Milestones reflects the relative importance of each performance measure
for each semi-annual performance period, and can change from year to year or performance period to
performance period.

The Milestones are meant to challenge our Named Executive Officers; therefore, the
Compensation Committee believes they are difficult to meet, as evidenced below in the description of
the payout for the second half of 2006 and first half of 2007, and require significant leadership and
execution on behalf of our Named Executive Officers. Because of this, the Compensation Commitiee
believes that the cash incentive bonus program effectively supports the Compensation Committee’s
objectives related to promoting a strong pay-for-performance culture and rewarding our Named
Executive Officers for their individual and corporate performance.

Twice yearly, the Compensation Committee reviews United Therapeutics’ achievement of the
Milestones and establishes performance goals for the Milestones. The Company-wide Milestone
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Incentive Bonus Program is assessed on a semi-annual basis because the Compensation Committee
believes that holding our Named Executive Officers accountable twice a year, instead of once a year,
produces better performance from them. In addition, the environment in which United Therapeutics
operates is so dynamic that setting performance objectives over a period longer than six months risks
either setting goals that would prove frustratingly unrealistic or too easy 10 achieve,

Although cash incentive bonus awards are made on a semi-annual basis and the first award may be
for less than half of the maximum annual cash incentive bonus target opportunity amount for a Named
Executive Officer, the Compensation Committee has the option to award the maximum annual cash
incentive bonus target amount for any annual period, and has previously done so. In addition, the
Compensation Committee may award an amount in excess of the maximum annual cash incentive
bonus target opportunity based on superlative individual performance, and has previously done so.

For 2007, the Compensation Committee made a mid-year determination of cash incentive bonus
awards for our Named Executive Officers in July 2007, which awards were paid in September 2007. The
Compensation Committee will make a year-end determination of cash incentive bonus awards for our
Named Executive Officers in April 2008 for payment in April 2008.

First Half of 2007 Milestones (awarded on September 15, 2007)

For the first half of 2007, the Milestones were as follows:

First Half of 2007 Milestones

Milestone . Maximum Target
Milestone 1 — Operating cash flow (OCF) per share growth in the top quintile of Up to 25%

United Therapeutics’ peer group, as measured by a 40% growth in
OCF/share for the same quarter in sequential years and 10% growth
in OCF/share for sequential quarters

Milestone 2 —  Ethical conduct Up to 15%

Milestone 3 — Communication of United Therapeutics’ clinical and scientific Up to 20%
information and market share

Milestone 4 — Product inventory and development Up to 20%

Milestone 5 —  Clinical trials Up to 20%

Partial credit opportunities are available for certain Milestones based on the following performance
goals established by the Compensation Committee: '

Partial Credit Performance Goals

Milestone 1 — OCEF in the top quintile, but not quarter-to-quarter growth, will earn 40% of this
Milestone Target. :

Milestone 2 — Absence of ethical conduct issues, but presence of a business lawsuit, will earn 33% of
this Milestone Target.

Milestone 3 — Greater than 80% awareness of key information about our lead product, Remodulin,
even if Remodulin does not achieve the top-selling position 4n its class in major
markets other than Japan, will earn 50% of this Milestone Target.

Milestone 4 — For adequate inventory, 11% of this Milestone Target will be earned. For each
development program in progress, 1% of the overall Company-wide Milestone
Incéntive Bonus Program potential award will be earned, provided that specified
progress in clinical trials has been achieved, up to the Maximum Target.

Milestone 5 — Each publication in a top-tier medical journal will earn 5% of this Milestone Target,
even in the absence of a top ranking in medical consensus statements. Each pivotal
trial fully enrolled will earn 5% of this Milestone Target.
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In May 2007, the Compensation Committee adopted an extra Milestone that represents an
additional payout opportunity in the event that at least 70% of an assessment period’s Milestones are
achieved (the Herculean Milestone). The Herculean Milestone, which applies to all future Milestone
cash incentive bonus awards, was designed to incentivize employees to achieve superlative results for
United Therapeutics. The Herculean Milestone is awarded on a graduated basis, depending on the
percentage of total Milestones achieved: an additional 4% will be added if between 70% and 79% of
the Milestones are achieved, an additional 7% will be added if between 80% and 89% of the
Milestones are achieved, and an additional 10% will be added if 90% or greater of the Milestones are
achieved.

With respect to United Therapeutics’ performance as compared to the Company-wide Milestone
Incentive Bonus Program target criteria for the first half of 2007, the Compensation Committee, after
consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, determined that 71% of Milestones were achieved, in
accordance with the following analysis:

+ Milestone 1 (25% weight): Since United Therapeutics’ operating cash flow per share for the
second quarter of 2007 rose in excess of 60% to approximately $1.13 per share as compared to
approximately $0.72 per share in the first quarter of 2007, United Therapeutics fully achieved more
than the target growth rate on a quarterly basis.

Award: 25%

+ Milestone 2 (/5% weight): Since material legal or ethical problems did not exist during the first
half of 2007, this Milestone was fully achieved.
Award: 15%

* Milestone 3 (20% weight): Even though United Therapeutics’ lead product, Remodulin, likely
achieved the top-selling position in its class in major markets other than Japan during the first half of
2007, a market research survey United Therapeutics commissioned established that United
Therapeutics did not achieve greater than 80% awareness of key information about its lead product,
Remodulin, among specified prescribers. Thus, this Milestone was not achieved, even partially.

Award: 0%

» Milestone 4 (20% weight): Since United Therapeutics exceeded its manufacturing goals for
Remeodulin production during the first half of 2007, a partial Milestone award worth 11% was made
based on the weight provided to this component by the Compensation Committec. Since United
Therapeutics had pending clinical trials in different Phases in its three therapeutic platforms
(cardiovascular diseases, infectious diseases and cancer) during the first half of 2007, a partial
Milestone award worth 5% was made based on the weight provided to this component by the
Compensation Committee.

Award: 16%

* Milestone 5 (20% weight): Since United Therapeutics’ pivotal trial for our investigational product
inhaled treprostinil was fully enrolled during the first half of 2007, a partial Milestone award worth 5%
was made based on the weight provided to this component by the Compensation Committee. Although
United Therapeutics achieved a top ranking for Remodulin in a medical community prescription
guidance publication duting the first half of 2007, this publication did not reflect’a consensus of the
prescribing community and Remodulin did not achieve a top ranking in the last full consensus
guideline, so a partial Milestone award worth 10% was achieved based on the weight provided to this
component by the Compensation Committee.

Award: 15%

Total Award: 71%
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Since 71% of our Milestones was achieved, a Herculean Milestone of 4% was also earned, which
resulted in a determination by the Compensation Committee that each Named Executive Officer was
entitled to a cash incentive bonus award equal to at least 75% of one half of that Named Executive
Officer’s annual cash incentive bonus target opportunity, subject to a discretionary increase by the
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee did not exercise its discretion to increase any
awards payable to our Named Executive Officers for performance in the first half of 2007 because it
felt that the bonus amount awarded was appropriate to reward performance without adjustment.

Cash incentive bonus awards for the first half of 2007 were as follows:

First Half 2007 % of 2007 Annual
Cash Incentive | Cash Incentive Target
Executive Officer Bonus Award Opportunity
Martine Rothblatt $225,000 38%
Roger Jeffs $157,500 38%
Paul Mahon $ 93,750 38%
John Ferrari $ 52,500 38%

This partial mid-year cash incentive bonus award was paid without prejudice to our Named Executive
Officers’ possibility of receiving their maximum 2007 cash incentive bonus target opportunity amount at
year-end at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. These amounts are shown in the Summary
Compensation table below in the Non-Equity Incentive Compensation column and in the Bonus column
(which reflects the portion of the cash incentive bonus award attributable to the Herculean Milestone
paid for the first half of 2007).

Second Half of 2007 Milestones

In October 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the following three modifications to
the target criteria for the Company-wide Milestone Incentive Bonus Program to Milestone 1 and
Milestone 4: : '

* The Milestone 1 metric was changed from operating cash flow (OCF) per share to earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation, amortization and stock options (EBITDASQ) per share;

* The Milestone 1 growth metric was changed from 40% growth per quarter in sequential years
and 10% growth per quarter in sequential quarters to 40% growth per quarter in sequential
years or 10% growth per quarter in sequential quarters; and

* Milestone 4 was modified to replace “Product inventofy and development” with “Product
manufacturing and pipeline development.”

The 2007 second-half cash incentive bonus award to our Named Executive Officers will be
determined by the Compensation Committee on or around April 1, 2008 for payment in April 2008.
Accordingly, the value of the cash incentive bonus awards for our Named Executive Officers is not yet
known. However, in February 2008, the Compensation Committee did determine that 55% of the
Second Half 2007 Milestones had been achieved for the second half of 2007 with respect to the award
of cash and equity incentive bonus compensation under the Company-wide Milestone Incentive Bonus
Program in which all eligible full-time employees participate, other than our Named Executive Officers.
For more details regarding payments to be made in 2008 pursuant to the 2007 second-half cash
incentive bonus award, please see the table entitled Summary Compensation below.
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Equity Incentive Bonus Compensation

Our equity incentive bonus compensation is currently structured to award stock options to our
Named Executive Officers. Stock options realize value only if United Therapeutics’ stock price
increases (which benefits all shareholders) and only if each of our Named Executive Officers remains
with United Therapeutics until his or her stock options vest. For this reason, the Compensation
Committee believes that awarding stock options to our Named Executive Officers structures our
compensation program to pay for performance. Although the Compensation Committee may examine
the potential use of other forms of equity compensation in the future, the Compensation Committee
continued to grant stock options in 2007 because it believes that stock options are an effective means
of: (i) attracting and retaining our Named Executive Officers, encouraging a sense of ownership in
United Therapeutics for our Named Executive Officers; (ii) linking pay with performance; and
(iii) aligning the interests of our Named Executive Officers and our shareholders. Stock option grants
to our Named Executive Officers other than Dr. Rothblatt have been awarded under our 1997 Plan,
and, beginning in 2008, will be awarded under our 2008 Plan if it is approved by our sharcholders, up
to the predetermined annual maximum target amount.

Second Half of 2006 Stock Option Awards (awarded on March 15, 2007)

In February 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the following equity incentive bonus
awards for our Named Executive Officers based on their performance in the second half of 2006,
taking into consideration: (i) a subjective évaluation of individual performance, including contribution
to the advancement of corporate objectives, impact on financial results and strategic accomplishments;
(ii) United Therapeutics’ overall performance, financial condition and pfospects; and
(iii) accomplishments under the Company-wide Milestone Incentive Bonus Program.

Second Half 2006 *

Equity Incentive | % of Annua! Equity
Executive Officer Bonus Award Incentive Target
Roger Jeffs 52,500 30%
Paul Mahon 37,500 30%
John Ferrari 9,000 1)

(1) Mr. Ferrari did not become a Named Executive Officer until the second half of 2006

Dr. Rothblatt.  As previously discussed, the amount of Dr. Rothblatt’s stock option equity incentive
bonus award, if any, is determined by a formula in her employment agreement and awarded once each
year on December 31%. No stock options were awarded to her for the second half of 2006 because the
market capitalization of United Therapeutics as of December 31, 2006 was not higher than it was on
January 1, 2006.

Dr Jeﬂs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari.  As noted above, the size of the stock option awards
granted to Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari depends on corporate and individual performance.
The number of stock options awarded to our Named Executive Officers other than Dr. Rothblatt in
2007 for Second Half 2006 performance, was determined based on the following:

s Overall performance, financial condition and prospects. For the second half of 2006, the
Committee determined that United Therapeutics achieved 60% of the Milestones. This achievement
demonstrated strong performance during the second half of 2006 and was an important factor in the
Compensation Committee’s determination of the size of the equity incentive bonus awards for Dr. Jeffs
and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari. The Compensation Committee also considered that 2006 was the third
year in a row that United Therapeutics revenues increased by 40% annually despite encountering
material challenges each year. '
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o Subjective evaluation of individual performance:

Dr. Jeffs.  Dr. Jeffs received a year-end equity incentive bonus award of 52,500 stock options,
which is equal to 60% of his six-month year-end equity incentive bonus target for the second
half of 2006. The Compensation Committee felt that Dr. Jeffs performed superbly as President
and Chief Operating Officer in his responsibility for United Therapeutics’ clinical and
commercial development programs during the second half of 2006. The Compensation
Committec was pleased with Dr. Jeffs’ development of plans for United Therapeutics’ new
facility in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, and also with his management in launching
two innovative trials for oral Remodulin, while maintaining momentum in other development
programs. His leadership in sales and marketing and shepherding the growth of United
Therapeutics’ lead product was noted as being particularly accomplished.

Mr. Mahon. Mr. Mahon received a year-end equity incentive bonus award of 37,500 stock
options, which is equal to 60% of his six-month year-end equity incentive bonus target for the
second half of 2006. The Compensation Committee felt that Mr. Mahon performed at an
extremely high level during the second half of 2006, negotiating and closing important
agreements, leading and developing a number of strategic initiatives, and managing United
Therapeutics’ $250 million 0.50% convertible bond offering.

Mr. Ferrari. Mr. Ferrari received a year-end equity incentive bonus award of 9,000 stock
options, which is equal to 43% of his six-month year-end equity incentive bonus target for the
second half of 2006. The Compensation Committee felt that Mr. Ferrari’s performance in the
second half of 2006 was outstanding, particularly based on his short tenure as Chief Financial
Officer. The fact that Mr. Ferrari could manage all of the responsibilities of United
Therapeutics’ Finance Department while being instrumental in the success of United
Therapeutics’ $250 million 0.50% convertible bond offering was especially noted by the
Compensation Committee.

The stock options awarded to our Named Executive Officers were priced at the closing price of
United Therapeutics’ common stock on March 15, 2007, the same date that the Company-wide
Milestone Incentive Bonus Program equity incentive bonus awards were made to all eligible employees
of the Company.

For more details on the stock option awards granted to Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari
in 2007 for performance during the second half of 2006, please see the table entitled Grants of Plan
Based Awards below. ‘

First Half of 2007 Stock Option Awards (awarded on September 15, 2007)

In July 2007, the Compensation Committee approved the following equity incentive bonus awards
for our Named Executive Officers for their performance in the first half of 2007, taking into
consideration: (i) a subjective evaluation of individual performance, including -contribution to the
advancement of corporate objectives, impact on financial results, and strategic accomplishments;

(ii} United Therapeutics’ overall performance, financial condition and prospects; and
(iii) accomplishments under the Company-wide Milestone Incentive Bonus Program.

First Half 2007

Equity Incentive | % of Annual Equity
Executive Officer Bonus Award Incentive Target
Roger Jeffs : 62,125 36%
Paul Mahon : 44,375 36%
John Ferrari 26,625 36%
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Dr. Rothblatt.  As previously discussed, the amount of Dr. Rothblatt’s stock option equity incentive
bonus award, if any, is determined by a formula in her employment agreement and awarded once each
year on December 31¥. Accordingly, no stock options were awarded to her relating to performance for
the first half of 2007,

Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari. The size of the stock option awards granted to Dr. .Ieffs
and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari was based on the following:

* Overall performance, financial condition and prospects. United Therapeutics’ achievement of
71% of its Milestones, as discussed under the section entitled First Half of 2007 Milestones above,
demonstrated strong performance during the first half of 2007 and was an important factor in the
Compensation Committee’s determination of the size of the equity incentive bonus awards for Dr. Jeffs
and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari. The Compensation Committee also considered United Therapeutics’
transformation during the first half of 2007 to include a robust sales and marketing presence.

* Subjective evaluation of individual performance:

Dr. Jeffs. Dr. Jeffs received a mid-year equity incentive bonus award of 62,125 stock options
which is equal to 71% of his six-month year-end equity incentive borius target for the first half
of 2007. The Compensation Committee felt that Dr. Jeffs turned in a consistently strong
half-year of performance as President and Chief Operating Officer, and that his management of
clinical and commercial development operations was an important factor in United Therapeutics
achieving 71% of the Milestones. The Compensation Committee was particularly impressed that
under Dr. Jeffs’ leadership, United Therapeutics was able to rapidly enroll two innovative
clinical trials for oral treprostinil, the fastest pivotal trial enrollments in United Therapeutics’
history. Dr. Jeffs also kept United Therapeutics on a 40% year-to-year revenue growth track for,
four straight years and maintained forward momentum on United Therapeutics’ oncology and
infectious disease programs. He also successfully managed developing plans for the construction
of United Therapeutics’ new campus in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, which includes
its first tablet production facility.

Mr. Mahon. Mr. Mahon received a mid-year equity incentive bonus award of 44,375 stock
options which is equal to 71% of his six-month year-end equity incentive bonus target for the
first half of 2007. The Compensation Committee felt that Mr. Mahon performed all of his
General Counsel and Strategic Planning duties achieving exceptional results, including playing
prominent roles in negotiating important agreements during the: first half of 2007. Mr. Mahon
also played a large role in strategic planning during the first half of 2007, proactively engaging in
a number of strategic projects. The Compensation Committee also was complimentary of

Mr. Mahon’s management of his department personnel and budget, and his work in supporting
the Board of Directors and its committees. .

Mr. Ferrari. M. Ferrari received a mid-year equity incentive bonus award of 26,625 stock
options which is equal 10 71% of his six-month year-end equity incentive bonus target for the
first half of 2007. The Compensation Committee felt that Mr. Ferrari performed a tremendous
job fully transitioning into the Chief Financial Officer position during the first haif 2007, and
providing strategic assistance to Drs. Rothblatt and Jeffs and Mr. Mahon. It also felt that

Mr. Ferrari’s prospective strengthening of Finance Department controls and capabilities and his
operational responsiveness were to be commended.

The stock options awarded to our Named Executive Officers were priced at the closing price of
United Therapeutics’ common stock on September 14, 2007, the same date that the Company-wide
Milestone Incéntive Bonus Program equity incentive awards were made to all eligible employees.




2007 Annual Stock Option Award to the Chief Executive Officer (awarded on December 31, 2007)

_ As previously discussed, the amount of Dr. Rothblatt’s stock option equity incentive bonus award,
if any, is determined by a formula in her employment agreement and awarded once each year on
December 31*. For 2007, as a result of an increase in United Therapeutics’ market cap of more than
$1 billion during 2007 as measured in accordance with the formula provided in her employment
agreement, Dr. Rothblatt was awarded 582,607 stock options on December 31, 2007, priced as of the
closing price of United Therapeutics’ common stock on December 31, 2007.

Equity Incentive Awards Grant Timing Policy

Prior to 2006, equity incentive bonus awards were granted to our Named Executive Officers other
than the Chief Executive Officer on a twice-yearly basis in June and December. Beginning in 2006, the
Compensation Committee changed the grant dates to March 15* and September 15" of each year, or
the preceding trading day if these dates fall on a day when the NASDAQ market was not open. This
change in grant dates was made to provide for the pricing of equity incentive bonus awards after
disclosure of United Therapeutics” annual and quarterly financial results, rather than before as was the
case with the June and December payment dates. In this manner, pricing of equity incentive bonus
awards to our Named Executive Officers occurs only after the market has reacted to United
Therapeutics’ earnings. Another benefit of this change in grant dates is that it avoids broad
communication of highly confidential financial results internally through an announcement of how
United Therapeutics performed during each Company-wide Milestone Incentive Bonus program period
prior to public dissemination of United Therapeutics’ quarterly financial results.

For the second half of 2006 and for all of 2007, cash incentive bonus awards for our Named
Executive Officers and equity incentive bonus awards for our Named Executive Officers except the
Chief Executive Officer were made on March 15, 2007 and September 15, 2007, respectively, and will
be made on or around April 1, 2008, for the period from July 1# through December 31, 2007. The
equity incentive bonus award for the Chief Executive Officer is granted in accordance with her
employment agreement once each year on December 31%, or the preceding Friday if such date falls on
a weekend.

2007 Compensation Summary

Actual total direct compensation during the first-half of 2007 (defined as one half of annual base
salary plus the cash and equity incentive bonus awards for the first half of 2007) was above the
75th percentile of the Similarly Situated Peer Group and the 70th percentile of the High Performing
Peer Group, with the peer group data prorated to reflect one half of 2006 for comparison purposes and
with the value of the equity incentive bonus award calculated as of its grant date. The table below |
shows the approximate percent rank for each Named Executive Officer relative to each peer group. :
|

Similarly Situated High Performing
Executive Officer ) . Peer Group Peer Group
Martine Rothblatt > 75" percentile | > 75% percentile
Roger Jeffs > 75" percentile | 65 percentile
Paul Mahon > 75" percentile | 75% percentile
John Ferrari > 75" percentile | 50% percentile

As described in the Executive Summary, the Compensation Committee believes these compensation
levels are appropriate based on United Therapeutics’ accomplishments in 2007, incinding stock price
performance and execution of United Therapeutics’ growth strategy, on an absolute and relative basis
to other companies in our industry. '
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Benefits and Perquisites

The benefits offered to our Named Executive Officers are substantially the same as those offered
to all employees, with the exception of the Supplemental Executive Retirement plan discussed in the
section entitled Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan below. United Therapeutics provides a
tax-qualified retirement plan (a 401(k) plan) and medical and other benefits to executives that are
generally available to other full-time employees. Under the 401(k) plan, all employees are permitted to
contribute up to the maximum percentage allowable under applicable law (i.e., $15,500 in 2007 or
$20,500 for eligible participants who are age 50 or older). United Therapeutics makes matching
contributions equal to 20% of the participant’s contributions for employees who have completed six
months of employment, with such matching contributions vesting 33'4% per year based on years of
service, not the amount of time an employee has participated in the Plan. Therefore, once an employee
completes three years of service, his or her account is fully vested and any future matching funds will
vest immediately. No matching contribution is made for the additional contributions permitted for
eligible participants who are age 50 or older. United Therapeutics does not have a non-qualified
deferred compensation plan.

The 401(k) plan and other generally available benefits programs allow United Therapeutics to
remain competitive for executive talent. United Therapeutics also provides limited perquisites to its
Named Executive Officers, including participation in either our vehicle leasing program, which covers
the monthly lease payment and cost of insurance and maintenance on a vehicle; or a monthly car
allowance of $600. The Compensation Committee believes that the availability of these benefits
programs generally enhances executive recruitment, retention, productivity and loyalty to United
Therapeutics.

For additional details on certain benefits and perquisites received by our Named Executive
Officers, see the table entitled Summary Compensation below,

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

United Therapeutics also sponsors a supplemental retirement/retention program, known as the
United Therapeutics Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the SERP), for select
executives to enhance the long-term retention of individuals who have been and will continue to be
vital to United Therapeutics’ success. Currently, only our Named Executive Officers and three other
senior executives have been designated to participate in the SERF.

In order to be eligible to receive a benefit, a Named Executive Officer must remain employed by
United Therapeutics or one of its affiliates until age 60. In the event of death, disability or a change in
control (as defined in the SERP) an executive may be eligible to receive a benefit prior to age 60. The
benefit formula for the plan is described in detail under the Pension Benefits for 2007 table below. The
benefit is capped at a maximum of 15 years of service and will be reduced by social security benefits.
Upon a change-in-control (as defined in the SERP) before a participant reaches age 60, he or she will
immediately vest in and receive a prorated benefit based on years of service to date. In addition, upon
a change in control, any former executive who is receiving or eligible to receive payments under the
plan shall be entitled to receive a lump sum payment of his or her benefit under the plan.

In December 2007, the Compensation Committee adopted United Therapeutics Corporation
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Document, providing for the establishment of a
trust (the Rabbi Trust), the assets of which will be contributed by United Therapeutics and used to pay
benefits under the SERP, in order to provide more certainty to the SERP participants around United
Therapeutics’ obligation to pay benefits, including upon a change in control (as defined in the SERP).
The Compensation Committee adopted the Rabbi Trust in order to offer some limited level of security
to SERP participants with respect to their nonqualified benefits, as SERP participants otherwise only
have a contractual promise of their employer to pay the benefits. '
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" Additional details regarding the SERP and Rabbi Trust are provided under ‘the Pension Benefits for
2007 table below.

Severance and Change in Control Arrangements for Named Executive Officers

Each of our Named Executive Officers is eligible for certain severance payments in the event his
or her employment is terminated under various circumstances, As discussed in more detail under
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control, the Named Executive Officers’ employment
agreements as well as the SERP and our 1997 Plan provide for certain payments and other benefits in
the event their empoyment is terminated under various circumstances. In exchange for the benefits
offered under these agreements and plans, our Named Executive Officers have agreed not to engage in
competitive activities or to interfere with United Therapeutics’ business relations for a specnfled period
of time following thc termination of their employment.

Generally, our Named Executive Officers will be eligible for termination benefits in the event of:

+ Termination of employment by us upon death or disability;

* Termination of employment by us without cause; .

* Termination of employment as a result of a change in control of United Therapeutics;

* Termination by the executive due to a material diminishment of authority and responsibilities; or

* Resignation by the executive in order to take a position with United Therapeutics as a Senior
Advisor. :

Details regarding severance and change in control arrangements for our Named Executive Officers
are contained in the text following the Potennal Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control table
below.

Dr. Rothblatt’s severance and change in control benefits provided under her employment
agreement are greater than the potential benefits provided to our other Named Executive Officers
under their respective employment agreements and were negotiated prior to our initial public offering
in 1999. These benefits were necessary to retain her services as Chief Executive Officer.

The Compensation Committee approved severance and change in control arrangements in order to
promote the loyalty and productivity of our Named Executive Officers. In addition, for our Named
Executive Officers, the arrangements are intended to align executive and shareholder interests by
enabling executives to consider corporate transactions that are in the best interests of the shareholders
and other constituents of United Therapeutics without undue concern about whether the transaction
may jeopardize their employment. The Compensation Committee wants our Named Executive Officers
to be free to think creatively and promote the best interests of United Therapeutics without worrying
about the impact of those decisions on their employment.

Senior Advisor Status

All of our Named Executive Officers have the option under their employment agreements to
resign for any reason other than a reason constituting cause in order to take a position with United
Therapeutics as a Senior Advisor. This Senior Advisor option was adopted for Named Executive
Officers in order to provide an amicable way to end a Named Executive Officer’s executive
responsibilities. By selecting the Senior Advisor option, a Named Executive Officer could resign from
his or her executive responsibilities, yet remain available to assist United Therapeutics in an advisory
capacity. Named Executive Officers who elect to become Senior Advisors are entitled to receive the
same termination compensation as if they were terminated without cause in accordance with the terms
of their employment agreements and to continue to be employed on a full-time basis as a Senior
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Advisor for up to fifteen years from the date of their resignation. They may continue in this position
for so long as they are willing and able to provide advisory services, with compensation of $50,000 per
year for each year of service without increase, bonus or other adjustment. Details regarding potential
benefits that may become payable in the event of termination without cause are described in the text
following the Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control table below.

Accounting and Tax Considerations
Financial Restatement

The Board of Directors will, to the extent permitted by governing law, have the sole and absolute
authority to make retroactive adjustments to any cash or equity based incentive compensation paid to
our Named Executive Officers and certain other executive officers where the payment was predicated
upon the achievement of certain financial results that were subsequently the subject of a restatement.
To the extent determined appropriate by the Board of Directors, United Therapeutics will seek to
recover any amount determined to have been inappropriately received by an individual executive
officer.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code) generally provides that publicly held
companies may not deduct compensation paid to the Chief Executive Officer and the three other most
highly paid executive officers (other than the Chief Financial Officer) that exceeds $1 million per -
officer in a calendar year. Compensation that is “performance-based compensation” within the meaning
of the Code does not count toward the $1 million limit.

The Compensation Committee has taken steps to ensure that equity incentive bonus awards under
the equity incentive bonus compensation program meet the Section 162(m) requirements. Generally,
stock options granted pursuant to shareholder ‘approved plans are considered “performance-based
compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m). The Compensation Committee has not adopted
a policy with respect to the application of Section 162(m) of the Code as to annual cash compensation
exceeding $1 million. In 2007, Dr. Rothblatt earned in excess of $1 million in base salary and cash
bonus and United Therapeutics will not be able to deduct approximately $160,000 in accordance with
Section 162(m).

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has reviewed and discussed the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K and contained
within this Proxy Statement with management and, based on such review and discussions, the
Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement and incorporated into United Therapeutics’ Annual .
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Compensation Committee
Christopher Causey
(Chair)

R. Paul Gray

Louis Sullivan
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Executive Compensation

The following table shows compensation information for 2006 and 2007 for our Named Executive

Officers:
Summary Compensation Table
Change in
Pension
Value and .
Non-Equity Nonqualified
: Incentive Deferred
Name and Option Plan Compensation All Other
Principal Pusition Year | Salary [Bonus(l) | Awards(2) | Compensation(3} | Earmings(4) | Compensation(5) Total
Martine Rothblatt !
Chief Executive .| 2007 | $767,100 $23,756,600 $213,000 $ 228,000 $19,800 $24,996,500
Officer ) 2006 1$725,000 | $12,000 — $300,000 $5,204,200 $ 9,500 $ 6,238,700
Roger Jeffs
President and Chief | 2007 | $668,800 $ 3,277,700 $149,100 3 34,200 $ 8,900 $ 4,147,100
Operating Officer 2006 1$650,000| § 8,400 |$ 2,548,100 $210,000 $3,133,500 $ 8,500 $ 6,550,100
Paul Mahon
Executive Vice
President, Strategic iy .
Planning and 2007 | $578,800 $ 2,460,200 $ 88,800 $ 22,500 $10,200 $ 3,165,500
General Counsel 2006 | $560,000 | $ 5,000 1§ 1,957,500 $120,000 $2,394,100 $10,100 $ 5,041,700
John Ferran
Chief Financial
Officer and 2007 | $300,000 $ 623,400 $ 49,700 $ 365,400 $ 7,400 $ 1,348,700
Treasurer 2006 ($199.400 | § 2,800 1§ 302,600 $ 25,200 $ 581,300 3 4,700 $ 1,113,200

(1) Amounts shown represent the Herculean Bonus described in the section First Half 2007 Milestones fawarded on
September 15, 2007) in the Compensation Discussion & Analysis, '

(2) Amounts shown represent the amount of compensation cost recognized by United Therapeutics in 2007 related to stock
option awards granted in 2007 and prior years, in accordance with SFAS No. 123R, without any reduction for risk of
forfeiture. For a discussion of valuation assumptions see Note 7 to the 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements included in
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, In accordance with the terms of her employment
agreement, as amended, Dr. Rothblatt is eligible to receive an annual award of stock options to purchase the number of
shares of common stock that is equal to one-eighteenth of one percent of the increase in United Therapeutics’ market
capitalization from its average in December of each year based on the average closing price of United Therapeuties’ stock
for the month of December. Prior to grant, the Compensation Commitiee may reduce the number of stock options
determined by this contractual formula, For 2007, Dr. Rothblatt received 582,607 stock options which were fully vested
upon grant. See the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table for more information on each stock option award granted to our

Named Executive Officers in 2007.

(3) Amounts shown represent cash incentive bonus compensation. Only one half of the cash incentive bonus awards for
performance for 2007 has been paid to our Named Executive Officers, which is discussed and analyzed under the section
entitled Cash Incentive Bonus Compensation ahove. The first payment was made in September of 2007 (for the period
beginning on January 1, 2007, and ending on June 30, 2007), and the second payment is expected to be made in April 2008
when the amounts awarded are determined for our Named Executive Officers (for the period beginning on July 1, 2007,
and ending on December 31, 2007). For 2007, this column reflects only the first payment. When the second payment is
made, United Therapeutics,will report the amount of any bonus awards earned by our Named Executive Officers by filing a
Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(4) Amounts shown represent the increase in the actuarial present value of benefits under the SERP. The assumptions used in
calculating the increase in SERP benefits are described in the footnotes to the Pension Benefits for 2007 table below.

(5) The amounts shown represent the value of the percentage of personal use by Named Executive Officers that can be

attributed to lease payments made on vehicles leased by United Therapeutics, travel for family members to United
Therapeuties' functions, and United Therapeutics’ “matching contributions” under United Therapeutics'401(k) Plan equal

to 20% of each participant’s qualifying salary contributions.
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Named Executive Officer Employment Agreements

The Compensation Discussion and Analysis above describes the Compensation Committee’s
considerations in determining the 2007 base salary, cash incentive bonus and equity incentive bonus
compensation levels for our Named Executive Officers. The material terms of each Named Executive
Officer’s employment agreement relating to compensation in 2007 are described below.

Dr. Rothblatt

In April 1999, we entered into an Executive Employment Agreement with Martine A. Rothblatt,
Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officer. The employment agreement, as amended most recently in
December 2004, provides for an initial five-year term, which is automatically extended for additional
one-year periods after each year unless either party gives at least six months’ notice of termination.
Either party may terminate the agreement prior to an annual renewal, which would result in a
four-year remaining term.

Dr. Rothblatt’s compensation in 2007 was paid pursuant to this employment agreement. For 2007,
she was entitled to a base salary of $755,000, annual equity incentive bonus compensation and
participation in employee benefits generally available to other executives of United Therapeutics. In
accordance with the terms of her employment agreement, we also pay the cost of leasing, maintaining
and insuring automobiltes for Dr. Rothblatt.

With respect to her annual equity incentive bonus compensation, her employment provides that
Dr. Rothblatt will receive an option to purchase that number of shares of common stock that is equal
to one-eighteenth of one percent of the increase in our market capitalization, calculated as the average
closing price for the month of December, from its average measured in December of the prior year.
The Compensation Committee may reduce the number of stock options to be granted in accordance
with the formula in her employment agreement. In 2007, Dr. Rothblatt was awarded 582,607 stock
options in accordance with this formula. To date, all of Dr. Rothblatt’s options have been awarded
pursuant to our 1997 Plan and are fully exercisable on the date of grant. The options will have an
exercise price equal to or exceeding the fair market value of our common stock at the closing market
price on the date of grant. If Dr. Rothblatt is a 10% owner at the time of any grant, the exercise price
will be equal to 110% of the fair market value. The options are exercisable over five years if
Dr. Rothblatt is a 10% or greater stockholder on the date of grant, or ten years otherwise. The
maximum number of shares reserved for such grants is 7,939,517, For information regarding severance
and change in control arrangements for Dr. Rothblatt, see the text following the Potential Payments
Upon Termination or Change in Control Arrangements table below,

Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari

We have entered into employment agreements with each of Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and
Ferrari. As amended on December 29, 2004, the agreements for Dr. Jeffs and Mr. Mahon provide for
an initial five-year term, which is automatically extended for additional one-year periods after each
year. Either party may terminate the agreement upon 60 days notice prior to an annual renewal, which
would result in a four-year remaining term. Mr. Ferrari’s contract was entered into on August 2, 2006.
As amended on December 28, 2006, Mr. Ferrari’s agreement provides for a term of the same duration
as those of Dr, Jeffs and Mr. Mahon. Dr. Jeffs’ agreement provides for an annual base salary of at
least $250,000. Mr, Mahon’s agreement provides for an annual base salary of at least $300,000.

Mr. Ferrari’s agreement provides for an annual base salary of at least $240,000. The level of each
executive’s base salary is subject to annual review and increase by the Compensation Committee. Each
executive is eligible to participate in the Company’s broad-based employee benefit plans. In accordance
with the terms of Dr. Jeffs’ employment agreement, we also pay the cost for leasing an automobile for
Dr. Jeffs.




Mr. Ferrari’s employment agreement also provides his level of annual cash incentive bonus award
and equity incentive bonus opportunities. The bonuses awarded to Mr. Ferrari are ultimately subject to,
performance against the Company’s milestones in accordance with the program discussed in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis. Under his agreement, his annual cash incentive bonus award
opportunity is equal to 35% of his base salary and his annual equity incentive bonus award target is
30,000 stock options; provided, however, that the foregoing equity incentive bonus award target is
subject to review and adjustment from time to time by the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Cominittee has subsequently increased Mr, Ferrari's incentive bonus award target to
75,000 stock options for February 2007,

For information regarding severance and change in control arrangements for these Named
Executive Officers, see the text following the Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
Arrangementis table below.

The following table sets forth additional information regarding annual cash incentive bonus awards
under the Milestone Incentive Bonus Program and equity incentive bonus awards granted to our
Named Executive Officers in 2007:

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2007

Estimated | Estimated
Possible Possible
Payouts Payouts | All Other
Under Under Option Grant
Non-Equity [ Equity | Awards: |Exercise or Date
Incentive | Incentive | Number of Base Fair
Plan Plan | Securities {| Priceof | Value of
Awards(l) |Awards(2) | Underlying|{ Option Option
Approval Target {|Options(3) [ Awards Awards{4)
Name Grant Date| Date Tarpet($) (# (#) ($/Sh} (%)
Martine Rothblatt 12/31/07 |12/31/07 - | 582,607 . —_ $97.65 |[$23,756,000
$600,000 '
Roger Jeffs 03/15/07 |02/20/07 — — 52,500 $55.94 )% 1,355,600
09/15/07 |07/31/07 —_ -— 62,125 $66.79 |$ 1,827,100
: $420,000 o
Paul Mahon 03/15/07 |02/20/07 — — 37,500 §5594 |§ 968,200
’ 09/15/07 (07/31/07 —_ — | 44,375 $66.79 [$ 1,305,100
$250,000
John Ferrari 03/15/07 02/20/07 _ — 9,000 $55.94 |8 232400
09/15/07 |07/31/07 —_— — 26,625 $66.79 |$§ 783,100
$140,000

(1) The amounts in this column reflect each executive’s cash incentive bonus target opportunity that is primarily
based on the annual Milestone Incentive Bonus Program for all of 2007. There are no threshold or maximum
amounts under the program. Actual bonuses received {or 2007 are reported in the Summary Compensation
Table under the column entitled Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation.

(2) In accordance with the terms of her employment agreement, as amended, Dr. Rothblatt is eligible to receive
an annual award of stock options to purchase the number of shares of our common stock that is equal to
one-gighteenth of one percent of the increase in our market capitalization from its average in December of
cach year based on the average closing price of our stock for the month of December. The amount in this
column represents the actual amount earned by Dr. Rothblatt in 2007, No stock options were awarded to
Dr. Rothblatt in 2006 pursuant to this contractual award formula. These stock options were granted under
our 1997 Plan, have a ten year term and are fully vested on the date of grant.

(3) The amounts in this column reflect stock option awards granted under our 1997 Plan. As described in the
Compensation Discussion & Analysis above, these discretionary stock option grants are granted after evaluating
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4)

three factors: (i) a subjective evaluation of individual performance, including contribution to the advancement
of corporate objectives, impact on financial results, and strategic accomplishments; (ii) our overall
performance, financial condition and prospects; and (iii) accomplishments under the Company-wide Milestone
Incentive Bonus Program. The Compensation Committee performs a twice-yearly analysis based on these
factors in order to determine stock option awards. The grants awarded in March 2007 were based on
performance of our Named Executive Officers for the second half of 2006, The grants awarded in September
2007 were based on our Named Executive Officers’ performance for the first half of 2007. Each stock option
has a ten-year term and vests in one-third increments per year from the date of grant, subject to the Named
Executive Officer’s continued employment, except for stock options awarded to Dr. Rothblatt which are fully
vested when issued in accordance with her employment agreement.

Calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 123R as described in footnote (2) to the Summary Compensation
Table.
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The following table sets for the information regarding each unexercised stock option held by each
of our Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2007:

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2007 Year End

Option Awards
Number of Securities
Number of Securities Underlying
Underlying Unexercised
Options(#) Options(#) Option Option
Name Exercisable(1) Unexercisable Exercise Price(2)($) | Expiration Date
Martine Rothblatt .
09/29/1999 63,220 — $27.50 097292009
01/20/2005 263,414 — 43.60 01/20/2015
01/20/2005 422,407 -— 43.60 06/26/2010
12/3072005 368,607 — 69.12 12/30/2015
12/31/2007 582,607 — 97.65 12/3172017
Roger Jeffs
01/02/2003 41,325 — $17.10 01/02/2013
12/15/2004 109,000 —_ T 4474 12/15/2014
06/29/2005 (vesting 06/29/07) 46,667 23,333 48,78 06/29/2015
12/1572005 (vesting 12/15/07) 70,000 d 35,000 71.24 12/1572015
09/15/2006 (vesting 09/15/07 and
09/15/08) 29,167 58,333 56.92 09/15/2016
03/15/2007 (vesting 03/15/08,
03/15/09 and 03/15/10) — 52,500 55.94 03/15/2017
09/14/2007 (vesting 09/14/08,
09/14/09 and 09/14/10) — 62,125 66.79 09/14/2017
Paul Mahon _
03/20/2000 3,333 — $57.13 03/20/2010
05/23/2000 1006 — 60.94 0512312010
10/04/2600 100 — 7713 10/04/2010
11/28/2000 100 — 47.00 11/28/2010
0140272604 4,673 —_ 23.48 010272014
12/15/2004 50,000 — 4474 12/15/2014
01/20/2005 (vesting 01720/07) 16,667 8,333 43.60 01/20/2015
06/29/2005 (vesting 06/29/07) 6,667 8,333 48.78 06/29/2015
12/15/2005 {vesting 12/15/07) 66,607 33,333 71.24 12/15/2015
09/15/2006 (vesting 09/15/07 and
09/15/08) 20,834 41,666 56.92 09/15/2016
03/15/2007 (vesting 03/15/08,
03/15/09 and 03/15/10) — 37,500 55.94 03/15.2017
09/14/2007 (vesting 09/14/08,
09/14/09 and 09/14/10) — 44,375 66.79 09/14/2017
John Ferrari
12/13/2002 647 —_ $17.44 12/15/2012
06/13/2003 5,639 — 21.86 06/13/2013
12/15/2003 7,920 — 20.51 12/15/2013
06/15/2004 1,541 — 2270 06/15/2014
12/15/2004 4,867 - 4474 12/15/2014
06/15/2005 (vésting 06/15/07) 5,296 2,648 49.74 06/15/2015
12/15/2005 (vesting 12/15/07) 5,485 2,743 71.24 12/15/2015
08/10/2006 {vesting 08/10/07 and .
08/10/09) 5,000 10,000 33.72 0871072016
09/15/2006 {vesting 09/15/07 and ’
09/15/08) 6,105 12,208 56.92 (9/15/2016
03/15/2007 (vesting 03/15/08,
03/15/09 and 03/15/10) — 9,000 55.94 03/15/2017
09/14/2007 (vesting 09/14/08,
09/14/09 and 09/14/10) v - 26,625 66.79 09/14/2017

{1}  All stock options vest in one-third increments per year from the date of grant, assuming continued employment, except for
Dr. Rothblatt’s, which are fully vested upon grant pursuant to her employment agreement.

(2) The exercise price of a stock option is the grant date closing price on the NASDAQ Global Select Market of a share of our

common stock.
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The following table shows the number of shares of our common stock acquired upon exercise of
stock options by each of our Named Executive Officers during the year ended December 31, 2007

Stock Option Exercises and Stock Vested

Option Awards Stock Awards
Value
Number of Realized on Number of

. Shares Acquired Exercise Shares Acquired | Value Realized
Name on Exercise (#) {($){1) on Vesting (#) on Vesting ($)
Martine Rothblatt 252,800 $10,982,100 — —_
Roger Jeffs 140,848 $ 9,009,500 — —
Paul Mahon 71,258 $ 3,328,700 — —
John Ferrari 2,000 . |§ 169,200 — —

(1) The value realized equals the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the
fair market value of our common stock upon the date of exercise, multiplied by the number of

shares exercised.

The following table describes the present value of the accumulated benefit for each Named

Executive Officer under the SERP:

.

Pension Benefits for 2007

Present Value of
Number of Years of Accumulated

Name Plan Name | Credited Service(2) Benefit ($)(1) .
Martine Rothblatt SERP 10.3 $5,432,200
Roger Jeffs ‘SERP 9.3 $3,167,700
Paul Mahon SERP 6.5 " $2,416,600
John Ferrari SERP 6.6 $ 946,700

(1) For a discussion of valuation assumptions, see Note 15, Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
to our 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2007. The present value of accumulated benefits calculation includes
non-service related benefits, that is, it assumes continued service until participants reach age 60.
The present value is based on accumulated benefits projected at age 60 based on earnings at
December 31, 2007, without reflecting the age 62 Social Security offset. A discount rate of 6.15%

is used and assumes no pre-retirement death, disability or termination.

(2) The number of years of credited service reflects the different dates that these Named Executive

Officers became employed by us.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In March 2006, the Compénsation Commitiee approved a non-qualified supplemental defined
benefit retirement plan for select key executives to enhance the long-term retention of individuals that
have been and will continue to be vital to United Therapeutics’ success.

The United Therapeutics SERP became effective April 1, 2006. Under the terms of this
arrangement, participants must remain in the employ of United Therapeutics or one of its affiliates
until age 60 to receive a benefit except in the event of death, disability or a change in control of
United Therapeutics. If a participant terminates employment with United Therapeutics for any reason
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prior to age of 60, no benefit will be earned. The benefit to be earned under the plan is based on when
an executive commenced participation in the plan. In general, a participant will be eilgible for an
unreduced benefit under the plan after 15 years of service. Upon a change-in-control before a
participant reaches age 60, he or she will immediately vest in and receive a prorated benefit based on
years of service to date. The Compensation Committee expects the number of participants to remain
small during the life of this program.

-The SERP is administered by the Compensation Committee. Only a member of a “select group of
management or highly compensated employees” within the meaning of ERISA Section 201(2) may be
eligible to participate in the SERP. Currently, our Named Executive Officers and three other officers
have been designated to participate in the SERP. Drs. Rothblatt and Jeffs and Mr. Mahon are all
eligible, upon retirement after the age of 60, to receive monthly payments equal to the monthly average
of the total gross base salary received by the participant over his or her last 36 months of active
employment (the Final Average Compensation), reduced by the participant’s Social Security benefit
{determined as provided under the SERP), for the remainder of the participant’s life (the aggregate
amount of such payments, the Normal Retirement Benefit), commencing on the first day of the sixth
month after retirement. For executives who began participating in the plan after July 1, 2006, including
Mr. Ferrari, the retirement benefit is generally calculated as 100% of the final three year average base
compensation reduced by the estimated social security benefit they would receive in retirement
mualtiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is their years of service and the denominator of which
is 15 (the Normal Retirement Benefit). For participants who have less that 15 years of service with
United Therapeutics, the retirement benefit is prorated by the number of years of actual service
divided by 15 years. By age 60, all of the current participants except Mr. Ferrari will have had 15 years
of service if they remain employed by United Therapeutics. In the event of termination of employment
due to disability prior to the age of 60 or death prior to retirement, a participant or the participant’s
beneficiary, as applicable, will be entitled to a percentage of the Normal Retirement Benefit, as
determined under the SERP (the aggregate amount of such payments referred to as the Disability
Retirement Benefit), commencing on the first day of the sixth month after termination of employment
in the event of a Disability and as soon as administratively practicable in the event of death. .
Participants may elect to receive their benefit in the form of a single life annuity, an actuarily
equivalent joint and survivor annuity, or a lump sum.

Future participants will be recommended for participation in the SERP by the Chief Executive
Officer and, following Compensation Committee approval, will become participants on the first day of
the month coinciding with or next following the date of designation by the Compensation Committee of
eligibility to participate in the SERF. Upon retirement after the age of 60, such participants will be
eligible to receive a Normal Retirement Benefit for the remainder of the participant’s life commencing
on the first day of the sixth month of retirement. In the event of termination of employment due to
disability prior to the age of 60 or death prior to retirement, a participant or the participant’s
beneficiary, as applicable, will be entitled to a Disability Retirement Benefit equal to a percentage of
the Normal Retirement Benefit such participant would have been eligible to receive, as determined
under the SERP, commencing on the first day of the sixth month after termination of employment.

In the event of a transfer of control of United Therapeutics by acquisition, merger, hostile
takeover or for any other reason whatsoever which also qualifies as a “change in the ownership or
effective control of the corporation, or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the
corporation” under Internal Revenue Code section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) (a Change in Control}, a
participant who is actively employed on the date of the Change in Control will be entitled to a lump
sum payment equal to the actuarial equivalent present value of a monthly single life annuity equal to
(1) the participant’s Final Average Compensation, reduced by the participant’s estimated future Social
Security benefit (determined as provided under the SERP), multiplied by (2) a fraction (no greater
than one), the numerator of which equals the participant’s years of service and the denominator of
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which equals 15, to be paid as soon as administratively practicable following the Change in Control. In
the event that a participant is entitled to a Normal Retirement Benefit or Disability Retirement Benefit
at the time of a Change in Control, all such payments (or any remaining payments, with respect to any
participant who is receiving payments under the SERP at the time of the Change in Control) will be
made in a lump sum as soon as administratively practicable following such Change in Control.

Participants in the SERP will be prohibited from competing with United Therapeutics or soliciting
its employees for a period of twelve months following his or her termination of employment (or, if
earlier upon attainment of age 65). Violation of this covenant will result in forfeiture of all benefits
under the SERP.

No payments were made under the SERP in 2007.

In addition, see the section entitled Severance and Change in Control Payments to the Chief
Executive Officer below for a description of potential additional years of service to be awarded to
Dr. Rothblatt pursuant to her employment agreement. There are no other supplementary service
recognition or benefit enhancement provisions for our Named Executive Officers.

Rabbi Trust

On December 28, 2007, the Compensation Committee adopted United Therapeutics Corporation
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Rabbi Trust Document (the Rabbi Trust Document),
providing for the establishment of a trust (the Rabbi Trust), the assets of which will be contributed by
United Therapeutics and used to pay benefits under the SERP. The Rabbi Trust Document was entered
in to on December 28, 2007, between United Therapeutics and Wilmington Trust Company, which will
serve as trustee of the Rabbi Trust. The Rabbi Trust is irrevocable, and SERP participants will have no
preferred claim on, nor any beneficial ownership interest in, any assets of the Rabbi Trust.

 Generally, additional assets to the Rabbi Trust may be contributed by United Therapeutics’ at its
sole discretion. However, pursuant to the terms of the Rabbi Trust Document, within five days
following the occurrence of-a Potential Change in Control (as defined below), or if earlier, at least five
days prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined below), United Therapeutics will be
obligated to make an irrevocable contribution to the Rabbi Trust in an amount sufficient to pay each
SERP participant or beneficiary the benefits to which they would be entitled pursuant to the terms of
the SERP on the date on which the Change in Control occurred.

For purposes of the Rabbi Trust Document, a “Potential Change in Control” will be deemed to
have occurred if one of the following events has occurred: (A) United Therapeutics enters into an
agreement, the consummation of which would result in the occurrence of a Change in Control (as
defined below); (B) United Therapeutics or any person publicly announces an intention to-take or to
consider taking actions which, if consummated, would constitute a Change in Control; or (C) the Board
of Directors adopts a resolution to the effect that, for purposes of the Rabbi Trust Document, a
Potential Change in Contro] has occurred.

For the purpose of the Rabbi Trust Document, “Change in Control” means any transfer in control
of United Therapeutics by acquisition, merger, hostile takeover or for any other reason whatsoever
which also qualifies as a “change in the ownership or effective control of the corporation, or in the
ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the corporation” under Internal Revenue Code
section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v).

The Rabbi Trust will not terminate until the date on which SERP participants or their beneficiaries
are no longer entitled to benefits pursuant to the terms of the SERF.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Each of our Named Executive Officers is eligible to receive certain payments and benefits if his or
her employment is involuntarily terminated without cause, terminated due to disability or death, or
terminated in connection with a change in control of United Therapeutics in accordance with the
applicable terms of their respective employment agreements, the SERP and our 1997 Plan and related
stock option agreements. The amounts shown in the table below are estimates of the value of these
payments and benefits, assuming that such termination was effective as of December 31, 2007. The
actual compensation to be patd to a Named Executive Officer can only be determined at the time of a
Named Executive Officer’s termination of employment. In addition to benefits described below, our
Named Executive Officers will be eligible to receive any benefits accrued under United Therapeutics’
broad-based benefit plans, such as distributions under life insurance and disability benefit plans and
accrued vacation pay.

The payments shown in the following table are provided to our Named Executive Officers under
their respective employment agreements, the SERP and our 1997 Equity Incentive Plan and related
stock option agreements. The summary of these benefits following this table is qualified in its entirety
by the specific language of the various agreements that have been filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Termination
: Involuntary upon a
Executive Benefits and Payments Termination Change in Change In
Upon Separation . Without Cause Disability(1)(2) Death(1)(2) Control Control
Martine Rothblatt )
Salary and bonus $ 3,390,000 $ 920,000 $ 920,000 $ 3,390,000 —
Stock award vesting acceleration — — — — —
Supplemental Executive Retirement .
Pian — 3,264,600 2,255,060 - 3,736,100 3,736,100
Health and other benefits(3) ’ 75,100 — — 75,100 —
Excise tax and gross-up(4) — — — - 1,545,200 —
Total ’ $ 3,465,100 $4,184,600 $3,175,000 8,746,400 § 3,736,100
Roger Jeffs
Salary and bonus $ 1,905,000 $ 115500 $ 115,500 $ 1,505,000 —
Stock award vesting acceleration(5) 8,547,500 8,547,500 8,547,500 8,547,500 8,547,500
Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan — 1,280,600 922,200 1,963,500 1,963,500
Total $10,452,500 $9,943,600 $9,585,200 $12,416,000 $10,511,000
Paul Mahon '
Salary and bonus . ¥ 1,477,500 $ 68,800 $ 68800 $ 1,477,500 —
Stock award vesting acceleration(5) 6,368,600 6,368,600 6,368,600 6,368,600 6,368,600
Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan —_ 718,500 590,600 1,061,900 1,061,900
Tatal ) $ 7,846,100 $7,155,900 $7,028,000 $ 8,908,000 $ 7,430,500
John Ferrari .
Salary and bonus $ 795,400 $ 38,500 $ 38500 $ 795400 —
Stock award vesting acceleration(5) 2,332,500 2,332,900 2,332,900 2,332,900 2,332,500
Supplemental Executive Retirement . -
Plan — 970,900 665,200 970,900 970,900
Total ' $ 3,128,300 $3,342,300 $3,036,600 § 4,099,200 $ 3,303,800

(1) Assumes termination event occurs on December 31, 2007 for payout calculation.
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(2) Includes a bonus estimate calculated based on 55% of the second half of 2007 estimated awards.

(3) Represents the estimated value of continued health care benefits for a three-year period after termination,

€Y

&)

outplacement services, and value of currently leased vehicle.

Upon a change in control, compensat:on and benefits in excess of three times compensation may be subject to
a non-deductible 20% excise tax under section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code. Dr. Rothblatt is entitled
to a gross-up of this tax under her employment agreement. The amount reported is an estimate of this
Eross-up amount, assuming a 35% tax rate. ‘

The value shown is based on the difference between the aggregate exercise price of all accelerated stock
options and the aggregate market value of the underlying shares calculated based on the closing market price
of our common stock on December 31, 2007, §97.65.

Severance and Change in Control Payments to the Chief Executive Officer

If Dr. Rothblatt’s employment is ferminated due to her death or disability, we will continue to pay

to her or her estate her current base salary through the end of the calendar year following such death
or disability, and if her employment is terminated for disability, we will pay for continued benefits
unider our short-term and long-term disability insurance programs. Under our 1997 Plan, any unvested
stock options that she holds will become fully vested upon her death or disability.

Dr. Rothblatt is entitled to severance under her employment agreement upon the occurrence of

any of the following three events (each referred to as a Termination Event):

1) Termination by the Company other than for “cause.” In general, cause means: (i) her
willful and continued failure to substantially perform her duties, or (ii} willfully engaging in
gross misconduct that is materially injurious to United Therapeutics;

2) Termination by Dr. Rothblatt for “good reason.” In general, good reason means, without
her consent, the occurrence of any of the following: (i) the assignment of any duties that are
inconsistent with her position as Chief Executive Officer; (ii) a material adverse change in her
reporting responsibilities, titles or offices; (iii) failure to re-elect her to any position she held
with United Therapeutics; (iv) a reduction in her base salary or failure to increase her salary
consistent with certain other executive salary increases; (v) relocation or additional
substantially more burdensome travel requirements; (vi) removal as a participant in any bonus
or other incentive plans in which she was participating; (vii) failure to keep in effect certain
benefit plans and arrangements; (viii) failure to abide by certain provisions in the agreement;
or {ix} any other material breach of the employment agreement; or

3) Resignation as an executwe officer but contmued status as a Senior Advisor to United
Therapeutics.

Upon the occurrence of a Termination Event, Dr. Rothblatt will be entltled to a lump sum cash

payment equal to the sum of:

* Her then current base salary plus any bonus and incentive payments, which have been
earned through the date of termination;

* The greater of her bonus and incentive payments for the prior year or the average of such
payments for the prior two years, on a prorated basis for the year of termination;

« Three times the sum of her highest annual base salary for the preceding twelve months and
the greater of her previous yeat’s bonus and incentive payment or the average of those
payments for the previous two years; and

» The difference between the fair market price and the exercise price of any non-vested
options held by Dr. Rothblatt.
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Upon the occurrence of a Termination Event, in addition to the benefits Dr. Rothblatt is entitled
to receive under any retirement plan in which she participates on the date of termination (currently the
SERP), Dr. Rothblatt is also entitled to receive a cash payment at her attainment of age 65 of an
amount equal to the actuarial equivalent of the retirement pension, if any, she would have been
entitled to receive-under the terms of the retircment plan in which she was participating at the time of
her termination, without regard to any vesting requirements under the plan, had she received three
additional years of service following the date of termination at a rate of salary equal to her base salary
in effect at the termination date. United Therapeutics is also required to maintain in full force and
effect, in substantially all material respects, atl employee benefit plans, programs and arrangements in
which Dr. Rothblatt was entitled to participate immediately prior to the date of termination for the
longer. of thirty-six months after the termination date or the date upon which she receives comparable
benefits from a new employer, or to provide substantially similar benefits if her participation in such
plans or programs is barred. .

The agreement also provides for a tax gross-up payment to the extent any payments made upon
termination of Dr. Rothblatt’s employment are subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor code provision. In addition,

Dr. Rothblatt will receive other employee and retirement benefits. The agreement prohibits
Dr. Rothblatt from engaging in activities competitive with us for five years following termination of her
employment. She will also be subject to a permanent confidentiality obligation.

Under the SERP, Dr. Rothblatt will be entitled to receive the benefit as described under the
Pension Benefits table above in the event of death, disability or upon a change in control (as defined in
the SERP). As a participant in the SERP, Dr. Rothblatt will be prohibited from competing with United
Therapeutics or soliciting its employees for a period of twelve months following her termination of
employment (or, if earlier upon attainment of age 65). Violation of this covenant will result in
forfeiture of all benefits under the SERP.

Severance and Change in Control Payments to Named Executive Officers Other than the Chief
Executive Officer

Each of the employement agreements with Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari provides for
severance benefits under various termination scenarios. These Named Executive Officers will be
entitled to severance under their employment agreements upon the occurrence of any of the following
four events:

1) Termination by United Therapeutics other than for “cause.” In general, cause means:

(i) failure to perform any of the material terms or provisions of the agreement; (ii) negligent
or unsatisfactory performance of duties, after notice and the opportunity to correct such
performance; (iii) employment or profession related misconduct; (iv) conviction of a crime
involving a felony, fraud or embezzlement; or (iv) misappropriation of Company funds or
misuse of assets;

2) Termination by the executive as a result of his authonty and responsibilities being
materially dlmmlshed without cause;

3) Termination as a result of the transfer of control of United Therapeutics; or

4) Resignation as an executive officer but continued status as a Senior Advisor to United
Therapeutics. ’

Upon the occurrence of any of these events, each of these Named Executive Officers is entitled to
a lump sum payment of the greater of the amount he would have been entitled to receive in base
salary through the remaining term of the agreement or an amount equal to two years of his
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then-current salary and cash incentive bonus. In addition, any unvested options would immediately
become vested.

Upon death or disability, any unvested stock options held by Dr. Jeffs or Messrs. Mahon and
Ferrari will become fully vested. In addition, upon disability, each executive is entitled to receive any
benefits under any incentive compensation plan or program at the time such payments are due.

Each of their employment agreements prohibits Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari from
accepting employment, consultancy or other business relationships with an entity that directly competes
with United Therapeutics or from engaging in the solicitation of our employees on behalf of a
competitor for a period of two years following his last receipt of compensation from us. Each of
Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari are under an obligation of confidentiality for three years after
termination of their employment.

These Named Executive Officers will also be entitled to receive the benefit as described under the
Pension Benefits table in the event of death, disability or upon a change in control (as defined in the
SERP). In addition, as participants in the SERP, each of Dr. Jeffs and Messrs. Mahon and Ferrari will
be prohibited from competing with United Therapeutics or soliciting its employees for a period of
twelve months following his termination of employment (or, if earlier upon attainment of age 63).
Violation of this covenant will result in forfeiture of all benefits under the SERP.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND INFORMATION ON OUR INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS

Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee oversees United Therapeutics’ financial reporting process and monitors
compliance with our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct on behalf of our Board of Directors. We are
all independent directors under the listing standards of NASDAQ and the independence standards set
forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our Board of Directors has
determined that R. Paul Gray, the Committee Chairman, is an audit committee financial expert as
defined under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and that each
member of the Audit Committee meets the financial sophistication requirement of the NASDAQ listing
standards. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter, which we review periodically and
which was adopted by our Board of Directors. We have amended our charter to be consistent with the
provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as the corporate governance rules issued by the
Securities and Exchange Commission and NASDAQ, as they relate to audit committee requirements.

We have met and held discussions with management and our independent auditors. Management is
responsible for the financial reporting process and preparation of the quarterly and annual consolidated
financial statements, including maintaining a system of internal controls and disclosure controls and
procedures. The Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention,
oversight and termination of our independent auditors. Ernst & Young LLP functioned as our
independent auditors for 2007. Ernst & Young LLP is responsible for expressing an opinion on (1) the
conformity of our financial statements with generally accepted accounting principles and (2) our
internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee does not prepare financial statements or
conduct audits. '

In conjunction with the December 31, 2007 audited consolidated financial statements, we have:

* reviewed and discussed our 2007 consolidated financial statements with our management and
Ernst & Young LLP, including discussions about critical accounting policies, other financial
accounting and reporting principles and practices appropriate for us, and the reasonableness of
significant judgments;

» reviewed and discussed management’s assessments of the effectiveness of internal controls over
financial reporting and Ernst & Young LLP’s related assessments and auditing procedures;

* discussed with Ernst & Young LLP the overall scope of and plans for our audits and reviews.
The Audit Committee has met with Ernst & Young LLF, with and without management present,
to discuss our financial reporting processes and internal accounting controls, We have reviewed
all important audit findings prepared by Ernst & Young LLP,

* discussed with Ernst & Young LLP matters that are required to be discussed by generally
accepted auditing standards, including those standards set forth in Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 61, as amended (AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol. 1. AU section 380), as
adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) in Rule 3200T. Ernst &
Young LLP also provided to the Audit Committee the written disclosures regarding its
independence required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, Independence
Discussions with Audit Committees, as adopted by the PCAOB in Rule 3600T. We also discussed
with Ernst & Young LLP any relationships that may have an impact on their objectivity and
independence and satisfied ourselves as to Ernst & Young LLP’s independence. We also
reviewed and pre-approved the scope and fees for all audit and other services performed by
Ernst & Young LLP for us; and
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* met and reviewed with members of senior management and Ernst & Young LLP the
certifications provided by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer under the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission relating to these certifications and the overall certification process.

Based on these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to our Board of
Directors that our audited consolidated financial statements for 2007 and related reports on internal
controls be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. '

Submitted by the Audit Committee:

R. Paul Gray (Chair)
Christopher Causey

Christopher Patusky
Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Fees for professional services provided by Ernst & Young LLP in each of the last two years in
each of the following categories are: )

2007 2006
Audit fees. .. ... U $544,900 $627,000
Audit-related fees . .. L. e e — —
TaX e . . o e e e 300,500 249,500

All otherfees . . . ... o i i e e — —
' $845.400 $876,500

Fees for audit services include fees associated with the audit of our consolidated annual financial
statements, reviews of our interim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly reports,
accounting and financial reporting consultations and services in connection with registration statements.
Audit-related fees are fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the
performance of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and are not reported as
audit fees. Tax fees are fees billed for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice and tax
planning. All other fees include fees for permitted products and services other than those classified as
audit, audit-related or tax.

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has considered and determined that the provision
of non-audit services by Emnst & Young LLP is compatible with maintaining Ernst & Young LLP’s
independence. Since Ernst & Young LLP’s appointment as our independent registered public
accounting firm, the Audit Committee has pre-approved all of the services performed by Ernst &
Young LLP.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit Services and Permissible Non-Audit Services of
Independent Auditor ’

The Audit Committee’s policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services
performed by our independent auditors. These services may include audit services, audit-related
services, tax services and other services, For audit services, our independent auditor provides an
engagement letter to the Audit Commitiee prior to December 31* of each year, outlining the scope of
the proposed audit and audit-related fees. The Audit Committee reviews the letter and negotiates with
and formally engages the audltor
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For non-audit services, our senior management may from time to time recommend to the Audit
Committee that it engage our independent auditor to provide non-audit services, and request the Audit
Committee to approve such engagement. Our senior management and our independent auditor will
each confirm to the Audit Committee that each non-audit service is permissible under all applicable
legal requirements. A budget estimating non-audit service spending for the fiscal year will be provided
to the Audit Committee along with the request. The Audit Committee must approve the permissible
non-audit services and the budget for such services. The Audit Committee will be informed routinely as
to the non-audit services actually provlded by our independent auditor pursuant to this pre-approval
process.

OTHER MATTERS
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors, Named Executive
Officers and 10% shareholders to file reports of ownership of cur equity securities with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and to furnish copies of all such reports to us. We routinely assist our
officers and directors in preparing and filing these reports. To our knowledge, based on the information
furnished to us, we believe that for the year ended December 31, 2007, all such filing requirements
were met. .

Shareholder Proposals

We expect that our 2009 annual meeting of shareholders will take place on June 26, 2009. We
anticipate distributing our proxy statement in connection with our 2009 annual meeting of shareholders
on or about May 1, 2009. Shareholder proposals intended for inclusion in our proxy statement and
form of proxy for the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders must be received by us by overnight mail,
acceptance signature required, no later than January 1, 2009, and must otherwise comply with the rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission for inclusion in our proxy statement and form of proxy
relating to that meeting.

In order for a shareholder to bring other business before the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders,
timely notice must be given to us in advance of the meeting. Such notice must be given no later than
ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred and twenty (120) days before the 2009 annual meeting of
shareholders unless notice of the date of that meeting is provided to the shareholders less than one
hundred (100) days prior to the meeting in which case notice of a proposal delivered by a shareholder
must be received by our Secretary no later than ten days following the date on which notice of the date
of the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders was mailed or disclosed to shareholders. Such notice must
include a description of the proposed business, the reason for conducting the proposed business at the
meeting and other matters as specified in our Amended and Restated Bylaws. These requirements are
separate from and in addition to the requirements a shareholder must meet to have a proposal
included in our proxy statement. These time limits also apply in determining whether notice is timely
for purposes of rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to the exercise of
discretionary voting authority by proxies designated by us. All notices of proposals must be given by
overnight mail; acceptance signature required, to United Therapeutics Corporation, Attention:
Secretary, 1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryiand 20910.

Director Nominations

In order for a shareholder to nominate a director for election at the 2009 annual meeting of
shareholders, our Amended and Restated Bylaws require that the shareholder give timely detailed
notice of the nomination to us in advance of the meeting. Such notice must be given no later than
ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred and twenty (120) days before the 2009 annual meeting of
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shareholders unless notice of the date of that meeting is provided to the shareholders less than one
hundred (100) days prior to the meeting in which case notice of a proposal delivered by a shareholder
must be received by our Secretary no later than ten days following the date on which notice of the date
of our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders was mailed or disclosed to shareholders. In addition, the
notice must meet all other requirements contained in our Amended and Restated Bylaws.

Annual Report

" A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, has been
mailed concurrently with this Proxy Statement to all shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at
our annual meeting of sharcholders. The Annual Report is not incorporated into this Proxy Statement
and is not considered proxy-soliciting material. Shareholders may obtain additional printed copies of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, without charge by mailing a request to United Therapeutics Corporation,
Attention: Vice President, Investor Relations, 1110 Spring Street, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910. An
electronic copy is available on our website: http://irunither.comfannualProxy.cfm.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

We have a written Code of Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer, our principal accounting officer and all of our other directors, officers and
employees. The Code of Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at http://www.unither.com. We
will provide a copy of the Code of Conduct and Ethics free of charge in response to a written request
mailed to our corporate headquarters to the attention of: Investor Relations Department, 1110 Spring
St., Silver Spring, Maryland 20910. If any amendment to, or a waiver from, a provision of the Code of
Conduct and Ethics that applies to the principal executive officer, principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer is made, such information will be posted on our Internet website at
hitp:/fwww.unither.com.

Other Business

Management knows of no matters to be presented for action at the 2008 annual meeting of
shareholders other than as presented above, However, if any other matter properly comes before the
meeting, it is intended that the persons named in the accompanying form of proxy will vote on such
matters in accordance with their judgment of the best interests of United Therapeutics.
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APPENDIX A

UNITED THERAPEUTICS CORPORATION
2008 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

(Effective as of March 4, 2008)

ARTICLE I
PURPOSE

1.1 General.

The purpose of the United Therapeutics Corporation Equity Incentive Plan {the “Plan) is to
promote the success, and enhance the value, of United Therapeutics Corporation (the “Company”), by
linking the personal interests of its qualified directors, officers, employees and consultants to those of
Company shareholders and by providing its qualified directors, officers, employees and consultants with
an incentive for outstanding performance. The Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to the
Company in its ability to motivate, attract, and retain the services of employees upon whose judgment,
interest, and special effort the successful conduct of the Company’s operation is largely dependent.
Accordingly, the Plan permits the grant of incentive awards from time to time to selected directors,
officers, employees and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries.

ARTICLE 2
EFFECTIVE DATE

2.1 Effective Date.

The Plan will become effective on April 29, 2008, subject to approval by the shareholders of the
Company. The Plan will be deemed to be approved by the shareholders if it receives the approval of
the holders of a majority of the shares of stock of the Company in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the Laws of the State of Delaware and the Bylaws of the Company. Any Awards granted
under the Plan prior o shareholder approval are effective when made (unless the Committee specifies
otherwise at the time of grant), but no Award may be exercised or settled and no restrictions relating
to any Award may lapse before shareholder approval. If the shareholders fail to approve the Plan
within twelve (12) months of April 29, 2008, any Award previously made pursuant to the Plan shall be
automatically canceled without any further act. :

ARTICLE 3
DEFINITIONS

3.1 Definitions.

When appearing in this Plan with the initial letter capitalized, and the word or phrase does not
commence a sentence, the word or phrase shall generally be given the meaning ascribed to it in this
Section or in Sections 1.1 or 2.1, unless a clearly different meaning is required by the context. The
following words and phrases shall have the following meanings:

(a) “Award” means any Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock Award, or
Performance Share Award, or any other right or interest relating to Stock or cash, granted to
a Participant under the Plan.

(b) “Award Agreement” means any written agreement, contract, or other instrument or document
evidencing an Award.

(c) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
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“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time,
“Committee” means the committee of the Board described in Article 4.
“Company” means United Therapeutics Corporation.

“Disability” shall mean any illness or other physical or mental condition of a Participant that

renders the Participant incapable of performing his customary and usual duties for the

Company, or any medically determinable illness or other physical or mental condition resulting
from a bodily injury, disease or mental disorder which, in the judgment of the Committee, is
permanent and continuous in nature. The Committee may require such medical or other
evidence as i1 deems necessary to judge the nature and permanency of the Participant’s
condition. Such disability determination shall be made in accordance with Code

section 22{e)(3).

“Effective Date™ has the meaning assigned such term in Section 2.1.

“Fair Market Value” means with respect to Stock or any other property, the fair market value
of such Stock or other property determined by such methods or procedures as may be
established from time to time by the Committee.

“Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is intended to meet the requirements of
Section 422 of the Code or any successor provision thereto.

“Non-Qualified Stock Option” means an Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

“Option” means a right granted to a Participant under the Plan to purchase Stock at a
specified price during specified time periods. An Option may be either an Incentive Stock
Option or a Non-Qualified Stock Option.

“Participant” means a person who, as a director, officer, employee or consuttant of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, has been granted an Award under the Plan.

“Performance Award™” means a right granted to a Participant under Article 9 to receive cash,
Stock, or other Awards, the payment of which is contingent upon achieving certain
performance goals established by the Committee (includes “Performance Shares” and
“Performance Units™).

“Performance Share” means a right granted to a Participant under Article 9 to receive shares
of Company Stock, the payment of which is contingent upon achieving certain performance
goals.

“Performance Units” means a right granted to a Participant under Article 9 to receive units
the value of which is equivalent to $1.00, the payment of which is contingent upon achieving
certain performance goals.

“Plan” means the United Therapeutics Corporation 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended from time to time.

“Restricted Stock Award” means Stock granted to a Participant under Article 10 that is
subject to certain restrictions and to risk of forfeiture.

“Retirement” means a Participant’s termination of employment with the Company after
attaining any normal or early retirement age specified in any pension, profit sharing or other
retirement program sponsored by the Company as provided in the Company’s policies or, if
earlier, Social Security normal retirement age.




(t) “Stock” means the United Therapeutics Corporation par value common stock of the Company
and such other securities of the Company as may be substituted for Stock pursuant to
Article 12.

(u) “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means a right granted to a Participant under Article 8
to receive a payment equal to the difference between the Fair Market Value of a share of
Stock as of the date of exercise of the SAR and the grant price of the SAR, as determined
pursuant to Article 8.

(v} “1933 Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time.

(w) “1934 Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time.

ARTICLE 4
ADMINISTRATION

4.1 Committee.

The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board. The Committee
shall consist of two or more members of the Board who are (i} “outside directors” as that term is used
in Section 162 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder, and (ii) “non-employee
directors,” as such term is defined for purposes of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under Section 16 of the
1934 Act or any successor provision, except as may be otherwise permitted under Section 16 of the
1934 Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

4.2 Action by the Committee.

For purposes of administering the Plan, the following rules of procedure shall govern the
Committee. A majority of the Committce shall constitute a quorum. The acts of a majority of the
members present at any meeting who are, at whiéh a quorum is present and acts approved in writing by
a majority of the Committee in lieu of a meeting shall be deemed the acts of the Committee. Each
member of the Committee is entitled, in good faith, to rely or act upon any report or other information
furnished to that member by any officer or other employee of the Company, the Company’s
independent certified public accountants, or any executive compensation consultant or other
professional retained by the Company to assist in the administration of the Plan.

4.3 Authority of Committee.
The Committee has the exclusive power, authority and discretion to:
{a) Designate Participants;

{b) Determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to each Participant;

(c) Determine the number of Awards to be granted and the number of shares of Stock to which
an Award will relate;

(d) Determine the terms and conditions of any Award granted under the Plan, including but not
limited to, the exercise price, grant price, or purchase price, any restrictions or limitations on
the Award, any schedule for lapse of forfeiture restrictions or restrictions on the exercisability
of an Award, and accelerations or waivers thereof, based in each case on such considerations
as the Committee in its sole discretion determines;

(e} Determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances an Award may be granted,
or the exercise price of an Award may be paid in (cash, Stock, other Awards, or other
property), or an Award may be canceled, forfeited, or surrendered,




(f) Prescribe the form of each Award Agreement, which need not be identical for each
Participant;

(g) Decide all other matters that must be determined in connection with an Award;

(h) Establish, adopt or revise any rules and regulations as it may deem necessary or advisable to
administer the Plan; and

(i) Make all other decisions and determinations that may be required under the Plan or as the
Committee deems necessary or advisable to administer the Plan. .

Decisions Binding,.

The Committee is hereby granted discretionary authority to construe and interpret the provisions
of the Plan. The Committee’s interpretation of the Plan, any Awards granted under the Plan, any
Award Agreement and all decisions and determinations by the Committee with respect to the Plan are
final, binding, and conclusive on all parties.

ARTICLE 5
SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

5.1 Number of Shares.

Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 12.1, the aggregate number of shares of Stock
reserved and available for Awards shall be 7,000,000.
5.2 Lapsed Awards.

To the extent that an Award is canceled, terminates, expires or lapses for any reason, any shares of
Stock subject to the Award will again be available for the grant of an Award under the Plan and shares
subject to SARs or other Awards settled in cash will be available for the grant of an Award under the
Plan.

5.3 Stoeck Distributed.
Any Stock distributed pursuant to an Award may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and
unissued Stock, treasury Stock or Stock purchased on the open market.

5.4 Limitation on Number of Shares Subject to Awards.

Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the maximum number of shares of
Stock with respect to one or more Awards that may be granted to any one Participant over any one
calendar year period during the term of the Plan shall not exceed 500,000 in the aggregate.

ARTICLE 6
ELIGIBILITY
6.1 General.

Awards may be granted only to individuals who are directors (including non-employee directors),
officers or employees (including employees who also are directors or officers) of or consultants to the
Company or to the Company’s subsidiaries, as determined by the Committee.
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ARTICLE 7
STOCK OPTIONS

7.1 General.

The Committee is authorized to grant Options to Participants in such amounts as it deems
appropriate in its discretion and subject to such conditions and based on such criteria as it may deem
advisable (including performance based criteria or conditions) consistent with the other terms of the
Plan and the following:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(¢)

Exercise Price. The exercise price per share of Stock under an Option shall be determined by
the Committee but shall not be less than the Fair Market Value as of the date of the grant.

Time and Conditions of Exercise. The Committee shall determine the time or times at which
an Option may be exercised in whole or in part. The Committee also shall determine the
performance or other conditions, if any, that must be satisfied before all or part of an Option
may be exercised.

Payment. The Committee shall determine the methods by which the exercise price of an
Option may be paid, the form of payment, including, without limitation, cash, shares of Stock,
or other property (including “cashless exercise” arrangements}, and the methods by which
shares of Stock shall be delivered or deemed to be delivered to Participants. Without limiting
the power and discretion conferred on the Committee pursuant to the preceding sentence, the
Committee may, in the exercise of its discretion, but need not, allow a Participant to pay the
Option price by directing the Company to withhold from the shares of Stock that would
otherwise be issued upon exercise of the Option that number of shares having a Fair Market
Value on the exercise date equal to the Option price, all as determined pursuant to rules and
procedures established by the Committee.

Evidence of Grant. All Options shall be evidenced by a written Award Agreement between
the Company and the Participant. The Award Agreement shall include such provisions as may
be specified by the Committee.

Dividend Equivalents. Any Option may provide for the payment of dividend equivalents to the
Participant on a current, deferred or contingent basis or may provide that Dividend
Equivalents be credited against the option price. The right to Dividend Equivalents, if so
provided, shall be evidenced in the Award Agreement. Any such right shall be structured in a
manner that complies with Section 409A of the Code.

7.2 Incentive Stock Options.

The terms of any Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan must comply with the following
additional rules:

(a)

Exercise Price. Subject to Section 7.2 (¢) below, the exercise price per share of Stock shall be
set by the Committee, provided that the exercise price for any Incentive Stock Option shall
not be less than the Fair Market Value as of the date of the grant.

(b) Exercise. Subject to Section 7.2(e) below, in no event may any Incentive Stock Option be

(c)

exercisable for more than ten (10) years from the date of its grant.
Lapse of Option. An Option shall lapse under the following circumstances:

{1} A vested Option shall lapse according to the Stock Option Agreement entered into by the
Participant and according to this Plan, provided, however, that vested Incentive Stock
Options not exercised within three months after the Participant’s termination of
employment shall be treated as Non-Qualified Stock Options as defined by the Code.
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8.1

(d)

(e)

0

(8)

(2) If the Participant becomes disabled within the meaning of Disability under Section 3.1(g)
of the Plan, then the Option will lapse twelve (12) months after employment ceased due
to the Disability.

(3) If the Participant dies before the Option lapses pursuant to paragraph (1), (2) or (3} or
before its original expiration as indicated above, the Incentive Stock Option shall lapse,
unless it is previously exercised, on the date on which the Option would have lapsed had
the Participant lived and had his employment status (i.e., whether the Participant was
employed by the Company on the date of his death or had previously terminated
employment) remained unchanged. Upon the Participant’s death, any exercisable
Incentive Stock Options may be exercised by the Participant’s legal representative or
representatives, by the person or persons entitled to do so under the Participant’s last will
and testament, or, if the Participant shall fail to make testamentary disposition of such
Incentive Stock Options or shall die intestate, by the person or persons entitled to receive
such Incentive Stock Options under the applicable laws of descent and distribution.

Individual Dollar Limitation. The aggregate Fair Market Value {determined at the time an
Award is made) of all shares of Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are first
exercisable by a Participant in any calendar year may not exceed $100,000.00.

Ten Percent Owners. No Incentive Stock Option shall be granted to any individual who, at the
date of grant, owns stock possessing more than ten percent of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock of the Company unless the exercise price per share of such
Option is at least 110% of the Fair Market Value per share of Stock at the date of grant and
the Option expires no later than five (5) years after the date of grant.

Expiration of Incentive Stock Options. No Award of an Incentive Stock Option may be made
pursuant to the Plan after the day immediately prior to the tenth anniversary of the original
Effective Date (i.e., April 28, 2008).

Right to Exercise. During a Participant’s lifetime, an Incentive Stock Option may be exercised
only by the Participant.

Grants only to Employees. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to employees of the
Company.

ARTICLE 8
STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

Grant of SARs.

The Committee is authorized to grant SARs to Participants on the following terms and conditions:

(a)

(b

Right to Payment. Upon the exercise of a SAR, the Participant to whom it is granted has the
right to receive all or a percentage of:

(1) The Fair Market Value of one share of Stock on the date of exercise, minus,

(2) The grant price of the SAR as determined by the Committee. The grant price of the SAR
shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of one share of Stock on the date of grant.

Tandem Awards. SARs may be granted alone or in tandem with options. If a SAR is granted
in tandem with an option, the SAR may only be exercised at a time when the related option is
exercisable and the difference between the Fair Market Value and the grant price is a positive
number. The exercise of the tandem SAR requires the surrender of the related option for
cancellation.




(¢) Other Terms. All awards of SARs shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement. The terms,
methods of exercise, methods of settlement, form of consideration payable in settlement, and
any other terms and conditions of any SAR shali be determined by the Committee at the time
of the grant of the Award and shall be reflected in the Award Agreement. The grant of any
SAR may include the right to Dividend Equivalents as described in Section 7.1(e).

ARTICLE 9
PERFORMANCE AWARDS

9.1 Grant of Performance Awards.

The Commirtee is authorized to grant Performance Awards to Participants on such terms and
conditions as may be selected by the Committee (which may include Performance Criteria). The
Committee shall have the complete discretion to determine the number of Performance Awards
granted to each Participant. All grants of Performance Awards shall be evidenced by an Award
Agreement.

9.2 Right to Payment.

A grant of Performance Awards gives the Participant rights, valued as determined by the
Committee, and payable to, or exercisable by, the Participant to whom the Performance Awards are
granted, in whole or in part, as the Committee shall establish at grant or thereafter. The Committee
shall set performance goals and other terms or conditions to payment of the Performance Awards in its
discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number and value
of Performance Shares that will be paid to the Participant.

9.3 Other Terms.

Performance Awards may be payable in cash, Stock, or other property, and have such other terms
and conditions as determined by the Committee and reflected in the Award Agreement.

ARTICLE 10
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS

10.1 Grant of Restricted Stock.

The Committee is authorized to make Awards of Restricted Stock to Participants in such amounts
and subject to such terms and conditions as may be selected by the Committee. All Awards of
Restricted Stock shall be evidenced by a Restricted Stock Award Agreement.

10.2 Issuance and Restrictions.

Restricted Stock shall be subject to such restrictions as the Committee may choose to impose.
These restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such times, under such circumstances, in
such installments, or otherwise, as the Committee determines at the time of the grant of the Award or
thereafter. An award of Restricted Stock will provide the Participant with voting, dividend and other
ownership rights provided in the Award Agreement.

10.3 Forfeiture.

Except as otherwise determined by the Committee at the time of the grant of the Award or
thereafter, upon termination of employment during the applicable restriction period, Restricted Stock,
that is at that time subject to restrictions, shall be forfeited and reacquired by the Company; provided,
however, that the Committee may provide in any Award Agreement that restrictions or forfeiture
conditions relating to Restricted Stock will be waived in whole or in part in the event of termination




resulting from any specified cause, and the Committee may in other cases waive in whole or in part
restrictions or forfeiture conditions relating to Restricted Stock.

10.4 Certificates for Restricted Stock.

Restricted Stock granted under the Plan may be evidenced in such manner as the Committee shall
determine. If certificates representing shares of Restricted Stock are registered in the name of the
Participant, certificates must bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions, and
restrictions applicable to such Restricted Stock, and the Company shall retain physical possession of the
certificate until such time as all applicable restrictions lapse.

ARTICLE 10A
DEFERRED SHARES

10A.1 Deferred Shares.

The Committee is authorized to make Awards of Deferred Shares to Participants in such amounts
and subject to such terms and conditions as may be selected by the Committee. A Deferred Share
Award shall entitle the Participant to receive Stock from the Company in the future in consideration
for services performed during the Deferral Period. All services required of the Participant for receipt of
the Deferred Share shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement.

10A.2 Deferral Period.

The “Deferral Period” means the time period mandated by the Award Agreement during which
specified services are to be performed by the Participant that will merit receipt of the Deferred Shares.

10A.3 Other Conditions.

The Committee may authorize Dividend Equivalents, defined under Section 7.1(e), to be provided
on or after the date of any grant under this Section. During the Deferral Period the Participant has no
right to transfer any rights covered by the Award and no right to vote the Stock.

The grant of any Deferred Shares may require the payment of additional consideration. However,
in no case shall the additional consideration exceed the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the date of
grant.

ARTICLE 11
PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO AWARDS

11.1 Stand-Alone, Tandem, and Substitute Awards.

Awards granted under the Plan may, in the discretion of the Committee, be granted either alone
or in addition to, in tandem with, or in substitution for, any other Award granted under the Plan. If an
Award is granted in substitution for another Award, the Committee may require the surrender of such
other Award in consideration of the grant of the new Award. Awards granted in addition to or in_
tandem with other Awards may be granted either at the same time as or at a different time from the
grant of such other Awards.

11.2 Exchange Provisions,

The Committee may at any time offer to exchange or buy out any previously granted Award for a
payment in cash, Stock, or another Award (subject to Section 12.1), based on the terms and conditions
the Committee determines and communicates to the Participant at the time the offer is made.
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11.3 Term of Award.

The term of each Award shall be for the period as determined by the Committee, provided that in
no event shall the term of any Incentive Stock Option or a Stock Appreciation Right granted in
tandem with the Incentive Stock Option exceed a period of ten years from the date of its grant.

11.4 Form of Payment for Awards,

Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Award Agreement or any applicable law, payments or
transfers to be made by the Company on the grant or exercise of an Award may be made in such form
as the Committee determines at or after the time of grant, including without limitation, cash, Stock,
other Awards, or other property, or any combination, and may be made in a single payment or transfer,
in installments, or on a deferred basis, in each case determined in accordance with rules adopted by,
and at the discretion of, the Committee.

11.5 Limits on Transfer.

No right or interest of a Participant in any Award may be encumbered or pledged to or in favor of
any party other than the Company, or shall be subject to any lien, obligation, or liability of such
Participant to any other party other than the Company. No Award shall be assignable or transferable by
a Participant other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or, except in the case of an
Incentive Stock Option, pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order as defined in
Section 414(p)(1)(B) of the Code, if the order satisfies Section 414(p)(1)(A) of the Code.

11.6 Beneficiaries.

Notwithstanding Section 13.5, a Participant may, in the manner determined by the Committee,
designate a beneficiary to exercise the rights of the Participant and to receive any distribution with
respect to any Award upon the Participant’s death. A beneficiary, legal guardian, legal representative,
or other person claiming any rights under the Plan is subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan
and any Award Agreement applicable to the Participant, except to the extent the Plan and Award
Agreement otherwise provide, and to any additional restrictions deemed necessary or appropriate by
the Committee. If the Participant is married, a designation of a person other than the Participant’s
spouse as his beneficiary with respect to more than 50 percent of the Participant’s interest in the Award
shall not be effective without the written consent of the Participant’s spouse. If no beneficiary has been
designated or survives the Participant, payment shall be made to the person entitled thereto under the
Participant’s will or the laws of descent and distribution. Subject to the foregoing, a beneficiary
designation may be changed or revoked by a Participant at any time provided the change or revocation
is filed with the Committee.

11.7 Stock Certificates.

All Stock certificates delivered under the Plan are subject to any stop-transfer orders and other
restrictions as the Committee deems necessary or advisable to comply with federal or state securities
laws, rules and regulations and the rules of any national securities exchange or automated quotation
system on which the Stock is listed, quoted, or traded. The Committee may place legends on any Stock
certificate to reference restrictions applicable to the Stock.

11.8 Acceleration Upon Death or Disability.

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan or any Participant’s Award Agreement to the
contrary, upon the Participant’s death or Disability, all outstanding Options, Stock Appreciation Rights,
and other Awards in the nature of rights that may be exercised shall become fully exercisable and all
restrictions on outstanding Awards shall lapse. Any Option or Stock Appreciation Rights Awards shall .
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then lapse in accordance with the other provisions of the Plan and the Award Agreement. To the extent
that this provision causes Incentive Stock Options to exceed the dollar limitation set forth in
Section 7.2(d), the excess Options shall be deemed to be Non-Qualified Stock Options.

11.9 Acceleration Upon Certain Events.

In the event of (i) the commencement of a public tender offer for all or any portion of the Stock,
(ii} a proposal to merge, consolidate or otherwise combine with another company is submitted to the
shareholders of the Company for approval, or (iii) the Board approves any transaction or event that
would constitute a change of control of the Company of a nature that would be required to be
reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of the 1934 Act, the Committee may in its sole
discretion declare all outstanding Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, and other Awards in the nature
of rights that may be exercised to become fully exercisable, and/or all restrictions on all outstanding
Awards to lapse, in each case as of such date as the Committee may, in its sole discretion, declare,
which may be on or before the consummation of such tender offer or other transaction or event. To the
extent that this provision causes Incentive Stock Options to exceed the dollar limitation set forth in
Section 7.2(d), the excess Options shall be deemed to be Non-Qualified Stock Options.

11.10 Performance Criteria.

Awards other than Options and SARs made pursuant to the Plan may be made subject to the
attainment of performance goals relating to one or more business criteria within the meaning of
Section 162(m) of the Code. For purposes of this Plan, such business criteria shall mean any one or
more of the following performance criteria, either individually, alternatively or in any combination,
applied to either the Company as a whole or to a subsidiary, division or other area of the Company,
and measured either annually or cumulatively over a period of years, on an absolute basis or relative to
a pre-established target, to previous years’ results or to a designated comparison group, in each case as
specified by the Committee: (a) cash flow; (b) earnings (including gross margin, earnings before interest
and taxes (“EBIT”), earnings before taxes (“EBT"), earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization and stock option expense (“EBITDASO”), and net earnings); (c) ethical conduct;

{(d) communication of the Company’s clinical and scientific information; (&) market share; (f) product
manufacturing and development; (g} clinical trials; (h) earnings per share; (i} growth in earnings or
earnings per share; (j) stock price; (k) return on equity or average shareholders’ equity; (1) total
shareholder return; (m) return on capital; (n) return on assets or net assets; (0) return on investment;
(p) revenue; (q) income or net income; (r) operating income or net operating income; (s} operating
profit or net operating profit; (t) operating margin; (u) return on operating revenue; (v) overhead or
other expense reduction; (w) growth in shareholder value relative to the two-year moving average of
the S&P 500 Index; (x) growth in shareholder value relative to the two-year moving average of the
Dow Jones Industrial Average; (y) credit rating; (z) strategic plan development and implementation;
(aa) succession plan development and implementation; (bb) retention of executive talent;

{(cc) improvement in workforce diversity; (dd) return on average shareholders’ equity relative to the ten
year treasury yield; (ee) capital resource management plan development and implementation;

(ff) improved internal financial controls plan development and implementation; (gg) corporate tax
savings; (hh) corporate cost of capital reduction; (it) investor relations program development and
implementation; (jj) corporate relations program development and implementation; (kk) executive
performance plan development and implementation; and (ll) tax provision rate for financial statement
purposes. The Committee may adjust the performance results to take into account extraordinary,
unusual, non-recurring, or non-comparable items. No Award (other than Options and SARs) that is
intended to satisfy the requirements for “performance based compensation” under Section 162(m} of
the Code will be payable unless the Committee certifies in writing that the applicable performance
goals have been satisfied.
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ARTICLE 12
CHANGES IN CAPITAL STRUCTURE

12.1 General.

In the event a stock dividend is declared upon the Stock, the shares of Stock then subject to each
Award shall be increased proportionately without any change in the aggregate purchase price therefor.
In the event of any change in the number of outstanding shares of Stock, the maximum aggregate
number of shares of Stock available for Awards shall be adjusted proportionately. In the event the
Stock shall be changed into or exchanged for a different number or class of shares of stock or securities
of the Company or of another company, whether through reorganization, recapitalization, stock split,
reverse stock split, combination of shares, merger or consolidation, there shall be substituted for each
such share of Stock then subject to each Award the number and class of shares into which each
outstanding share of Stock shall be so exchanged. The Committee shall make such adjustments to the
aggregate purchase price for the shares then subject to each Award as it deems necessary or advisable
to put Participants in the same relative position after such change in capital structure as before such
change.

ARTICLE 13
AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

13.1 Amendment, Modification and Termination.

With the approval of the Board, at any time and from time to time, the Committee-may terminate,
amend or modify the Plan; provided, however, that no amendment of the Plan may be made without
approval of the shareholders of the Company as may be required by the Code, by the insider trading
rules of Section 16 of the 1934 Act, by any national securities exchange or automated quotation system
on which the Stock is listed or reported.

13.2 Awards Previously Granted.
No termination, amendment, or modification of the Plan shall adversely affect any Award
previously granted under the Plan, without the written consent of the Participant.
ARTICLE 14
GENERAL PROVISIONS
14.1 No Rights to Awards.

No Participant or employee shall have any claim to be granted any Award under the Plan, and
neither the Company nor the Committee is obligated to treat Participants and employees uniformly.
14.2 No shareholder Rights.

No Award gives the Participant any of the rights of a shareholder of the Company unless and until
shares of Stock are in fact issued to such person in connection with such Award.

14.3 Withholding.

The Company shall have the authority and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant
to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes (including the
Participant’s FICA obligation) required by law to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising
as a result of the Plan. With respect to withholding required upon any taxable event under the Plan,
the Committee may, at the time the Award is granted or thereafter, require that any such withholding
requirement be satisfied, in whole or in part, by withholding shares of Stock having a Fair Market
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Value on the date of withholding equal to the amount to be withheld for tax purposes, all in
accordance with such procedures as the Committee establishes.

14.4 No Right to Employment.

Nothing in the Plan or any Award Agreement shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of
the Company to terminate any Participant’s employment at any time, nor confer upon any Participant
any right to continue in the employ of the Company.

14.5 Unfunded Status of Awards.

The Plan is intended to be an “unfunded” plan for incentive and deferred compensation. With
respect to any payments not yet made to & Participant pursuant to an Award, nothing contained in the
Plan or any Award Agreement shall give the Participant any rights that are greater than those of a
general creditor of the Company.

14.6 Indemnification.

To the extent allowable under applicable law, each member of the Committee shall be indemnified
and held harmless by the Company from any loss, cost, liability, or expense that may be imposed upon
or reasonably incurred by such member in connection with or resulting from any claim, action, suit, or
proceeding to which such member may be a party or in which he may be involved by reason of any
action or failure to act under the Plan and against and from any and all amounts paid by such member
in satisfaction of judgment in such action, suit, or proceeding against him provided he gives the
Company an opportunity, at ts own expense, to handle and defend the same before he undertakes to
handle and defend it on his own behalf. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of
any other rights of indemnification to which such persons may be entitled under the Bylaws of the
Company or as a matter of law, or otherwise, or any power that the Company may have to indemnify
them or hold them harmless.

14,7 Relationship to Other Benefits.

No payment under the Plan shall be taken into account in determining any benefits under any
pension, retirement, savings, profit sharing, group insurance, welfare or benefit plan of the Company.
14.8 Expenses.

The expenses of administering the Plan shall be borne by the Company.

14.9 Titles and Headings.

The titles and headings of the Sections in the Plan are for convenience of reference only, and in
the event of any conflict, the text of the Plan, rather than such titles or headings, shall control.
1410 Gender and Number.

Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein also shall include
the feminine; the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural.
14,11 Fractional Shares.

No fractional shares of Stock shall be issued and the Committee shall determine, in its discretion,
whether cash shall be given in lieu of fractional shares or whether such fractional shares shall be
eliminated by rounding up.
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14.12 Securities Law Compliance.

With respect to any person who is, on the relevant date, obligated to file reports under Section 16
of the 1934 Act, transactions under the Plan are intended to comply with Rule 16b-3(d) as transactions
between the Company and its officers or directors. To the extent any provision of the Plan or action by
the Committee fails to so comply, it shall be void to the extent permitted by law and voidable as
deemed advisable by the Committee.

14,13 Government and Other Regulations.

The obligation of the Company to make payment of awards in Stock or otherwise shall be subject
to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by government agencies as may be
required. The Company shall be under no obligation to register under the 1933 Act, any of the shares
of Stock paid under the Plan. If the shares paid under the Plan may in certain circumstances he exempt
from registration under the 1933 Act, the Company may restrict the transfer of such shares in such
manner as it deems advisable to ensure the availability of any such exemption.

14.14 Governing Law.

To the extent not governed by federal law, the Plan and all Award Agreements shall be construed
in accordance with and governed by the laws of the District of Columbia.
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